

Entanglement in high dimensional quantum systems Ibrahim Saideh

▶ To cite this version:

Ibrahim Saideh. Entanglement in high dimensional quantum systems. Quantum Physics [quant-ph]. Université Paris Saclay (COmUE), 2019. English. NNT: 2019SACLS198. tel-02187211

HAL Id: tel-02187211 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02187211

Submitted on 17 Jul 2019

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





Entanglement in High Dimensional Quantum Systems

Thèse de doctorat de l'Université Paris-Saclay préparée à l'Université Paris-Sud

Ecole doctorale n°572 Ondes et Matière (EDOM) Spécialité de doctorat : physique quantique

Thèse présentée et soutenue à Orsay, le 11 juillet 2019, par

IBRAHIM SAIDEH

Composition du Jury :

| Eric Charron Professeur, Université Paris Sud | Président |
|---|------------------------|
| Dominique Sugny Professeur, Université de Bourgogne Franche-Comté | Rapporteur |
| David Viennot Maître de conférences, Université de Bourgogne Franche-Comté | Rapporteur |
| Frédéric Grosshans Chargé de Recherche, CNRS | Examinateur |
| Laurent Vernac Maître de conférences, Université Paris 13 | Invité |
| Pérola Milman Directrice de recherches, CNRS | Co-directrice de thèse |
| Arne Keller Professeur, Université Paris Sud | Directeur de thèse |

Acknowledgment

It is customary for PHD students to thank their supervisor and colleagues who helped them achieve this mile stone. In my case, I would never have dreamed of this moment without them. This manuscript was a near death experience for me and I nearly gave up my PHD entirely because of it. The only reason I am writing this right now is my supervisor Arne KELLER. From the start, I was facing big hurdles and at each one of them he was always there to help without me even asking. Without his help and the intervention of Mme. Sylvie RETAILLEAU, the president of Paris Saclay University, I would probably be still in Syria waiting for my visa. He showed a great deal of patience and superhuman understanding with me, especially toward the end, that gave me the strength to carry on even when all seemed lost. I will forever be in his debt for allowing me to work with him and for the tremendous guidance and help he offered, on both scientific and human level, to finish this project.

I would also like to thank Perola MILMAN, my co-supervisor, who is the most cheerful person I have ever met. Discussing science with her was a delight. She also had the best intuition out of us all and she is usually right, you just need time to see or prove what she saw. I would like to thank Thomas COUDREAU as well for his great advice and insights on numerous occasions. There is only one thing though, he never admits where he found the fountain of youth which remains a mystery to this day.

I had the pleasure of collaborating with Bruno LABURTHE-TOLRA, Laurent VERNAC, and Paolo PEDRI, to whom I owe the main motivation behind a lot of the tools developed in this thesis. They had one stubborn experiment, but thanks to it, we had great discussions and many advancements were made.

I was very fortunate to have worked at two labs ISMO(Institut des Sciences Moléculaires d'Orsay) and MPQ (laboratoire Matériaux et Phénomènes Quantiques). I met a lot of great people who taught me a great deal and who supported me all the way. I still remember the day Osman ATABEK welcomed me to ISMO. He and Eric CHARRON gave me valuable advice and support during our chats over coffee or friendly meetings. I would also like to thank my friends and fellow PHD students and Post-docs who made my stay at the lab very enjoyable. I had the pleasure of collaborating with some of them and had great discussions with them during group meetings. To the many who sent me messages of support and encouragement, thank you from the bottom of my heart.

I would like to thank my dear friends who stood by my side during my difficult moments. Special thanks to Ragheed AL HYDER who helped me a lot, specially during my long stay at the hospital. Thanks to Raijumon PUTHUMPALLY JOSEPH for being so nice to me and giving me advice and encouragement to continue. It goes without saying that I am very grateful to my family who stayed patient and supportive all the way. They hold a special place in my heart close to me despite the long distance separating us.

In addition to all mentioned people, I am extremely grateful to my surgeon Dr. Andrea CAVALCANTI and her team. Despite being extremely busy, she made sure that I got the proper medical care during and after my stay at the hospital. I also would like to thank my two home nurses who I knew over a year and made my experience a lot more bearable.

Résumé

La détection de l'intrication est une étape indispensable dans le contexte de l'information et du calcul quantique. Cette tâche importante est difficile pour les systèmes quantiques de dimensions supérieures à 2×3 . En effet, contrairement aux cas 2×3 et 2×2 où il existe des conditions nécessaires et suffisantes bien établies comme le critère de Peres-Horodecki, pour le cas de dimensions plus grandes, il n'existe que des conditions suffisantes à l'intrication. Par grandes dimensions, on entend soit un système bi-partite où chacune des parties a une dimension supérieure à 3, ou un système multipartite composé d'un grand nombre de particules.

On s'intéresse à développer de nouveaux critères pour détecter l'intrication dans de tels systèmes en utilisant des grandeurs mesurables sans avoir besoin de faire une tomographie complète de l'état quantique considéré. Notre approche consiste à réduire la dimension du problème, pour avoir un système plus simple à étudier. Pour ce faire, on transforme localement chaque sous-système en un qubit sans créer de l'intrication. Nous montrons que cette transformation est caractérisée par les valeurs moyennes de trois opérateurs arbitraires, prises dans l'état quantique du système. Nous donnons, dans le second chapitre, des conditions nécessaires et suffisantes pour que cette transformation soit valide du point de vue physique, fournissant ainsi un outil simple et puissant pour le problème de la réduction des dimensions.

Nous exploitons ce formalisme pour dériver des critères d'intrication pour des systèmes bipartites ou multipartites qui découlent des critères existants pour les qubits. En transformant localement chaque sous-système dans le paradigme des LOCC sans communications classiques, tel que la séparabilité est conservée, l'application de critères d'intrication connus pour les qubits induit automatiquement des critères d'intrication en fonction des 3 opérateurs utilisés pour réaliser la transformation. Nous prenons l'exemple où les observables choisis sont les 3 composantes du moment angulaire et on obtient ainsi un critère simple dont on étudie la performance en le comparant au critère de Peres-Horodecki pour une famille d'états de qudits.

Dans le troisième chapitre, on s'intéresse aux critères d'intrication, pour des systèmes multipartites, basés sur des mesures d'observables collectives. Après avoir transformé l'état du système en un état multipartite de qubits, on applique les inégalités de compression de spin pour des qubits. Cependant, lorsqu'on applique notre formalisme à ce cas, il est possible d'obtenir une superposition cohérente d'états avec des nombres de particules différentes. Par conséquent, nous avons dû prendre en compte les fluctuations quantiques et/ou classiques que l'opérateur du nombre de particules peut présenter. Nous avons obtenu une forme généralisée des inégalités de compression de spin pour un nombre de particules fluctuant et pour des observables collectifs arbitraires. Nous avons appliqué nos résultats à un système d'atomes de chrome ultrafroids piégés dans un réseau optique, en collaboration avec l'équipe Gazes Dipolaires Quantiques du laboratoire LPL de l'université Paris 13. Nous avons montré, à l'aide d'une simulation numérique, que nos inégalités généralisées sont capables de détecter l'intrication à l'aide d'opérateurs collectifs mesurables en utilisant des techniques accessibles dans ce type de dispositif.

Dans le quatrième chapitre, Nous généralisons le formalisme du second chapitre pour transformer un système bi-partite en deux qubits. Nous donnons une caractérisation mathématique pour les opérations LOCC avec un tour de communication classique en fonction des observables locaux des deux parties. Nous donnons aussi une stratégie pour mesurer les quantités nécessaires pour les inégalités de compression de spin généralisé dans des expériences semblables à celles mentionné dans le troisième chapitre. Finalement, on généralise un critère de compression de spin capable de détecter la profondeur d'intrication d'un ensemble de spins dont le nombre fluctue, pour des observables arbitraires.

Table of contents

General introduction and layout 1 Introduction: Entanglement criteria and spin squeezing 5 1 51.1 1.2States in quantum mechanics 11 1.2.1Pure states 11 1.2.214 1.2.3151.3161.3.1171.3.2171.4Multipartite entanglement 31 1.5341.5.134 1.5.2Coherent spin states 37 1.5.3Squeezed spin states and spin squeezing parameters 39 1.5.4Spin squeezing and entanglement 42 **49** $\mathbf{2}$ Mapping to two-dimensional systems: formalism and applications 2.1General framework 50 2.1.1512.1.2532.1.3Dichotomization using angular momentum operators 552.1.4Necessary and sufficient conditions 572.1.5Dichotomization using angular momentum operators: revisited . . 59 2.1.661 67 2.2

| | 2.3 | Mapping bipartite system to two qubits: Local mapping with no commu- | | |
|--|---|--|--|----|
| | | nication | | 58 |
| | | 2.3.1 Properties of Mapping (2.57) | erties of Mapping (2.57) | '0 |
| | | 2.3.2 Positivity versus complete positivity | ivity versus complete positivity | '3 |
| | | 2.3.3 Sufficient entanglement criteria | eient entanglement criteria | '4 |
| | | 2.3.4 Entanglement criteria with angular momentum operators 75 | nglement criteria with angular momentum operators \sim | '5 |
| | | 2.3.5 Mapping for N qudits and spin squeezing inequalities | bing for N qudits and spin squeezing inequalities \ldots | '9 |
| | 2.4 | Conclusion | | 31 |
| 3 | Gen | eralized spin squeezing inequalities for fluctuating particle number 83 | n squeezing inequalities for fluctuating particle number $\frac{8}{2}$ | 3 |
| | 3.1 | Introduction $\ldots \ldots 84$ | | 34 |
| | 3.2 | Original spin squeezing inequalities | 1 squeezing inequalities $\ldots \ldots $ | 36 |
| | 3.3 | Fluctuations of particles number | of particles number \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots | 37 |
| | 3.4 | Proof | | 38 |
| | | 3.4.1 Inequalities for product states | alities for product states | 38 |
| | | 3.4.2 Generalization to all separable states | ralization to all separable states |)0 |
| 3.5 Coordinate system independent | | Coordinate system independent form for dichotomic observables $\ldots \ldots 91$ | system independent form for dichotomic observables \ldots |)1 |
| | | 3.5.1 Coordinate system independent form of the spin-squeezing inequalities 91 | dinate system independent form of the spin-squeezing inequalities |)1 |
| | | 3.5.2 Dichotomic observables $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 93 | otomic observables |)3 |
| 3.6 Generalized Sørensen | | Generalized Sørensen-Mølmer criterion | Sørensen-Mølmer criterion |)6 |
| | 3.7 | Examples | |)7 |
| | | 3.7.1 Example I | ple I |)7 |
| | | 3.7.2 Example II | ple II |)8 |
| | 3.8 | Entanglement detection in cold atom gaz | nt detection in cold atom gaz $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ |)9 |
| | | 3.8.1 Experimental setup $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 99 | $rimental setup \ldots $ |)9 |
| | | 3.8.2 Hamiltonian and model for numerical simulation 101 | ltonian and model for numerical simulation 10 |)1 |
| | | 3.8.3 Evidence for entanglement, Entropy of entanglement $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 103$ | ence for entanglement, Entropy of entanglement $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ |)3 |
| | | 3.8.4 Testing spin squeezing inequalities | ng spin squeezing inequalities $\ldots \ldots 10$ |)5 |
| | | 3.8.5 Testing with generalized spin squeezing inequalities $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 107$ | ng with generalized spin squeezing inequalities $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 10^{10}$ |)7 |
| | 3.9 | Conclusion | | 18 |
| 4 | Pers | pectives and conclusion 111 | d conclusion 11 | .1 |
| 4.1 Going beyond local operations with no communi- | | Going beyond local operations with no communications | d local operations with no communications $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 1 |
| | 4.1.1 Local operations with one way communication \ldots \ldots | | operations with one way communication $\ldots \ldots \ldots$ | .2 |
| | 4.2 | Generalized spin squeezing inequalities: entanglement depth and Measura- | spin squeezing inequalities: entanglement depth and Measura- | |
| | | bility | .6 | |

| | | 4.2.1 | Measurability of first and second moments of an arbitrary operator | 116 |
|----|-------|-----------------------------------|---|-----|
| | | 4.2.2 | Criteria for entanglement depth detection | 123 |
| | 4.3 | Conclusion | | |
| A | App | es of Chapter 2 | 129 | |
| | A.1 | representation of mapping (2.3) | 129 | |
| | A.2 | Proof | of theorem I 1 | 130 |
| | A.3 | Proof of | of Eq. (2.25) | 132 |
| | A.4 | Proof of | of: $\ \Lambda\ _2 = 1 \Rightarrow \operatorname{Tr} [\mathcal{M}(\rho)^2] \le 1$ | 133 |
| | A.5 | Proof of | of complete positivity of the mapping (2.44) | 134 |
| | A.6 | 3-para | meter family of 2-qudit states | 135 |
| | | A.6.1 | Preliminaries | 135 |
| | | A.6.2 | Positivity and partial transpose of $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ | 137 |
| В | App | endice | es of chapter 3 | 141 |
| | B.1 | Proof | of Eq. (3.6) | 141 |
| | | B.1.1 | Proof of Eq. (3.6) for product states $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 142 |
| | B.2 | Mappi | ng to a qutrit Eq (3.9) | 148 |
| | B.3 | Simpli | fied squeezing criterion | 149 |
| | B.4 | Genera | alized Sørensen-Mølmer criterion | 150 |
| С | App | endice | es of chapter 4 | 153 |
| | C.1 | Proof | of equation (4.14) | 153 |
| | C.2 | Proof | of equation (4.40) | 156 |
| | C.3 | Proof | of inequality (4.56) | 156 |
| Bi | bliog | raphy | | 159 |

General introduction and layout

When reading almost any paper on the subject of quantum information, quantum communication and many other areas involving quantum theory, one can skip the first couple of lines because it would be something like, "[...] entanglement lies at the heart of quantum [...]". This is not lack of creativity but rather people acknowledging the importance of quantum entanglement.

Indeed, entanglement and coherence are the defining features of quantum mechanics. They open up a plethora of applications not allowed for in classical mechanics. From the early days these weird features, allowing for things like Schrodinger's cat or EPR paradox, were debated but nowadays have become an experimental reality and a basis for numerous applications.

Since entanglement is an important resource, it needs to be measured and quantified. A lot of effort has been spent in order to develop criteria able to certify its presence in a given state. However, beyond bipartite systems of dimensions 2×3 , there are no known operational necessary and sufficient conditions for separability, rendering entanglement characterization quite hard. It is, therefore, a necessity to develop criteria for high dimensional systems that do not require full tomography nor excessive number of measurements which is the main focus of this thesis.

In chapter 1, I start by a small introduction to motivate the importance of entanglement in different areas and the need to characterize it, or better quantify it, for fundamental and experimental applications. Then, I move on to recall very briefly some of the most important tools to infer entanglement in the bipartite case, like reduction and PPT criteria, to end with entanglement witnesses and entanglement measures. For the multipartite case, a special attention is drawn to spin squeezing inequalities which are of big importance for systems with a very large number of particles. I first recall the concept of squeezing in bosonic systems and then introduce the different known squeezing parameters for spins including spin squeezing inequalities.

Chapter 2 is concerned with the problem of entanglement detection in high dimensional bipartite systems. Our main idea is to perform a dimensionality reduction of the bipartite system by mapping it into a two-qubit system such that separability is conserved. Since separability is conserved, entanglement presence in the resulting two-qubit state implies entanglement in the original state to which the mapping is applied.

The chapter starts with introducing the physical idea behind the mapping for a single system which consists in letting the original system interact with a qubit, initialized in some reference state, then discarding the original system and keeping the qubit in its new state acquired due to the interaction. Next, we give a complete characterization of all such maps in terms of expectation values of three operators acting on the original Hilbert space. We also draw an explicit connection between different representations of a quantum channel that maps a state of an arbitrary system into a qubit state.

Once the mapping for a single particle is introduced, we carry on to describe a mapping of a two-particle system into two qubits. We restrict our analysis to mappings implemented by Local operations with no classical communications. In other words we apply the introduced formalism to each subsystem independently where no entanglement can be created such that entanglement of the two qubit system witnesses entanglement of the original one. Then we study in detail a straight forward example of a mapping using the operators of angular momentum and compare the resulting criterion for a family of two qudit states. Finally, we apply the same mapping for N spin-j system to obtain a system of N spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ where one can show a connection between spin squeezing inequalities for spin-j particles and those for spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ ones.

Chapter 3 is concerned with entanglement detection in many-particle systems using spin squeezing inequalities. More precisely, it concerned with spin squeezing inequalities for systems where the particle number may present classical or quantum fluctuations. The former occurs commonly in experiments where one has to repeat measurement many times in order to get a meaningful quantity and account for systematic errors. The latter, however, is more exotic and occurs in systems where a super-selection rule on particle number does not apply. This situation appears naturally in our formalism when we map each particle into a fictitious spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particle. Depending on the state of the *N*-particle system, we can end up with a coherent superposition of qubits' state with different particle number. The chapter starts by recalling the spin squeezing inequalities and the basic steps to prove them. We next introduce our main result to generalize these inequalities to arbitrary operators and adequate particle number operators. We then study the case for a special class of operators that allow for inequalities analogous to spin squeezing inequalities that are independent of choice of the coordinate system. We also generalize the Sørensen-Mølmer criterion for extreme spin squeezing to the mentioned general frame work for arbitrary operators and fluctuating particle number.

Finally, we study an experimental case that inspired our work thanks to the collaboration with the experimental group "Quantum Dipolar Gazes" at "LPL" lab in Villetaneuse, France. We first show, using a numerical simulation, that spin squeezing inequalities are unlikely to detect entanglement in their experiment. We also show that our generalized inequalities are very good candidates to detect entanglement in their particular setup using their available measurement scheme, a point we elaborate more in the next chapter.

In the last chapter, chapter 4, we present some partial results and possible directions to improve and build upon the results presented in the previous chapters.

In the first part, using the formalism introduced in chapter 2, we extend the mapping for bipartite systems beyond local operations without any communication. We present an operational form and characterize all maps to two qubits implemented via local operations and one way classical communications.

In the second part, we visit the problem of measurability of the collective operators needed for our inequalities defined in chapter 3. We provide a possible scheme based on measurements commonly accessible in cold atoms experiments. Finally, we discuss generalizing squeezing parameters, in the way done in chapter 3, to detect entanglement depth which is of greater interest than simple entanglement detection for quantum information and quantum metrology applications.

Chapters 2, 3 and 4 constitute the original work of this thesis. Part of the results presented in Chapter 2 were published in [1]. The main result of chapter 3 was published in [2].

1

Introduction: Entanglement criteria and spin squeezing

In this chapter, I will recall some useful notions about entanglement theory, and some of the tools to detect it in different systems. However, I will assume the reader to be familiar with the basic notions of quantum mechanics like Hilbert spaces, observables, density matrices, Heisenberg uncertainty principle, \cdots etc that can be found in numerous standard textbooks about the subject. A very brief reminder is presented here as an introduction to entanglement, the main focus of this thesis and this chapter. Hence, the first half of this chapter is dedicated to recalling some of the basic results in entanglement theory and its different detection criteria. For the next half, special attention is drawn to entanglement detection in systems consisting of large number of spins using spin squeezing inequalities that I will make use of for the remainder of this thesis.

1.1 Introduction

After quantum superposition, quantum entanglement is arguably one of the weirdest and headache provoking features of quantum mechanics. So much so, that it spooked Erwin Schrödinger¹, one of the fathers of quantum mechanics and Albert Einstein himself along with Podolsky and Prosen. The later three went on and claimed in their famous paper [4] that quantum mechanics theory is incomplete. They inferred the existence of some Local Hidden Variables (LHV), unaccounted for by quantum theory, to solve what has become

¹"It is rather discomforting that the theory should allow a system to be steered or piloted into one or the other type of state at the experimenter's mercy in spite of his having no access to it." [3]

to be known as the EPR paradox.

At the heart of this paradox was entanglement, named by Schrödinger, which describes the inability to describe subsystems individually despite the ability to describe the system as a whole for some states [5]. There is no classical analogy to such type of correlations and it represented a theoretical contradictory aspect of quantum mechanics.

This was the case until the EPR paradox was reformulated by Bohm and Aharanov [6] in terms of spin variables which led to John Bell's famous inequality [7]. These inequalities opened the way to experimental tests and verification of non-locality of entanglement, long after being a theoretical and philosophical controversy, "simply" by looking at coincidence statistics of measurements performed by two parties.

The most famous test proposal was due to John Clauser, Michael Horne, Abner Shimony, and Richard Holt, who derived in their famous paper [8] the CHSH inequality. Both mentioned inequalities will hold true assuming the existence of some local hidden variables model but are expected to be violated for some quantum states. However, the most convincing experimental proof that closed the locality loophole was performed by Alain Aspect and his colleagues in [9, 10]. this experiment is considered a big triumph of quantum theory and has inspired later efforts [11–14] to tackle the remaining loopholes [15–17] and put local realism² to rest.

Entanglement is now accepted as a reality of quantum mechanics, but still ,like quantum mechanics ³, not fully understood at a fundamental level. It is quite a rare occurrence in science where a theory is very successful in predicting the outcome of experiments and has a lot of applications yet, there is still an active research and so much debate going on about its foundations [19]. Since there are many interpretations for quantum mechanics [20], each of which describes the same mathematical formulation, entanglement is far from understood from a pure physics' angle. All we can do, for now, is try to understand it as a mathematical property of multi-partite systems.

From a mathematical point of view, it is easy to define separable states, or states that are not entangled. A separable state of a multi-partite system is simply a convex combination of some product states; i.e.

$$\rho = \sum_{k} \lambda_k \rho_k^{(1)} \otimes \rho_k^{(2)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \rho_k^{(N)} \quad : \lambda_k \ge 0, \sum_{k} \lambda_k = 1.$$

²The ability to predict with certainty the value of a physical quantity without disturbing the system [4].

³"I think I can safely say that nobody understands quantum mechanics", Richard Feynman [18].

This convex sum represents a statistical superposition of product states $\rho_k^{(1)} \otimes \rho_k^{(2)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \rho_k^{(N)}$, where each one of them occurs with probability λ_k . The product state $\rho_k^{(1)} \otimes \rho_k^{(2)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \rho_k^{(N)}$ represents the simplest separable state and describes a state in which the different parties are completely independent. The above convex combination of product states gives rise to classical correlations among the different parties and is rather difficult to characterize for an unknown state before hand.

However, from a geometric perspective, one can see that separable states are a convex subset of the set of all states. Inside this subset lie all separable states while entangled states reside outside it, see figure 1.4 for a pictorial representation. It is therefore quite important to understand the geometry of quantum states [21–36] in order to gain more insight into the distinction between separable and entangled states and understand their evolution under transformations.

While a qubit; i.e. a two-level system, enjoys the simplest geometric representation [37], Fig. 1.1, a two qubit system is the simplest setup for which entanglement appears. Algebraically, a 2-qubit state is represented by a 4×4 Hermitian matrice. Then the set of states is a submanifold embedded in a 16 dimensional linear space, which makes it extremely difficult to visualize geometrically. In order to circumvent this difficulty we define classes of equivalent states with respect to some property. As far as entanglement is concerned, one should consider local operations that does not create entanglement, preferably operations that does not destroy it either. The paradigm of operations that do not create entanglement is known as LOCC (Local Operations and Classical communications)where each party can apply, locally to its share of the state, the most general transformation allowed by the laws of quantum mechanics (a trace-preserving completely positive map) which can be conditioned on the other parties' outcomes through successive rounds of classical communication [38–40]. LOCC and SLOCC(Stochastic LOCC) [41] do not lead to equivalence relation but rather to partial ordering as one can define classes of states where a state can only be transformed to another such that entanglement is not increased [21, 42–44].

A smaller class of Local Operations $LO \subset LOCC$ [45] with invertible matrices [30] can be used to define equivalence classes of states. If state normalization is ignored, one is able to describe two-qubit states in three dimensional space [30, 27]. The same representation in Fig. 1.2 was first obtained by Horodecki et al. [22] when considering 2-qubit states with maximally mixed subsystems.

In analogy to the 2-qubit case, one can construct a "magic simplex" of 2-qutrit states with maximally mixed subsystems [34, 33, 35] and later generalized to 2-qudit states [46, 47].



Figure 1.1: The Bloch sphere with antipodal points corresponding to a pair of mutually orthogonal qubit states. The north and south poles of the Bloch sphere are chosen to be $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$. The points on the surface of the sphere correspond to the pure states of the qubit, whereas the interior points correspond to the mixed states.

Despite it not containing all states with maximally mixed reduced density matrices, the magic simplex has high symmetry and offers a simple geometric representation of an interesting class of states. This in turn, allows to define and parametrize families of the illusive bound entangled states, not distillable by SLOCC operations [48–52], and construct geometrical entanglement witnesses [53, 47, 54, 35].

Another fundamental reason to study entanglement than geometry of quantum states, is its role as one of the main tools to determine quantumness or non-classicality of a multi-partite state. This notion of non-classicality differs from context to another and from system to another. For example, in optics, such states are squeezed single mode states [55, 56] and superposition of coherent states⁴ like cat states [57, 58]. Also, while Fock states are considered to be non-classical states in optics, since they give a non-positive P-representation [59] (Glauber-Sudarshan P representation [60, 61]), they are considered as classical states in the context of ressource theories of coherence, where coherent superposition of Fock states⁵ are non-classical [62–64]. In the multi-partite scenario, entangled states represent a subset of a bigger family of non-classical states

 $^{{}^{4}}$ Classical states analoguous to those of a classical harmonic oscillator as we will see later in 1.5.1. 5 like coherent states



Figure 1.2: The octahedron (in blue) represents the equivalence class of separable states. The set of points that lie outside the octahedron but inside the tetrahedron (in red) are entangled states. The vertices of the tetrahedron represent the four Bell states [22].

which present correlations with no classical counterpart. These correlations are called quantum discord and are sometimes present even in separable states [65-67].

Despite this variety of non-classicality concepts, entanglement remains the corner stone and the most important among them. To begin with, it was shown that entanglement is a necessary feature for any physical theory that has a classical limit like decoherence [68]. Moreover, non-classicality can be interchangeably transformed into entanglement even for single-partite systems using ancillary systems [69]. In [70], a non-classicality measure for quantum states of a single-mode electromagnetic field was proposed and called entanglement potential (EP). This measure is based upon the amount of two-mode entanglement that can be generated from the state using linear optics and auxilliary clasical states. It was shown that indeed the notion of non-clasicality for single mode optics and two-mode entanglement are closely related and can be transformed into one another [71, 62] and later was generalized to different contexts other than optics [69].

The most non-classical feature about entangled states is the possibility to have nonlocal correlations[16], i.e. correlations that cannot be explained by local models. In other words, one is unable to construct local theories with some hidden random variable shared among the different parties, or shared randomness, to explain the joint measurements' statistics as mentioned earlier in the introduction.

While it is known that any state exhibiting non-locality must be entangled, the relation-

ship between entanglement and non-locality is rather rich and far more complex. To begin with, all pure entangled states, bi-partite or multi-partite, violate some form of Bell inequalities⁶ [74, 75, 73], and are, hence, non-local. The same cannot be said about mixed entangled states as some of them admit a local model for all local measurements and, therefore, cannot violate any Bell inequality [76–80].

However, mixed entangled states may have what is called hidden locality that cannot be revealed by direct measurements, involved in Bell inequalities, but may be revealed with some pre-processing and local filtering of the state [81–85]. Moreover, it was shown in [86, 87] that all bi-partite states have hidden non-locality that can be activated when local filtering them jointly with other states that do not show non-locality neither. Another phenomenon is the super activation of non-locality, where a state not showing non-locality before hand, becomes non-local when performing joint measurements on multiple copies of the same state [88–90]. Finally, it was shown that using semi-quantum games [91], a variant of the Bell tests where the input states are quantum, all entangled states can be witnessed and reveal non-locality by a class of non-local games. This shows how intricate the relationship between entanglement and non-locality is and how non-locality might be a generic feature of entanglement.

The mentioned non-classical features exhibited by entangled states inspired and lead to a large variety of applications that have been demonstrated experimentally. Many of these applications take advantage of non-locality of entangled states like quantum cryptog-raphy [92–98] ,quantum teleportation [99–104], and entanglement swapping [105–107]. More importantly, entanglement is a valuable resource for quantum information and quantum computation. This resource [108] cannot be created for free by the means of LOCC operations [39] but can be broadcasted [109, 110] and controlled [111]. Moreover, entanglement is an essential ingredient in many quantum algorithms that allow a big advantage over the existent classical ones [112–114]. At last, but not least, entanglement is essential to enhance precision of measurements in linear metrology applications. In such applications, non-classical correlations in certain entangled states [115–118].

The above mentioned applications of entanglement are nothing but a tiny sample of a huge list beyond the scope of this small introduction [52]. It is no wonder that a big effort has been spent to find methods and criteria to quantify and detect this precious

⁶More precisely, a CHSH inequality [72] or an extension of it in the multi-partite case [73].

and fragile resource. The aim of this chapter is to recall only a few of these criteria that will be useful for the following chapters.

1.2 States in quantum mechanics

For the sake of completeness, I will try to recall the bare minimum necessary to introduce the notion of entangled states. For that, I will introduce what is a state in quantum mechanics from a mathematical point of view then the notion of purity which lead us to the introduction of density matrices. Once these basics are recalled, we can move on to describe the state of a multi-partite system and distinguish between separable and entangled states.

The mathematical foundations of quantum mechanics are due to Von Neumann [119]. As a starting point, any physical system may be represented via a Hilbert space representing all the possible states the system may be in for some degree of freedom. These degrees of freedom might be quantized; as for spin systems or energy levels for a particle in a box, or continuous like position or moment of a particle. This vectorial representation allows for one of the most interesting features of quantum theory, quantum superposition.

In what follows, I will only consider the case of finite dimensional Hilbert spaces. This case captures the basic mathematical and more importantly physical concepts of quantum mechanics. The generalization to infinite dimensions can be done with extra care taken to account for the various mathematical subtleties related to infinite Hilbert spaces.

1.2.1 Pure states

Let us start by describing a system in pure state in the statistical sense. Statistical physics deals with ensembles of systems, where the system is replicated a big number of times. Hence, a system is in a pure state iff any replica is in the exact same state.

Let S be a system and let $\mathcal{H}^{(d)}$ be a Hilbert space spanned by the orthonormal basis $\{|e_i\rangle\}_{i=1}^d$ where the vector is written in Dirac's notation. This basis is an abstract representation of the different distinguishable outcomes of a measurement of the considered degrees of freedom. Upon performing a measurement, the system will be in one of those outcomes and never in a superposition. However, repeating the measurement might give



Figure 1.3: Sketch of Stern-Gerlach experiment: A beam of silver atoms is sent through an inhomogeneous magnetic field with a constant gradiant along the z axis. The silver atoms come out of the magnetic field and hit a screen perpendicular to their initial path. On the right, the intensity distribution is observed on the screen; in blue classical expectation versus quantum result in red. An atom after the measurement can only be in one of the two spin states $|+\frac{1}{2}\rangle$ or $|-\frac{1}{2}\rangle$.

different outcome to the previous measurements with a probability depending on the state of the system beforehand.

As one of the most famous and important examples is the experiment of Stern-Gerlach [120–123]. This experiment, first performed in 1922, has long been considered as the quintessential experiment to illustrate the electronic intrinsic angular momentum; spin. Another important aspect of it, is the simplicity of the results of the experiment, only two outcomes, making it the perfect tool to illustrate and gain direct access to the priciples of quantum mechanics, as was done in [120].

The experiment is summarized in Fig.1.3 where a collimated beam of silver atoms is sent, in the x direction for example, through a magnetic field before hitting a screen to measure the spatial distribution of silver atoms. The magnetic field pointing in the z direction has a gradient which, for simplicity sake, is assumed to be a constant; i.e. $\frac{\partial B_z}{\partial z} = cte \neq 0$. Without the magnetic field gradient, the silver atoms with magnetic moment $\vec{\mu}$ each will precess around the z-axis. This precession will have no influence on the spatial distribution of silver atoms, which will be a Gaussian centered around (0,0,0)with a spread depending on how good beam collimation is and time of flight of silver atoms. On the other hand, with the presence of magnetic field gradient, each atom will feel a force in the z-direction: $F_z = -\frac{\partial U}{\partial z}$, where $U = -\vec{\mu} \cdot \vec{B} = -\mu_z B_z$ the potential energy of a silver atom in a magnetic field, thus:

$$F_z = \mu_z \frac{\partial B_z}{\partial z}$$

Since the orientation of the magnetic moment of a silver atom $\vec{\mu}$ at the exit of the oven, source of the beam, is random, a classical mindset would expect its projection on the z-axis to be a uniform distribution $\mu_z \in [-|\vec{\mu}|, |\vec{\mu}|]$. Hence, the original spot at the origin of the screen with no magnetic field gradient will be stretched in the z-direction with borders corresponding to atoms having $\mu_z = \pm |\vec{\mu}|$ before entering the magnetic field region. Instead, two spots were observed corresponding to two values of $\mu_z = \pm |\vec{\mu}|$, where $\mu_B = \frac{e\hbar}{2m_e}$ is Bohr magneton and m_e is the mass of an electron. Since, for silver atoms, $\vec{\mu} = \frac{g\mu_B}{\hbar}\vec{S}$, where g^7 is Landé g-factor and \vec{S} is the spin vector, this experiment offers a direct measurement of spin component along the z-axis. In other words, what this experiment showed clearly is that there are only two possible values for $S_z:+\frac{\hbar}{2}$ and $-\frac{\hbar}{2}$ as predicted by quantum mechanics.

After the measurement, all the atoms are in a pure state being either $|+\frac{1}{2}\rangle$ or $|-\frac{1}{2}\rangle$; taking $\hbar = 1$. Since states live in a Hilbert space, linear superposition can arise and a general pure state of a spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ can be written as a complex combination of the form:

$$|\psi\rangle = \alpha|+\frac{1}{2}\rangle+\beta|-\frac{1}{2}\rangle \quad : |\alpha|^2+|\beta|^2=1$$

where $|\alpha|^2 (|\beta|^2)$ represent the probability to find the spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ in the pure state $|+\frac{1}{2}\rangle (|-\frac{1}{2}\rangle)$ after performing the measurement. Despite having two different outcomes for measurement in the $\{|+\frac{1}{2}\rangle, |-\frac{1}{2}\rangle\}$, the state $|\psi\rangle$ is pure since there exists a projective measurement, in the basis $\{|\psi\rangle, |\psi^{\perp}\rangle\}^8$, that leaves it unchanged. It is called a projective measurement since the states after the measurement $\{|\psi\rangle, |\psi^{\perp}\rangle\}$ are orthogonal, *i.e.* $\langle\psi|\psi^{\perp}\rangle = 0$. Note that the atoms before the measurement in the experiment above were not in a pure state, but rather we have an ensemble of states $\{|+\frac{1}{2}\rangle, |-\frac{1}{2}\rangle\}$ with probabilities $\{\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\}$. We say that each atom is in a mixed state. To describe such states,

 $^7g = 2$ for free electrons

$${}^{8}|\psi^{\perp}\rangle = \beta|+\frac{1}{2}\rangle - \alpha|-\frac{1}{2}\rangle$$

we use a density matrix formulation which is a very powerful and useful tool to describe the state of a quantum system in general whether pure or mixed.

1.2.2 mixed states

Mixed states describe an ensemble of states $\{|\psi_i\rangle\}$ with probabilities $\{p_i\}$ where in a large number of copies of the considered system, each copy will be found in the state $|\psi_i\rangle$ with probability p_i . A more compact way of describing such situations is to use a density matrix to describe the state.

A density matrix ρ is a bound operator acting on the Hilbert space of the considered system with the following conditions:

- ρ is hermitian, $\rho^{\dagger} = \rho$
- ρ is positive $\rho \geq 0$ and normalized $Tr[\rho] = 1$.

Being a hermitian operator, ρ will always be diagonalizable $\rho = \sum_i \lambda_i |\psi_i\rangle \langle \psi_i|$. Positivity and normalization will ensure that $\{\lambda_i\}_i$ is a probability distribution. Hence ρ is a representation of the ensemble $\{\lambda_i, |\psi_i\rangle\}$.

A special case is when $\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$ which represents a pure state since $\rho^2 = \rho$. In other words, ρ is a projector onto the state $|\psi\rangle$. Conversely, a mixture of states $\{p_i, |\phi_i\rangle\}$, with $p_i \ge 0$ and $\sum_i p_i = 1$, can be represented by the density matrix $\rho = \sum_i p_i |\phi_i\rangle\langle\phi_i|$.

In fact, the density matrix formalism is the most general way of describing a quantum system as was proven by Gleason in Ref. [124]. It is also worth noting that a given density matrix does not represent a unique ensemble of states. The simplest example is to take an ensemble of non orthogonal states $\{p_i, |\phi_i\rangle\}$. Clearly, $\rho = \sum_i p_i |\phi_i\rangle \langle \phi_i|$ has a spectral decomposition $\rho = \sum_i \lambda_i |\psi_i\rangle \langle \psi_i|$, where the states $\{|\psi_i\rangle\}$ are orthogonal.

In general [37], two ensembles $\{\lambda_i, |\psi_i\rangle\}$, $\{p_i, |\phi_i\rangle\}$ will give rise to the same density matrix; *i.e.* $\rho = \sum_i \lambda_i |\psi_i\rangle \langle \psi_i| = \sum_i p_i |\phi_i\rangle \langle \phi_i|$ iff there exists a unitary matrix U such that:

$$\sqrt{\lambda_i} |\psi_i\rangle = \sum_j U_{ij} \sqrt{p_i} |\phi_i\rangle.$$

1.2.3 Many-body states

So far, we have the mathematical representation of a single particle state. While, one can always treat a many-body system as a whole, it is more interesting to have a more detailed description with respect to its one-body components.

Let us consider a system S composed of n subsystems $\{S^{(i)}\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}^n}$. Each subsystem $S^{(i)}$ is described by a Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^{(i)}$. Then we can describe the system S by the tensor product $\bigotimes_i \mathcal{H}^{(i)} = \mathcal{H}$. Moreover, any pure state $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$ can be written as:

$$|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{\vec{k}} \alpha_{\vec{k}} \bigotimes_{i} |\psi_{k_{i}}^{(i)}\rangle \tag{1.1}$$

where $\vec{k} = (k_1, \dots, k_n)$ is a vector of indices, and the index k_i labels the elements of the basis $\{|\psi_{k_i}^{(i)}\rangle\}_{k_i}$ of $\mathcal{H}^{(i)}$. An interesting point here is that despite S is in a pure state $|\Psi\rangle$, the subsystem $S^{(i)}$ is not necessarily in a pure state and that depends on the coefficients $\alpha_{\vec{k}}$ (1.1). The purity of the state of $S^{(i)}$ will mean that it is separable of the rest of the subsystems of S as we will see later when we study entanglement. Once pure many-body states are defined, their extension to mixed states is straightforward.

We also can extend an operator $A^{(i)}$ acting on $\mathcal{H}^{(i)}$ into an operator acting on the whole Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , simply, by taking its tensor product with the identity over the other Hilbert space, i.e. $A^{(i)} \otimes \bigotimes_{j \neq i} \mathbb{1}^{(j)}$. These operators are called local operators since they only act on a local part of the system. By abuse of notation, we will drop the identity over other subsystems and we will, henceforth, use $A^{(i)}$ to represent an operator acting on $\mathcal{H}^{(i)}$ or \mathcal{H} depending on the context. We will also be referring to operators of the form

$$A = \sum_{i=1}^{n} A^{(i)}$$
(1.2)

as collective operators. For example the operator:

$$J_x = \sum_{i=1}^n J_x^{(i)}$$

is the x-component of the collective spin operator of an ensemble of n *j*-spins.

Partial trace

Given the state ρ of the many-body system S, we can obtain the state ρ_A of its subsystem A as:

$$\rho^{(A)} = \operatorname{Tr}_B\left[\rho\right],\tag{1.3}$$

where $B = S \setminus A$ and $\operatorname{Tr}_B[.]$ represents the partial trace over B, the remaining part of the system.

This can be justified by the fact that $\rho^{(A)}$ gives the correct expectation value of any local operator $\mathcal{D}^{(A)}$:

$$\langle \mathcal{D}^{(A)} \rangle = \operatorname{Tr} \left[\rho \mathbb{1}^{(B)} \otimes \mathcal{D}^{(A)} \right] = \operatorname{Tr}_{A} \left[\rho^{(A)} \mathcal{D}^{(A)} \right]$$
(1.4)

Now we are in position to discuss one of the most interesting features of quantum mechanics related to multi-partite systems, entanglement.

1.3 Bipartite entanglement

In this section, we recall the definition of bipartite entanglement and some of the most important criteria to detect it. Let $\rho^{(AB)}$ be a state of bipartite system AB. $\rho^{(AB)}$ is said to be a product state iff it can be written as a product $\rho^{(A)} \otimes \rho^{(B)}$, where $\rho^{(A)} = \text{Tr}_B \left[\rho^{(AB)} \right]$ and $\rho^{(B)} = \text{Tr}_A \left[\rho^{(AB)} \right]$. More generally, $\rho^{(AB)}$ is said to be a separable state iff it can be written as a convex sum of product states; i.e.

$$\rho^{(AB)} = \sum_{k} p_k \rho_k^{(A)} \otimes \rho_k^{(B)} \quad : p_k \ge 0, \ \sum_{k} p_k = 1.$$
(1.5)

Once separable states are defined, we are able to define entangled states as the states that cannot be written in the above form. In other words, $\rho^{(AB)}$ is said to be entangled iff it cannot be written as a convex sum of product states. This definition, albeit clear, is useless in practice. As we have seen, a mixed state represents many ensembles as long as they verify the condition introduced in 1.2.2. Testing for all possible ensembles is quite complex and prohibitive especially when the dimension of the Hilbert space gets bigger. That is why a lot of effort has been and still being spent to find efficient entanglement criteria [52, 125]. Next, we will start by criteria for pure bi-partite state and then we will move on to some of the criteria for mixed states. I will only mention criteria relevant to this thesis for finite dimensional systems and skip over criteria for continuous variable systems [126].

1.3.1 Entanglement of pure bipartite states

Characterizing entanglement for bipartite pure state can be achieved rather easily. We say that a pure bipartite state $|\Psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(B)}$ is entangled iff it cannot be written as a product state:

$$\left|\Psi\right\rangle = \left|\phi^{A}\right\rangle \otimes \left|\phi^{B}\right\rangle : \left(\left|\phi^{A}\right\rangle, \left|\phi^{B}\right\rangle\right) \in \mathcal{H}^{(A)} \times \mathcal{H}^{(B)}$$

In general, we can write any state $|\Psi\rangle$ using the orthonormal basis $\left\{ \left| \psi_i^A \right\rangle \otimes \left| \psi_j^B \right\rangle \right\}_{i,j=1}^{d_A,d_B}$, where $dim(\mathcal{H}^{(A)}) = d_A, dim(\mathcal{H}^{(B)}) = d_B$ as:

$$\left|\Psi\right\rangle = \sum_{i,j}^{d_A,d_B} \alpha_{ij} \left|\psi_i^A\right\rangle \otimes \left|\psi_j^B\right\rangle \tag{1.6}$$

Using Schmidt decomposition[37], we can find an orthonormal basis $\{ |e_i^A \rangle \otimes |e_i^B \rangle \}_{i=1}^k$ and coefficients $\{\beta_i \geq 0\}_{i=1}^k : k \leq \min\{d_A, d_B\}$ such that:

$$\left|\Psi\right\rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \beta_i \left|e_i^A\right\rangle \otimes \left|e_i^B\right\rangle,\tag{1.7}$$

where $\beta_i = \sqrt{s_i}$, and s_i are the singular values of the matrix α whose elements are α_{ij} defined in (1.6). k is called the Schmidt rank. Hence, according to the previous separability condition for pure states, a state is separable iff it has a Schmidt rank equal to 1. It is worth noting that the Schmidt rank k is equal to the rank of either of the reduced density matrices $\rho^{(A)} = \text{Tr}_B [|\Psi\rangle \langle \Psi|]$ or $\rho^{(B)} = \text{Tr}_A [|\Psi\rangle \langle \Psi|]$. In fact, one can easily see that they share the same eigenvalues s_i . Thus, it is quite simple to fully characterize entanglement for pure states by calculating the spectrum of the reduced density matrix.

From experimental point of view, having a pure state and conserving its purity is almost an impossibility due to systematic errors (small errors in the system preparation, noise ...). One has to deal with mixed states for which separability is quite hard to characterize. Next, I will recall some of the most important criteria that I will make use of through this work.

1.3.2 Entanglement of mixed bipartite states

We have seen that it is quite easy to distinguish pure separable states. Mixed states, on the other hand, are harder to be judged entangled or not. It is still an open question to find necessary and sufficient conditions for separability for arbitrary bipartite state. All the criteria that we are going to cite here, are necessary conditions for separability but not sufficient.

Majorization criterion and entropic inequalities

Let x, y be two vectors in \mathbb{R}^n and let $x^{\downarrow}, y^{\downarrow}$ be the two vectors obtained from x, y by ordering their components in descending order. We say that x is majorized by y [127] and we write $x \prec y$ if:

$$\forall k \in \{1, \cdots, n\}; \sum_{i=1}^{k} x_i^{\downarrow} \le \sum_{i=1}^{k} y_i^{\downarrow}, \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^{\downarrow} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i^{\downarrow}$$
 (1.8)

If the last equality does not hold, then we say that x is weakly majorized by y and we write $x \prec^w y$. Once this notion is introduced, we can look at an important separability criterion introduced bu Nielsen and Kempe [128] for bipartite state of arbitrary dimension $\rho^{(AB)}$:

If $\rho^{(AB)}$ is separable then

$$\Lambda\left(\rho^{(AB)}\right) \prec \Lambda\left(\rho^{(A)}\right), \qquad \Lambda\left(\rho^{(AB)}\right) \prec \Lambda\left(\rho^{(B)}\right) \tag{1.9}$$

where $\rho^{(A)}, \rho^{(B)}$ are the reduced density matrices and $\Lambda(\rho)$ is the $d_A \times d_B$ eigenvalues vector of ρ in descending order - padded with zeros for the eigenvalues' vector of the reduced density matrices.

From the above inequality, follows a weaker inequality in terms of Von Neumann entropy defined for a given density matrix ρ as:

$$\mathcal{S}(\rho) = -\mathrm{Tr}\left[\rho\log\left(\rho\right)\right]. \tag{1.10}$$

Since $S(\rho)$ is Schur concave [129] and from the previous criterion, one can obtain the following separability criterion:

$$\mathcal{S}\left(\rho^{(AB)}\right) \ge \mathcal{S}\left(\rho^{(A)}\right), \qquad \mathcal{S}\left(\rho^{(AB)}\right) \ge \mathcal{S}\left(\rho^{(B)}\right)$$
(1.11)

 $S(\rho)$ can be thought of as a measure of the lack of information about the state of a

system. If the system is in a pure state, hence, as we discussed above, is in a particular state with certainty, then the von Neumann entropy is 0. On the other hand, if the system is in a mixed state, then the corresponding von Neumann entropy is strictly positive. The maximally mixed state of a, say, *d*-level system, $\rho = \frac{1}{d}\mathbb{1}$ represents the complete absence of information about the state of the system and has the maximal value of the von Neumann entropy $S(\rho) = \log(d)$. In other words, the higher the entropy is, the less we know about the system.

Then we see that the above criterion (1.11) tells us that, for separable states, the global system is more disordered than either of its subsystems. In other words, for some entangled states, we have more information about the global system than about its components. This is never the case for classical variables, where the Shannon entropy [130] for a single random variable is always smaller than the joint entropy [131] for two random variables:

$$H(X,Y) \ge H(X) \quad , \quad H(X,Y) \ge H(Y) \tag{1.12}$$

where $H(X) = -\sum_{x} P(X = x) \log (P(X = x))$ is the classical counter part for the von Neumann entropy.

The Von Neumann entropy is a limit case for a whole family of entropy called Rényi entropy defined [132] for a parameter $\alpha \geq 0$ as:

$$S_{\alpha}(\rho) = \frac{\log\left(\operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho^{\alpha}\right]\right)}{1-\alpha} \tag{1.13}$$

where Von Neumann entropy is obtained as $\lim_{\alpha \to 1^+} S_{\alpha}(\rho)$. Then [22, 133, 134], For any separable state $\rho^{(AB)}$ the following inequalities are verified

$$\mathcal{S}_{\alpha}\left(\rho^{(AB)}\right) \geq \mathcal{S}_{\alpha}\left(\rho^{(A)}\right), \qquad \mathcal{S}_{\alpha}\left(\rho^{(AB)}\right) \geq \mathcal{S}_{\alpha}\left(\rho^{(B)}\right)$$
(1.14)

for all $\alpha \geq 0$.

Finally, one can write an equivalent separability criterion to (1.14) in terms of Tsallis entropy [135-137] as:

$$T_{\alpha}\left(\rho^{(AB)}\right) \ge T_{\alpha}\left(\rho^{(A)}\right), \qquad T_{\alpha}\left(\rho^{(AB)}\right) \ge T_{\alpha}\left(\rho^{(B)}\right)$$
(1.15)

where $T_{\alpha}(\rho)$ is Tsallis entropy defined for $\alpha \geq 0$ as

$$T_{\alpha}(\rho) = \frac{\operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho^{\alpha}\right] - 1}{1 - \alpha}.$$
(1.16)

Inseparability with positive maps

A linear map \mathcal{M} from $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(1)})$ to $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(2)})$, with $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ being the bounded operator space acting on \mathcal{H} , is said to be positive iff for all positive $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(1)})$, $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$ is positive. On the other hand, \mathcal{M} is said to be completely positive [138] iff the linear map $\mathbb{1}^{(n)} \otimes \mathcal{M}$ is positive for all n, where $\mathbb{1}^{(n)}$ is the identity map from $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(n)})$, where $\mathcal{H}^{(n)}$ is any Hilbert space of dimension n, to itself.

From the above two definitions, one can see that a complete positive map is not useful to detect entanglement since it maps any density matrix into a positive one. However, a positive but not completely positive map can map some bipartite density matrices into non positive ones. In other words, for a positive but not completely positive \mathcal{M} , there exists n or a Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^{(A)}$, such that $\mathbb{1}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{M}$ is not positive. Hence the following separability criterion [139]:

A state $\rho^{(AB)}$ is separable iff for all positive but not completely positive maps \mathcal{M} from $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(B)})$ to $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(A)})$, $\mathbb{1}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{M}(\rho^{(AB)})$ is positive.

It is easy to see why the above requirement is a necessary condition for separability. Say $\rho^{(AB)}$ is a separable state and \mathcal{M} is a positive map. Then, we can write $\rho^{(AB)}$ in the following form:

$$\rho^{(AB)} = \sum_{k} p_k \rho_k^{(A)} \otimes \rho_k^{(B)} \quad : p_k \ge 0, \ \sum_{k} p_k = 1.$$
(1.17)

From which follows that

$$\mathbb{1}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{M}\left(\rho^{(AB)}\right) = \sum_{k} p_{k} \rho_{k}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{M}\left(\rho_{k}^{(B)}\right)$$
(1.18)

is positive since \mathcal{M} is positive. As for the sufficiency part see [139].

While testing for all positive maps is quite prohibitive, one can use certain maps as a sufficient condition for entanglement. The most important ones among these are the reduction criterion and PPT criterion.

Reduction criterion

The positive map to consider for the reduction criterion is defined as:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}[\rho] \mathbb{1} - \rho \tag{1.19}$$

which gives the following criterion [140, 141]: For all separable states $\rho^{(AB)}$, the following inequalities hold

$$\rho^{(A)} \otimes \mathbb{1} - \rho^{(AB)} \ge 0 \quad , \quad \mathbb{1} \otimes \rho^{(B)} - \rho^{(AB)} \ge 0.$$
(1.20)

One corollary of the above inequalities are the entropic inequalities (1.14) seen in the previous section [141]. Another corollary is the majorization criterion [128]. This follows from the implication [142],

$$A \le B \Rightarrow \lambda(A) \prec^w \lambda(B)$$

for any Hermitian operators A and B. Hence, the reduction criterion is stronger than both the mojorization and entropic criteria [143].

It is also equivalent to the PPT criterion for the case of two qubits, hence it constitutes a necessary and sufficient condition for entanglement, as we will see in the next section. It is however, weaker than the PPT criterion for higher dimensions. Moreover, reduction criterion is closely related to entanglement distillability, defined hereafter, where it was shown in [141] that any state that violates (1.20) is distillable.

Entanglemnt distillation The notion of entanglement distillation was introduced in [39] as a way to concentrate and purify entanglement to allow for quantum communication protocols in the presence of noise [39, 144].

Entanglement distillation, when two parties share n copy of some entangled bipartite state, consists in performing some LOCC operations to obtain the maximal number, $k(n) \leq n$, possible of pairs of maximally entangled states [145]⁹. The asymptotic ratio $\frac{k}{n}$ in the limit of large number of copies n is called entanglement of distillation [144] which quantifies how much pure state entanglement we can extract from a given state ρ .

The task of deciding whether a bipartite state ρ is distillable or not was significantly reduced in [49] to the following condition,

⁹We call ρ a maximally entangled state of an $M \times N$ dimensional bipartite system iff the reduced density matrix for any subsystem is of the form $P^{(k)}/k$ with $k = \min(M, N)$ and $P^{(k)}$ is a projector of rank k.

A bipartite state $\rho \in \mathcal{B}\left(\mathcal{H}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(B)}\right)$ is distillable iff there exists a number n and rank-2 projectors P and Q such that the unnormalized state $\rho' = P \otimes Q\rho^{\otimes n}P \otimes Q$ is entangled. In other words, ρ' is a state acting on a 2 × 2 subspace of $\mathcal{H}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(B)}$. Hence, distillable entanglement can be seen as a form of two-qubit entanglement.

As I have just mentioned earlier, any state violating the reduction criterion is distillable. Since, reduction criterion is a necessary and sufficient condition for entanglement in the 2-qubit case, it follows that all 2-qubit states are distillable. However, not all states can be distilled and the question of distillability of a given state has been linked [49] to the PPT criterion mentioned herafter.

PPT criterion

Positive Partial Transpose (PPT) criterion or Peres-Horodecki criterion [146, 139] is one of the most important separability criterion out there for bipartite systems. Its importance is specially appreciated for providing a necessary and sufficient condition for entanglement of bipartite systems with dimensions 2×2 and 2×3 .

As can be inferred from the name Partial Transpose, it is the transpose map to be considered $\mathcal{M} = T$, and it was shown that [146, 139]:

For all separable states
$$\rho^{(AB)}$$
, $\rho^{(AB)T_B} = \mathbb{1} \otimes T(\rho^{(AB)})$ is a density matrix.

where the symbol T_B means that the partial transpose is taken with respect to the subsystem B. One can see that taking the partial transpose does not matter whether it is with respect to A or to B. that is because

$$\rho^{T_A} = \left(\rho^{T_B}\right)^T.$$

and the transpose is positive but not completely positive map.

Despite it being only a sufficient criterion for entanglement, the PPT was shown [146, 139] to be a necessary and sufficient for the case of 2×2 and 2×3 systems. Hence a full characterization of the separable states for these cases. This is because there exists a decomposition of positive maps in terms of completely positive maps as shown by Størmer and Woronowicz [147, 148] for systems of dimensions 2×2 and 2×3 . For these systems, the positivity of $\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathcal{M}(\rho)$ for any positive map \mathcal{M} becomes equivalent to the positivity of $\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{2}^{CP}(\rho^{T_{B}})$, where \mathcal{M}_{1}^{CP} and \mathcal{M}_{2}^{CP} are completely positive, which, in turn, is related to the positivity of $\rho^{T_{B}}$.

This decomposition, however, does not exist for higher dimensional systems, hence the existence of states that are entangled with positive partial transpose [48]. These states are called PPT entangled states and they are bound entangled since they cannot be distilled by means of LOCC operations [49]. In contrast, the states that are not positive under partial transpose are called NPT entangled states. It is still an open question whether all NPT states are distillable or not. As mentioned earlier, all NPT states that violate the reduction criterion are distillable. It is also known that all NPT $2 \times N$ states are distillable [149]. However, the existence of NPT bound entanglement does not have a definite answer yet [150–153].

Finally, let us give an example of states that violates PPT criterion but satisfies the reduction criterion. One family of such $d \times d$ states was introduced by Werner [76]:

$$\rho_{\beta} = \frac{1}{d^2 + d\beta} \left(\mathbb{1} + \beta V \right) \quad , -1 \le \beta \le 1$$

$$(1.21)$$

where $V = \sum_{i,j} |i, j\rangle \langle j, i|$ is the flip operator. These states were introduced as states that do admit a hidden variable model but exhibit non-classical correlations. Another property of these states that they are the only states that are invariant under local unitary transformations of the form

$$\rho \longrightarrow U \otimes U \rho U^{\dagger} \otimes U^{\dagger}. \tag{1.22}$$

Consequently, any state ρ can be transformed into a Werner state via a twirl operation

$$\int dUU \otimes U\rho U^{\dagger} \otimes U^{\dagger} \tag{1.23}$$

where the integral is carried out with respect to Haar measure on the unitary group U(d). Werner showed that ρ_{β} is separable iff $\operatorname{Tr} [\rho_{\beta}V] \geq 0$. The condition $\operatorname{Tr} [\rho_{\beta}V] \geq 0$ is equivalent to $\beta \geq -\frac{1}{d}$ or having a positive partial transpose. Hence, PPT criterion detects all entangled Werner states whereas the reduction criterion fails to detect any state for $d \geq 3$ [141].

These states (1.21) are highly symmetric and are of great importance in the context of entanglement distillation. As we mentioned earlier, the existence of NPT bound entanglement is still an open question but it can be reduced to the study of entanglement distillation of Werner states. Indeed, it was shown in [141] that distillability of all NPT states is equivalent to distillability of all NPT Werner states.

Range criterion

This criterion was introduced by Horodecki [48] as a way to construct and detect the entangled states that are undetectable via the PPT criterion. It is called the range¹⁰ criterion and it is stated as follows:

Let us consider a bipartite state $\rho \in \mathcal{B}\left(\mathcal{H}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(B)}\right)$. If $\rho^{(AB)}$ is separable, then there exists a set of product states $\{|\psi_i\rangle \otimes |\phi_k\rangle\}$, $|\psi_i\rangle \in \mathcal{H}^{(A)}$, $|\phi_k\rangle \in \mathcal{H}^{(B)}$, and $(i,k) \in I$ where I is a finite set of indices with cardinal number $m \leq d^{(A)} \times d^{(B)}$, such that:

- the set $\{|\psi_i\rangle \otimes |\phi_k\rangle\}$ span the range of ρ
- the set $\{|\psi_i\rangle \otimes |\phi_k^*\rangle\}$ span the range of ρ^{T_B} ,

where $|\phi_i^*\rangle$ is obtained by taking the complex conjugate of $|\phi_i\rangle$ in the basis in which the partial transpose was performed.

As mentioned in [48], this criterion is useful when the range of ρ does not span the entire Hilbert space. Another point to mention, is that this criterion is not stronger than PPT in general. For example, it fails to detect 2×2 entangled Werner states which violate the PPT criterion. Finally, an example of states satisfying both the PPT and range criteria was provided in [48].

CCNR criterion

Another simple and powerful criterion is the computable cross norm or realignment (CCNR) criterion. The name CCNR comes from the fact that this criterion has been discovered in two different forms, namely, by cross norms [154, 155] and by realignment of density matrices [156].

Let us start with the CCN norm that is defined for an operator $C \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}^{(A)}) \otimes \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}^{(B)})$ as [155, 157]:

$$\|C\|_{CCN} = \inf\{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|A_i\|_2 \|B_i\|_2 : C = \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i \otimes B_i\}$$
(1.24)

where the infimum runs over all finite decompositions of C into elementary tensor product [154] and $\|.\|_2$ is Hilbert-Schmidt norm. While this does not seem so computable,

¹⁰The range of an operator A acting on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} is given by $\mathcal{R}(A) = \{A|\psi\rangle : |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}\}.$

it can be shown for a density matrix $\rho^{(AB)}$ to be:

$$\left\|\rho^{(AB)}\right\|_{CCN} = \sum_{i} \Gamma_i \tag{1.25}$$

where Γ_i are the Schmidt coefficients obtained from the Schmidt decomposition of $\rho^{(AB)}$. Like we have seen for pure states (1.7), we can carry out Schmidt decomposition in the operator linear space and find orthonormal basis $\{E_k^{(A)}\}$ and $\{E_k^{(B)}\}$ such that

$$\rho^{(AB)} = \sum_{k} \Gamma_k E_k^{(A)} \otimes E_k^{(B)}.$$
(1.26)

Moreover, it can be shown that [158]:

$$\left\|\rho^{(AB)}\right\|_{CCN} = \left\|\tilde{\rho}\right\|_1 \tag{1.27}$$

where $\|.\|_1$ is the trace norm and $\tilde{\rho}$ is the realigned matrix [156] defined as:

$$\langle m|\langle n|\tilde{\rho}|m'\rangle|n'\rangle = \langle m|\langle m'|\rho^{(AB)}|n'\rangle|n\rangle.$$
(1.28)

Then, we can state the CCNR criterion as follows: For a separable state $\rho \in \mathcal{B}\left(\mathcal{H}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(B)}\right)$, the following inequality holds

$$\|\rho\|_{CCN} = \|\tilde{\rho}\|_1 \le 1. \tag{1.29}$$

Finally, one can generalize the realignment criterion to any contraction linear mapping Λ that does not increase the trace norm for product states [159]. That is, if $\left\|\Lambda\left(|\psi^{(A)}\rangle\langle\psi^{(A)}|\otimes|\phi^{(B)}\rangle\langle\phi^{(B)}|\right)\right\|_{1} \leq 1$, then for any separable state $\rho \in \mathcal{B}\left(\mathcal{H}^{(A)}\otimes\mathcal{H}^{(B)}\right)$ we have

$$\|\Gamma\left(\rho\right)\|_{1} \le 1. \tag{1.30}$$

The CCNR criterion as well is complementary to the PPT criterion where it was shown to detect some PPT entangled states and fail to detect some entangled 2×2 states [160].

Entanglement witness

All the above mentioned criteria require full knowledge of the state, which is hard to do in practice for high dimensional systems, hence the idea of entanglement witness [161]. As depicted in Fig 1.4, an entanglement witness is an observable whose expectation
value is positive for all separable states, but negative for some entangled states. This considerably simplifies the task if the objective is to only testify entanglement rather than full knowledge of the state.



Figure 1.4: Pictorial view of the set of all bipartite states. Separable states form a convex subset depicted in red. The blue line represents an entanglement witness \mathcal{W} . The states, that lie in the area with blue stripes, give rise to positive expectation value of \mathcal{W} . Thus, only the entangled states in the area with red stripes, for which $\langle W \rangle < 0$, are detected by \mathcal{W} .

The origin of the idea is geometric [139]. Since the set of separable states is convex and compact, one can separate any entangled state from the set of separable states by a hyper-plane characterized by a Hermitian W^{11} orthogonal to it. All the points of this hyper-plane correspond to states ρ such that $\text{Tr} [\rho W] = 0$. Thus, one can choose Wsuch that its expectation value is positive for all separable states and negative for the considered entangled state. This point was introduced in [139] as follows:

For every entangled state $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(B)})$, there exists a Hermitian operator $W \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(B)})$ such that

- For any separable state σ ; $Tr[\sigma W] \ge 0$
- $Tr[\rho W] < 0.$

 $^{^{11}}W$ is a vector in the operator vector space.

As stated by the above theorem, every entangled state can be detected via a measurable observable. However, constructing such an observable for every state is equivalent to solving the separability problem which has been shown to be an NP-hard problem [162– 164]. Constructing entanglement witnesses in general, and finding the minimal set of them that allows for the detection of all entangled states is one of the most challenging open questions [165].

Entanglement witnesses \mathcal{W} can be constructed from positive but not completely positive maps $\mathcal{M} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(A)}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(B)})$ via Choi-Jamiolkowski isomorphism [166, 167]:

$$\mathcal{W} = (\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathcal{M}) \left(|\Psi_+\rangle \langle \Psi_+| \right) \quad : |\Psi_+\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{d_A}} \sum_{k=1}^{d_A} |k, k\rangle, \tag{1.31}$$

where $|\Psi_+\rangle$ is a maximally entangled state in $\mathcal{H}^{(A)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(A)}$. This follows from the properties of the above isomorphism where a map \mathcal{M} is positive iff the corresponding operator \mathcal{W} via (1.31) has positive expectation value for all product states. Moreover, a map \mathcal{M} is completely positive iff the corresponding operator \mathcal{W} via (1.31) is positive, see lemma in the appendix of [168]. Hence, a map \mathcal{M} is positive but not completely positive iff the corresponding operator \mathcal{W} is an entanglement witness. Despite this one to one correspondence, the separability criterion based on a positive but not completely positive map \mathcal{M} , mentioned previously 1.3.2, is stronger than the corresponding witness constructed via (1.31) [169]. However, the point of entanglement witnesses is its measurability in experiments, where, ideally, one is able to infer entanglement from a minimum number of measurements.

Often, in experiments, the target entangled state $|\Psi\rangle$ is known beforehand. In this case, on can construct the following entanglement witness

$$\mathcal{W} = \alpha \mathbb{1} - |\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi| \tag{1.32}$$

which depicts how "similar" a state is to the entangled state $|\Psi\rangle$. α is taken to be the maximum overlap of product states with $|\Psi\rangle$ [170]:

$$\alpha = \max_{|\phi\rangle product} |\langle \phi | \Psi \rangle|^2 \tag{1.33}$$

Hence, any state ρ with fidelity¹² $\langle \Psi | \rho | \Psi \rangle$ exceeding α is entangled. This kind of witnesses, despite being unable to detect *PPT* entangled states, has the advantage of being easy to generalize for multipartite cases.

Another important way of constructing witnesses that can be generalized for the multipartite case was provided in [172] as follows: Given an observable H, one can construct the following entanglement witness

$$\mathcal{W}_H = H - \inf_{|\phi\rangle product} \langle \phi | H | \phi \rangle \tag{1.34}$$

where the infimum is taken for all pure product states. The above witness can be useful for a spin system whose hamiltonian has an entangled ground state [172].

Finally, we mention Bell inequalities which was firstly considered as entanglement witness by Terhal [161]. The simplest and most famous form is the CHSH inequality [72] which can be put into witness form as:

$$\mathcal{W}_{CHSH} = 2\mathbb{1} - \mathcal{A}_{CHSH} \tag{1.35}$$

where A_{CHSH} is the CHSH operator defined as:

$$\mathcal{A}_{CHSH} = A_1 \otimes B_1 + A_2 \otimes B_1 + A_1 \otimes B_2 - A_2 \otimes B_2 \tag{1.36}$$

and A_i and B_i are the dichotomic measurements performed by the first and second party with eigenvalues $\{-1, +1\}$. For the 2-qubit state, the maximum negative value for the above witness is $2 - 2\sqrt{2}$ that can be achieved with the singlet state ¹³

$$|\Psi_{-}\rangle = \frac{|0,1\rangle - |1,0\rangle}{\sqrt{2}} \tag{1.37}$$

and the following operators:

$$A_1 = \sigma_x, A_2 = \sigma_y, B_1 = -\frac{\sigma_x + \sigma_y}{\sqrt{2}}, B_2 = \frac{\sigma_y - \sigma_x}{\sqrt{2}}$$
 (1.38)

¹²Fidelity of two quantum states ρ and σ is defined as $F(\sigma, \rho) = \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left[\sqrt{\sqrt{\sigma}\rho\sqrt{\sigma}} \right] \right)^2$ [171]. If $\sigma = |\Psi\rangle$, we get $F(|\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi|, \rho) = \langle\Psi|\rho|\Psi\rangle$.

¹³or any maximally entangled state with the application of proper local unitaries to CHSH operator.

 $2\sqrt{2}$ represents the maximum achievable value for \mathcal{A}_{CHSH} in quantum mechanics and is called the Tsirelson bound [173] which can be exceeded when considering some non-local models other than quantum mechanics [174].

It is important to emphasize that the above witness rather witnesses non-locality which implies entanglement. In other words, \mathcal{W}_{CHSH} is a non optimal witness that detects only entangled states that do not admit LHVM models. For example, Werner states (1.21) for the 2-qubit case, which can be written in this equivalent form:

$$\rho_W = (1-p) \frac{1}{4} + p |\Psi_-\rangle \langle \Psi_-|$$
(1.39)

is entangled for $p > \frac{1}{3}$ and have been shown to admit a local hidden variable model for $p \le 0.66$ [78]. The entangled Werner states are only detected by the CHSH witness for $p > \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$.

Entanglement measures

So far we have presented some of the criteria to certify the presence of entanglement in a state. However, if someone is interested in quantifying entanglement, which is useful, for example, in quantum communication and distillation protocols [175, 144, 176], one may use what is called an entanglement measure.

An entanglement measure is a function that maps any bipartite state ρ into a positive number $E(\rho) \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with the following axiomatic properties [177, 176]:

- For any separable state σ , $E(\sigma) = 0$ meaning that the state contains no entanglement.
- $E(\rho)$ should remain invariant under local unitary transformations; i.e. $E(\rho) = E\left(U \otimes V\rho U^{\dagger} \otimes V^{\dagger}\right)$, where U and V are unitaries on the first and second subsystem respectively. That is because the mentioned transformation represents a simple change of basis that is incapable of changing the present correlations in a state.
- Since manipulating entanglement in quantum information and communication protocols is usually done within the paradigm of LOCC operations, where entanglement is a resource and LOCC do not create entanglement, E(.) should not increase on average under such transformations.

Any function verifying the above requirements is called an entanglement monotone. One may require additional properties [125, 176] like convexity and additivity, however these

may be relaxed since they are not verified by some entanglement measures [178, 179]. As an example of an entanglement measure for pure states is the Von-Neumann entropy of any of the two subsystems. We can check easily that it verifies the above three conditions. To begin with, If the state is separable, i.e. of the form $|\Psi\rangle = |\psi^{(A)}\rangle \otimes |\psi^{(B)}\rangle$, then $S\left(\rho^{(A)}\right) = 0$. A local unitary would not change the eigenvalues of $\rho^{(A)}$, thus $S\left(\rho^{(A)}\right)$ is unchanged. Finally, it was shown by Nielsen [42] that a state $|\Psi\rangle$ can be transformed into another $|\Phi\rangle$ via LOCC operations iff $\lambda_{\Psi} \prec \lambda_{\Phi}$ where λ_{Ψ} and λ_{Φ} are the eigenvalues of the reduced density matrices of $|\Psi\rangle$ and $|\Phi\rangle$ respectively. This implies that $S\left(\rho^{(A)}_{\Psi}\right) \geq S\left(\rho^{(A)}_{\Phi}\right)$ since S(.) is Schur concave. However, this measure is only defined for pure states and it fails for mixed states, which can be checked taking the completely mixed state as a counterexample. It was extended in [39] to mixed states by taking the convex roof of the Von neumann entropy:

$$E_F(\rho) = \inf_{p_k, |\Psi_k\rangle} \sum_k p_k S\left(\rho_k^{(A)}\right) \tag{1.40}$$

where $\rho_k^{(A)}$ is the reduced density matrix of the pure state $|\Psi_k\rangle$ and the infimum is taken over all pure states such that $\rho = \sum_k |\Psi_k\rangle \langle \Psi_k|$. This measure is called entanglement of formation and can be efficiently computed for 2 × 2 states [180]. It is, however, quite challenging to compute for higher dimensions because of the optimizations over all possible decomposition of a given density matrix.

Another famous entanglement measure is concurrence [181–183] defined for pure states as:

$$\mathcal{C}(\rho) = \sqrt{2\left(1 - \operatorname{Tr}\left[\rho^{(A)^2}\right]\right)}$$
(1.41)

Then the above measure can be extended to mixed states by taking the convex roof of the concurrence for mixed states. For the 2×2 case, concurrence has a simple form:

$$\mathcal{C}(\rho) = \max\left(0, \lambda_1 - \lambda_2 - \lambda_3 - \lambda_4\right) \tag{1.42}$$

where $\{\lambda_i\}_{i=1}^4$ are the eigenvalues of

$$M = \sqrt{\sqrt{\rho}\tilde{\rho}\sqrt{\rho}} \quad : \tilde{\rho} = \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y \rho^* \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y \tag{1.43}$$

in descending order.

Finally, a very simple entanglement measure that can be calculated easily for mixed states is negativity [184], which is connected to the violation of the PPT criterion via

the relation:

$$\mathcal{N}\left(\rho\right) = \frac{\left\|\rho^{T_B}\right\|_1 - 1}{2} \tag{1.44}$$

Another equivalent measure is the logarithmic negativity [184]

$$E_{\mathcal{N}}\left(\rho\right) = \log_2 \left\|\rho^{T_B}\right\|_1 \tag{1.45}$$

where both of these measures is useful for NPT states only.

There are other measures based on geometrical considerations, distance, entanglement distillability and entanglement cost that I will skip here and leave it to the interested reader to look it up in these reviews for example [125, 176, 52].

1.4 Multipartite entanglement

If dealing with two systems introduced a very complex and rich features to the states, one should expect the same as one adds more systems where the dimension grows exponentially larger.

The notion of entanglement, in which we are interested, can be generalized relatively easily. However, we can distinguish different degrees of separability that are not possible with two systems only.

Full separability: We say that a state $\rho \in \mathcal{B}\left(\mathcal{H}^{(1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(N)}\right)$ to be fully separable iff it can be written in the form:

$$\rho = \sum_{k} p_k \rho_k^{(1)} \otimes \rho_k^{(2)} \otimes \dots \otimes \rho_k^{(N)} \quad : p_k \ge 0 \,, \, \sum_{k} p_k = 1 \tag{1.46}$$

On the other hand, one may divide the N-partite systems into different partitions, i.e. grouping some of the subsystems into one subsystem for example, which leads to the following notion of separability with respect to the new partition despite the presence or not of entanglement in the newly formed subsystems.

k-producibility [185]: We say that a state $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(N)})$ is k-producible iff it can be written in the form:

$$\rho = \sum_{k} p_k \rho_k^{(1)} \otimes \rho_k^{(2)} \otimes \dots \otimes \rho_k^{(n)} \quad : p_k \ge 0 \,, \, \sum_{k} p_k = 1 \tag{1.47}$$

where the number of parties is $n \ge \frac{N}{k}$ and $\rho^{(i)}$ is a state of k_i particles such that $k_i \le k$. If we denote the convex set of k-producible states by S_{\parallel} , then one can have the following hierarchy $S_1 \subset S_2 \subset \cdots \subset S_{N-1} \subset S_N$ where S_1 is the set of fully separable states and S_N corresponds to the set of all states of the N-partite system, see Fig. 1.5.



Figure 1.5: Schematic view of the hierarchy of the convex set S_k containing k-producible states for $1 \le k \le N$.

Entanglement depth: We say that a state $\rho \in \mathcal{B}\left(\mathcal{H}^{(1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(N)}\right)$ has entanglement depth k iff $\rho \in S_k \setminus S_{k-1}$. This means that one is unable to find a decomposition of the form (1.47) with parties containing less than k particles. Hence, states with entanglement depth k are called genuine k-entangled states [185]. In particular, states in the set $S_N \setminus S_{N-1}$ are called genuine multipartite entangled states.

At this point, mentioning the Greenberger-Horne-Zeilinger (GHZ) states is a must [186, 187]. This state can be defined for N-qubits as:

$$|GHZ\rangle = \frac{|0\rangle^{\otimes N} + |1\rangle^{\otimes N}}{\sqrt{2}} \tag{1.48}$$

and can be generalized for N-qudits:as:

$$|GHZ_d\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{d}} \sum_{k=0}^{d-1} |k\rangle^{\otimes N}$$
(1.49)

These states can be considered as maximally entangled states for N-partite systems analogous to those for 2-qudits. These states were initially proposed to refute Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen (EPR) ideas on the relation between locality and elements of reality with quantum mechanics, but they proved to be extremely useful for many applications like metrology [188] and quantum computation [189]. However, despite it being maximally entangled, it is extremely sensitive to particle loss where the loss of one particle will give a completely separable state.

Another class of genuine multipartite entangled states are the W states defined for 3-qubits as [149]:

$$|W_3\rangle = \frac{1}{3} (|0,0,1\rangle + |0,1,0\rangle + |1,0,0\rangle)$$
(1.50)

They can be written for N-qubits in the form [149]:

$$|W_N\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}|N-1,1\rangle \tag{1.51}$$

where $|N - 1, 1\rangle$ is the completely symmetric state with N - 1 zeros and 1 ones. Unlike, the GHZ states, the W-states have entangled reduced density matrices for any pair of particles [149].

Entanglement detection in multi-partite systems

Since entanglement structure of multipartite systems is richer than the bi-partite case, entanglement criteria are not always a simple generalization of the bi-partite case even in the pure case. For instance, Schmidt decomposition exists for all pure bi-partite states, but not all pure entangled states admit a generalized Schmidt decomposition [190]. An example of states admitting a generalized Schmidt decomposition would be the GHZ states (1.49) and one that does not admit one is the W state (1.50).

However, many of the bi-partite entanglement criteria may prove useful for the multipartite case. If one splits the total system into two subsystems, one can apply the bipartite criteria. For example, for pure states of spin systems, the Von-neumann entropy of a bipartition is studied to understand how entanglement is spreading for large systems [191]. Other bi-partite criteria can be extended as well, like the range criterion [52] and the realignment criterion [192]. Moreover, there are many extensions of Bell inequalities to the multi-partite case like Mermin inequalities [193] and Svetlichny inequality [194]. For more details on the different multi-partite entanglement criteria, the reader might check these reviews [52, 125] and the references there in. As for the rest of this chapter, we will only focus on entanglement detection using collective operators, especially with spin squeezing inequalities.

1.5 Spin squeezing inequalities

In this section, I will try to recall, very briefly, the theory of squeezd spin states. The most famous definition of spin squeezing is due to Kitagawa and Ueda [195] which naturally attracted a lot of attention later on. The notion of squeezed light had already been introduced as a handy way of reducing quantum fluctuations of a light quadrature below the Heisenberg limit. The definition of squeezing for spin systems, like in optical systems, is therefore an essential tool for achieving measurement precision beyond the standard quantum limit SQL in many metrology protocols [196]. SQL or shot-noise limit, in atomic interferometry experiments, is the limit of precision when we use uncorrelated atoms and is given by $\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}$ for N uncorrelated particles. However, the ultimate limit allowed by quantum mechanics, for linear metrology, is the Heisenberg limit with scaling $\frac{1}{N}$ [197].

Moreover, spin squeezing in multipartite systems can be a sign of entanglement. In fact, for a system of N spin- $\frac{1}{2}$, no spin squeezing can be achieved without entanglement. In that regard, a spin squeezing criteria can be used as entanglement witness [198–201]. This is not surprising, taking the previous point into consideration. It is well known that entanglement is required to beat the shot noise limit in linear metrology ignoring, for the moment, the discussion on the required type and scaling of entanglement [202–204]. Hence, squeezed states, that give a better scaling than the shot noise limit, are entangled.

1.5.1 The concept of squeezing

Coherent states were introduced as early as 1926 by Schrödinger [205], where he introduced them as quantum states of a harmonic oscillator that behave classically; i.e. they give rise to expectation values that follow equations of classical mechanics. Then, it was Glauber [60] who coined the name for these semi-classical states for quantum optics. The concept of squeezing was firstly introduced in bosonic systems [59, 206, 207, 55]. In such systems we can define a position operator X and a momentum operator P in terms of the bosonic mode creation and annihilation operators, a^{\dagger} and a:

$$X = \frac{a + a^{\dagger}}{\sqrt{2}} \quad , \quad P = \frac{a - a^{\dagger}}{i\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (1.52)

a and a^{\dagger} verify the bosonic commutation relation:

$$\left[a,a^{\dagger}\right] = \mathbb{1} \tag{1.53}$$

where 1 is the identity over the infinite dimensional Hilbert space spanned by Fock states [208] $|n\rangle$ which are defined as the eigenstates of the number operator $N = a^{\dagger}a$ and verify the following relations:

$$a|n\rangle = \sqrt{n}|n-1\rangle$$
 , $a^{\dagger}|n\rangle = \sqrt{n+1}|n+1\rangle$, $N|n\rangle = n|n\rangle$ (1.54)

From Eq. (1.53), we find that X and P (1.52) verify the following commutation relation:

$$[X, P] = i^{14} \tag{1.55}$$

Putting the above relation into the Heisenberg uncertainty inequality [209-211] for two operators A and B:

$$(\Delta A)^2 (\Delta B)^2 \ge \frac{|[A,B]|^2}{4},$$
 (1.56)

where $(\Delta A)^2 = \langle A^2 \rangle - \langle A \rangle^2$ is the variance of A, we get:

$$\left(\Delta X\right)^2 \left(\Delta P\right)^2 \ge \frac{1}{4}.\tag{1.57}$$

There are no states that violate the above inequality. However, there are states that do saturate it and these states are coherent states and squeezed states.

Coherent states

Coherent states can be defined as the states that saturate the Heisenberg uncertainty relation (1.57) with the additional property:

$$\Delta X = \Delta P = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \tag{1.58}$$

These states can also be defined as the eigenstates of the annihilation operator a as:

$$a|\alpha\rangle = \alpha|\alpha\rangle \tag{1.59}$$

When written in Fock basis, it gives the following expression:

$$|\alpha\rangle = e^{-\frac{|\alpha|^2}{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha^n}{\sqrt{n!}} |n\rangle$$
(1.60)

 $^{^{14}}i$ here stands for $i\mathbb{1}.$

From the above relation, one can easily see that coherent states are not orthogonal, since for any coherent states, say $|\alpha\rangle$ and $|\beta\rangle$, we have:

$$|\langle \alpha | \beta \rangle|^2 = e^{-|\alpha - \beta|^2}.$$
(1.61)

Hence, the set of coherent states is over-complete since they also verify

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \int |\alpha\rangle \langle \alpha | d^2 \alpha = \mathbb{1}.$$
(1.62)

A special case of these coherent states is the vacuum state $|0\rangle$ which allows to obtain all other coherent states via the application of the displacement operator $\mathcal{D}(\alpha)$ [60]:

$$|\alpha\rangle = \mathcal{D}(\alpha)|0\rangle \quad , \mathcal{D}(\alpha) = e^{\alpha a^{\dagger} - \alpha^* a}$$
 (1.63)

which is a transformation that belongs to the group generated by the Heisenberg-Weyl algebra given by the three commutation relation [212]:

$$[a, a^{\dagger}] = \mathbb{1}, \quad [a, \mathbb{1}] = 0, \quad [a^{\dagger}, \mathbb{1}] = 0$$
 (1.64)

This method of applying a displacement operator on a reference state can be generalized to construct generalized coherent states for different algebras and can be used to construct coherent spin states [212], which will be introduced later on.

Squeezed states

Squeezed states, like coherent states, saturate the Heisenberg uncertainty relation (1.57) with the exception that

$$\Delta X \neq \Delta P. \tag{1.65}$$

Squeezed states can be obtained by applying the squeezing operator [213, 214]

$$S(\zeta) = e^{\frac{1}{2}\left(\zeta a^2 - \zeta^* a^{\dagger^2}\right)} \quad ; \zeta = r e^{i\theta} \tag{1.66}$$

to a coherent state $|\alpha\rangle$ to obtain the squeezed state

$$|\zeta;\alpha\rangle = S(\zeta)|\alpha\rangle. \tag{1.67}$$

If we define a rotated quadratures X_{θ} and P_{θ} in the X-P plane:

$$X_{\theta} = e^{i\frac{\theta}{2}a^{\dagger}a} X e^{-i\frac{\theta}{2}a^{\dagger}a} = \frac{ae^{-i\frac{\theta}{2}} + a^{\dagger}e^{i\frac{\theta}{2}}}{\sqrt{2}}$$
(1.68)

$$P_{\theta} = e^{i\frac{\theta}{2}a^{\dagger}a} P e^{-i\frac{\theta}{2}a^{\dagger}a} = \frac{ae^{-i\frac{\theta}{2}} - a^{\dagger}e^{i\frac{\theta}{2}}}{i\sqrt{2}}$$
(1.69)

Then the variances of X_{θ} and P_{θ} in the squeezed state $|\zeta; \alpha\rangle$, where $\zeta = re^{i\theta}$, is found to be[59]:

$$(\Delta X_{\theta})^2 = \frac{e^{-2r}}{2}, \quad , \quad (\Delta P_{\theta})^2 = \frac{e^{2r}}{2}, \quad (1.70)$$

where we can see the effect of the squeezing operator on the coherent state is to reduce the variance along the quadrature X_{θ} by a factor $\frac{e^{-2r}}{2}$. This will result in increasing the orthogonal quadrature P_{θ} by a factor $\frac{e^{2r}}{2}$ so that the quantity $(\Delta X_{\theta})^2 (\Delta P_{\theta})^2 = \frac{1}{4}$ remains unchanged. r, hence, determines the squeezing and is called squeezing parameter. A nice illustration for coherent and squeezd states can be found at [215].

1.5.2 Coherent spin states

In a similar way to bosonic coherent states, one can define coherent spin states for [216, 212, 217] based on the action of of SU(2) rotations on a finite dimensional Hilbert space, namely the space of a spin-j particle. In this case the algebra that generates the group is 3-dimensional, the basis (J_z, J_+, J_-) , where $J_{\pm} = J_x \pm i Jy$, satisfying the commutation relations:

$$[J_z, J_{\pm}] = \pm J_{\pm} \quad , \quad [J_+, J_-] = 2J_z$$
 (1.71)

Noticing that $J_{-}|j, -j\rangle = 0$ ¹⁵, one can define coherent spin states by applying the Wigner rotation matrix $\mathcal{D}(\theta, \phi)$ to the reference state $|j, -j\rangle$;

$$|\theta,\phi\rangle = \mathcal{D}(\theta,\phi)|j,-j\rangle$$
 (1.72)

where

$$\mathcal{D}(\theta,\phi) = e^{\xi J_+ - \xi^* J_-} = e^{i\theta(\sin\phi J_x - \cos\phi J_y)} \tag{1.73}$$

 $[\]overline{J_x^{15}|j,m}$ with $m \in \{-j,\cdots,j\}$ are simultaneous eigen-states of J_z and the Casimir operator $J^2 = J_x^2 + J_y^2 + J_z^2$ with eigenvalues m and j(j+1) respectively.

and $\xi = \frac{\theta}{2}e^{-i\phi}$. In other words, $\mathcal{D}(\theta, \phi)$ represents a rotation by an angle θ around the axis y', obtained by a rotation of the axis y by an angle ϕ around the z-axis. The analogy with bosonic coherent states is quite remarkable, mainly if we replace the annihilation and creation operators, a and a^{\dagger} , with the ladder operators J_{-} and J_{+} . Also the state $|j, -j\rangle$ plays the role of the vacuum state $|0\rangle$ of the bosonic systems.

The analogy becomes even clearer in the high spin number limit $j \to \infty$. First we consider an equivalent form of the Wigner matrix [217]:

$$\mathcal{D}(\theta,\phi) = e^{\xi J_{+} - \xi^{*} J_{-}} = e^{\tau J_{+}} e^{\ln\left(1 + |\tau|^{2}\right) J_{z}} e^{-\tau^{*} J_{-}}$$
(1.74)

where as mentioned above $\xi = \frac{\theta}{2}e^{-i\phi}$ and $\tau = \tan\frac{\theta}{2}e^{-i\phi}$. From this, we can get an equivalent definition of coherent spin states (1.72)

$$|\theta,\phi\rangle = \frac{1}{\left(1+|\tau|^2\right)^j} e^{\tau J_+} |j,-j\rangle \tag{1.75}$$

Now performing the following substitutions

$$J_{+} = \sqrt{2j}a^{\dagger} \quad , \quad \tau = \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{2j}}, \tag{1.76}$$

we can see that the spin coherent state approaches a bosonic coherent state $|\alpha\rangle$ for $j \to \infty$.

Coherent spin states defined in Eq. (1.72) are completely polarized along the direction $\vec{n} = (\cos \phi \sin \theta, \sin \phi \sin \theta, \cos \theta)$; i.e. if we define the spin component along the direction $\vec{n}, J_{\vec{n}} = \mathcal{D}(\theta, \phi) J_z \mathcal{D}(\theta, \phi)^{\dagger}$, we have:

$$J_{\vec{n}}|\theta,\phi\rangle = -j|\theta,\phi\rangle \tag{1.77}$$

Like bosonic coherent states, coherent spin states form an over complete basis with the following resolution of the identity:

$$\frac{2j+1}{4\pi} \int \sin\theta d\theta d\phi |\theta, \phi\rangle \langle \theta, \phi| = \mathbb{1}$$
(1.78)

And they can be expanded in terms of the orthogonal basis $\{|j,m\rangle\}_m$:

$$|\theta,\phi\rangle = \frac{1}{\left(1+|\tau|^{2}\right)^{j}} \sum_{m=-j}^{j} \sqrt{C_{2j}^{j+m}} \tau^{j+m} |j,m\rangle$$
(1.79)

More importantly, coherent spin states saturate the Heisenberg uncertainty inequality (1.56):

$$\left(\Delta J'_x\right)^2 \left(\Delta J'_y\right)^2 \ge \frac{\langle J'_z \rangle^2}{4} \tag{1.80}$$

where J'_k , k = x, y, z, are rotated J_k in certain directions, like $J'_k = \mathcal{D}(\theta, \phi) J_k \mathcal{D}(\theta, \phi)^{\dagger}$ for example. However, an important distinction with the bosonic case (1.57) is that the right hand side of the above inequality is not a constant and does change with the state in question. This is why there is no unique definition of squeezed spin states like it is the case for bosonic squeezed states, as will be explained in the next section.

1.5.3 Squeezed spin states and spin squeezing parameters

In similar way to squeezed bosonic states, and since coherent spin states verify:

$$\left(\Delta J'_x\right)^2 = \left(\Delta J'_y\right)^2 = \frac{\left|\langle J'_z \rangle\right|}{2} \tag{1.81}$$

where $J'_k = \mathcal{D}(\theta, \phi) J_k \mathcal{D}(\theta, \phi)^{\dagger}$ and k = x, y, z for some θ and ϕ , we are tempted to define squeezed states to be the states that verify [218]:

$$\left(\Delta J'_x\right)^2 < \frac{\left|\langle J'_z \rangle\right|}{2}.\tag{1.82}$$

Or equivalently, define a squeezing parameter

$$\zeta^2 = \frac{2\left(\Delta J'_k\right)^2}{|\langle J'_l \rangle|},\tag{1.83}$$

where $k \neq l$ stand for two directions among x, y, z, such that whenever we have $\zeta < 1$, we conclude that the state is squeezed.

However, the above definition fails as it classifies some of the coherent spin states as squeezed states. To see this, when considering coherent spin states (1.72), one should keep in mind that the parameter (1.83) has two coordinate dependencies: firstly, the coherent state (1.72) depends on (θ, ϕ) . Secondly, the rotated operator $J'_k = \mathcal{D}(\theta', \phi')J_k\mathcal{D}(\theta', \phi')^{\dagger}$, with k = x, y, z, depends on the coordinates (θ', ϕ') . In the case where (θ, ϕ) and (θ', ϕ') are the same, we get $\zeta = 1$ as we have seen before. Yet, when for some different directions; i.e. $(\theta, \phi) \neq (\theta', \phi')$, we have $\zeta < 1$ inferring squeezing of these coherent states[195, 216]. In other words, a simple coordinate change can provide squeezing! This is useless squeezing since coordinate change in the sense defined above provides no quantum correlations among particles, in the multi-partite case, and , hence, cannot provide better precision in metrology applications, as expected from squeezed states.

The definition (1.83) needs modification to obtain a meaningful squeezing parameter. It was first done by Kitagawa and Ueda [195] where they defined the following squeezing parameter:

$$\zeta^{2} = \frac{2\min_{\vec{n}_{1}} \left(\Delta J_{\vec{n}_{1}}\right)^{2}}{\left|\langle \vec{J} \rangle\right|} = \frac{2\min_{\vec{n}_{1}} \left(\Delta J_{\vec{n}_{1}}\right)^{2}}{j}.$$
(1.84)

The minimum is taken over all directions \vec{n}_1 in the plane orthogonal to \vec{n}_0 , the mean spin direction for which $\langle J_{\vec{n}_0} \rangle = |\langle \vec{J} \rangle|$.

Comparing (1.83) with (1.84), we can see two differences between them. The first one is that we are taking the minimum variance of the spin component in the plane orthogonal to \vec{n}_0 . Secondly, and more importantly, \vec{n}_0 is taken to be along the mean spin direction. Since coherent spin states are completely polarized (1.77), we have $|\langle J_{\vec{n}_0} \rangle| = j$, hence, the second equality in (1.84). With these modifications, all coherent states yield $\zeta = 1$, and simple coordinate change cannot produce spin squeezing. Kitagawa and Ueda studied the case where the spin j is composed of 2j spin $\frac{1}{2}$ particles and argued that any spin squeezing is due to inter-particle quantum correlations [195].

Later on, Wineland et al. [196] defined a slightly modified version of the squeezing parameter (1.84):

$$\zeta_R^2 = \frac{2j \min_{\vec{n}_1} \left(\Delta J_{\vec{n}_1} \right)^2}{\langle J_{\vec{n}_0} \rangle^2},\tag{1.85}$$

where \vec{n}_0 and \vec{n}_1 are the same as explained above. They showed that this squeezing parameter is connected to the sensitivity of spin to rotation. In fact, they have defined the squeezing parameter (1.85) as

$$\zeta_R^2 = \frac{(\Delta\theta)^2}{(\Delta\theta_{CSS})^2} \tag{1.86}$$

where θ is the angle of rotation that we would like to measure when rotating J_y , for example [196], around J_x ;

$$J'_{y} = e^{i\theta J_{x}} J_{y} e^{-i\theta J_{x}} = \cos\theta J_{y} - \sin\theta J_{z}.$$
(1.87)

 $(\Delta \theta_{CSS})^2$ represents the best precision that can be achieved in measuring θ using coherent spin states. For the multi-partite case, for N = 2j spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles, that Wineland et al.

considered in [196], $(\Delta \theta_{CSS})^2$ is the best precision achievable using uncorrelated particles. In this case, it can be easily shown that

$$\left(\Delta\theta_{CSS}\right)^2 = \frac{1}{N} = \frac{1}{2j} \tag{1.88}$$

which accounts for the factor 2j in the nominator in (1.85) and is known to be the SQL for N particles.

To see where the rest comes from, we may assume, without loss of generality, the state to be polarized along the z-direction; i.e.

$$\langle J_{\vec{n}_0} \rangle = \langle J_z \rangle$$
 and $\langle J_x \rangle = \langle J_y \rangle = 0.$

Then, using the relation, verified by a function $f(\theta)$,

$$\Delta f(\theta) = \left| \frac{\partial f(\theta)}{\partial \theta} \right| \Delta \theta \tag{1.89}$$

we find that:

$$\left(\Delta\theta\right)^{2} = \frac{\left(\Delta J_{y}^{\prime}\right)^{2}}{\left|\frac{\partial\langle J_{y}^{\prime}\rangle}{\partial\theta}\right|^{2}} = \frac{\left(\Delta J_{y}^{\prime}\right)^{2}}{\cos^{2}\theta\left|\langle J_{z}\rangle\right|^{2}}.$$
(1.90)

For small angles of rotation, the above equation is minimized for $\theta = 0$ which results in (1.85).

This clearly shows the connection between spin squeezing and the improved sensitivity to rotations beyond the standard quantum limit. Such improvement cannot be achieved, for most metrology protocols, without inter-particle correlations.

Even for the case of single spin j, with $j > \frac{1}{2}$, we can see it as if it was a collection of spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles, where any state of the spin-j can be represented as a symmetric Dicke state [219] of 2j spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles. Hence, spin squeezing in the single particle case can be seen as entanglement of 2j fictitious particles.

One might be tempted to use this argument to understand why there are no spin squeezed states for a spin- $\frac{1}{2}$. However, this is not rigorous since entanglement and spin squeezing are not equivalent. For example, the state $|\frac{1}{2}, +\frac{1}{2}\rangle$ can be seen as an entangled state of two spins, say j and $j + \frac{1}{2}$, with j being an integer or half-integer:

$$\left|\frac{1}{2}, +\frac{1}{2}\right\rangle = \sum_{m_1, m_2} |j, m_1; j + \frac{1}{2}, m_2\rangle \langle j, m_1; j + \frac{1}{2}, m_2 |\frac{1}{2}, +\frac{1}{2}\rangle$$
(1.91)

where $\langle j_1, m_1; j_2, m_2 | J, M \rangle$ is the Clebsch-Gordan coefficient. This state, despite being entangled, is not squeezed as all spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ states are obtained by a rotation from the state $|\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}\rangle$ and, thus, they are coherent states according to the definition (1.72).

1.5.4 Spin squeezing and entanglement

So far, we have seen the connection of the squeezing parameter (1.85) to improved precision in metrology when using squeezed states. This improvement, for multi-parite case is attributed to entanglement. Nonetheless, the way (1.85) is defined does not distinguish single particle from multi-particle case. As we discussed above, squeezing in the single particle case can be attributed to entanglement among fictitious spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles. In other words, Definition (1.85) does not distinguish between physical and fictitious entanglement. The former being the most interesting for most applications, it is important to define a squeezing parameter, that we want to use as entanglement witness, for the multi-particle case explicitly.

As we have discussed above, a spin-j can be seen as a collection of N spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles such that N = 2j. Hence, we may simply replace j by $\frac{N}{2}$ in (1.85) to get the following squeezing parameter for N spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles:

$$\zeta^{2} = \frac{N \min_{\vec{n}_{1}} \left(\Delta J_{\vec{n}_{1}}\right)^{2}}{\langle J_{\vec{n}_{0}} \rangle^{2}}.$$
(1.92)

Sørensen et al. showed in [220] that $\zeta \geq 1$ for all separable states. In other words, squeezed states, for which $\zeta < 1$, are entangled.

The appealing feature about the above entanglement witness is that it uses only the expectation values and variance of global or collective operators. This is very appealing from experimental point of view where measuring individual particles might be a daunting task. This might be even more difficult when considering two-particle correlations, essential for witnessing entanglement. Whereas the variance in (1.92) encompasses an average over all two-particle correlations since:

$$\left\langle J_k^2 \right\rangle = \left\langle \left(\frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^N \sigma_k^{(n)}\right)^2 \right\rangle = \frac{N}{4} + \frac{1}{4}\sum_{n \neq m}^N \left\langle \sigma_k^{(n)} \sigma_k^{(m)} \right\rangle$$

where k is x, y or z and σ_k are Pauli operators¹⁶.

At this point, multiple questions come to mind. In no particular order, the first questions is how small ζ^2 can get and what is the ultimate squeezing limit achievable for spin systems. The second question is whether it is possible to generalize and elaborate other squeezing parameters to use as entanglement witness. If there are, how many are needed to detect as many entangled states as possible. Last question, but not the least, is what kind of entanglement can be detected using these squeezing parameters which uses only the variance of collective spin operators to capture two-particle correlations. While it is obvious that no entanglement can be detected using one-particle moments, the same cannot be said about the entanglement depth of states detected using two particle correlations. Next, we will go over the first two questions in detail and briefly over the last one.

Extreme spin squeezing

Let us begin with the first question, which was answered by Sørensen and Mølmer in their famous paper [220]. They have looked at the squeezing parameter Eq. 1.85:

$$\zeta_R^2 = \frac{2j \left(\Delta J_x\right)^2}{\langle J_z \rangle} \tag{1.93}$$

where the x-axis is the direction that minimizes the variance, \vec{n}_1 for a state completely polarized along the z-direction. They have set out to find out the states that the smallest ζ_R^2 possible for a given $\langle J_z \rangle$ which , in turn, will have less noise for a given value of signal in spectroscopy. They have shown that, for integer values of j, these states are eigenstates corresponding to the minimum eigenvalue of the Hamiltonian:

$$H = J_x^2 + \mu J_z \tag{1.94}$$

where the parameter μ is a Lagrange multiplier to ensure the value of $\langle J_z \rangle$. By varying μ over a wide range, one is able to numerically determine the minimum eigenvalue and calculate the corresponding $(\Delta J_x)^2$ and $\langle J_z \rangle$. Then, one is able to find the state that verifies $(\Delta J_x)^2 = \langle J_x^2 \rangle^{17}$ for the given value of $\langle J_z \rangle$. However, for half-integer values of j, states that minimize $\langle J_x^2 \rangle$ do not minimize $(\Delta J_x)^2$ for a given value of $\langle J_z \rangle$. This

¹⁶We have used the following relation for Pauli operators: $\{\sigma_i, \sigma_j\} = 2\delta_{i,j}\mathbb{1}$, with $\{., .\}$ being the anti-commutator.

 $^{^{17}\}langle J_x\rangle=0$ since the state is polrized along the z- direction.

is because the minimum eigenvalue of J_z^2 is $\frac{1}{4}$ and states with $\langle J_x \rangle = \langle J_y \rangle = 0$ do not minimize the variance $(\Delta J_x)^2$ for a given $\langle J_z \rangle$, hence, not the most squeezed according to (1.93). The above method can be extended, for half-integer j, by considering the Hamiltonian $J_x^2 + \mu J_z + \nu J_x$ with two Lagrange multipliers μ and ν , see ref [221] for details.

Consequently, with the above numerical procedure in mind, one is able to calculate the function [220]:

$$F_j(X) = \frac{1}{j} \min_{\langle J_z \rangle / j = X} \left(\Delta J_x \right)^2 \tag{1.95}$$

which is the minimum variance of J_x divided by j for a given value of $\langle J_z \rangle$. As shown in [220], $F_j(X)$ is convex and monotonically increasing with values in the interval [0, 0.5], where $F_j(0) = 0$ and $F_j(1) = 0.5$. Finally, for $j_1 \ge j_2$, we have $F_{j_1}(X) \le F_{j_2}(X)$.

Once $F_j(X)$ is defined, Sørensen and Mølmer [220] showed that for all separable N *j*-spin states, the following inequality is verified:

$$(\Delta J_x)^2 \ge N j F_j \left(\frac{\langle J_z \rangle}{N j}\right) \tag{1.96}$$

As a result, any state violating the above inequality is entangled. They even showed the amount of violation of the above inequality can be used to detect entanglement depth where we may replace $F_j(.)$ by $F_{kj}(.)$ in the above inequality. Hence, we can write a set of inequalities as follows:

Extreme spin squeezing inequalities: All k-producible states of N spin-j particles verify the following inequality:

$$\left(\Delta J_x\right)^2 \ge N j F_{kj} \left(\frac{\langle J_z \rangle}{Nj}\right) \tag{1.97}$$

Hence, any state that violates the above inequality is entangled and has k+1 entanglement depth. In what follows, I will recall the proof for these inequalities, presented in [220, 222, 223], which will be used later in chapter 3. We start by proving the inequalities for product k-producible states of the form

$$\rho = \rho^{(1)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \rho^{(m)} \quad : m \ge \frac{N}{k}$$

where each state $\rho^{(i)}$ is a state of $k_i \leq k$ particles such that $\sum_{i=1}^m k_i = N$. If we define the operators $J_{\alpha}^{(i)}$, with $\alpha = x, y, z$, to be the operators of a spin- $(k_i j)$ particle such that $J_{\alpha} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} J_{\alpha}^{(i)}$, we can write

$$(\Delta J_x)^2 = \sum_{i=1}^m \left(\Delta J_x^{(i)} \right)^2 \ge \sum_{i=1}^m k_i j F_{k_i j} \left(\frac{\langle J_z^{(i)} \rangle}{k_i j} \right) \ge \sum_{i=1}^m N j \frac{k_i}{N} F_{k j} \left(\frac{\langle J_z^{(i)} \rangle}{k_i j} \right)$$

where the first equality follows from the fact we have a product state ρ , and the last inequality follows from the fact that $k_i \leq k$ and the properties of the function $F_j(.)$. Finally, from the convexity of the function $F_j(.)$, we get:

$$(\Delta J_x)^2 \ge N j F_{kj} \left(\sum_{i=1}^m \frac{k_i}{N} \frac{\langle J_z^{(i)} \rangle}{k_i j} \right) = N j F_{kj} \left(\frac{\langle J_z \rangle}{N j} \right)$$
(1.98)

This finishes the proof for product states. For mixed states, inequalities (1.97) follow from the concavity of the variance and the convexity of the function $F_{kj}(.)$.

Optimal spin squeezing inequalities

Now, we move on to the next question about generalizing spin squeezing parameters which is discussed in great detail in [223]. As a starter point, we see that that the squeezing parameter (1.92) can be put into an equivalent inequality for separable states as:

$$N\min_{\vec{n}_1} \left(\Delta J_{\vec{n}_1}\right)^2 \ge \langle J_{\vec{n}_0} \rangle^2$$

Other squeezing parameters were proposed to detect entanglement in N spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles. Raghavan et al. proposed the following squeezing parameter

$$\zeta_D^2 = \frac{N \left(\Delta J_{\vec{n}}\right)^2}{N^2 / 4 - \langle J_{\vec{n}} \rangle^2} \tag{1.99}$$

to detect entanglement in Dicke states [224], which can be turned into the following inequality

$$N\left(\Delta J_{\vec{n}}\right)^2 \ge N^2/4 - \langle J_{\vec{n}}\rangle^2$$
 (1.100)

for separable states. Another spin squeezing inequality

$$(\Delta J_{\vec{n}_1})^2 + (\Delta J_{\vec{n}_2})^2 \ge NC_j \tag{1.101}$$

was proposed by He et al. [225] to detect entanglement of planar squeezed states; i.e. states where the direction of minimum variance and the mean spin direction lie in the same plane. The above inequality is defined for N spin-j particles where \vec{n}_1 and \vec{n}_2 define

the plane of squeezing and C_j represent the lower bound of the sum of two variances $\left(\Delta J_{\vec{n}_1}^{(i)}\right)^2 + \left(\Delta J J_{\vec{n}_2}^{(i)}\right)^2$ for a single spin-*j*.

All the different spin squeezing inequalities mentioned above are linear combinations with respect to the quantities $\{\langle J_x^2 \rangle, \langle J_y^2 \rangle, \langle J_z^2 \rangle\}$ and $\{\langle J_x \rangle^2, \langle J_y \rangle^2, \langle J_z \rangle^2\}$. While certain combinations detects certain entangled states better than others , it is interesting to ask what is the maximum amount of entangled states detected using these quantities only. Tóth et al. [201, 226] introduced a complete set of generalized spin squeezing inequalities for N spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles and later were generalized to the following inequalities for arbitrary spin [227, 228]:

$$\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_x + \tilde{\Delta}^2 J_y + \tilde{\Delta}^2 J_z \ge -Nj^2 \tag{1.102a}$$

$$(N-1)\left[\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_k + \tilde{\Delta}^2 J_l\right] \ge \langle \tilde{J}_m^2 \rangle - N(N-1)j^2$$
(1.102b)

$$\langle \tilde{J}_l^2 + \tilde{J}_m^2 \rangle - N(N-1)j^2 \le (N-1)\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_k$$
 (1.102c)

$$\langle \tilde{J}_x^2 + \tilde{J}_y^2 + \tilde{J}_z^2 \rangle \le N(N-1)j^2,$$
 (1.102d)

where $\langle \tilde{J}_k^2 \rangle = \langle J_k^2 \rangle - \sum_{i=1}^N \langle (J_k^{(i)}) \rangle$, and $\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_k = \langle \tilde{J}_k^2 \rangle - \langle J_k \rangle^2$ are the modified second moment and the modified variance of the spin component $k \in \{x, y, z\}$. It was shown that these inequalities are complete if one considers the quantities $\{\langle \tilde{J}_x^2 \rangle, \langle \tilde{J}_y^2 \rangle, \langle \tilde{J}_z^2 \rangle\}$ and $\{\langle J_x \rangle^2, \langle J_y \rangle^2, \langle J_z \rangle^2\}$. For fixed values $\{\langle J_x \rangle^2, \langle J_y \rangle^2, \langle J_z \rangle^2\}$, the above inequalities (1.102) define a polytope in the space $\{\langle \tilde{J}_x^2 \rangle, \langle \tilde{J}_y^2 \rangle, \langle \tilde{J}_z^2 \rangle\}$. For the limit of large N, all states corresponding to points inside the polytope are separable [228]. Hence, the optimality of these inequalities in the limit of very large N where any entangled state, detected by some combination of the first and second spin moments, is going to be detected by one of the inequalities (1.102a)-(1.102c). The last inequality (1.102d) is verified for all states.

In order to prove the above inequalities, one may start by rewriting the four inequalities into one compact inequality [227, 228]:

$$(N-1)\sum_{k\notin\mathcal{I}}\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_k - \sum_{k\in\mathcal{I}} \langle \tilde{J}_k^2 \rangle \ge -N(N-1)j^2, \qquad (1.103)$$

where \mathcal{I} can be any subset of $\{x, y, z\}$ (including the empty set). Each inequality in Eqs. (1.102) is obtained by increasing the number of elements in \mathcal{I} by one, starting from the empty set. Next, we may proceed to prove this inequality for product states like we

did before. for product states, we have the following facts:

$$\langle \tilde{J}_k^2 \rangle := \sum_{i \neq j} \langle J_k^{(i)} J_k^{(j)} \rangle = \sum_{i \neq j} \langle J_k^{(i)} \rangle \langle J_k^{(j)} \rangle = \langle J_k \rangle^2 - \sum_i \langle J_k^{(i)} \rangle^2$$
(1.104)

$$\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_k := \langle \tilde{J}_k^2 \rangle - \langle J_k \rangle^2 = -\sum_i \langle J_k^{(i)} \rangle^2 \tag{1.105}$$

Now we make use of the following two inequalities: Cauchy-Schwartz inequality

$$\langle J_k \rangle^2 \le N \sum_{i=1}^N \langle J_k^{(i)} \rangle^2 \tag{1.106}$$

and the inequality of angular momentum j:

$$\langle J_x^{(i)} \rangle^2 + \langle J_y^{(i)} \rangle^2 + \langle J_z^{(i)} \rangle^2 \le j^2$$
 (1.107)

Putting (1.106) and (1.104) into the left hand side of inequality (1.103), we find:

$$(N-1)\sum_{k\notin\mathcal{I}}\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_k - \sum_{k\in\mathcal{I}}\langle \tilde{J}_k^2 \rangle \ge -(N-1)\sum_i \sum_{k\in\{x,y,z\}}\langle J_k^{(i)} \rangle^2 \tag{1.108}$$

Finally, plugging (1.107) into the above inequality completes the proof of (1.103) for product states. Finally, using the concavity of the variance, one is able to prove (1.103) for all separable states.

It is important to note that Cauchy-Schwartz inequality is the main ingredient to proving the above inequality along side with the inequality (1.107). Both of these are not restrictive to spin operators. As it has been shown in Ref. [227], a set of M collective observables $A_k = \sum_{i=1}^N A_k^{(i)}$, where $k = 1, \dots, M$, can be used instead. To be able to derive inequalities as Eq. (1.103), it is only required that there exists a positive number α such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{M} \langle A_k^{(i)} \rangle^2 \le \alpha^2; \forall i = 1, 2, \cdots, N,$$
(1.109)

which is satisfied by the spin operators $J_k^{(i)}$ with $\alpha = j$. Then, using Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, one is able to get the inequality

$$(N-1)\sum_{k\notin\mathcal{I}}\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k - \sum_{k\in\mathcal{I}} \langle \tilde{A}_k^2 \rangle \ge -N(N-1)\alpha^2, \qquad (1.110)$$

which is the same as concavity of the variance, we obtain the inequalities (1.103) with J_k replaced by A_k , j replaced by α and \mathcal{I} being any subset of $\{1, \dots, M\}$, including the empty set. This gives a huge freedom and opens the door for many choices to construct new entanglement witnesses which we will use in chapter 3. One such choice was given in [227] using the Su(d) generators for a system of N d-dimensional systems.

The above inequalities can be rearranged and put into the form of a squeezing parameter with some extra care taken to avoid negative values [228]. For example, eq. (1.102c) can be put into the following generalized spin squeezing parameter

$$\zeta_{os}^2 = (N-1) \frac{Nj^2 + \tilde{\Delta}^2 J_k}{\langle \tilde{J}_l^2 + \tilde{J}_m^2 \rangle}$$
(1.111)

defined for $\langle \tilde{J}_l^2 + \tilde{J}_m^2 \rangle > 0$, where if not verified, the corresponding state is separable. Squeezing in the sense of the above inequalities implies entanglement, hence it represents a generalized form of squeezing that ignores squeezing of individual spins. It was shown [226] that, for spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ systems, ζ_{os}^2 detects a wider class of entangled states than the squeezing parameter (1.92). The same observation holds for higher spin systems [228]. Moreover, Spin squeezing inequalities (1.102) can detect some PPT entangled states, that cannot be distilled with respect to any bi-partition of the multipartite spin system [226].

Finally, many generalizations to the spin squeezing inequalities [223] have been made such as coordinate system independent spin squeezing inequalities [226–228], which we will recall in the third chapter. Another generalization was made to the extreme spin squeezing inequalities (1.97) in [221]. Furthermore, the above results were extended to a classical fluctuations of particles' number N [229, 221]. Our main contribution was to generalize spin squeezing inequalities for particles presenting general fluctuations, quantum and/or classical [2], as we will see in chapter 3. 2

Mapping to two-dimensional systems: formalism and applications

In many situations where non classicality of a physical system is under investigation, the first attempt it to dichotomize the measurement outcomes, to finally obtain a yes/no or 0/1 answer. In most of the experiments, the physical system under consideration posses several degrees of freedoms, which measurements can give many outputs even continuous ones. Classifying the outcomes of the measurements into two categories such that standard test of non-classicality (like entanglement, non-locality, non contextuality or Legget-Garg) is a common practice in quantum information science. In each specific experimental situation a recipe is developed to perform this dichotomization.

The main objective of this chapter is to set-up a theoretical framework that allows a general description of this dichotomization procedure of a quantum system. To this end, I will first introduce how to map any system of arbitrary dimensions to a two level system. A general 2-level system is fully characterized by the 3 components of the Bloch vectors that are equal to the expectation value of the 3 Pauli operators. This is why the mapping introduced in this chapter is characterized by the expectation values of three observables, which are mapped to the expectation of the 3 Pauli operators of the 2-level system.

In a second step I will address bi-partite systems, by using the same mapping locally in each of the parts. In this way 2-qudit systems can be mapped to 2-qubit. Because the mapping acts locally it can not create entanglement, and map two separable qudits to two separable qubits. Hence, entanglement of the mapped 2-qubit state reveal entanglement of the original 2-qudits state. A part of this work was published as an article in Physical Review A: "General dichotomization procedure to provide qudit entanglement criteria". Phys. Rev. A 92, 052334 (2015).

2.1 General framework

Let consider a state ρ in a *d* dimensional Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^{(d)}$, we would like to define a mapping $\rho \to \mathcal{M}(\rho)$, such that $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$ represent a qubit state in $\mathcal{H}^{(2)}$. To realize this mapping, we consider the combined system formed by the original system in state ρ and an ancillary qubit initially in an arbitrary reference state $|0\rangle\langle 0|$. The mapping is obtained by switching on an interaction between both subsystems and then by discarding the original system and keeping the ancillary qubit. This very general procedure ensure that the final operator describing the qubit state is a physical state, that is a positive, hermitian, normalized 2×2 matrix.

The interaction between both subsystems can represented by an Hamiltonian H acting on the global system, original one plus the ancilla, for a specific amount of time Δt necessary for the change of the qubit state to take place. The resulting state of the global system at Δt will be $e^{-i\Delta tH}\rho \otimes |0\rangle \langle 0|e^{i\Delta tH}$, hence the state of the qubit will be:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}^{(d)}}\left[e^{-i\Delta tH}\rho \otimes |0\rangle \langle 0|e^{i\Delta tH}\right]$$

where $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}^{(d)}}[\cdot]$ denote the partial trace with respect to the original system $\mathcal{H}^{(d)}$.

The above procedure can be summarized as

$$U: \mathcal{H}^{(d)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)} \to \mathcal{H}^{(d)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}; \quad \text{where } U = e^{-i\Delta tH}$$

that entangles the original system with the ancillary qubit, then tracing out the original system. Applying only unitary operations to the global system is rather restrictive, and can be generalized by applying an *isometry* to a larger system composed of the original system and the ancillary qubit plus an arbitrary ancillary qudit. Equivalently, one may apply an isometry:

$$U: \mathcal{H}^{(d)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)} \to \mathcal{H}^{(D)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}; U^{\dagger}U = \mathbb{1}_{2d}$$

Where D > d and where the restriction $UU^{\dagger} = \mathbb{1}_{2d}$ for unitary operator U is relaxed. Thanks to the property $U^{\dagger}U = \mathbb{1}_{2d}$, the desired mapping

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}^{(D)}} \left[U\rho \otimes |0\rangle \langle 0|U^{\dagger} \right]$$

is positive and trace preserving. By changing the isometry, one might get a different dichotomization scheme. At this stage, the relationship between the chosen isometry and the dichotomisation form is unclear and complicated. In the next section I give an operational form of the mapping where one chooses the mapping form through a more convenient choice of three operators which expectations are the expectation if the σ_x, σ_y and σ_z components of the resulting qubit state.

2.1.1 General formalism: mapping to qubit

We start by noticing that the isometry U, from $\mathcal{H}^{(d)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ to $\mathcal{H}^{(D)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$, which characterizes the mapping \mathcal{M}_U can be parametrized by four linear operators A_i (i = 0, 1, 2, 3) from $\mathcal{H}^{(d)}$ to $\mathcal{H}^{(D)}$ as follows:

$$U = \sum_{i=0}^{3} A_i \otimes \sigma_i, \tag{2.1}$$

where σ_i 's, for i = 1, 2, 3, are the Pauli matrices and $\sigma_0 = \mathbb{1}$ is the identity operator in $\mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ and where A_i $(i = 1, \dots, 4)$ are operators from $\mathcal{H}^{(d)}$ to $\mathcal{H}^{(D)}$. The isometric property $U^{\dagger}U = \mathbb{1}$ implies that:

$$\dot{A^{\dagger}} \cdot \dot{A} + A_0^{\dagger} A_0 = \mathbb{1}, \vec{A^{\dagger}} A_0 + A_0^{\dagger} \vec{A} + i \vec{A^{\dagger}} \wedge \vec{A} = \vec{0},$$
(2.2)

where $\vec{A} = (A_1, A_2, A_3)^T$. The vectorial form is simply a compact way of writing three equations, and unlike outer product of real vectors, the order of operators should be respected, e.g., $(\vec{A^{\dagger}} \wedge \vec{A})_1 = A_2^{\dagger}A_3 - A_3^{\dagger}A_2$. In addition, in the special case where the operators A_i are Hermitian, one has $\vec{A^{\dagger}} = \vec{A}$ but not $\vec{A^{\dagger}} \wedge \vec{A} = \vec{0}$ necessarily. Actually this is only true when the different operators A_i for i = 1, 2, 3 mutually commute.

With the parametrization Eq. (2.1) the mapping defined in the previous section can be written as:

$$\mathcal{M} : \mathcal{B}\left(\mathcal{H}^{(d)}\right) \to \mathcal{B}\left(\mathcal{H}^{(2)}\right) :$$
$$\rho \to \mathcal{M}\left(\rho\right) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}^{(D)}}\left[U\rho \otimes |0\rangle\langle 0|U^{\dagger}\right] = \sum_{i,j=0}^{3} \left\langle A_{j}^{\dagger}A_{i}\right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_{i}|0\rangle\langle 0|\sigma_{j}.(2.3)$$

It is worth noting that the explicit reference to $\mathcal{H}^{(D)}$ in the first line of (2.3) has become implicit in the product $A_j^{\dagger}A_i$, which is an operator in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(d)})^1$. Inserting the relations fulfilled by the Pauli matrices:

$$\sigma_i \sigma_j = i \epsilon_{ijk} \sigma_k + \delta_{ij} \mathbb{1}$$
(2.4)

$$\sigma_i \sigma_j \sigma_k = i \epsilon_{ijk} \mathbb{1} + \delta_{jk} \sigma_i - \delta_{ik} \sigma_j + \delta_{ij} \sigma_k$$
(2.5)

where ϵ_{ijk} is the Levi-Civita tensor, and $|0\rangle\langle 0| = \frac{\mathbb{1} + \sigma_3}{2}$ into (2.3), we get:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \left\langle A_{j}^{\dagger} A_{i} \right\rangle_{\rho} \left(i\epsilon_{ijk}\sigma_{k} + \left(\delta_{ij} + i\epsilon_{i3j} \right) \mathbb{1} - \delta_{ij}\sigma_{3} + \delta_{i3}\sigma_{j} + \delta_{j3}\sigma_{i} \right)$$
$$+ \left\langle A_{0}^{\dagger} A_{0} \right\rangle_{\rho} \frac{\mathbb{1} + \sigma_{3}}{2} + \left\langle A_{3}^{\dagger} A_{0} + A_{0}^{\dagger} A_{3} \right\rangle_{\rho} \frac{\mathbb{1}}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \vec{A}^{\dagger} A_{0} + A_{0}^{\dagger} \vec{A} \right\rangle_{\rho} \vec{\sigma}$$
$$+ \frac{i}{2} \left\langle A_{0}^{\dagger} A_{2} - A_{2}^{\dagger} A_{0} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_{1} - \frac{i}{2} \left\langle A_{0}^{\dagger} A_{1} - A_{1}^{\dagger} A_{0} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_{2}.$$

We can simplify the above equation further by using Eq. (2.2) into the following compact form:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} + \left\langle -i\vec{A}^{\dagger} \wedge \vec{A} + \frac{1}{2}\vec{A}^{\dagger}A_{3} + \frac{1}{2}A_{3}^{\dagger}\vec{A} \right\rangle_{\rho} \cdot \vec{\sigma} + \left\langle A_{0}^{\dagger}A_{0} - \frac{1}{2} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_{3} + \frac{i}{2} \left[\left\langle \vec{A}^{\dagger}A_{0} - A_{0}^{\dagger}\vec{A} \right\rangle_{\rho} \wedge \vec{\sigma} \right]_{3}$$
(2.6)

which can be written as:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} + \left\langle \vec{B} \right\rangle_{\rho} \cdot \frac{\vec{\sigma}}{2} \tag{2.7}$$

¹Where we have used the identity $\operatorname{Tr}[AB] = \operatorname{Tr}[BA]$, which holds for compact operators of trace class [230].

where we have defined

$$\frac{B_x}{2} = -iA_2^{\dagger}A_3 + iA_3^{\dagger}A_2 + \frac{A_1^{\dagger}A_3 + A_3^{\dagger}A_1}{2} + \frac{iA_0^{\dagger}A_2 - iA_2^{\dagger}A_0}{2}, \qquad (2.8)$$

$$\frac{B_y}{2} = iA_1^{\dagger}A_3 - iA_3^{\dagger}A_1 + \frac{A_2^{\dagger}A_3 + A_3^{\dagger}A_2}{2} + \frac{-iA_0^{\dagger}A_1 + iA_1^{\dagger}A_0}{2}, \qquad (2.9)$$

$$\frac{B_z}{2} = -iA_1^{\dagger}A_2 + iA_2^{\dagger}A_1 + A_3^{\dagger}A_3 + A_0^{\dagger}A_0 - \frac{1}{2}.$$
(2.10)

The form (2.7) is the operational form we desire and equations (2.8, 2.9, 2.10) set the connection between this form and the isometry U used to implement it.

In order for this mapping to be operational, one has to ask the inverse question: given a set of three operators B_x , B_y , B_z , what are the conditions on these operators such that there exists an isometry U that implement the mapping of the form (2.7)? In the next section I will give a first answer this question.

2.1.2 Existence of the mapping

In order for the previous mapping (2.7) to exist, we clearly need to find proper operators A_i s that verify Eqs. (2.2) and (2.8, 2.9, 2.10). Next we simplify these equations by writing the set of conditions Eqs. (2.2) explicitly:

$$A_1^{\dagger}A_0 + A_0^{\dagger}A_1 + iA_2^{\dagger}A_3 - iA_3^{\dagger}A_2 = 0$$
(2.11)

$$A_2^{\dagger}A_0 + A_0^{\dagger}A_2 - iA_1^{\dagger}A_3 + iA_3^{\dagger}A_1 = 0$$
(2.12)

$$A_{3}^{\dagger}A_{0} + A_{0}^{\dagger}A_{3} + iA_{1}^{\dagger}A_{2} - iA_{2}^{\dagger}A_{1} = 0$$
(2.13)

From (2.10) and (2.13), we can eliminate A_1 , A_2 and get:

$$(A_3^{\dagger} + A_0^{\dagger})(A_3 + A_0) = \frac{\mathbb{1} + B_z}{2}$$

Which motivates the definition of $K_0 = A_3 + A_0$, so that:

$$K_0^{\dagger} K_0 = \frac{\mathbb{1} + B_z}{2} \tag{2.14}$$

Doing the same thing for equations (2.8), (2.9), and using (2.11) (2.12), we get:

$$A_{1}^{\dagger}K_{0} + K_{0}^{\dagger}A_{1} - iA_{2}^{\dagger}K_{0} + iK_{0}^{\dagger}A_{2} = B_{x}$$
$$A_{2}^{\dagger}K_{0} + K_{0}^{\dagger}A_{2} + iA_{1}^{\dagger}K_{0} - iK_{0}^{\dagger}A_{1} = B_{y}$$

We also define $K_1 = A_1 + iA_2$, then the above equations would simplify into:

$$K_{1}^{\dagger}K_{0} + K_{0}^{\dagger}K_{1} = B_{x}$$
$$iK_{1}^{\dagger}K_{0} - iK_{0}^{\dagger}K_{1} = B_{y}$$

We can regroup the equations verified by K_0 , K_1 as:

$$K_0^{\dagger} K_0 = \frac{\mathbb{1} + B_z}{2}, \qquad K_1^{\dagger} K_1 = \frac{\mathbb{1} - B_z}{2}$$
$$K_0^{\dagger} K_0 + K_1^{\dagger} K_1 = \mathbb{1}, \qquad K_0^{\dagger} K_1 = \frac{B_x + iB_y}{2}$$
(2.15)

Hence, in order for the mapping Eq. (2.7) to exist, we should be able to find two operators K_0 and K_1 such that the set of equations Eqs. (2.15) is verified.

To show that the two operators K_0 and K_1 that verifies the conditions (2.15) are sufficient to find an isometry U such that the mapping (2.7) exists, we can use the fact that U is an isometry and define its image to be in a larger Hilbert space. Once the operators K_0 and K_1 are found, such that conditions (2.15) are verified, one can also define the following operators

$$\tilde{K}_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} K_0 \\ K_0 \end{pmatrix} \quad , \quad \tilde{K}_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} K_1 \\ K_1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.16)

acting on the hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^{(d)}$ with codmain $\mathcal{H}^{(D)} \oplus \mathcal{H}^{(D)}$, where $\mathcal{H}^{(D)}$ is the codomain of K_0 and K_1 . These operators also verify the conditions (2.15), i.e. we have:

$$\tilde{K}_{0}^{\dagger}\tilde{K}_{0} = K_{0}^{\dagger}K_{0} = \frac{\mathbb{1} + B_{z}}{2}, \ \tilde{K}_{1}^{\dagger}\tilde{K}_{1} = K_{1}^{\dagger}K_{1} = \frac{\mathbb{1} - B_{z}}{2}, \ \tilde{K}_{0}^{\dagger}\tilde{K}_{1} = K_{0}^{\dagger}K_{1} = \frac{B_{+}}{2}$$
(2.17)

where we have defined $B_+ = B_x + iB_y$. Then we can simply define the operators:

$$\tilde{A}_{0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} K_{0} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{A}_{3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ K_{0} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\tilde{A}_{1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} K_{1} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{A}_{2} = \frac{-i}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ K_{1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.18)

which verify

$$\tilde{A}_0 + \tilde{A}_3 = \tilde{K}_0 \quad , \quad \tilde{A}_1 + i\tilde{A}_2 = \tilde{K}_1$$
 (2.19)

and they also verify the conditions (2.2). Hence, there exists an isometry

$$\tilde{U} = \sum_{i=0}^{3} \tilde{A}_i \otimes \sigma_i \tag{2.20}$$

that implements the mapping (2.7)

$$\mathcal{M}\left(\rho\right) = \frac{1}{2} + \left\langle \vec{B} \right\rangle_{\rho} \cdot \frac{\vec{\sigma}}{2}$$

Next, I give an example of a mapping where these conditions (2.15) can be explicitly calculated. For a specific choice of B_i s. namely the angular momentum components, we can write explicitly the form of the isometry needed to implement the mapping.

2.1.3 Dichotomization using angular momentum operators

An important example, that will become very handy for spin squeezing inequalities and dichotomic observables, is the following mapping:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\left\langle \vec{J} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{j} \cdot \frac{\vec{\sigma}}{2}$$
(2.21)

Where we have made the choice $B_i = J_i/j$, i = x, y, z. The three operators J_i are the components of the angular momentum operator that has the advantage of being easily accessible from experimental point of view. We have also introduced the normalization constant j, where the eigenvalue of the total angular J^2 is given by $j(j + 1)^2$. What this mapping does, is to consider a spin-j as a spin-1/2 such that

$$\frac{\left\langle \vec{J} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{j} = \frac{\left\langle \vec{\sigma} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{M}(\rho)}}{2}$$

The above equality, motivates our normalization factor j of the angular momentum operators.

All left is to show that the mapping (2.21) can be implemented via an isometry as in (2.3). In other words, we will try to find the operators K_0 , K_1 such that the conditions (2.15) are verified.

We note that the equations (2.15) can be expressed in a simple form with the help of the two bosonic annihilation operators a and b corresponding to the Schwinger

²We set $\hbar=1$.

representation of spin-j [231]³:

$$J_3 = \frac{1}{2}(a^{\dagger}a - b^{\dagger}b), \ J_- = b^{\dagger}a, \ J_+ = a^{\dagger}b$$
(2.22)

where $J_{\pm} = J_1 \pm i J_2$ with the restriction $a^{\dagger}a + b^{\dagger}b = 2j$. Rewriting conditions (2.15) in terms of bosonic operators a(b) and $a^{\dagger}(b^{\dagger})$, one gets:

$$K_0^{\dagger} K_0 = \frac{a^{\dagger} a}{2j} , \ K_1^{\dagger} K_1 = \frac{b^{\dagger} b}{2j} , \ K_0^{\dagger} K_1 = \frac{a^{\dagger} b}{2j}$$
(2.23)

Which suggests the choice

$$K_0 = \frac{a}{\sqrt{2j}} , \quad K_1 = \frac{b}{\sqrt{2j}}$$
 (2.24)

Now, one should find operators A_i , i = 0, 1, 2, 3 such that:

$$A_0 + A_3 = K_0 \quad , \quad A_1 + iA_2 = K_1$$

and such that the conditions (2.2) are verified. One possible choice of such operators [1] A_i realizing the isometry U through Eqs. (2.1) and Eqs. (2.2) can be shown to be (see Appendix A.3)

$$A_{0} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{a}{\sqrt{j}} + \frac{a^{\dagger}}{\sqrt{j+1}} \right), A_{3} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{a}{\sqrt{j}} - \frac{a^{\dagger}}{\sqrt{j+1}} \right),$$
$$A_{1} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{b}{\sqrt{j}} - \frac{b^{\dagger}}{\sqrt{j+1}} \right), iA_{2} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{b}{\sqrt{j}} + \frac{b^{\dagger}}{\sqrt{j+1}} \right).$$
(2.25)

Please note that despite involving bosonic operators a and b in (2.25) acting on infinite dimensional Hilbert space, they are acting on a restricted sub-space $a^{\dagger}a + b^{\dagger}b = 2j$.

Although the set of equations (2.15) minimizes the task of verifying the validity of the mapping (2.7), it is still a hard problem to solve and it is not always as straightforward as we have seen from this example. We can actually simplify the problem by using the property of completely positive maps (CP), which will give us a very simple condition as we will see next.

³Each spin-*j* can be seen as 2j spin-1/2 particles. Each level can be seen as a bosonic mode, say *a* for spin up and *b* for spin down where *a*, *b* are the annihilation operators for each mode respectively. They verify the commutation relation $[a^{\dagger}, a] = 1$, $[b^{\dagger}, b] = 1$ and $[b^{\dagger}, a] = 0$. Since the number of spin-1/2 particles representing a spin-*j* is 2j, the total number of particles in the two modes is $a^{\dagger}a + b^{\dagger}b = 2j$.

2.1.4 Necessary and sufficient conditions

The form (2.3) is known as the Stinespring representation of the trace preserving channel \mathcal{M} [232, 233]. Stinespring representation in the open system representation states that [234]:

Stinespring representation For a completely positive and trace preserving (CPTP) linear mapping $\mathcal{M} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(d)}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(2)})$, there exists an isometry V from $\mathcal{H}^{(d)}$ to $\mathcal{H}^{(D)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ such that $\mathcal{M}(\rho) = Tr_E [V \rho V^{\dagger}]$ where E is the environment represented by the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^{(D)}$.

A comparison with the form of our mapping (2.3) gives that $V : \mathcal{H}^{(d)} \to \mathcal{H}^{(D)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ can be seen as a simple restriction of the isometry $U : \mathcal{H}^{(d)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)} \to \mathcal{H}^{(D)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$.

Kraus representation The mapping defined in (2.3) is trace preserving completely positive map and one can easily write its Kraus representation [235, 21] as (see appendix A.1):

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \sum_{i=1}^{D} \mathcal{K}_{i} \rho \mathcal{K}_{i}^{\dagger}$$
(2.26)

where

$$\mathcal{K}_i = |0\rangle \langle e_i | K_0 + |1\rangle \langle e_i | K_1 \quad : 1 \le i \le D,$$
(2.27)

 K_0 and K_1 verify the conditions (2.15) and $\{|e_i\rangle : 1 \le i \le D\}$ is an orthonormal basis of $\mathcal{H}^{(D)}$ the Hilbert space over which the trace is taken in (2.3). The above property holds even for infinite Hilbert spaces where one finds a countable set of Kraus operators [236]. This will become helpful to extend Theorem 1, we will introduce hereafter, for bound operators of trace class.

In the finite dimensional case, we can make use of the property of CP maps proved in [168]:

Lemma I A linear mapping $\mathcal{M} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(d)}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(2)})$ is completely positive iff the operator $\mathcal{D} = I \otimes \mathcal{M}(P_+)$ is positive, where I is the identity map from $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(d)})$ to itself and $P_+ = \frac{1}{d} \sum_{i,j=1}^d |i,i\rangle\langle j,j|$ a maximally entangled state in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(d)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(d)})$.

Now let us calculate the operator \mathcal{D} explicitly for the mapping (2.7):

$$\mathcal{D} = \frac{1}{d} \sum_{i,j=1}^{d} |i\rangle \langle j| \otimes \mathcal{M} \left(|i\rangle \langle j| \right) = \frac{1}{2d} \sum_{i,j=1}^{d} |i\rangle \langle j| \otimes \left(\delta_{i,j} \sigma_0 + \langle j|\vec{B}|i\rangle.\vec{\sigma} \right)$$

Finally, we get a very simple form of \mathcal{D} as:

$$\mathcal{D} = \frac{\mathbb{1}^{(d)}}{2} \otimes \sigma_0 + \frac{B_x^T}{2} \otimes \sigma_1 + \frac{B_y^T}{2} \otimes \sigma_2 + \frac{B_z^T}{2} \otimes \sigma_3$$
(2.28)

Since the positivity of \mathcal{D} is equivalent to the positivity of its transpose \mathcal{D}^T we finally get our necessary and sufficient condition for the mapping (2.7) to be completely positive that we state in the following theorem:

Theorem 1 The mapping
$$\mathcal{M} : (\rho) = \frac{1}{2} + \left\langle \vec{B} \right\rangle_{\rho} \cdot \frac{\vec{\sigma}}{2}$$
 is CP iff
$$\mathcal{D} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}^{(d)} + B_z & B_x + iB_y \\ B_x - iB_y & \mathbb{1}^{(d)} - B_z \end{pmatrix} \succeq 0$$
(2.29)

For the proof of this theorem, see appendix A.2, the intermediate step [168] which helped find the condition, is discarded, thus, the above theorem is not restricted to finite dimensions and can be generalized to compact operators of trace class [230].

The appealing feature about the above criterion, is that any three operators, B_x , B_y and B_z can be used for the mapping with some normalization factor β , such that the mapping

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\left\langle \vec{B} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta} \cdot \frac{\vec{\sigma}}{2}$$
(2.30)

is completely positive. Where β can be chosen to be the minimum value for which the matrix

$$\mathcal{D} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta \mathbb{1}^{(d)} + B_z & B_x + iB_y \\ B_x - iB_y & \beta \mathbb{1}^{(d)} - B_z \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.31)

is positive semi-definite. This can be determined with a simple diagonalization of the matrix

$$\mathcal{B} = \begin{pmatrix} B_z & B_x + iB_y \\ B_x - iB_y & -B_z \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.32)

as

$$\beta = -\lambda_{\min} \left(B \right) \tag{2.33}$$

where $\lambda_{min}(B)$ is the smallest eigenvalue of \mathcal{B} . Please note that β cannot be zero except for the trivial choice $B_i = 0$, i = x, y, z. That is because one should have

$$\beta^{2} \geq \sup\{\langle B_{x} \rangle_{\rho}^{2} + \langle B_{y} \rangle_{\rho}^{2} + \langle B_{z} \rangle_{\rho}^{2} \mid \rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})\}$$

at least to ensure positivity of the qubit state $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$. Usually, one would like to choose the minimum value of β , such that the condition (2.31) is verified, to approach a pure state as much as possible.

Hence complete positivity of the mapping (2.30) is finally determined via the condition (2.31), that depends only on the chosen observables and avoids any reference to the isometry U used to perform this mapping (2.3).

Next, we will study two examples of operators B_i for which one can determine β explicitly. These choices will appear frequently throughout the remainder of the thesis. The first example will be the angular momentum operators, whereas the next example is concerned with Pauli like operators that we will define here after.

2.1.5 Dichotomization using angular momentum operators: revisited

In the light of this preceding result, we revisit the case where the mapping is defined through angular momentum operators that we have already discussed in section 2.1.3 (see page 55). That is the mapping:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\left\langle \vec{J} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta} \cdot \frac{\vec{\sigma}}{2}, \qquad (2.34)$$

where J_i , i = x, y, z are the components of angular momentum.

Now, we set out to determine the best value of β such that the mapping (2.34) is completely positive. Previously (see section 2.1.3), we have set $\beta = j$. Here we will show, using our simplified criterion (2.31) that the corresponding mapping is indeed CP.

To show that, we borrow a theorem for positivity of block matrices [237, 238]

Theorem 2 A block matrix

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ B^{\dagger} & C \end{pmatrix}$$

is positive semi-definite iff:

$$A \succeq 0 and \left(\mathbb{1} - AA^{-1}\right)B = 0 and C - B^{\dagger}A^{-1}B \succeq 0$$

where A^{-1} is the pseudo inverse of the matrix A [239–242].

Since \mathcal{D} should be positive semi-definite, theorem 2 [237, 238] tells us that $A = j\mathbb{1} + J_z \succeq 0$. This is indeed the case since:

$$j\mathbb{1} + J_z = \sum_{m=-j}^{j} (j+m) |m\rangle \langle m| = \sum_{m=0}^{2j} m |m-j\rangle \langle m-j|$$
(2.35)

The pseudo inverse of A can be calculated easily, since it is diagonal, to be:

$$A^{-1} = (j\mathbb{1} + J_z)^{-1} = \sum_{m=1}^{2j} \frac{1}{m} |m - j\rangle \langle m - j|$$
(2.36)

Thus, we have the following relation:

$$\mathbb{1} - AA^{-1} = \sum_{m=0}^{2j} |m - j\rangle \langle m - j| - \sum_{m=1}^{2j} |m - j\rangle \langle m - j| = |-j\rangle \langle -j|$$
(2.37)

Since $\langle -j|B = \langle -j|J_+ = 0$, we find that the condition $(\mathbb{1} - AA^{-1})B = 0$ is verified. All left is to check the last condition

$$C - B^{\dagger} A^{-1} B = j \mathbb{1} - J_z - J_- (j \mathbb{1} + J_z)^{-1} J_+ \succeq 0$$

We have:

$$J_{-} (j\mathbb{1} + J_{z})^{-1} J_{+} = \sum_{m=1}^{2j} \frac{1}{m} J_{-} |m - j\rangle \langle m - j | J_{+}$$

We also have [120]:

$$J_{+}|m\rangle = \sqrt{j(j+1) - m(m+1)}|m+1\rangle$$
$$J_{-}|m\rangle = \sqrt{j(j+1) - m(m-1)}|m-1\rangle$$

Then we get:

$$J_{-}(j\mathbb{1}+J_{z})^{-1}J_{+} = \sum_{m=1}^{2j} \frac{j(j+1) - (m-j)(m-j-1)}{m} |m-j-1\rangle \langle m-j-1|$$

$$= \sum_{m=1}^{2j} \frac{m(2j+1) - m^{2}}{m} |m-j-1\rangle \langle m-j-1| = \sum_{m=0}^{2j-1} (2j-m)|m-j\rangle \langle m-j|$$

$$= \sum_{m=-j}^{j} (j-m)|m\rangle \langle m| = j\mathbb{1} - J_{z}$$
(2.38)

Hence, we finally get that $C - B^{\dagger}A^{-1}B = 0 \succeq 0$ is verified as well. As a result, the matrix \mathcal{D} is positive semi-definite and we can conclude that the mapping (2.34) is CP.

We emphasize that this mapping is practical, as the 3 expectation values $\langle J_i \rangle_{\rho}$ can be easily measured. In addition, it conserves the rotational invariance. Indeed, suppose that we perform a rotation $\mathcal{R}_{\vec{n}}(\alpha)$ by an angle α around a given vector \vec{n} . Then, ρ is transformed as $\rho' = e^{-i\alpha \vec{J} \cdot \vec{n}} \rho e^{i\alpha \vec{J} \cdot \vec{n}}$. It is not difficult to show that ρ' is mapped to the rotated qubit :

$$\mathcal{M}_U(e^{-i\alpha\vec{J}\cdot\vec{n}}\rho e^{i\alpha\vec{J}\cdot\vec{n}}) = e^{-i\alpha\vec{\sigma}\cdot\vec{n}/2}\mathcal{M}_U(\rho)e^{i\alpha\vec{\sigma}\cdot\vec{n}/2}.$$
(2.39)

The invariance displayed in Eq. (2.39) is a consequence of the simple vectorial relations:

$$\left\langle \mathcal{R}_{\vec{n}}^{-1}(\alpha) \left[\vec{J} \right] \right\rangle_{\rho} \cdot \vec{\sigma} = \left\langle \vec{J} \right\rangle_{\rho'} \cdot \sigma = \left\langle \vec{J} \right\rangle_{\rho} \cdot \mathcal{R}_{\vec{n}}(\alpha) \left[\vec{\sigma} \right],$$
(2.40)

where \vec{J} is the vector whose 3 components are the 3 operators J_i , for i = 1, 2, 3, and $\mathcal{R}_{\vec{n}}^{-1}(\alpha) \left[\vec{J}\right]$ is the corresponding vector in the rotated frame. Since SO(3) and SU(2) are isomorphic, we can apply all possible unitaries to the mapped qubit by rotating the original angular momentum correspondingly.

2.1.6 Dichotomization using Pauli like operators

A more general and popular choice is that of dichotomic Pauli operators. In many situations, it is very convenient to consider only a bi-dimensional subspace of the total Hilbert space on which we define Pauli operators and study the system as a two-level system. Here we will introduce a very general class of Pauli like operators for any system and we will discuss some applications later on. I will give examples of such operators for discrete and continuous variable systems as well.
Introduction

Let us start by defining the Pauli-like operators. First let us recall the definition of Pauli operators for spin-1/2 where the Hilbert space is spanned by the two vectors $\{|0\rangle, |1\rangle\}$:

$$\sigma_x = \sigma_+ + \sigma_-, \ \sigma_y = -i \left(\sigma_+ - \sigma_- \right), \ \sigma_z = |0\rangle \langle 0| - |1\rangle \langle 1|$$

$$\sigma_- = |1\rangle \langle 0|, \ \sigma_+ = \sigma_-^{\dagger}$$
(2.41)

One can write σ_z as $P_0 - P_1$ where P_0 , P_1 are projectors in \mathcal{H}_0 spanned by $\{|0\rangle\}$ and \mathcal{H}_1 spanned by $\{|1\rangle\}$ respectively.

Inspired from the above observations, we can generalize and extend the definition of Pauli operators for any system of arbitrary dimensions. First, we define two Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_1 such that:

$$\mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \mathcal{H}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{H} \tag{2.42}$$

Where \mathcal{H} is the Hilbert space of the considered system. Next, we define projectors $P_0(P_1)$ onto $\mathcal{H}_0(\mathcal{H}_1)$ which will be used to define the generalized S_z operator as:

$$S_z = P_0 - P_1 \tag{2.43}$$

The generalized S_z , like the qubit σ_z , can be seen as the difference of population between the 0 and 1 subspaces, i.e. $P_0 - P_1$.

Now, let us take a look at a generalization of the σ_+ operator. It will be denoted as S_+ , and it can be defined as:

$$S_+ = P_0 \Lambda P_1,$$

where we have introduced Λ a linear mapping from \mathcal{H}_1 to \mathcal{H}_0 with singular value 1. The generalization of σ_- , denoted S_- , can be simply defined from S_+ as:

$$S_{-} = S_{+}^{\dagger} = P_1 \Lambda^{\dagger} P_0$$

Mapping with Pauli like operators

We thus have the ingredients to map any state ρ in the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \mathcal{H}_1$ to a qubit $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$, using these Pauli like operators. Indeed, we define the mapping as:

$$\rho \to \mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\left\langle \vec{S} \right\rangle_{\rho} \cdot \vec{\sigma}}{2}$$
(2.44)

where the x, y, z components of the vector \vec{S} are defined as:

$$S_z = P_0 - P_1, \quad S_x = P_0 \Lambda P_1 + P_1 \Lambda^{\dagger} P_0, \quad S_y = \frac{P_0 \Lambda P_1 - P_1 \Lambda^{\dagger} P_0}{i}.$$
 (2.45)

We impose the requirement that $\|\Lambda\|_2 \equiv \sqrt{\lambda_{max} (\Lambda^{\dagger} \Lambda)} = 1$ to ensure the positivity of the mapping. Indeed, we show in appendix A.4 that this requirement implies:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\mathcal{M}(\rho)^{2}\right] = \frac{1 + \langle S_{x} \rangle_{\rho}^{2} + \langle S_{y} \rangle_{\rho}^{2} + \langle S_{z} \rangle_{\rho}^{2}}{2} \leq 1$$

ensuring that the mapped state $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$ is positive. We defer to appendix A.5 the proof that the above mapping is completely positive.

Commutation relations of the Pauli-like operators

At this stage, it is interesting to check out the commutation relations of the Pauli like operators defined in Eq. (2.45). Since the projectors P_0 and P_1 are orthogonal, it is trivial to check that:

$$[S_z, S_x] = 2iS_y \quad , \quad [S_y, S_z] = 2iS_x \tag{2.46}$$

However $[S_x, S_y] = 2iS_z$ is not true in general. In fact, we find that:

$$[S_x, S_y] = 2i\left(P_0\Lambda P_1\Lambda^{\dagger}P_0 - P_1\Lambda^{\dagger}P_0\Lambda P_1\right)$$

In order for the right hand side of the above equality to be equal to $S_z = P_0 - P_1$, we should have:

$$\Lambda P_1 \Lambda^{\dagger} = P_0 \quad , \quad \Lambda^{\dagger} P_0 \Lambda = P_1 \tag{2.47}$$

Now let us recall the singular value decomposition of Λ

$$\Lambda = \sum_n \sqrt{\lambda_n} |e_n\rangle \langle f_n|$$

 $\{\lambda_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of positive numbers such that

$$\max\{\lambda_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}=1$$

because of the condition $\|\Lambda\|_2 = 1$. $\{|e_n\rangle\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $\{|f_n\rangle\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ are orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_1 respectively. From the SVD decomposition of Λ it immediately follows:

$$\Lambda P_1 \Lambda^{\dagger} = \sum_n \lambda_n |e_n\rangle \langle e_n| \quad , \quad \Lambda^{\dagger} P_0 \Lambda = \sum_n \lambda_n |f_n\rangle \langle f_n$$

Comparing with (2.47), we see that in order for the commutation relation $[S_x, S_y] = 2iS_z$ to be fulfilled, we need to set all the singular values of Λ to 1. In other words, Λ should be of the following form:

$$\Lambda = \sum_n |e_n\rangle \langle f_n|$$

which in turn implies that there is one to one correspondence between $\{|e_n\rangle\}_n$ and $\{|f_n\rangle\}_n$. For finite dimensional Hilbert spaces, this means \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_1 should have the same dimension. In general, Λ should be an isomorphism from \mathcal{H}_1 to \mathcal{H}_0 of the above form.

The commutation relations $[S_i, S_j] = 2i\epsilon_{ijk}S_k$, ensure that the Pauli like operators are the generators of SU(2) in $\mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \mathcal{H}_1$, and as a consequence, the components of \vec{S} transform as a vector under rotations. This is very useful to generate all the rotations in the mapped state (2.44) via rotations on the original state as we did see in the last example with angular momentum operators. This feature will become very useful, as we will see in the next chapter, to derive a direction independent form of spin squeezing inequalities.

However, when the commutation relations are not needed, and the Pauli like operators are only needed to perform the mapping (2.44), the above requirements for the commutation relation $[S_x, S_y] = 2iS_z$ can be relaxed. The choice depends on what are we looking for when performing the mapping (2.44).

Examples

One of the major interests of the Pauli-like operators is to test for non-locality [4, 7] in high dimensional systems as we will see in the next section. More precisely, define spin-1/2 like operators to test Clauser-Horne-Shimony-Holt (CHSH) inequalities [8] for discrete variable systems [243] and continuous variable systems [244]. Here, however, I will only give examples that are known and discussed in the literature to get a taste of such Pauli-like operators that will be useful for later discussion.

Finite dimensional systems

Let us consider the simplest choice possible considered in [243] of an even dimensional Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^{(2n)}$, where the case n = 1 corresponds to the case of a 2-level system.

Now let us define \mathcal{H}_0 to be the even Hilbert space spanned by the vectors $\{|2i\rangle : 0 \leq i < n\}$, and \mathcal{H}_1 to be the odd Hilbert space spanned by the vectors $\{|2i+1\rangle : 0 \leq i < n\}$. Then, we define $P_0\Lambda P_1$ to be

$$P_0\Lambda P_1 = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} |2i\rangle\langle 2i+1|.$$

Then recalling the definition of Pauli-like operators (2.45), we get:

$$S_{z} = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} |2i\rangle \langle 2i| - |2i+1\rangle \langle 2i+1|$$

$$S_{x} = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} |2i\rangle \langle 2i+1| + |2i+1\rangle \langle 2i|$$

$$S_{y} = -i \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} |2i\rangle \langle 2i+1| - |2i+1\rangle \langle 2i|$$
(2.48)

At this point, it is instructive to see that any pure even state $|\psi_0\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_0$ would be mapped via the mapping (2.44) into the pure qubit state $|0\rangle$, since

$$\langle \psi_0 | S_z | \psi_0 \rangle = 1$$
 , $\langle \psi_0 | S_x | \psi_0 \rangle = \langle \psi_0 | S_y | \psi_0 \rangle = 0$

with the same reasoning, any pure odd state $|\psi_1\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_1$ would be mapped into the qubit state $|1\rangle$. Thus, the role of the mapping (2.44) is to replace any state from $\mathcal{H}_0(\mathcal{H}_1)$ by the qubit state $|0\rangle(|1\rangle)$.

Since our formalism and definition of Pauli-like operators is versatile and allows for two unitary degrees of freedom in \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_1 separately, we can choose the desired final qubit state, by choosing \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_1 properly. For example, let us look at the state in $\mathcal{H}^{(d)}$ with d > 2, for the sake of illustration:

$$|\Psi_{+}\rangle = \frac{|1\rangle + |2\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$$

If we take \mathcal{H}_0 to be the Hilbert space spanned by $\{|2\rangle\}$ and \mathcal{H}_1 to be the Hilbert space spanned by $\{|1\rangle\}$, and use the same Pauli-like operators defined above, the above state will be mapped via (2.44) into the following qubit state

$$|\psi\rangle = \frac{|1\rangle + |0\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$$

However, if we choose \mathcal{H}_0 to be the Hilbert space spanned by $\{|\Psi_+\rangle\}$ and \mathcal{H}_1 to be the Hilbert space spanned by $\{|\Psi_-\rangle\}$, where

$$|\Psi_{-}\rangle = \frac{|1\rangle - |2\rangle}{\sqrt{2}},$$

and if we define $P_0\Lambda P_1 = |\Psi_+\rangle\langle\Psi_-|$ in the Pauli-like operator definition (2.45), the state of interest $|\Psi_+\rangle$ will be mapped into the qubit state $|0\rangle$.

Finally, for any of the previous choices, the qudit state $|0\rangle$ will be mapped into the qubit mixed state $\frac{1}{2}$.

The above discussion can be seen as an easy recipe to map any system into a qubit state, at least for the cases where the studied state is known or can be predicted. All the mathematical tools that we provided boil down, for this special choice of operators, to labelling some states 0 and others 1 depending on one's needs.

Continuous variable systems

Here, we will consider the example introduced by Chen et al. [244] for a single-mode light field. They have introduced the following Pauli like operators "pseudospin" for photons:

$$S_{z} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} |2i\rangle \langle 2i| - |2i+1\rangle \langle 2i+1|$$

$$S_{x} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} |2i\rangle \langle 2i+1| + |2i+1\rangle \langle 2i|$$

$$S_{y} = -i \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} |2i\rangle \langle 2i+1| - |2i+1\rangle \langle 2i|$$
(2.49)

where $|i\rangle$ represents the Fock state with *i* photons. Like the previous case, S_z represents the parity of photon number and S_x and S_y are parity flip operators.

We can see like the previous case, that any state with even photon number will be mapped via (2.44) into the qubit state $|0\rangle$, whereas, states with odd photon number will be mapped to $|1\rangle$. Perhaps, a more famous example, is the even(odd) cat state:

$$|\operatorname{cat}_{\pm}\rangle \propto |\alpha\rangle \pm |-\alpha\rangle$$
 (2.50)

where $|\alpha\rangle$ is the coherent state defined for any complex α as:

$$|\alpha\rangle = e^{-\frac{|\alpha|^2}{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha^n}{\sqrt{n!}} |n\rangle.$$
(2.51)

We can easily see that the even (odd) cat state is written as a superposition of even(odd) Fock states, thus will be mapped via (2.44) into the qubit state $|0\rangle (|1\rangle)$, for all values of α . Since coherent states are a superposition of even and odd cat states, more precisely:

$$|\alpha\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{1 + e^{-2|\alpha|^2}}{2}} |\text{cat}\rangle_+ + \sqrt{\frac{1 - e^{-2|\alpha|^2}}{2}} |\text{cat}\rangle_-$$
(2.52)

it will be mapped into the qubit state

$$\sqrt{\frac{1+e^{-2|\alpha|^2}}{2}}|0\rangle + \sqrt{\frac{1-e^{-2|\alpha|^2}}{2}}|1\rangle$$

We have thus far studied the mapping of any system into a qubit, the main step for the next section. The next step naturally, will be the mapping of a bipartite system into two qubits to, as mentioned in the introduction, study the entanglement properties of the system based on the entanglement properties of the resulting qubit.

2.2 Mapping bipartite system to two qubits

As we have already mentioned, the main objective of this mapping is to simplify the study of entanglement by reducing the dimensions. Indeed, entanglement detection can be a daunting task in systems of dimensions larger than 2×3 , since there are no known necessary and sufficient conditions for entanglement in such systems. Whereas for systems with dimensions 2×2 and 2×3 , there exists necessary and sufficient conditions, especially, the Peres-Horodecki criterion or PPT criterion [83, 139]. Hence, by mapping each of the subsystems into a qubit as we have introduced in the previous section, we get a 2×2 system for which PPT criterion can be easily applied. If the mapping is done properly, such that no entanglement is created in the process, entanglement in the resulting 2×2 system is a sufficient condition for entanglement in the original system. Such mappings that does not create entanglement can be performed using what is known as Local Operations and Classical Communication (LOCC) operations [45, 40, 38].

Description of LOCC operations is hard and there is no known mathematical form to describe all possible operations. However, one can define different subclasses of such operations. It is worth mentioning that there exits a class called the separable operations class that has an elegant simple mathematical form. However, it was shown that separable operations are different from LOCC ones [45], and that the name separable is somewhat deceptive.

For this work, we will restrict our attention to a specific class of Local Operations with no classical communication that can be described quite easily using Kraus operators. I will give the description in the next section for this class, but we can have an intuitive picture of it. The two parties, usually called Alice and Bob, apply local operations to their part of the shared state with no possibility to communicate or receive any information from the other party. In other words, they blindly apply their operation irrespective of what the other party does. One can naturally expand this class by adding one way communication where only Alice can tell Bob, classically, what operation to apply depending on the results of her local operations. This class, in turn, can be expanded by having two rounds of classical communication and so on.

2.3 Mapping bipartite system to two qubits: Local mapping with no communication

In this paradigm, as introduced earlier, Alice and Bob apply their mapping locally to their part of the state they share with no knowledge or information conveyed from one party to another. This is the most straightforward way to map a bipartite system into 2-qubit system. Let us call \mathcal{M}_a and \mathcal{M}_b , the mapping Alice and Bob apply to their share of the state respectively, then the overall mapping applied to the bipartite state ρ_{AB} will simply be $\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b$ and we will end up with a 2 × 2 state $\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b(\rho_{AB})$.

As we have seen before, any trace preserving CP map can be implemented with an isometry U and an ancillary qubit (2.3). Hence, if we note by U_a the isometry Alice uses, $|0\rangle_a$ the state of the ancilla and the same for Bob but with the subscript b instead, then the total bipartite mapping $\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b$:

$$\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b : \mathcal{B}\left(\mathcal{H}^{(d_a)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(d_b)}\right) \to \mathcal{B}\left(\mathcal{H}^{(2_a)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2_b)}\right) :$$

 $\rho \to \mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b\left(\rho\right)$

with

$$\mathcal{M}_{a} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{b}(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}^{(D_{a})} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(D_{b})}} \left[U_{a} \otimes U_{b} \rho \otimes |0\rangle_{a} \langle 0| \otimes |0\rangle_{b} \langle 0|U_{a}^{\dagger} \otimes U_{b}^{\dagger} \right].$$
(2.53)

is trace preserving CP mapping implemented via the isometry $U_a \otimes U_b$ and the two ancillary qubits of Alice and Bob. The tensor product reflects the obvious fact that there is no communication between Alice and Bob.

Next, our goal is to write the previous mapping as a function of local operators acting on each party. Similar to the steps followed in Sec. 2.1.1, we write the isometries U_a and U_b in the form (2.1):

$$U_a = \sum_{i=0}^{3} A_i^{(d_1)} \otimes \sigma_i^{(1)} \quad , \quad U_b = \sum_{i=0}^{3} A_i^{(d_2)} \otimes \sigma_i^{(2)}$$
(2.54)

where $\sigma_i^{(1)}$ and $\sigma_i^{(2)}$ are Pauli operators acting on Alice's qubit and Bob's respectively.⁴ Substituting U_a and U_b in (2.53) by their expressions (2.54) and simplifying using the same steps in Sec.2.1.1 for each party, we can write the mapping in the desired form:

$$\mathcal{M}_{a} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{b}(\rho) = \frac{1}{4} \left[\mathbb{1}^{(4)} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{1})} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_{i}^{(1)} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{2})} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_{i}^{(2)} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{1})} \otimes B_{j}^{(d_{2})} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_{i}^{(1)} \otimes \sigma_{j}^{(2)} \right]$$
(2.55)

Where the operators $B_i^{(d_k)}$, k = 1, 2 and i = 1, 2, 3, are defined as a function of the operators $A_j^{(d_k)}$ as in Sec.2.1.1, Eqs.(2.8). The above equation is the desired form of the mapping where we have written the mapping as a function of 6 mean values and 9 correlations of local operators calculated in the original state. We can rewrite the last equation in a more compact form by defining

$$B_0^{(d_k)} = \mathbb{1}^{(d_k)} : k = 1, 2$$

to finally get:

$$\mathcal{M}_{a} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{b}\left(\rho\right) = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i,j=0}^{3} \left\langle B_{i}^{\left(d_{1}\right)} \otimes B_{j}^{\left(d_{2}\right)} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_{i}^{\left(1\right)} \otimes \sigma_{j}^{\left(2\right)}$$
(2.56)

This form, like in the case of mapping to a single qubit, expresses the 2-qubit state as a function of correlations of local operators, three for each party that can be measured easily. More importantly, it does not contain any indication to the isometries used to implement the mapping.

⁴From this point on, we will refer to operators acting on Alice(Bob) Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^{(d_1)}(\mathcal{H}^{(d_2)})$ with the superscript ${}^{(d_1)}({}^{(d_2)})$ instead of the subscript ${}_{a(b)}$, to point out that the Hilbert spaces are of different dimensions in general and will be dropped for the infinite dimensional case.

As we have seen before, we pick six operators, three for each party $B_i^{(d_k)}$, where to ensure complete positivity of the mapping, we should normalize them by a factor $\beta^{(d_k)}$: k = 1, 2 determined by theorem (1), so we can write explicitly the mapping (2.56):

$$\mathcal{M}_{a} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{b}(\rho) = \frac{1}{4} \left[\mathbb{1}^{(4)} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{1})} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta^{(d_{1})}} \sigma_{i}^{(1)} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{2})} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta^{(d_{2})}} \sigma_{i}^{(2)} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{1})} \otimes B_{j}^{(d_{2})} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta^{(d_{1})} \beta^{(d_{2})}} \sigma_{i}^{(1)} \otimes \sigma_{j}^{(2)} \right]$$
(2.57)

Which represents the practical form of the mapping. Complete positivity of the mapping, ensures the physicality, ability to implement, of the mapping. In other words, applying this mapping to any state of the system will give always a state (positive, hermitian and trace one) no matter how large the environment the system might be interacting with. However, for this work, we do not care how the mapping is implemented and that is why we expressed the mapping as a function of correlations and mean values of local observables and some normalization factor that can be calculated as a function of the chosen observables. Here, we are rather interested to test if a given bipartite state ρ is entangled or not. Complete positivity, on the other hand, is not needed as we will see in later discussion where we will relax the condition of complete positivity to positivity only.

Next, I will show two important properties of the above mapping that are useful from entanglement detection perspective. Then I will show how this mapping can provide entanglement criteria with focus on criteria based on angular momentum and Pauli like operators that we introduced previously.

2.3.1 Properties of Mapping (2.57)

Preserves separability

Preserving separability is an obvious property of this mapping since LOCC operations do not increase entanglement. One can directly prove it using the form (2.57). For a product state $\rho = \rho_1 \otimes \rho_2$ we have

$$\left\langle B_i^{(d_1)} \otimes B_j^{(d_2)} \right\rangle_{\rho} = \left\langle B_i^{(d_1)} \right\rangle_{\rho_1} \left\langle B_i^{(d_2)} \right\rangle_{\rho_2}$$

which simplifies the expression of Eq.(2.57) to:

$$\mathcal{M}_{a} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{b}(\rho) = \frac{1}{4} \left[\mathbb{1}^{(4)} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{1})} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta^{(d_{1})}} \sigma_{i}^{(1)} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{2})} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta^{(d_{2})}} \sigma_{i}^{(2)} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{1})} \right\rangle_{\rho_{1}}}{\beta^{(d_{1})}\beta^{(d_{2})}} \sigma_{i}^{(1)} \otimes \sigma_{j}^{(2)} \right] \\ = \left[\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{1})} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta^{(d_{1})}} \sigma_{i}^{(1)} \right] \otimes \left[\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{2})} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta^{(d_{2})}} \sigma_{i}^{(2)} \right] = \mathcal{M}_{a}(\rho_{1}) \otimes \mathcal{M}_{b}(\rho_{2})$$

$$(2.58)$$

Hence, any product state is mapped into a product state. By linearity of the mapping, any convex combination of product states will be mapped via (2.57) into the same convex combination of product 2-qubit states.

Separability conservation is a key point to witness entanglement and it is an essential requirement for any entanglement measure. Since the mapping preserves separability, any entanglement in the resulting 2-qubit state, for which entanglement is easily characterized, implies entanglement in the original bipartite state which is usually hard to detect.

Maps PPT states into PPT states

PPT states stand for states with positive partial transpose of the density matrix. A state with a non positive partial transpose or NPT is entangled. This is the so called Peres-Horodecki criterion or PPT criterion [83, 139]. For systems of dimensions larger than 2×3 , this criterion is sufficient, i.e. there exists entangled states that are PPT [49]. Which leads to an interesting question: can we, via our mapping (2.54), do better than the PPT criterion? In other words, can we map a PPT state into an NPT 2-qubit state?

The answer to this question is no for the case of mapping (2.54), i.e. a mapping via LO operations with no communication. For the general case with a mapping implemented by LOCC operations, the above questions is related to entanglement distillability [245, 145] of the state⁵ to which the answer is also no.

The answer to the question in the special case can be shown explicitly within the framework introduced in this chapter. From equations (2.15), we can see that the

⁵ability to obtain a maximally entangled 2-qubit state using LOCC operations

operators that define the mapping can be written in the form:

$$\frac{B_1^{(d_k)}}{\beta^{(d_k)}} = K_1^{(d_k)^{\dagger}} K_0^{(d_k)} + K_0^{(d_k)^{\dagger}} K_1^{(d_k)}
\frac{B_2^{(d_k)}}{\beta^{(d_k)}} = i \left(K_1^{(d_k)^{\dagger}} K_0^{(d_k)} - K_0^{(d_k)^{\dagger}} K_1^{(d_k)} \right)
\frac{B_3^{(d_k)}}{\beta^{(d_k)}} = K_0^{(d_k)^{\dagger}} K_0^{(d_k)} - K_1^{(d_k)^{\dagger}} K_1^{(d_k)}$$
(2.59)

with k = 1, 2. If we take the transpose of the above observables we find that

$$\left[B_1^{(d_k)}\right]^T = B_1^{(d_k)}, \left[B_2^{(d_k)}\right]^T = -B_2^{(d_k)}, \left[B_3^{(d_k)}\right]^T = B_3^{(d_k)}$$
(2.60)

where the transpose accounts for a minus sign in the case of $B_2^{(d_k)}$ only. The same is also true for angular momentum operators, Pauli operators in particular. Now, let us calculate the mapping of the partial transpose of a state ρ , $\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b\left(\rho^{(T_2)}\right)$ where T_2 stands for partial transpose with respect to the second party:

$$\mathcal{M}_{a} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{b}\left(\rho^{T_{2}}\right) = \frac{1}{4} \left[\mathbb{1}^{(4)} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{1})} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta^{(d_{1})}} \sigma_{i}^{(1)} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle \left[B_{i}^{(d_{2})} \right]^{T_{2}} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta^{(d_{2})}} \sigma_{i}^{(2)} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{1})} \otimes \left[B_{j}^{(d_{2})} \right]^{T_{2}} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\beta^{(d_{1})} \beta^{(d_{2})}} \sigma_{i}^{(1)} \otimes \sigma_{j}^{(2)} \right]$$
(2.61)

where we have used the fact $\operatorname{Tr}\left[A^{T_2}B\right] = \operatorname{Tr}\left[AB^{T_2}\right]$ to do the following substitution:

$$\left\langle B_i^{(d_1)} \otimes B_j^{(d_2)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{T_2}} = \left\langle B_i^{(d_1)} \otimes \left[B_j^{(d_2)} \right]^{T_2} \right\rangle_{\rho}$$

Taking eqs.(2.59) and the fact that Pauli operators verify the same equations, we find easily that:

$$\left\langle B_i^{(d_1)} \otimes \left[B_j^{(d_2)} \right]^{T_2} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_i^{(1)} \otimes \sigma_j^{(2)} = \left\langle B_i^{(d_1)} \otimes B_j^{(d_2)} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_i^{(1)} \otimes \left[\sigma_j^{(2)} \right]^{T_2}$$

which leads us to the conclusion that:

$$\mathcal{M}_{a} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{b}\left(\rho^{T_{2}}\right) = \left[\mathcal{M}_{a} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{b}\left(\rho\right)\right]^{T_{2}}$$

$$(2.62)$$

Which means that the PT (Partial Transpose) of a bipartite state ρ is mapped into the PT of its image $\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b(\rho)$. Now, since our mapping preserves positivity, we can conclude that if $\rho^{T_2} \succeq 0$, ρ is PPT, then $\left\langle B_i^{(d_1)} \otimes B_j^{(d_2)} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_i^{(1)} \otimes \left[\sigma_j^{(2)}\right]^{T_2} \succeq 0$. Thus, we have proved that a PPT state is mapped into a PPT state.

In the general case of implementing the bipartite mapping via LOCC operations, it can be shown that PPT states are mapped into PPT states. For that we borrow two theorems form Ref.[145]:

- Any entangled (NPT) 2-qubit state is distillable
- PPT $d_1 \times d_2$ states with $d_1 \ge d_2 > 2$ cannot be distilled

If the mapping implemented by LOCC operations were able to map a PPT state into an NPT 2-qubit state, then the latter could be distilled implying the distillability of our PPT states contradicting the second theorem. Hence, any mapping implemented via LOCC operations should preserve PPT.

2.3.2 Positivity versus complete positivity

Here we will discuss briefly the utility of having a complete positive map versus a positive one. A positive map \mathcal{M} will map any state into a state up to some normalization factor when considering that the system is isolated. However, when considering the system as a part of a bigger world, applying the mapping \mathcal{M} to the system would mean applying $\mathcal{I} \otimes \mathcal{M}$ to the state of the system + environment where \mathcal{I} accounts for the identity over the environment Hilbert space. Unless, \mathcal{M} is completely positive, the mapping $\mathcal{I} \otimes \mathcal{M}$ is not guaranteed to be positive. Since quantum channels are implemented by applying some unitary to the system plus some environment and then tracing out the environment, complete positivity ensures the physicality of the mapped state.

An interesting observation is that the mapping $\mathcal{I} \otimes \mathcal{M}$ is positive for separable states if \mathcal{M} is positive. Hence, if \mathcal{M} is positive but not completely positive then, $\mathcal{I} \otimes \mathcal{M}$ can detect entanglement by mappping an entangled state to a non positive operator. This is a principle idea for entanglement criteria like PPT [83, 139].

Thus, for the entanglement detection, our mapping $\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b$ (2.57) is required to be positive over the set of separable states only. This can be achieved iff \mathcal{M}_a and \mathcal{M}_b are positive. However, the normalization factor we have introduced in 2.1.4 $\beta^{(d_k)}$ guarantees complete positivity. To ensure positivity, we can choose the normalization factor, as we discussed in Sec. 2.1.4, to be:

$$\alpha^{(d_k)} = \sup\{\left\langle B_1^{(d_k)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 + \left\langle B_2^{(d_k)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 + \left\langle B_3^{(d_k)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 \mid \rho \in \mathcal{B}\left(\mathcal{H}^{(d_k)}\right)\}$$
(2.63)

where $\alpha^{(d_k)} \leq \beta^{(d_k)}$. With this, we can finally write the desired mapping in the form:

$$\mathcal{M}_{a} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{b}(\rho) = \frac{1}{4} \left[\mathbb{1}^{(4)} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{1})} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\alpha^{(d_{1})}} \sigma_{i}^{(1)} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{2})} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\alpha^{(d_{2})}} \sigma_{i}^{(2)} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \frac{\left\langle B_{i}^{(d_{1})} \otimes B_{j}^{(d_{2})} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\alpha^{(d_{1})} \alpha^{(d_{2})}} \sigma_{i}^{(1)} \otimes \sigma_{j}^{(2)}$$

$$(2.64)$$

The above mapping preserves separability and positivity of separable states. Hence, non positivity or entanglement in the image of some state ρ is an indication of entanglement of this state. Moreover, in the case where $\alpha^{(d_k)} \neq \beta^{(d_k)}$, PPT conservation is not guaranteed since such mapping is not guaranteed to be implementable with LOCC. Hence, in principle, this might be an advantage to detect PPT entangled states.

2.3.3 Sufficient entanglement criteria

We have thus far introduced the mapping from an arbitrary bipartite system into a 2-qubit system as a function of correlations of six observables, three for each party (2.64). From our previous discussion, since entanglement of the resulting 2-qubit state is sufficient for entanglement in the original state, it is sufficient to apply PPT criterion to the state $\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b(\rho)$ (2.64). One can change the criterion simply by changing the choice of observables for each party.

An interesting question at this stage arises whether it is better to map into a 2×3 system where PPT, albeit complicated, is also a necessary and sufficient condition for entanglement. For this mapping to be done, we need three operators to map to a qubit and eight operators to map into a qutrit. One expects with the additional correlations needed for the mapping compared to mapping into a 2 qubits, more information is gained end better entanglement detection can be achieved. However, it can be shown that any NPT $d \times 2$ state can be mapped into an $NPT \ 2 \times 2$ state. Hence all entangled states that can be detected via a mapping into a $d \times 2$ state, can be detected with a mapping into a 2×2 states.

As a choice of operators, we will use the example we introduced, for mapping a system into a single qubit using angular momentum operators (see section 2.1.5), to

derive entanglement criteria. The choice of angular momenta operators is justified by the simplicity of measuring their moments experimentally. However, as we will see their is a trade off between simplicity and efficiency to detect different entangled states. The last statement is expected for systems of large dimensionality as we will see next.

2.3.4 Entanglement criteria with angular momentum operators

Now, we consider the case of a 2-qudit state ρ in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^{(d_1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(d_2)})$ and use the mapping $\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b$, where each $U_i(i = 1, 2)$ implements a mapping as the one given by Eq. (2.34). The resulting mapping $\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b$ can then be written explicitly as follows:

$$\mathcal{M}_{a} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{b}(\rho) = \frac{1}{4} \left[\mathbb{1} + \frac{1}{j^{(d_{1})}} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \langle J_{i}^{(d_{1})} \otimes \mathbb{1} \rangle_{\rho} \sigma_{i} \otimes \mathbb{1} \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{j^{(d_{2})}} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \langle \mathbb{1} \otimes J_{i}^{(d_{2})} \rangle_{\rho} \mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_{i} + \frac{1}{j^{(d_{1})} j^{(d_{2})}} \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \langle J_{i}^{(d_{1})} \otimes J_{j}^{(d_{2})} \rangle_{\rho} \sigma_{i} \otimes \sigma_{j} \right],$$

$$(2.65)$$

where $J_i^{(d_k)}$ is the *i*-th (i = 1, 2, 3) angular momentum component on the d_k -dimensional Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^{(d_k)}$ (k = 1, 2), with $d_k = 2j^{(d_k)} + 1$.

The mapping defined in Eq. (2.65) allows to obtain an operationally easy to implement entanglement witness based on second order correlations. This is achieved by using the following substitutions:

$$\langle \sigma_i \otimes \mathbb{1} \rangle_{\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b(\rho)} = \frac{\langle J_i^{(d_1)} \otimes \mathbb{1} \rangle_{\rho}}{j^{(d_1)}} \equiv r_i^1,$$

$$\langle \mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_i \rangle_{\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b(\rho)} = \frac{\langle \mathbb{1} \otimes J_i^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho}}{j^{(d_2)}} \equiv r_i^2,$$

$$\langle \sigma_i \otimes \sigma_j \rangle_{\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b(\rho)} = \frac{\langle J_i^{(d_1)} \otimes J_j^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho}}{j^{(d_1)} j^{(d_2)}} \equiv T_{ij},$$

(2.66)

which are direct consequences of Eq. (2.65). Therefore we consider the following form for the general mapped state:

$$\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b(\rho) = \frac{1}{4} \left[\mathbb{1} + \vec{r^1} \cdot \vec{\sigma} \otimes \mathbb{1} + \vec{r^2} \cdot \mathbb{1} \otimes \vec{\sigma} + \sum_{i=1}^3 T_{ii} \sigma_i \otimes \sigma_i \right], \qquad (2.67)$$

where we assume that the rotations needed to diagonalize T_{ij} have been performed. We have introduced the vectors \vec{r}^j (j = 1, 2), which have as components the r_i^j (i = 1, 2, 3) defined in Eq. (2.66), after the mentioned needed rotations.

Once we have the form of Eq. (2.65) or Eq. (2.67), the best entanglement witness that we can use is the Peres-Horodecki criterion [246] relying on the positiveness of the partial transpose. This criterion can be simplified by considering the geometric picture which was developed in Ref. [139]. In this paper, it was shown that for the states of the form given by Eq. (2.67), the vector $\vec{T} = \{T_{11}, T_{22}, T_{33}\} \in \mathbb{R}^3$ must lie within a tetrahedron with vertices $\{(-1, -1, -1), (-1, 1, 1), (1, -1, 1), (1, 1, -1)\}$, to fulfill the positiveness requirement. Each of the 4 vertices of this tetrahedron is reached when the 2-qubit state is one of the four Bell-states $|\Phi^{\pm}\rangle = \frac{|00\rangle \pm |11\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}, |\Psi^{\pm}\rangle = \frac{|01\rangle \pm |10\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$. In this picture, the separable states are those for which the vector $\vec{T} = \{T_{11}, T_{22}, T_{33}\} \in \mathbb{R}^3$ lies within the octahedron with vertices $\{(\pm 1, 0, 0), (0, \pm 1, 0), (0, 0, \pm 1)\}$. This last property can be put in the following more compact form: for any separable state of the form given by Eq. (2.67), \vec{T} verifies the inequality:

$$|T_{11}| + |T_{22}| + |T_{33}| \le 1.$$
(2.68)

Using the definitions given by Eq. (2.66), Eq. (2.68) can be re-expressed as a 2-qudit entanglement criterion:

For any separable state ρ acting on $\mathcal{H}^{(d_1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(d_2)}$, the vector $\{\langle J_i^{(d_1)} \otimes J_i^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho} : i = 1, 2, 3\}$ verifies the following inequality:

$$\left| \langle J_1^{(d_1)} \otimes J_1^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho} \right| + \left| \langle J_2^{(d_1)} \otimes J_2^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho} \right| + \\ + \left| \langle J_3^{(d_1)} \otimes J_3^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho} \right| \le j^{(d_1)} j^{(d_2)}.$$
 (2.69)

Therefore, all states that violate inequality (2.69) lie outside the octahedron and are thus entangled. This 2-qudit entanglement criterion has the advantage of being very simple to test experimentally. One can notice that there are no 2-qudit states that are mapped to any of the 2-qubit Bell states. Therefore, the vertices of the tetrahedron do not belong to the image of our mapping. This can be proved by contradiction: consider that there exists a state ρ such that $\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b(\rho)$ is one of the Bell states, say $|\Psi^+\rangle\langle\Psi^+|$. For this state we have:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[|\Psi^{+}\rangle\langle\Psi^{+}|\sigma_{3}\right] = 1,$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[|\Psi^{+}\rangle\langle\Psi^{+}|\sigma_{2}\right] = -1, \operatorname{Tr}\left[|\Psi^{+}\rangle\langle\Psi^{+}|\sigma_{1}\right] = 1.$$
(2.70)

From Eq. (2.70) and Eq. (2.65), we find $\langle J_3^{(d_1)} \otimes J_3^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho} = j^{(d_1)} j^{(d_2)}$ which in turn implies that the state ρ must be a pure state of the form $\alpha |j^{(d_1)}, j^{(d_2)} \rangle + \beta | - j^{(d_1)}, -j^{(d_2)} \rangle$ with $|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2 = 1$. For such states the other values of $\langle \sigma_i \rangle_{\mathcal{M}_a \otimes \mathcal{M}_b(\rho)}$ for i = 1 or i = 2 are zero and not 1 or -1, indeed $\langle J_1^{(d_1)} \otimes J_1^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho} = \langle J_2^{(d_1)} \otimes J_2^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho} = 0$ for $d_1 > 2$ or $d_2 > 2$. The same reasoning can be made for each Bell state.

To have an insight about the efficiency of our criterion to detect entanglement, we apply it to two known families of qudit states that have been extensively studied in Refs. [34, 47, 247, 36]. From now on, we suppose that the two qudits are of the same dimension, that is $d_1 = d_2 \equiv d = 2j + 1$. First, we recall the family of d^2 maximally entangled 2-qudit states $|\Omega_{kl}\rangle(k, l = 0, 1, \dots, d-1)$ that generalize the four 2-qubit Bell states [34, 47, 247, 36]:

$$|\Omega_{kl}\rangle = W_{kl} \otimes \mathbb{1}|\Omega_{00}\rangle, \text{ with } |\Omega_{00}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{d}} \sum_{m=0}^{d-1} |m, m\rangle,$$
 (2.71)

where the $d^2 W_{kl}$ operators acting on the first qudit are the Weyl operators defined as

$$W_{kl}|m\rangle = e^{\frac{i2\pi k(m-l)}{d}}|(m-l)_{\text{mod }d}\rangle.$$
(2.72)

These 2-qudit Bell states $P_{kl} = |\Omega_{kl}\rangle\langle\Omega_{kl}|$ are locally maximally mixed states, that is, by taking their partial trace one obtains the maximally mixed state $\frac{1}{d}$. It is interesting to notice that they are mapped by Eq. (2.67) to a locally maximally mixed 2-qubit state. Indeed, we have:

$$\vec{r}_{kl}^1 = rac{\langle \vec{J} \otimes \mathbb{1} \rangle_{P_{kl}}}{j} = \vec{0} \quad ext{and} \quad \vec{r}_{kl}^2 = rac{\langle \mathbb{1} \otimes \vec{J} \rangle_{P_{kl}}}{j} = \vec{0}.$$

For such states, our simple criterion Eq. (2.69) is as strong as the PPT criterion applied to states given by Eq. (2.67) and detects all entangled locally maximally mixed states that are detected by the latter. We can thus say that every maximally entangled 2-qudit state $|\Omega_{kl}\rangle$ is detected by our criterion Eq. (2.69), even though these states are not mapped to 2-qubit Bell states. Instead, they are mapped to mixed states that are locally maximally mixed, that is, a convex sum (statistical mixture) of 2-qubit Bell states.

Examples

We proceed by exploring the statistical mixtures of maximally entangled 2-qudit pure states that can be detected by our criterion Eq. (2.69). We start by applying our criterion

to the so called Werner states which provide a good description of the effects of phase and depolarizing noise in maximally entangled states [141, 47]:

$$\rho_{\alpha} = \alpha |\Omega_{00}\rangle \langle \Omega_{00}| + \frac{1-\alpha}{d^2} \mathbb{1}, \text{ with } \frac{-1}{d^2-1} \le \alpha \le 1.$$
(2.73)

The bounds for the parameter α are such that ρ_{α} is positive. It is known [141] that ρ_{α} is entangled iff $\frac{1}{d+1} < \alpha \leq 1$. A straightforward application of our criterion Eq. (2.69) to ρ_{α} gives that if $\alpha j (j + 1) > j^2$ then ρ_{α} is entangled. Therefore, our criterion can detect all the entangled states ρ_{α} for $\alpha \in [\frac{j}{(j+1)}, 1]$. Recalling that d = 2j + 1, we realize that entangled states with $\frac{1}{2(j+1)} < \alpha \leq \frac{j}{(j+1)}$ are not detected.

As a more specific example, we now consider the 3-parameter family of 2-qudit states:

$$\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma} = \frac{1 - \alpha - \beta - \gamma}{(2j+1)^2} \mathbb{1} + \alpha P_{00} + \frac{\beta}{2j} \sum_{i=1}^{2j} P_{i0} + \frac{\gamma}{2j+1} \sum_{i=0}^{2j} P_{i1}, \qquad (2.74)$$

where the P_{kl} are the projectors on the $|\Omega_{kl}\rangle$ states. This family of states is a generalization to arbitrary dimensional qudits of the 2-qutrit states originally introduced in Refs. [47, 247, 36] to study bound entanglement. Density matrices as given in Eq. (2.74) are interesting because their eigenvalues and those of their partial transpose can be explicitly expressed as a function of the parameters α , β and γ (see Appendix A.6). This allows to locate the set of PPT $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ in the space spanned by α, β , and γ . To ensure positivity, the parameters α, β , and γ must verify the following inequalities (see Appendix A.6):

$$\frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} \ge 0 \qquad , \alpha + \frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} \ge 0$$
$$\frac{\beta}{2j} + \frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} \ge 0 \quad , \frac{1-\alpha-\beta+2j\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} \ge 0.$$

These inequalities define the interior of a tetrahedron. Now, applying our criterion Eq. (2.69), we obtain that all separable states $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ given by Eq. (19) are such that:

$$\frac{|(j+1)(\alpha+\beta) + (j-2)\gamma| + (j+1)|2\alpha-\beta/j|}{3j} \le 1.$$
(2.75)

All states $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ for which the inequality Eq (2.75) is violated are therefore entangled.

In order to have an idea about the efficiency of criterion Eq. (2.69), we have calculated the eigenvalues of the PT of $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ and thus obtained explicit conditions on α,β , and γ for $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}^{T_2}$ to be positive (see Appendix A.6). In Fig. 2.1, we present the tetrahedron of



Figure 2.1: Geometrical representation of states $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ [Eq. (2.74)] in parameter space for (a) 2j + 1 = 3 and (b) 2j + 1 = 5. All physical states lie inside the tetrahedron whereas the PPT states lie inside the blue region [a cone for the 2-qutrit case (a)]. Red regions depict entangled states detected using our criterion Eq. (2.69), whereas the yellow region hosts the non detected entangled states by this criterion.

positive states $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ given by Eq. (2.74) in parameter space for the cases j = 1 (Fig. 2.1.a) and j = 2 (Fig. 2.1.b). The set of PPT states are depicted in blue, so the remaining volume of the tetrahedron corresponds to entangled states. We have represented in red the states that are detected by our criterion Eq. (2.69). We see clearly that it detects a significative part of the entangled states parametrized by Eq. (2.74). Nevertheless, comparing Fig. 2.1.a and Fig. 2.1.b, we note that this volume decreases when j increases from j = 1 to j = 2. However, different criteria which present a better scaling with dimension for this particular family of states can be found by changing the isometry Uin Eq. (2.1) (or equivalently changing the corresponding A_i operators in Eq. (2.25), used to map each qudit to a qubit).

2.3.5 Mapping for N qudits and spin squeezing inequalities

Until now, we only have considered the entanglement of two qudits. Now, we address the problem of detecting entanglement in a large N qudits system. An interesting consequence of our mapping is that it can be easily extended to map a system of Nqudits to a system of N qubits. Indeed, by applying Eq. (2.34) individually to each qudit, the separability among the parties is preserved. If we denote $L_{\alpha} = \frac{J_{\alpha}}{j} (\alpha = 1, 2, 3)$ and $L_0 = \mathbb{1}$, then the *N*-qubit mapped state corresponding to the *N*-qudit state ρ can be written as

$$\mathcal{M}_{\otimes^{N}U}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2^{N}} \sum_{\vec{k} \in \{0,1,2,3\}^{N}} \langle \bigotimes_{i=1}^{N} L_{k_{i}} \rangle_{\rho} \bigotimes_{i=1}^{N} \sigma_{k_{i}}.$$
(2.76)

An immediate consequence is that for any $\vec{k} \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}^N$, we have

$$\langle \otimes_{i=1}^{N} L_{k_i} \rangle_{\rho} = \langle \otimes_{i=1}^{N} \sigma_{k_i} \rangle_{\mathcal{M}_{\otimes^{N} U}(\rho)}.$$
(2.77)

By using this property to compute first and second order correlations, we can provide an alternative derivation of the spin squeezing inequalities detecting N-qudit entanglement from the N-qubit ones introduced in Ref. [248]. It was shown in Ref. [201] that all separable N-qubit states satisfy the following inequalities:

$$\langle \hat{S}_1^2 \rangle + \langle \hat{S}_2^2 \rangle + \langle \hat{S}_3^2 \rangle \leq \frac{N \left(N+2\right)}{4},$$

$$(\Delta \hat{S}_1)^2 + (\Delta \hat{S}_2)^2 + (\Delta \hat{S}_3)^2 \geq \frac{N}{2},$$

$$\langle \hat{S}_{\alpha}^{\text{lsq}} \rangle + \langle \hat{S}_{\beta}^{\text{lsq}} \rangle - (N-1) (\tilde{\Delta} \hat{S}_{\gamma})^2 \leq \frac{N(N-1)}{4},$$

$$\langle \hat{S}_{\alpha}^{\text{lsq}} \rangle - (N-1) [(\tilde{\Delta} \hat{S}_{\beta})^2 + (\tilde{\Delta} \hat{S}_{\gamma})^2] \leq \frac{N(N-1)}{4}.$$

$$(2.78)$$

where $\hat{S}_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sigma_{\alpha}^{i}$ is the collective spin operator in direction α . The indexes (α, β, γ) may assume any permutation of (1, 2, 3) and the following definitions have been used:

$$(\Delta \hat{\mathcal{S}}_{\alpha})^{2} \equiv \langle \hat{\mathcal{S}}_{\alpha}^{2} \rangle - \langle \hat{\mathcal{S}}_{\alpha} \rangle^{2}, \langle \hat{\mathcal{S}}_{\alpha}^{\text{lsq}} \rangle \equiv \langle \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i \neq j=1}^{N} \sigma_{\alpha}^{i} \otimes \sigma_{\alpha}^{j} \rangle, (\tilde{\Delta} \hat{\mathcal{S}}_{\alpha})^{2} \equiv \langle \hat{\mathcal{S}}_{\alpha}^{\text{lsq}} \rangle - \langle \hat{\mathcal{S}}_{\alpha} \rangle^{2}.$$

$$(2.79)$$

Using Eq. (2.77), we obtain, starting from the N-qubit inequalities Eqs. (2.78), the inequalities satisfied by all separable N-qudit states (N spins j). This is achieved with the following substitutions [248]:

$$\hat{\mathcal{S}}_{\alpha} \to \frac{1}{2j}\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{\alpha}, \quad \hat{\mathcal{S}}_{\alpha}^{\mathrm{lsq}} \to \frac{1}{4j^2}\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{\alpha}^{\mathrm{lsq}}$$
 (2.80)

where $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{\alpha} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} J_{\alpha}^{i}$ and $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{\alpha}^{\text{lsq}} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i \neq j=1}^{N} J_{\alpha}^{i} \otimes J_{\alpha}^{j}$. Therefore, the relation between the entanglement criterion for *N*-qubit and *N*-qudit systems, which was already considered in Ref. [248], can be thought as a simple consequence of the particular mapping explicitly given by Eqs. (2.25) or equivalently by Eq. (2.34). As a consequence, we have shown that the qudit entanglement revealed by the qudit spin squeezing inequalities can always be recast as qubit-like, or dichotomic, spin squeezing. Thus, qudit spin squeezing inequalities do not evidence entanglement of higher dimension than the qubit squeezing ones. Finally, we notice that by choosing different A_i operators in Eq. (2.1) we can expect to find new multipartite qudits entanglement criteria.

2.4 Conclusion

In conclusion, we have presented a general scheme to map qudits to qubits that can be used to define criteria to detect entanglement between qudits. We have applied this general scheme to provide a specific entanglement criterion based on the measurement of qudit–qudit correlations.

In addition, our results provide a way to classify multi-partite qudit entanglement according to its detectability through dichotomization. Finally, it opens the interesting question of what are the specific entanglement types, if any other than bound entanglement, that fail to be detected by our method.

3

Generalized spin squeezing inequalities for fluctuating particle number

In this chapter, we will focus in the detection of entanglement in multi-partite systems consisting of high number of particles. For such systems accessing and measuring individual is a prohibitive task and executing full state tomography is out of question. The entanglement criteria should be based on possible collective measurements and preferably ones that do not require high correlations that might prove impractical. We will focus on spin squeezing inequalities for a system of N spins. These inequalities are verified for separable states and only require measurement of first and second moments of collective spin components along three different directions. These inequalities can be further generalized to arbitrary collective operators by mapping each particle into a qubit as we have introduced in the previous chapter. This increases the possibilities to detect more entangled states than the squeezed states detected by spin squeezing inequalities. I will then introduce our main result which enables the detection of entanglement when the number of particles is not fixed, but can fluctuate. Particles number fluctuations are bound to occur in experiments and they can be put into two categories: classical and quantum fluctuations. Classical fluctuations can be related to experimental inaccuracies, where the number of particles varies from one state preparation to another. On the other hand, quantum fluctuations may appear when the state is not an eigenstate of the number operator. Accounting for such fluctuations will allow us to improve the bounds of spin squeezing inequalities and detect entangled states that are not detected with the original spin squeezing inequalities. This result has been recently published as an article in Physical Review A:

"Generalized spin-squeezing inequalities for particle number with quantum fluctuations". I. Saideh, S. Felicetti, T. Coudreau, P. Milman, and Arne Keller

Phys. Rev. A 94, 032312.

In the last part of this chapter, I present the work that I have performed in the framework of an ongoing collaboration with the "Quantum Dipolar Gazes" team at "Laboratoire de Physique de Laser" laboratory (Université Paris Nord). The main goal of this work was to bring entanglement criteria that could be implemented in their experiment. After a brief description of the experimental setup, which consists in a latice of optically trapped chromium atoms, I will present the results of numerical simulations aimed to model their experiment. These simulations are our first attempt to detect entanglement in such *dipolar gazes*. While these numerical results are not yet conclusive, they nevertheless show how entanglement can be difficult to detect, and can be considered as a starting point for future developpement.

3.1 Introduction

In the quest for quantum computers and quantum simulators, the ability to create, detect and characterize large scale entanglement in many body systems is one of the key points that has attracted a lot of interest in the last decade [249–251]. From a more fundamental perspective, the understanding of the entanglement properties and their manipulation at the macroscopic level is also of importance to understand the quantum to classical transition [252, 253]. It is worth noticing that due to the exponential growth of the Hilbert space dimension with the number of parties N, an exact numerical simulation of such systems with classical computer is not possible when N becomes of the order of some tens. In this context, providing theoretical tools for the experimental detection of entanglement is a necessity. Typically, such experiments involve interacting many body systems as cold atoms [254, 251], trapped ions [255-257] or photons [258, 259], and individual addressing or accessing each body individually is not possible. Accessible observables consist more often of collectives ones, expressed as the sum of local observables that in most cases are one body operators. The spatial component of a collective spin, sum of local spins, is such an instance of a global observable. If the global spin state is squeezed, that is, if the fluctuation of one of its component is sufficiently small compared to the expectation of the other components, then it can be shown that the N-spin systems is entangled [195, 198]. Toth and collaborators [200, 201, 227, 228] have generalized such an approach providing a set of inequalities that are fulfilled for all separable state of the N spins system and thus are able to detect entanglement when violated.

The original spin-squeezing inequalities [200, 201, 227] consider the number of particles N as a constant. In fact, N may undergo classical and/or quantum fluctuations. Classical fluctuations are due the presence of statistical mixtures of states with different N. In contrast, quantum fluctuations are given by coherent superposition of states corresponding to different number of particles. It is often argued, in the context of Bose-Einstein condensation [260], that coherent superposition of states corresponding to different number of particles are not allowed or can not give observable consequences. The proscription of such coherent superposition is often justified by an axiomatic superselection rule (SSR) which should be applied to massive particles but not to massless ones. Actually, this SSR is a consequence of the lack of a fixed absolute phase reference [261]. It has been pointed-out that such phase reference can be established allowing for instance the coherent quantum superposition of an atom and a molecule [262]. Quantum and classical particles number fluctuations have been considered in the context of quantum metrology [229], where the relation of quantum-enhanced parameter estimation and entanglement is investigated when the particles number is only known on average. Spin squeezing inequalities for fluctuating N have been considered in Ref [222] but the fluctuations of the total number of particles considered in that work were only classical (statistical) fluctuations and quantum fluctuations were not investigated.

In this work we generalize the original spin squeezing inequality of Ref. [228], by considering the situation of arbitrary particle number fluctuations, including quantum and/or classical ones. This generalization is important and necessary in many experimental situations even where the SSR applies. Such an interesting example can be found in Ref. [251] where a system of N spin 1 is considered as a systems of N spin-1/2 by projecting each spin 1 on the subspace spanned by two magnetic sub-levels. In this subspace, quantum fluctuations (and not only statistical ones) of the particle number are expected, and the validity of the original spin squeezing inequalities is not granted.

We first recall the original spin inequalities [228], and how they can be generalized using 3 collective operators A_1 , A_2 and A_3 , instead of the 3 components J_x , J_y and J_z of a collective spin. Finally, we present our new inequalities where particle number fluctuations are considered.

3.2 Original spin squeezing inequalities

Let us recall the original inequalities derived in Ref. [228] that are fulfilled by all separable states:

$$\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_x + \tilde{\Delta}^2 J_y + \tilde{\Delta}^2 J_z \ge -Nj^2 \tag{3.1a}$$

$$(N-1)\left[\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_k + \tilde{\Delta}^2 J_l\right] \ge \langle \tilde{J}_m^2 \rangle - N(N-1)j^2$$
(3.1b)

$$\langle \tilde{J}_l^2 + \tilde{J}_m^2 \rangle - N(N-1)j^2 \le (N-1)\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_k \tag{3.1c}$$

$$\langle \tilde{J}_x^2 + \tilde{J}_y^2 + \tilde{J}_z^2 \rangle \le N(N-1)j^2,$$
 (3.1d)

where l, m end k refer to different x, y or z component of the total spin operator $J_l = \sum_{i=1}^N J_l^{(i)}$, sum of the local spins operators $J_l^{(i)} = \bigotimes_{i'=1; i \neq i'}^N \mathbb{1}^{(i')} \otimes j_k^{(i)}$, where $\mathbb{1}^{(i')}$ denotes the identity operator and $j_k^{(i)}$ the k component of the spin in the one particle Hilbert space. The eigenvalues of $(\vec{j}^{(i)})^2$ are j(j+1). As in Ref. [228], the notation \tilde{J}_k^2 means :

$$\tilde{J}_k^2 = J_k^2 - \sum_{i=1}^N (J_k^{(i)})^2 = \sum_{i \neq j=1}^N J_k^{(i)} J_k^{(j)}$$
(3.2)

and the modified variance is defined as $\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_k = \langle \tilde{J}_k^2 \rangle - \langle J_k \rangle^2$. The 4 inequalities Eqs. (3.1) can be written in the following compact form [227]:

$$(N-1)\sum_{k\notin\mathcal{I}}\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_k - \sum_{k\in\mathcal{I}}\langle \tilde{J}_k^2 \rangle \ge -N(N-1)j^2, \tag{3.3}$$

where \mathcal{I} can be any subset of $\{x, y, z\}$ (including the empty set). Each inequality in Eqs. (3.1) is obtained by increasing the number of elements in \mathcal{I} by one, starting from the empty set.

As it has been shown in Ref. [227], the vectorial character of the spin is not needed to obtain Eq. (3.3). Indeed, a set of 3 collective observables A_k where k = 1, 2, 3 can be used instead, each of them obtained as a sum of local observable as $A_k = \sum_{i=1}^N A_k^{(i)}$. To be able to derive inequalities as Eq. (3.3), it is only required that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{3} \langle A_k^{(i)} \rangle^2 \le \alpha^2; \forall i = 1, 2, \cdots, N,$$
(3.4)

which is satisfied by the spin operators $J_k^{(i)}$ with $\alpha = j$. Then, as it has been shown in Ref. [227], using the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality

$$\langle A_k \rangle^2 \le N \sum_{i=1}^N \langle A_k^{(i)} \rangle^2 \tag{3.5}$$

and the concavity of the variance, we obtain the inequalities (3.3) where J_k is replaced by A_k , j is replaced by α and where \mathcal{I} is any subset of $\{1, 2, 3\}$, including the empty set.

3.3 Fluctuations of particles number

Note that Eqs. (3.3) are derived for a fixed number of particles N. To generalize these equations to include quantum fluctuations of the particle number, we consider that we have N sites $(i = 1, 2, \dots, N)$, and that in each site there is one or zero particles. We define the local positive operator $\hat{N}^{(i)}$ giving the number of particle in site i; it has only two eigenvalues 0 or 1 corresponding to the absence or the presence of a particle. Hence, the collective operator $\hat{N} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \hat{N}^{(i)}$ represents the total number of particles. Our main result is that all separable states fulfil the following inequalities:

$$\left(\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1\right) \sum_{k \notin \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k - \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \langle \tilde{A}_k^2 \rangle \ge -\langle \hat{N} \rangle \left(\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1\right) \alpha^2 - \delta, \tag{3.6}$$

where δ is defined as

$$\delta = \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_1 + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_2 + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_3 + \alpha^2 \langle \hat{N} \rangle \tag{3.7}$$

and corresponds to the term added to Eq. (3.3) when N is replaced by $\langle \hat{N} \rangle$. That is, setting $\delta = 0$ and replacing $\langle N \rangle$ by the constant N in Eq. (3.6) give us Eq. (3.3). These inequalities are very convenient since they are as simple as the original ones. Indeed, to test their violation, the same type of measurements realized in the original inequalities for fixed particle number must be performed. Eq. (3.6) can also be written explicitly, by increasing the cardinality of \mathcal{I} :

$$\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_1 + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_2 + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_3 \ge -\alpha^2 \langle \hat{N} \rangle \tag{3.8a}$$

$$\left(\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1\right) \left(\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_i + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_j \right) - \langle \tilde{A}_k^2 \rangle \ge -\alpha^2 \langle \hat{N} \rangle \left(\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1\right) - \delta \tag{3.8b}$$

$$\left(\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1\right) \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_i - \langle \tilde{A}_j^2 \rangle - \langle \tilde{A}_k^2 \rangle \ge -\alpha^2 \langle \hat{N} \rangle \left(\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1\right) - \delta \tag{3.8c}$$

$$\langle \tilde{A}_1^2 \rangle + \langle \tilde{A}_2^2 \rangle + \langle \tilde{A}_3^2 \rangle \le \alpha^2 \langle \hat{N} \rangle \left(\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1 \right) + \delta$$
 (3.8d)

We note that the first inequality is exactly the same as Eq. (3.1a) but with N replaced by $\langle N \rangle$. That is, we can replace N by $\langle N \rangle$ in Eq. (3.1a) and it remains a valid equation fulfilled by all separable states when N is not a constant. We also note that Eq. (3.8a) can be written as $\delta \geq 0$.

Now, if in a given experiment δ is found to be positive, then inequalities Eqs. (3.8b-d) are less tight than the original inequalities Eqs. (3.1b-d). Hence, a violation of Eqs. (3.1b-d) can appear without violating Eqs. (3.8b-d). In other words, The simple substitution of N by $\langle N \rangle$ in the original inequalities Eqs. (1b-d) can give false positive. This is why it is crucial to consider the term δ before to affirming entanglement detection. In the other case, when $\delta < 0$, both inequalities, Eq. (3.1a) or Eq. (3.8a), detect entanglement, but Eqs. (3.8b-d) becomes tighter than the original ones, Eqs. (3.1b-d). Hence, in this case, the visibility of the violation is higher, which can represent an important advantage from the experimental point of view.

3.4 Proof

We give a sketch of the proof leaving the technical details in appendix A and B. The proof is done in two steps. In the first step, inequalities fulfilled by all product states $\rho = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{N} \rho^{(i)}$ are obtained, then in a second step we generalize them to all separable states using convexity arguments.

3.4.1 Inequalities for product states

For the first step, the main objective is to obtain a tighter inequality than the one obtained in Eq. (3.5) through the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality. For this, the main idea is to map each local state $\rho^{(i)}$, in the site *i*, to a spin 1, or a 3-level state $R^{(i)}$ in an auxiliary Hilbert space spanned by $|0^{(i)}\rangle$, $|1^{(i)}\rangle$, $|2^{(i)}\rangle$ states as follows :

$$R^{(i)} = n_i \left(\frac{\sigma_0^{(i)}}{2} + \frac{\left\langle A_1^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i} \sigma_x^{(i)} + \frac{\left\langle A_2^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i} \sigma_y^{(i)} + \frac{\left\langle A_3^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i} \sigma_z \right) + (1 - n_i) \left| 2^{(i)} \right\rangle \langle 2^{(i)} \right| \quad (3.9)$$

where $\sigma_0 = |0^{(i)}\rangle\langle 0^{(i)}| + |1^{(i)}\rangle\langle 1^{(i)}|$ is the projection operator on the qubit subspace spanned by the state $|0^{(i)}\rangle$ and $|1^{(i)}\rangle$ and $\sigma_k^{(i)}(k = x, y, z)$ are the Pauli matrices in the same subspace. The constant η_i is chosen as $\eta_i = \sqrt{\langle A_1^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_2^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_3^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2}$, such that the term inside the braket in Eq. (3.9) is a pure state $|\Psi^{(i)}\rangle$. Therefore the state $R^{(i)}$ can also be written as

$$R^{(i)} = n_i |\Psi^{(i)}\rangle \langle \Psi^{(i)}| + (1 - n_i) |2^{(i)}\rangle \langle 2^{(i)}|, \qquad (3.10)$$

where n_i represents the average occupation number of the particle in site i, that is $n_i = \left\langle N^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}$. The mapping $\rho^{(i)} \to R^{(i)}$ can be interpreted in the following way: when there is a particle in site i, we map its state to a pure state $|\Psi^{(i)}\rangle$ such that $\langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_k | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle = \frac{1}{\eta_i} \left\langle A_k^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}$ and when there is no particle we attribute this event to state $|2^{(i)}\rangle$. Averaging over the occupation of the site i gives us the state $R^{(i)}$. Using techniques similar to those developed in Ref. [1] we can prove (see appendix B) that this mapping is completely positive and thus $R^{(i)}$ is indeed a state, that is a positive hermitian operator. Note that $\langle \sigma_x \rangle_{R^{(i)}} = n_i \frac{\left\langle A_1^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\eta_i}$. This relation is not exactly what we need. Indeed, if we sum over all sites i, $\langle \sum_{i=1}^N \sigma^{(i)} \rangle_{R^{(i)}}$ will not be simply related to the expectation of original collective operator $A_1 = \sum_{i=1}^N A_1^{(i)}$, because the pre-factor $\frac{n_i}{\eta_i}$ depends on the site i. It can be shown (see appendix A) that applying a rotation in the qubit subspace, we can obtain a new state $R^{(i)'}$ such that $\langle \sigma_x \rangle_{R^{(i)'}} = \frac{\left\langle A_1^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\alpha}$, where the factor α does not depends on the site i and is defined as $\alpha^2 = \sup_{\rho^{(i)}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^3 \left\langle A_k^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}} \right]$.

Now, we can consider the product state $R' = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{N} R^{(i)'}$ in the qutrit Hilbert space, and define collective spin operators: $S_k = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sigma_k$, which verify the commutation relation $[S_k, S_l] = 2i\epsilon_{klm}S_m$. Using the Heisenberg inequality $\frac{1}{4} |\langle [A, B] \rangle_{R'}|^2 \leq (\Delta A)^2 (\Delta B)^2$ with $A = S_y$ and $B = S_z$, we can write

$$\left|\langle S_x \rangle_{R'}\right|^2 = \left|\sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\left\langle A_1^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\alpha}\right|^2 = \frac{\left\langle A_1 \right\rangle_{\rho}^2}{\alpha^2} \le \left(\Delta S_y\right)^2 \left(\Delta S_z\right)^2.$$
(3.11)

In that way, we can obtain a tighter inequality for $\left\langle A_k \right\rangle_\rho^2$

$$\langle A_k \rangle_{\rho}^2 \le \langle N \rangle_{\rho} \left(\sum_{i=1}^N \left\langle A_k^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 \right) + \alpha^2 \left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho} \left(\langle N \rangle_{\rho} - \sum_{i=1}^N \left\langle N^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 \right).$$
(3.12)

Using similar techniques (see appendix A for more details), we obtain general inequalities fulfilled by all product states:

$$(\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1) \sum_{k \notin \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k - \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \langle \tilde{A}_k^2 \rangle \ge -\langle \hat{N} \rangle (\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1) \alpha^2 - \delta', \qquad (3.13)$$

where δ' is given by

$$\delta' = \alpha^2 \langle \hat{N} \rangle - \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}; k \notin \mathcal{I}} \langle A_k^{(i)} \rangle^2 + \langle \hat{N} \rangle \sum_{i=1}^N \left(\sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}; k \notin \mathcal{I}} \langle A_k^{(i)} \rangle^2 - \alpha^2 \langle \hat{N}^{(i)} \rangle^2 \right).$$
(3.14)

Eq. (3.3) is recovered when we replace A_k by J_k and $\langle \hat{N} \rangle$ by N, in this case $\alpha = j$, $\hat{N}^{(i)} = \mathbb{1}^{(i)}$ and $\sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}; k \notin \mathcal{I}} \langle A_k^{(i)} \rangle^2 = j^2$, therefore $\delta' = 0$. The set of inequalities given by Eq. (3.13) are valid for any product state. The goal now is to generalize them for any separable state which can be written as a convex sum of product states.

3.4.2 Generalization to all separable states

The generalization of inequalities given by Eq. (3.13) to all separable states is not straightforward. To work around this difficulty, we look for an upper bound δ to δ' , such that when δ' is replaced by δ in Eq. (3.13), the resulting inequalities are easily generalized to all separable states by convexity arguments.

In fact, the last term inside the brackets in Eq. (3.14) is negative, therefore $\delta' \leq \alpha^2 \langle \hat{N} \rangle - \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}; k \notin \mathcal{I}} \langle A_k^{(i)} \rangle^2$. In addition, from the definition of the modified variance $\tilde{\Delta}^2$ given by Eq. (3.2), it is not difficult to show that for product states we have

$$\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k = -\sum_{i=1}^N \langle A_k^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho_{\text{prod}}}^2, \quad \rho_{\text{prod}} \text{ a product state.}$$
(3.15)

We thus obtain the following upper bound for δ' :

$$\delta' \le \alpha^2 \langle \hat{N} \rangle + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_1 + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_2 + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_3 = \delta, \qquad (3.16)$$

which is the expression for δ , we have given previously in Eq. (3.7).

Finally, with this new upper bound, Eq. (3.13) becomes:

$$(\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1) \sum_{k \notin \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k - \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \langle \tilde{A}_k^2 \rangle \ge -\langle \hat{N} \rangle (\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1) \alpha^2 - \delta.$$
(3.17)

It turns out, that these inequalities which are valid for all product states can be generalized to all separable states by convexity (see appendix A).

3.5 Coordinate system independent form for dichotomic observables

Due to Heisenberg uncertainty principle, spin squeezing can not be achieved in all directions. The coordinate independent form of the spin squeezing inequalities [201, 228] allows to detect entanglement without knowing a-priori the direction where the squeezing is maximal.

To illustrate this point, let us recall the squeezing Hamiltonian [195] (see Ref. [216] for a review and the references therein):

$$H = \chi J_x^2 = \chi \sum_{i,j=1}^N J_x^{(i)} J_x^{(j)}$$
(3.18)

with χ being some coupling constant. The above squeezing Hamiltonian has been very well studied, both theoretically and experimentally, for a system of N spins 1/2 and is called one axis twisting Hamiltonian [195, 216]. The state $|\psi(t)\rangle = e^{-iJ_x^2\theta/2} \bigotimes_{i=1}^N |\frac{1}{2}^{(i)}\rangle$, where $\theta = 2\chi t$, is optimally squeezed along the direction lying in the *x*-*y* plane making an angle $\phi \approx \frac{1}{2} \arctan\left(N^{-1/3}\right)$ with the *x*-axis, for large N [195, 216]. This would suggest that in order to better detect the squeezing in such a state, using spin squeezing inequalities (3.1a-3.1d)[228], one needs to measure first and second moments of the rotated spin components $J_{x'} = \cos(\phi)J_x + \sin(\phi)J_y$, $J_{y'} = \cos(\phi)J_y - \sin(\phi)J_x$, and $J_{z'} = J_z$. The purpose of coordinate independent spin squeezing inequalities is to precisely optimally detect squeezing without knowing a-priori the optimal direction ϕ .

3.5.1 Coordinate system independent form of the spin-squeezing inequalities

In this section we recall the coordinate independent form of spin squeezing inequalities (3.1a-3.1d) [228] introduced in [201] for spin-1/2 and in [228] for general spin j. First, one needs to define the following matrices [228]:

$$C_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \langle J_i J_j + J_j J_i \rangle \tag{3.19}$$

$$\gamma_{ij} = C_{ij} - \langle J_i \rangle \langle J_j \rangle \tag{3.20}$$

$$Q_{ij} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\frac{\left\langle J_i^{(k)} J_j^{(k)} + J_j^{(k)} J_i^{(k)} \right\rangle}{2} - \frac{j(j+1)\delta_{ij}}{3} \right)$$
(3.21)

$$\mathfrak{X} = (N-1)\gamma + C - N^2 Q \tag{3.22}$$

with δ_{ij} being the Kronecker delta function. Then, the inequalities inequalities (3.1a-3.1d) can be written in the following form [228]:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\gamma\right] - Nj \ge 0 \tag{3.23a}$$

$$(N-1)$$
Tr $[\gamma] - N(N-1)j + N^2 \frac{j(j+1)}{3} - \lambda_{\max}(\mathfrak{X}) \ge 0$ (3.23b)

$$-\operatorname{Tr}[C] + Nj(Nj+1) - N^{2}\frac{j(j+1)}{3} + \lambda_{\min}(\mathfrak{X}) \ge 0$$
(3.23c)

$$-\operatorname{Tr}[C] + Nj(Nj+1) \ge 0$$
 (3.23d)

where $\lambda_{\max}(A)$ and $\lambda_{\min}(A)$ are the maximum and minimum eigenvalues of A respectively. The key idea for the above inequalities is that \mathfrak{X} is diagonalized via an orthogonal matrix $\mathfrak{O} \in O(3)$, i.e., $\mathfrak{X} = \mathfrak{O}\Lambda\mathfrak{O}^T$ with Λ a diagonal matrix. Hence, diagonalizing \mathfrak{X} is equivalent to applying the following transformation: $\vec{J'} = \mathfrak{O}^T\mathfrak{J}, C' = \mathfrak{O}^T C\mathfrak{O}, \gamma' = \mathfrak{O}^T \gamma \mathfrak{O},$ and $Q' = \mathfrak{O}^T Q \mathfrak{O}$. Finally, we have $\operatorname{Tr} [C'] = \operatorname{Tr} [C]$ and $\operatorname{Tr} [\gamma'] = \operatorname{Tr} [\gamma]$ which represents the invariance of the quantities $\langle J_x^2 \rangle + \langle J_y^2 \rangle + \langle J_z^2 \rangle$ and $(\Delta J_x)^2 + (\Delta J_y)^2 + (\Delta J_z)^2$, respectively, under rotations. Comparing the inequalities (3.23) with (3.1), one can show that there exists a direction for which some of the inequalities (3.1) is violated iff the corresponding inequalities (3.23) are violated [201, 228].

A natural question arises whether we could define our generalized inequalities (3.8) in a coordinate independent manner to simplify the task of finding operators A_i such that entanglement is detected. It turns out that we are able to define a coordinate independent version inequalities of (3.8) for a general class of dichotomic operators which we define now.

3.5.2 Dichotomic observables

A very important and popular choice of the operators A_i for the inequalities (3.8) are the dichotomic observables or spin-1/2 like operators. In this case, the Hilbert space of the single particle states is usually restricted to a 2-dimensional subspace of a two levels system. This restriction to a bi-dimensional subspace has been performed in Ref. [251] where a system of N spin-1 is considered as N spin-1/2 particles. The appeal of this choice is due to the fact that most of the entanglement criteria were originally derived for spin 1/2 systems. Notorious examples are CHSH inequalities [72] for the non-locality of a two spins-1/2 state and spin squeezing inequalities for N spin-1/2 [201].

Specifically, for each particle (i), consider only two magnetic levels states $|m_0^{(i)}\rangle$ and $|m_1^{(i)}\rangle$, among all the eigenstates $|m^{(i)}\rangle(|m^{(i)}| \leq j)$ of $j_z^{(i)}$. In the subspace spanned by these two states, we can define the Pauli operators as:

$$\sigma_x^{(i)} = |m_0^{(i)}\rangle\langle m_1^{(i)}| + |m_1^{(i)}\rangle\langle m_0^{(i)}|$$
(3.24)

$$\sigma_y^{(i)} = -i \left(|m_0^{(i)}\rangle \langle m_1^{(i)}| - |m_1^{(i)}\rangle \langle m_0^{(i)}| \right)$$
(3.25)

$$\sigma_z^{(i)} = |m_0^{(i)}\rangle \langle m_0^{(i)}| - |m_1^{(i)}\rangle \langle m_1^{(i)}|$$
(3.26)

and let us call $N^{(i)}$ the projector into this subspace spanned by $|m_0^{(i)}\rangle, |m_1^{(i)}\rangle$, that is:

$$N^{(i)} = |m_0^{(i)}\rangle \langle m_0^{(i)}| + |m_1^{(i)}\rangle \langle m_1^{(i)}|.$$
(3.27)

An elementary calculation shows that for any state $\rho^{(i)}$ acting on the single particle Hilbert space, we have:

$$\left\langle \sigma_x^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^2 + \left\langle \sigma_y^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^2 + \left\langle \sigma_z^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^2 \le \left\langle N^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^2.$$
(3.28)

Since $N^{(i)}$ is a projector, it is positive and has two eigenvalues 0 and 1. Hence, from Eq. (3.28), if we choose the state $\rho^{(i)}$ to be a pure state in the subspace $|m_0^{(i)}\rangle, |m_1^{(i)}\rangle$, we find that

$$\alpha^2 = \sup_{\rho^{(i)}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^3 \left\langle \sigma_k^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^2 \right] = 1.$$
(3.29)

We now define the collective operators A_i to be:

$$A_i = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sigma_i^{(k)}.$$
 (3.30)

These three collectives observables A_i fulfill all the requirements to write the generalized spin squeezing inequalities (3.8).

The class of dichtotomic observables (3.30) can be extended in slightly more general manner. Instead of the two states $|m_0^{(i)}\rangle$, $|m_1^{(i)}\rangle$, we can consider two orthogonal projectors $P_0^{(i)}$ and $P_1^{(i)}$ such that

$$\operatorname{rank}\left(P_{0}^{(i)}\right) = \operatorname{rank}\left(P_{1}^{(i)}\right) = r.$$
(3.31)

Let us define $\mathcal{H}_0^{(i)}$, $\mathcal{H}_1^{(i)}$ to be the range of $P_0^{(i)}$ and $P_1^{(i)}$ respectively. Let $S^{(i)}$ be a linear map from $\mathcal{H}_1^{(i)}$ to $\mathcal{H}_0^{(i)}$ with singular values equal to 1, i.e. it can be written as

$$S^{(i)} = U^{(i)\dagger} \mathbb{1}^{(r)} V^{(i)}, \qquad (3.32)$$

with $U^{(i)\dagger}U^{(i)} = \mathbb{1}^{(r)}$ and $V^{(i)\dagger}V^{(i)} = \mathbb{1}^{(r)}$.

Finally, let us define

$$S_{-}^{(i)} = P_0^{(i)} S_{-}^{(i)} P_1^{(i)}, \ S_{+}^{(i)} = S_{-}^{(i)^{\dagger}}.$$
(3.33)

Now, we can generalize the operators A_i defined in Eq.(3.30) by defining the Pauli-like operators for each particle as:

$$\sigma_z^{(i)} = P_0^{(i)} - P_1^{(i)} \tag{3.34}$$

$$\sigma_x^{(i)} = S_-^{(i)} + S_+^{(i)} \tag{3.35}$$

$$\sigma_y^{(i)} = -i \left(S_-^{(i)} - S_+^{(i)} \right) \tag{3.36}$$

$$N^{(i)} = P_0^{(i)} + P_1^{(i)}. (3.37)$$

With the above definitions, Eqs. (3.28, 3.29) are valid. Moreover, the commutation relations $\left[\sigma_i^{(l)}, \sigma_j^{(l)}\right] = 2i\epsilon_{ijk}\sigma_k^{(l)}$ still hold. Consequently, the operators defined in Eqs.(3.34) are the generators of SU(2) in the subspace $\mathcal{H}_0^{(i)} \oplus \mathcal{H}_1^{(i)}$, i.e. any rotation can be applied via the unitary $e^{i\vec{A}.\vec{n}\theta}$, for some normalized vector \vec{n} and real θ . In addition, since $\left[\hat{N}, A_i\right] = 0$, $\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle$ is invariant under such rotations and behaves simply as a scalar as in the usual spin squeezing inequalities. Hence, the additional quantity δ in our inequalities (3.8), that takes into account the fluctuations in particle number in the subspace of interest, is also invariant under SU(2) transformations. Which allows us to follow the same steps as



Figure 3.1: \mathfrak{L} (3.46), in solid blue line, and \mathfrak{G} (3.47), in dashed green line, calculated in the state $\rho(p)$ (3.44) as a function of p. The highlighted area represents the instances of p for which the inequality $\mathfrak{L}(p) \ge 0$ is violated.

in [201, 228] to define coordinate system independent inequalities:

$$\delta = \text{Tr}\left[\gamma\right] - \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle / 2 \ge 0 \tag{3.38a}$$

$$\delta + \left(\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle - 1\right) \operatorname{Tr}\left[\gamma\right] - \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle \left(\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle - 2\right) / 2 - \lambda_{\max}\left(\mathfrak{X}\right) \ge 0 \tag{3.38b}$$

$$\delta - \operatorname{Tr}[C] - \langle \hat{N} \rangle / 2 + \lambda_{\min}(\mathfrak{X}) \ge 0$$
 (3.38c)

$$\delta - \operatorname{Tr}[C] + \langle \hat{N} \rangle \left(\langle \hat{N} \rangle + 2 \right) / 4 \ge 0,$$
(3.38d)

where we have defined:

$$C_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \langle A_i A_j + A_j A_i \rangle,$$

$$\gamma_{ij} = C_{ij} - \langle A_i \rangle \langle A_j \rangle$$

$$\mathfrak{X} = (N-1)\gamma + C.$$
(3.39)

As expected, comparing our inequalities (3.38) with the coordinate independent spin squeezing inequalities for j = 1/2 in Refs. [201, 228], they are quite similar except for replacing N with $\langle \hat{N} \rangle$ and the additional term δ . Simply replacing N with $\langle \hat{N} \rangle$ is not enough to obtain our inequalities as we will show later.

3.6 Generalized Sørensen-Mølmer criterion

As we mentioned in Chapter 1, Sørensen and Mølmer [220] showed that for all separable N *j*-spin states, the following inequality is verified:

$$(\Delta J_x)^2 \ge N j F_j \left(\frac{\langle J_z \rangle}{N j}\right) \tag{3.40}$$

where

$$F_j(X) = \frac{1}{j} \min_{\langle J_z \rangle / j = X} \left(\Delta J_x \right)^2$$
(3.41)

which is the minimum variance of J_x divided by j for a given value of $\langle J_z \rangle$. The function $F_i(X)$ can be computed numerically quite efficiently even for large spin-j.

The fact that this criterion requires only two operators is quite appealing, and we can generalize it in a similar fashion to what we did above. We can show that, see proof in appendix B.4:

$$\alpha^{2} \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle + \tilde{\Delta}^{2} A_{1} \ge 2\alpha^{2} \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle F_{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{\langle A_{2} \rangle}{\alpha \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle} \right) = \frac{\langle A_{2} \rangle^{2}}{\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle}$$
(3.42)

where we have used the fact $F_{\frac{1}{2}}(X) = \frac{X^2}{2}$. The reason we use the function $F_{\frac{1}{2}}$ is because we map into a qubit system in order to derive these criteria.

Comparing the above criterion with our main result (3.6), we can see that they are completely equivalent for the case where we choose two operators A_1 and A_2 only. This can be spotted more easily if we rewrite (3.6) in the following form:

$$\langle \hat{N} \rangle \left(\alpha^2 \langle \hat{N} \rangle + \sum_{k \notin \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k \right) - \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \langle A_k \rangle^2 \ge 0.$$
 (3.43)

It is interesting to note that we have derived the same criteria (3.42) and (3.6) using two different methods. While we used a mapping to a qubit system for both, we did not use our improved bound (3.12) to derive (3.42). The improved bound (3.12) gave rise to the additional term δ in (3.6). This gives us confidence that the term δ is good upper bound of the term δ' defined in (3.14). Nevertheless, numerical investigation is needed to show if this is indeed the case.

3.7 Examples

In this section we compare, for two specific cases, the standard spin squeezing inequalities where N is replaced by its expectation $\langle N \rangle$ with our new inequalities. The first case illustrates the importance of the term δ in our inequalities. Indeed, we exhibit a separable mixed state that violates the original inequality, showing that the simple replacement of N by $\langle N \rangle$ can lead to false positive. In the second example, we study the detection of entanglement generated by the one axis twisting Hamiltonian (3.18) for N = 5 spin 1 system. We find that, when restricting to a subspace, our inequalities (3.38) show a clear advantage over spin squeezing inequalities (3.1). The latter show no violation at all, whereas, one of the inequalities (3.38) is violated indicating entanglement almost for all times of the evolution of the N = 5 spin 1 system.

3.7.1 Example I

We have shown, that through our special choice of operators A_i given by Eq. (3.30), our inequalities (3.8) and (3.38) can be obtained from spin squeezing inequalities for j = 1/2 [201, 228] by replacing N with $\langle \hat{N} \rangle$ and adding δ . In the following, we give a simple example to highlight the importance of the additional term δ . Let us consider the following separable mixed states for N = 2 spin j = 1:

$$\rho(p) = p\rho' + (1-p)|0^{(1)}\rangle\langle 0^{(1)}| \otimes |0^{(2)}\rangle\langle 0^{(2)}| \quad 0 \le p \le 1$$
(3.44)

where:

$$\rho' = \frac{1}{2} \left(|-1^{(1)}\rangle \langle -1^{(1)}| \otimes |-1^{(2)}\rangle \langle -1^{(2)}| + |1^{(1)}\rangle \langle 1^{(1)}| \otimes |1^{(2)}\rangle \langle 1^{(2)}| \right)$$
(3.45)

This state is clearly separable for any value of $0 \le p \le 1$. Now let us consider the inequality given by Eq. (3.1b) and let us replace N by $\langle \hat{N} \rangle$ where \hat{N} is defined in Eq. (3.27) for the subspace $|-1^{(i)}\rangle, |1^{(i)}\rangle$. Then, it takes the following form: $\mathfrak{L}(p) \ge 0$, where

$$\mathfrak{L}(p) = \left(\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle_{\rho(p)} - 1 \right) \left(\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_x + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_y \right) - \left\langle \tilde{A}_z^2 \right\rangle_{\rho(p)} + \frac{1}{4} \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle_{\rho(p)} \left(\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle_{\rho(p)} - 1 \right)$$
(3.46)


Figure 3.2: (a) to (d): left hand side of inequalities \mathfrak{G}_1 (3.38a) to \mathfrak{G}_4 (3.38d), respectively, calculated in the state $|\psi(\theta)\rangle$, defined in Eq. (3.48), as a function of θ for N = 5 spin-1 particles. Highlighted region shows the instances of θ for which inequality (3.38c) is violated.

Next, let us consider the correct form, i.e. Eq. (3.8b): $\mathfrak{G}(p) \geq 0$, where

$$\mathfrak{G}(p) = \mathfrak{L}(p) + \delta(p) \tag{3.47}$$

In figure Fig. 3.1, we plot both quantities $\mathfrak{G}(p)$ and $\mathfrak{L}(p)$ as a function of p. Inequality $\mathfrak{L}(p) \geq 0$ is violated for all p, but it is completely wrong to infer that the state is entangled. In contrast, our inequality $\mathfrak{G}(p) = \mathfrak{L}(p) + \delta(p) \geq 0$ is not violated, as expected. This example shows clearly the importance of the additional term δ when the number of particles is not constant.

3.7.2 Example II

As an illustrative example, we consider a system of N spin-j = 1 initialized in the product state $|\psi_0\rangle = \bigotimes_{i=1}^N |0^{(i)}\rangle$. Now let us calculate the left hand side of the inequalities (3.23) for the state

$$|\psi(\theta)\rangle = e^{-iJ_x^2\theta/2} \bigotimes_{i=1}^N |0^{(i)}\rangle$$
(3.48)

of N spins j = 1. Let us call $\mathfrak{F}_1(\theta)$, $\mathfrak{F}_2(\theta)$, $\mathfrak{F}_3(\theta)$, and $\mathfrak{F}_4(\theta)$ to be the left hand side of inequalities (3.23a-3.23d) respectively. Numerical calculations show that these quantities are constant and positive. More precisely, one can verify that $\mathfrak{F}_1(\theta) = N$ and $\mathfrak{F}_i(\theta) = N(N-1)$ for i = 2, 3, 4, thus, spin squeezing inequalities (3.23) fail to detect entanglement in the state $|\psi(\theta)\rangle$. The constancy of the quantities $\mathfrak{F}_l(\theta)$, with $l = 1, \dots, 4$, is due to the choice of the initial state $|\psi(0)\rangle = \bigotimes_{i=1}^N |0^{(i)}\rangle$ and the fact we have chosen j = 1. Non trivial evolution of the quantities $\mathfrak{F}_l(\theta)$ will occur for different initial states and different integer spin values $j = 2, 3, \cdots$.

However, if we choose different observables than the collective spin components, our generalized inequalities (3.8) can be violated inferring entanglement of the state $|\psi(\theta)\rangle$ for some θ . In particular, we will define dichotomic observables in the subspace $|-1^{(i)}\rangle, |1^{(i)}\rangle$, by setting $|m_0^{(i)}\rangle = |-1^{(i)}\rangle$ and $|m_1^{(i)}\rangle = |1^{(i)}\rangle$ in Eqs.(3.30, 3.24, 3.27), so that the N spin-1 particles can be seen as $\langle \hat{N} \rangle$ spin-1/2 particles.

Now, let us call $\mathfrak{G}_i(\theta)$: i = 1, 2, 3, 4 to be the left hand side of inequalities (3.38a-3.38d), respectively, calculated for the state $|\psi(\theta)\rangle$ (3.48). In Fig. 3.2, we plot $\mathfrak{G}_i(\theta)$ for N = 5, and we can see that $\mathfrak{G}_3(\theta)$ violates the inequality (3.38c), Fig. 3.2(c). Consequently, we show that the state $|\psi(\theta)\rangle$ is entangled, at least, when inequality (3.38c) is violated.

3.8 Entanglement detection in cold atom gaz

This work is the result of an ongoing collaboration with an experimental group "Quantum Dipolar Gazes" at "LPL" lab in Villetaneuse, France. The aim of this work is to find an experimental witness of entanglement which can be implemented in one of their systems. I will start by briefly describing their experimental setup and the different constraints. next, I will describe the model used for the numerical simulations and the different criteria applied using the simulation to certify presence of entanglement or to test the detection efficiency if it were to be tested experimentally.

3.8.1 Experimental setup

The experiment is described in [263], a chromium 52 Cr Bose Einstein condensate (BEC), of about 10⁴ atoms, is created in a crossed-beam optical dipole trap as described in [264].



Eur. Phys. J. D 2, 195-198 (1998)

Figure 3.3: Schematic diagram of the experimental setup for Stern-Gerlach analysis, taken from Ref. [266].

Each atom possesses a spin s = 3 and is in the ground Zeeman state $m_s = -3$ when created in the BEC. The BEC is then loaded adiabatically into a 3D optical lattice with periodicity $\frac{\lambda}{2} \times (1, 1/\sin(\pi/8), 1/\cos(\pi/8))$ along x, y, z directions respectively, where $\lambda = 532$ nm is the wavelength of the single mode laser used to generate the lattice [265]. The lattice energy band gaps are much larger than any other energy scales in the system (interactions, temperature, Zeeman shifts), and hence the atoms remain confined in the lowest energy band of the lattice. To achieve a regime of single atom per site, atoms sharing the same site are removed by dipolar relaxation at high magnetic field in the following way: atoms are first transferred to the highest energy Zeeman state $m_s = 3$, which induces losses selectively for doubly occupied sites as the released energy is larger than the lattice depth [263]. At the end, the magnetic field is lowered and the remaining atoms are transferred back to the lowest energy Zeeman level $m_s = -3$. After this preparation the system consists of a shell of about 4000 singly occupied sites close to unit filling. This allows to study dynamics related to Dipole Dipole Interactions DDI only and to ignore possible on site interactions. Moreover, the atoms have spin s = 3which leads to rich physics expected for high spin lattice.

In order to initiate the dynamics due to DDI, the atoms in the $m_s = -3$ ground state are transferred to the excited Zeeman state $m_s = -2$ through an adiabatic Raman transfer. This transfer is performed by ramping up a quadratic light shift which leads to a level crossing between states $m_s = -3$ and $m_s = -2$, above which $m_s = -2$ becomes the Zeeman ground state. A weak two photon coupling between $m_s = -3$ and $m_s = -2$ ensures the transfer with efficiency of 80%.

Once the atoms are prepared in the $m_s = -2$ state, they will begin to interact through inter-site DDI. To follow the dynamics induced by this interaction, a snap shot of the different Zeeman $m_s = -3, \dots, 3$ populations is obtained after a given time via a Stern-Gerlach measurement [266]. To perform this populations measurement, the atoms are released from the lattice and fall freely under gravity. During their free fall, they will pass through a region where a vertical magnetic gradient is applied and where atoms in different Zeeman state will experience different forces. Hence, the atoms will separate vertically according to their Zeeman state into distinct clouds. Finally, an horizontal laser beam measures the Zeeman levels populations via absorption imaging (see Fig. 3.3).

Hence, population measurements at different times of the evolution can be measured but no individual addressing of a single atom is possible for this experiment. Population analysis are the only collective measurements that we should rely on to calculate mean values and second moments of different collective observables.

3.8.2 Hamiltonian and model for numerical simulation

The dynamics we are interested in is due to Dipole Dipole interaction. DDI between two spins $\vec{J}^{(1)}$ and $\vec{J}^{(2)}$ separated by distance \vec{r} is given by (see Fig 3.4)

$$\vec{V}_{dd}\left(\vec{r}\right) = d^2 \frac{\hat{J}^{(1)}.\hat{J}^{(2)} - 3\left(\hat{J}^{(1)}.\vec{u}_r\right)\left(\hat{J}^{(2)}.\vec{u}_r\right)}{r^3}$$
(3.49)

where $d^2 = \frac{\mu_0 (gj\mu_B)^2}{4\pi}$, $\vec{u}_r = \frac{\vec{r}}{r}$ the unit vector along the inter-spin axis, μ_0 is the magnetic permeability of the vacuum, μ_B the Bohr magneton and g the Lande factor. The above equation contain terms that conserve the total magnetization along the direction of the magnetic field, namely the terms $J_z^{(1)}J_z^{(2)}$, $J_+^{(1)}J_-^{(2)}$ and $J_-^{(1)}J_+^{(2)}$. Whereas the remaining terms do not and it was shown in Ref. [265] that these terms have a resonant character in a 3D lattice, and therefore are strongly suppressed at a low enough magnetic field \vec{B} considered in the experiment of interest [263]. Hence, we can ignore the



Figure 3.4: Two spins $\vec{J}^{(1)}$ and $\vec{J}^{(2)}$ interact due to DDI.

terms that do not conserve the total spin projection along the direction of the magnetic field. So the Hamiltonian is reduced to:

$$\vec{V}_{dd}^{\text{eff}}\left(\vec{r}\right) = \frac{d^2}{r^3} \left(1 - 3\frac{z^2}{r^2}\right) \left(\hat{J}_z^{(1)}\hat{J}_z^{(2)} - \frac{1}{4}\left(\hat{J}_+^{(1)}\hat{J}_-^{(2)} + \hat{J}_-^{(1)}\hat{J}_+^{(2)}\right)\right)$$
(3.50)

which is a Heisenberg like Hamiltonian with z being the direction of the magnetic field.

Since the dependence of the DDI is $\frac{1}{r^3}$, and due to anisotropy of the lattice where the spacing between sites along y direction is almost 3 times that of the x and z direction, one could simplify the study of the above Hamiltonian of a 3D lattice into the study of 2D lattice.

So we finally write the desired Hamiltonian of 2D spin lattice to simulate as:

$$H = \sum_{i \neq j=1}^{N} V_{ij} \left(J_z^{(i)} J_z^{(j)} - \frac{1}{4} J_+^{(i)} J_-^{(j)} - \frac{1}{4} J_-^{(i)} J_+^{(j)} \right)$$
(3.51)

where N is the total number of spins and V_{ij} represent the interaction between spins on sites i and j and has a dependence on $\frac{1}{r^3}$ for the DDI. For our simulation we choose a uniform lattice with inter-site distance $\lambda/2$, where $\lambda = 532$ nm is the wavelength of the single mode laser used to generate the lattice in [265], and we take V_{ij} to be

$$V_{ij} = \frac{d^2}{r_{ij}^3},$$

where d is defined in (3.49) and r_{ij} is the distance between the sites i and j of the lattice.

The form of the Hamiltonian (3.51) is not restrictive to a 2D lattice. However, due to the complexity and the exponential growth of the Hilbert space when increasing the number of spins N, we restrict the simulation to a 2D 3×3 lattice, where the state of the lattice is initialized in:

$$|\psi(0)\rangle = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{N} |-2\rangle$$

and then the exact dynamic is calculated, i.e.

$$|\psi(t)\rangle = e^{-itH}|\psi(0)\rangle \tag{3.52}$$

A direct calculation shows that [H, Jz] = 0 and that indeed the above Hamiltonian conserves the total magnetization along the z direction, where $J_z = \sum_i^N J_z^{(i)}$ is the total spin along the z direction.

Although 3×3 might seem insufficient, we see a general trend for the different quantities plotted as a function of time, as we will see later. when increasing the number from 2×2 to 2×3 , fluctuations around a mean curve become smoother and almost disappear. When increasing the number from 2×3 to 3×3 , fluctuations become even smaller. Which justifies that a 3×3 simulation captures the interesting features of that of the experiment.

The simulations are performed with a Python code I have written inspired by a code written in Mathematica by Paolo PEDRI a theoretician at "LPL" lab. The code is written with the help of the QuTiP (Quantum Toolbox in Python) library. I have optimized the generation of the basis states which is one of the more numerical demanding step.

3.8.3 Evidence for entanglement, Entropy of entanglement

Since the sate we are considering is a pure state, many entanglement criteria are easy to calculate numerically like entropy of entanglement. To apply this criterion, we need to partition the lattice into two parties A and B. For a separable state ρ_{AB} , one should have:

$$S_v\left(\rho_{AB}\right) \ge S_v\left(\rho_A\right) \tag{3.53}$$

where $S_v(\rho) = -\text{Tr} \left[\rho \ln \left(\rho\right)\right]$ is the Von-Neumann entropy and $\rho_A = \text{Tr}_B \left[\rho_{AB}\right]$ is the state of the subsystem A given as the partial trace of ρ_{AB} over B. For a pure state ρ_{AB} , the above separability criterion simplifies to :

$$S_v\left(\rho_A\right) = 0 \tag{3.54}$$



Figure 3.5: Entropy of subsystem A versus time for a 2×3 lattice where the subsystem A represents different lattice where the subsystem A represents different bipartitions. Case (a) Entropy for one site. (b) Entropy for sites two sites of the lattice, and (c) Entropy for 3 sites.



Figure 3.6: Entropy of subsystem A versus time for a 3×3 lattice where the subsystem A represents different bipartitions. Case (a) Entropy for one site. (b) Entropy for sites two sites of the lattice, and (c) Entropy for 3 sites.

which implies entanglement whenever $S_v(\rho_A) > 0$.

In figure 3.5 and figure 3.6, the entropy of subsystem A is plotted as a function of time for a 2 × 3 and 3 × 3 respectively. We see that $S_v(\rho_A) > 0$ regardless of the size of the bipartition and hence the state $|\psi(t)\rangle = e^{-itH}|\psi(0)\rangle$ is entangled.

We also can see the similarities between the two cases 2×3 and 3×3 , where entropy $S_v(\rho_A)$ approaches the same values depending on the size of the partition A. In both cases the entropy seems to increase until it reaches some kind of thermalization even for a small system. A more thorough analysis that takes into account the constancy of the total magnetization is lacking for the moment however the trend is pretty clear.

Finally, In figure 3.7, I plot entropy of site 1 and the evolution of the population of each zeeman level $m_s = -3, -2, \cdots, 3$ to for different lattice sizes $2 \times 2, 2 \times 3$ and 3×3 . As we have outlined earlier, the entropy of entanglement shows that the state is entangled for any time t > 0. We also notice the similarity for different lattice sizes



Figure 3.7: Entropy of site 1 and population of the different Zeeman levels versus time for a lattice of size:(a) 2×2 (b) 2×3 (c) 3×3 .

where the fluctuations become smoother when increasing the lattice size.

These numerical shows that indeed, the state of the atome is entangled. However we recall that our goal is to bring a test that can be experimentally realized. Measuring the entropy of the a subsystem is challenging especially for the case of the present experiment [263]. That is why we study spin squeezing inequalities as a simple accessible alternative for entanglement detection.

3.8.4 Testing spin squeezing inequalities

Testing spin squeezing inequalities (3.1) for a spin-3 calculated for the entangled state $|\psi(t)\rangle$ showed no violation. Hence, these inequalities are blind to this entangled state. A similar result is obtained with Coordinate independent spin squeezing inequalities (3.23) which excludes the possibility to detect squeezing for different directions.

One might attempt to use a simpler criteria that does not involve all the first and second moments of total spin operators at once. for example, one can easily derive the following criterion (see appendix B.3):

$$\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_x + 4j^2 \left(\Delta J_z\right)^2 \ge 0 \tag{3.55}$$

which only involves two modified moments. The advantage of the above inequality is that it takes into account the fact that $|\psi(t)\rangle$ is an eigenstate of J_z ; i.e $(\Delta J_z)^2 = 0$. If we plot the left hand side of the above inequality as a function of time Fig. 3.8, we clearly see a violation of the above inequality for different lattice sizes and it scales roughly like 0.2N. However, it seems to be decreasing with increased lattice size.

However, this might seem contradictory that we are observing violation for our criterion,



Figure 3.8: The blue curve shows the evolution of the quantity $\frac{(\tilde{\Delta}J_x)^2 + 4j^2(\Delta J_z)^2}{N}$ as a function of time, while the red area shows where the inequality $\frac{(\tilde{\Delta}J_x)^2 + 4j^2(\Delta J_z)^2}{N} \ge 0$ is violated starting with an initial state $|-2, -2, \cdots, -2\rangle$ for a lattice of size :(a) 2×2 (b) 2×3 (c) 3×3 and (d) 3×4 .

which uses first and second moments, while spin squeezing inequlaities are satisfied 3.1. Although these inequalities do not guarantee optimality for finite number of spins N, they are optimal in the limit $N \to \infty$ [201, 228], in the sense that they cannot be outperformed by criteria based on first and second moments of spin operators. Thus, since no violation of inequalities (3.23) is observed, and we expect that to hold when N becomes larger than 3×4 , we should expect that the above criterion, which detects entanglement for small N, will not give significant violation for very large N. Besides, the above simulation does not take into account experimental errors because of which $(\Delta J_z)^2$ will not be strictly zero but rather would scale like aN for some small a. In that case the above criterion would only detect entanglement for $a < \frac{0.5}{4j^2} \approx 0.0015$.

3.8.5 Testing with generalized spin squeezing inequalities

The general form of the new spin squeezing inequalities, gives it versatility. However, one is faced with a huge choice and we do not have, for the moment, a procedure to hone in on the perfect choice. Here, I provide one choice, inspired by the Hamiltonian and the initial state, that succeeds to detect entanglement for short times only.

We use dichotomic operators defined in (3.24), where we choose

$$|m_0^{(i)}\rangle = |-2^{(i)}\rangle, \quad |m_1^{(i)}\rangle = \frac{|-3^{(i)}\rangle + |-1^{(i)}\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (3.56)

We can see why this is a relevant choice for short times if we look at the state

$$|\psi(t)\rangle = e^{-itH}|\psi(0)\rangle \approx (1 - itH) |\psi(0)\rangle.$$

We can see that applying H on the separable state $|\psi(0)\rangle = |-2\rangle^{\otimes N}$ will give us an entangled state of the form

$$\alpha|-2\rangle^{\otimes N} + \sum_{i\neq j} \beta_{i,j} \bigotimes_{k\neq i,j} |-2^{(k)}\rangle \otimes |-3^{(i)}\rangle \otimes |-1^{(j)}\rangle$$
(3.57)

such that the total magnetization is constant -2N.

In figure (3.9), we can see that indeed our generalized inequality (3.38c) is able to detect entanglement for short time in a window between 0 and 0.7 ms. Outside this window no violation is observed using this dichotomic operators we defined (3.56). To get a quantitative idea about the violation of inequality (3.38c), we rewrite in the equivalent form:

$$\frac{\delta - \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle / 2 + \lambda_{\min}\left(\mathfrak{X}\right)}{\operatorname{Tr}\left[C\right]} \ge 1 \tag{3.58}$$

and then we plot for different lattice sizes. A very important observation can be seen in figure 3.9, is that the maximum violation is increasing when lattice size is increased, while the window of time, during which a violation can be observed, decreases.

Hence, we have a very good candidate for entanglement detection for short times. A better understanding of the state evolution over time might prove crucial for defining other entanglement witnesses for later times. Also, a method for measuring the involved quantities based on what can be done in the experiment is important and will be discussed in the next chapter.



Figure 3.9: The blue curve shows the evolution of the quantity $\frac{\delta - \langle \hat{N} \rangle / 2 + \lambda_{\min}(\mathfrak{X})}{\operatorname{Tr}[C]} \text{ as a}$ function of time, while the red area shows where the inequality $\frac{\delta - \langle \hat{N} \rangle / 2 + \lambda_{\min}(\mathfrak{X})}{\operatorname{Tr}[C]} \ge 1$ is violated starting with an initial state $|-2, -2, \cdots, -2\rangle$ for a lattice of size :(a) 2×2 (b) 2×3 (c) 3×3 and (d) 3×4 .

3.9 Conclusion

We have generalized the spin squeezing inequalities in order to consider quantum fluctuations of the number of particles N. Our generalized inequalities can be obtained from the original ones by replacing N with its expectation value $\langle N \rangle$ and by adding a new term δ which is not more difficult to measure than the other terms forming the original inequalities. In the case where the measured observables are dichotomic, we have shown that we can define coordinates independent spin squeezing inequalities in the same way it had been defined previously for the original inequalities. The non conservation of the number of particles allows more flexibility in the set of observables to be used to test the inequalities. We have presented an example where such flexibility allows for the detection of an entangled state which was not detected by the original inequalities. We also warn that using the original inequalities, in a context where the number of particles N fluctuates, by replacing N by its expectation value $\langle N \rangle$ can result in a violation for separable states, hence giving false positive.

We have also studied an experimental case where entanglement is present but undetected with the usual spin squeezing inequalities. The generalized spin squeezing inequalities detect entanglement for the short time scale. However, the thermalization of the state present a challenge which is to choose the proper operators for which we have no systematic way to choose. Another question one should keep in mind, is the ability to measure the chosen collective operators and their second moments necessary for the generalized spin squeezing inequalities. We will tackle this question in the next chapter where we will show that from population measurements along several directions one is able to calculate the mean value and second moments of any collective observable. Finally, despite the versatility the new inequalities present, choosing the best collective observables to detect entanglement compatible with experimental requirements is still a goal to aim for.

4

Perspectives and conclusion

In this chapter I will discuss some of the open questions and perspectives of the work presented in chapter 2 regarding the formalism introduced to map any system into a qubit and in chapter 3 regarding multipartite-entanglement detection and spin squeezing inequalities. The study presented in chapter 2 for mapping any system into a qubit and using this technique for entanglement detection is far from complete and still lacking in both theory and applications. For the bipartite mapping, we only studied the simplest case where the the mapping is implemented via LOCC with no classical communication. Despite its usefulness, one should explore all possible implementations with LOCC to derive entanglement criteria to succefully achieve all the goals of chapter 2. Whereas in chapter 3, with the generalization we introduced came a huge choice of operators. Such liberty is not useful if it does not give rise to observables that can be measured with relative ease. It is also interesting to explore other multipartite criteria in the context of particle number fluctuation. Here, we dig a little bit into these questions and possible directions.

4.1 Going beyond local operations with no communications

An immediate follow up to the mapping scheme introduced in chapter 2, is to try and study the structure of the mapping when rounds of classical communications can be performed. LOCC operations are difficult to describe mathematically in general, but one may expect to have a simplified description for LOCC operations in our specific case where the output is a 2-qubit state. LOCC operations with no classical communications can be characterized using Kraus operators as follows

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \sum_{i,j} K_i \otimes L_j \rho K_i^{\dagger} \otimes L_j^{\dagger}$$
(4.1)

with $\sum_i K_i^{\dagger} K_i = \mathbb{1}^{(d_1)}$ and $\sum_i L_i^{\dagger} L_i = \mathbb{1}^{(d_2)}$. we have shown in chapter 2 Eq.2.56 that it simplifies, when mapping to 2-qubits, to the following form:

$$\mathcal{M}\left(\rho\right) = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i,j=0}^{3} \left\langle B_i^{(d_1)} \otimes B_j^{(d_2)} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_i^{(1)} \otimes \sigma_j^{(2)}$$

$$\tag{4.2}$$

where the observables $B_i^{(d_k)}$, i = 1, 2, 3 and k = 1, 2, are properly normalized to ensure complete positivity as mentioned in chapter 2 Eq. 2.57. Moreover, we have also shown Kraus operators in this case can be chosen of the following form (2.27), (A.12):

$$K_i = |0\rangle \langle e_i | \mathcal{K}_0 + |1\rangle \langle e_i | \mathcal{K}_1 \quad \text{for } 0 \le i \le 2d_1 - 1$$
(4.3)

where $\{|e_i\rangle : 0 \leq i \leq 2d_1 - 1\}$ is an orthonormal basis of $\mathcal{H}^{(d_1)} \oplus \mathcal{H}^{(d_1)}$ the codomain of \mathcal{K}_0 and \mathcal{K}_{∞} ,

$$\mathcal{K}_0 = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{A} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad , \quad \mathcal{K}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{A}^{-1}B \\ \sqrt{C - B^{\dagger}A^{-1}B} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.4)

and

$$A = \frac{\mathbb{1}^{(d_1)} + B_3^{(d_1)}}{2}, C = \frac{\mathbb{1}^{(d_1)} - B_3^{(d_1)}}{2}, B = \frac{B_1^{(d_1)} + iB_2^{(d_1)}}{2}$$
(4.5)

and the same can be done for the second party with the operators L_j .

Using this simple form, I will try to simplify the LOCC with one way classical communications for the case of mapping into two qubits.

4.1.1 Local operations with one way communication

Any CPTP map implemented with LOCC with one way communication can be written in the following form [40, 52]:

$$\mathcal{M}_{A \to B}\left(\rho\right) = \sum_{i,j} K_{i}^{\prime} \left[\mathbb{1}^{(A)} \otimes \Lambda^{(i)}\left(\rho\right)\right] K_{i}^{\prime\dagger}$$

$$(4.6)$$

where $\Lambda^{i}(\cdot) = \sum_{j} L_{j}^{i} \cdot L_{j}^{i^{\dagger}}$ and $K_{i}(L_{i})$ are Kraus operators implemented by Alice(Bob) such that $\sum_{i} K_{i}^{i^{\dagger}} K_{i}^{\prime} = \mathbb{1}^{(d_{1})}$ and $\sum_{j} L_{j}^{i^{\dagger}} L_{j}^{i} = \mathbb{1}^{(d_{2})}$. The subscript $A \to B$ means that the classical communication is made from Alice (the first party) to Bob (the second party). From the above form, we can see that Alice performs her local operation $K'_i \cdot K'^{\dagger}_i$ first and sends a classical message to Bob to instruct him to apply the channel $\Lambda^i(\cdot) = \sum_j L^i_j \cdot L^{i\dagger}_j$ on his share of the state.

The set of operators representing a CPTP map is not unique. However, as Bob must wait for all operations made by Alice, before performing his own map, we have the freedom to choose the Kraus operators representing his map in the form given by Eq. (4.3):

$$L_j^i = |0\rangle \langle f_j | \mathcal{L}_0^i + |1\rangle \langle f_j | \mathcal{L}_1^i \quad \text{for } 0 \le j \le 2d_2 - 1$$

$$(4.7)$$

On the contrary, we have not this freedom for Alice's Kraus operators. Alice needs to stick to her choice of Kraus operators K'_i in order to successfully achieve the overall mapping (4.6). In general, K'_i are not necessarily of the form (4.3), but rather some operations upon which depends the choice for the map implemented by Bob. However, if two sets of Kraus operators $\{K_i\}$ and $\{K'_i\}$ represent the same quantum channel, then there exists a unitary U, or an isometry when the number of Kraus operators of the two sets is not equal, such that [234]

$$K_i' = \sum_j U_{i,j} K_j \tag{4.8}$$

Let us call $D_1 = \max(2d_1, k_1)$ where d_1 is the dimension of the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^{(d_1)}$ and k_1 is the number of Kraus operators K'_i . Then, we can find Kraus operators of the form (4.3) that represent the same channel as K'_i :

$$K_i = |0\rangle \langle e_i | \mathcal{K}_0 + |1\rangle \langle e_i | \mathcal{K}_1 \quad \text{for } 0 \le i \le D_1 - 1$$

$$(4.9)$$

where the operators \mathcal{K}_0 and \mathcal{K}_1 in (4.3) are extended to $D_1 \times d_1$ operators by padding them with zeros. The mapping (4.6) becomes:

$$\mathcal{M}_{A \to B}\left(\rho\right) = \sum_{i,j,k,l} U_{i,k} U_{l,i}^{\dagger} K_k \otimes L_j^i \rho K_l^{\dagger} \otimes L_j^{i\dagger}$$

$$\tag{4.10}$$

with some simple manipulations, we can put the mapping into the following form:

$$\mathcal{M}_{A \to B}\left(\rho\right) = \sum_{m,m',n,n'=0,1} \mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,n'}\left(\rho\right) |m,n\rangle \langle m',n'|$$
(4.11)

where

$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,n'}(\rho) = \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger} \sum_{i} |g_i\rangle \langle g_i | \mathcal{K}_m \otimes B_{n,n'}^i \right\rangle_{\rho}$$
(4.12)

 $B_{n,n'}^i = \mathcal{L}_{n'}^i {}^{\dagger}\mathcal{L}_n^i$, and $\{|g_i\rangle\}$ is a set of vectors defined as:

$$|g_i\rangle = \sum_{k=1}^{D_1} U_{k,i}^{\dagger} |e_k\rangle \tag{4.13}$$

where U is the same unitary in (4.8). We show in App C.1 that for any basis $\{|g'_i\rangle\}_{i=1}^{D_1}$, we can write:

$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,n'}(\rho) = \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger} \sum_{i} |g_{i}'\rangle \langle g_{i}'| \mathcal{K}_{m} \otimes B_{n,n'}'^{i} \right\rangle_{\rho}$$
(4.14)

where $B_{n,n'}^{\prime i}$ is a new set of operators obtained from $B_{n,n'}^{i}$ by the relation:

$$B_{n,n'}^{\prime i} = \sum_{k} |V_{k,i}|^2 B_{n,n'}^k \tag{4.15}$$

and V is the unitary operators such that:

$$|g_i\rangle = \sum_k V_{k,i} |g'_k\rangle.$$
(4.16)

With this freedom in mind, we proceed by writing the singular value decomposition of the operators \mathcal{K}_m :

$$\mathcal{K}_m = \sum_{k=1}^{d_1} \lambda_k^m |\zeta_k^m\rangle \langle \eta_k | \tag{4.17}$$

where $|\zeta_k^m\rangle$ is an eigenvector of $\mathcal{K}_m \mathcal{K}_m^\dagger$ in the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^{(d_1)} \oplus \mathcal{H}^{(d_1)}$, $\{|\eta_k\rangle\}_k$ are the mutual eigenvectors of $\mathcal{K}_0^\dagger \mathcal{K}_0 = \frac{\mathbb{1}^{(d_1)} + A_3^{(d_1)}}{2}$ and $\mathcal{K}_1^\dagger \mathcal{K}_1 = \frac{\mathbb{1}^{(d_1)} - A_3^{(d_1)}}{2}$, see (4.3). Now, if we call W^{01} the unitary matrix that verifies

$$|\zeta_i^1\rangle = \sum_k W_{k,i}^{01} |\zeta_k^0\rangle, \qquad (4.18)$$

and write its spectral decomposition as:

$$W^{01} = \mathcal{W}^{\dagger} e^{iD} \mathcal{W}, \tag{4.19}$$

where \mathcal{W} is a unitary matrix and D is a real diagonal one, we can choose the basis $\{|g'_i\rangle\}_{i=1}^{D_1}$ such that:

$$|g_i'\rangle = \sum_k e^{iD_{k,k}} \mathcal{W}_{k,i} |\zeta_k^0\rangle.$$
(4.20)

Hence, we have

$$|g_i'\rangle = \sum_k \mathcal{W}_{k,i} |\zeta_k^1\rangle.$$
(4.21)

From (4.20), (4.21) and (4.14) and the fact that $|\mathcal{W}_{k,i}| = \left|e^{iD_{k,k}}\mathcal{W}_{k,i}\right|$, we find that:

$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,n'}(\rho) = \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger} \sum_{i} |\zeta_{i}^{m}\rangle \langle \zeta_{i}^{m} | \mathcal{K}_{m} \otimes B_{n,n'}^{\prime\prime i} \right\rangle_{\rho}, \qquad (4.22)$$

where, from (4.15),

$$B_{n,n'}^{\prime\prime i} = \sum_{k} |\mathcal{W}_{k,i}|^2 B_{n,n'}^{\prime k}$$
(4.23)

Finally, we use the fact

$$\mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger}|\zeta_i^m\rangle\langle\zeta_i^m|\mathcal{K}_m = \mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger}\mathcal{K}_m|\eta_i\rangle\langle\eta_i|$$
(4.24)

to derive the desired simple form of the LOCC mapping with one way communication:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i,j=0}^{3} \left\langle \sum_{k} B_i^{(d_1)} |\eta_k\rangle \langle \eta_k | \otimes B_j^{(d_2,k)} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sigma_i^{(1)} \otimes \sigma_j^{(2)}$$
(4.25)

where the observables $B_i^{(d_1)}$, $B_i^{(d_2,k)}$ for each $k = 1, \dots, d_1$ where i = 1, 2, 3, are properly normalized to ensure complete positivity as mentioned in chapter 2. $|\eta_k\rangle$ are the eigenvectors of the operator $B_3^{(d_1)}$. We have thus far shown that any mapping to two qubits of the form (4.6) can be written in the above form (4.25). The converse is also true, hence we have characterized all possible LOCC with one way communication that maps to 2 qubits.

It is interesting to see that if we choose the same operators $B_i^{(d_2,k)} = B_i^{(d_2)}$, for every k, one recovers the mapping 4.2. This is a manifestation of the fact that the set of LOCC with no classical communication is contained in the set of LOCC with one way communication.

Going beyond one round of communication is difficult. However, as we have seen when one considers mapping to two qubits, it is a possibility that they would simplify. It would be very interesting to check if there is any collapse between the sets of LOCC with n-rounds of classical communication because of this simplification.

As far as entanglement detection is concerned, we can check how separable operations are implemented via our formalism. These operations have the advantage of containing all LOCC operations and being simple to describe. Moreover, they are strictly contained in PPT preserving operations. Hence, they conserve separability since two qubit PPT states are separable. This might prove useful to provide stronger entanglement criteria than our current formalism for LOCC with no classical communication and is left for future investigations.

4.2 Generalized spin squeezing inequalities: entanglement depth and Measurability

4.2.1 Measurability of first and second moments of an arbitrary operator

In chapter 3 we have introduced the generalized spin squeezing inequalities for arbitrary operators A_i ; $i = 1, \dots, M$ and generalized number operator \hat{N} . In order for the arbitrary choice of operators to be of any use and represent a real freedom of choice, from an application point of view, one should ask the question whether such a quantity is measurable or not. One should keep in mind that the most appealing feature of spin squeezing inequalities is that they are based on easy to measure collective quantities. Moreover, the starting point of my study for these inequalities was the experimental constraints that prevents from using witnesses based on measurements of individual observables or collective observables that are not accessible with their present arsenal of experimental techniques.

I will be attempting to answer this question assuming the limitations, on what observables can be measured, of the experimental setup of [263] where the experimental techniques are typical for experiments involving BECs and cold atoms. In such experiments, we have a set of N atoms, each of which has spin-j. Population of each Zeeman level

$$P_m = \sum_{i=1}^{N} |m^{(i)}\rangle \langle m^{(i)}|, \quad m = -j, \cdots, j$$
(4.26)

can be measured in the z direction of the external magnetic field. In principle, the population measurement can also be performed in any other direction $\vec{\Theta} = (\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$,

characterized by the three Euler angles, by rotating the state of the system from $|\psi\rangle$ to $e^{-iJ_z\alpha}e^{-iJ_y\beta}e^{-iJ_z\gamma}|\psi\rangle$. From such measurements only, we would like to deduce the mean value and the second moment of an arbitrary collective operator

$$X = \sum_{m_1, m_2 = -j}^{j} c_{m_1, m_2} C_{m_1, m_2}$$
(4.27)

where we have defined the collective operators

$$C_{m_r,m_s} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} |m_r^{(i)}\rangle \langle m_s^{(i)}| \quad m_r, m_s = -j, \cdots, j$$
(4.28)

where the superscript $i = 1, \dots, N$ labels the particles and $m_r(m_s)$ labels the Zeeman levels of a single particle.

Measuring expectation value of arbitrary observable

In what follows I will show that it is possible to measure correlations between different Zeeman levels; i.e. mean value of operators of the form (4.28) from measuring population in different directions; i.e. measuring operators of the form:

$$P_{m_s}(\vec{\Theta}) = \bigotimes_i U_i(\vec{\Theta})^{\dagger} \left(\sum_i |m_s^{(i)}\rangle \langle m_s^{(i)}| \right) \bigotimes_i U_i(\vec{\Theta})$$

$$= \sum_i \sum_{m_k, m_l} U_{m_k, m_s}^{\dagger}(\vec{\Theta}) U_{m_s, m_l}(\vec{\Theta}) |m_k^{(i)}\rangle \langle m_l^{(i)}|$$
(4.29)

Where $U_{m_s,m_l}^{\dagger}(\vec{\Theta})$ is the (m_s,m_l) element of the unitary matrix corresponding to the rotation parametrized by the Euler angles $\vec{\Theta} = (\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$; more explicitly we write:

$$U_{i}(\vec{\Theta}) = e^{-i\gamma J_{z}^{(i)}} e^{-i\beta J_{y}^{(i)}} e^{-i\alpha J_{z}^{(i)}}$$

which is the same for every particle (i). Taking the expectation value of the above expression, we get:

$$\langle P_{m_s}(\vec{\Theta}) \rangle = \sum_{m_k, m_l} U^{\dagger}_{m_k, m_s}(\vec{\Theta}) U_{m_s, m_l}(\vec{\Theta}) \langle C_{m_k, m_l} \rangle$$
(4.30)

Which can be rewritten in the equivalent form:

$$\langle P_{m_s}(\vec{\Theta})\rangle = \sum_{m_k \le m_l} 2Re\left(U_{m_k,m_s}^{\dagger}(\vec{\Theta})U_{m_s,m_l}(\vec{\Theta})\langle C_{m_k,m_l}\rangle\right)$$
(4.31)

Now we see that equation (4.31) is a system of 2j+1 equations with $(2j+1)^2$ variables $x_{m_k,m_l} = Re(\langle C_{m_k,m_l} \rangle)$ and $y_{m_k,m_l} = Im(\langle C_{m_k,m_l} \rangle)$ with $m_k \leq m_l$. Thus, we only need 2j+1 rotations $\vec{\Theta}_0, \cdots, \vec{\Theta}_{2j}$ to determine all correlations (4.28).

In the next step, we write the rotation matrix elements explicitly as a function of Euler angles:

$$U_{m_s,m_l}(\vec{\Theta}) = e^{-im_s\alpha} d_{m_s,m_l}(\beta) e^{-im_l\gamma}, \ U^{\dagger}_{m_k,m_s}(\vec{\Theta}) = e^{im_s\alpha} d_{m_s,m_k}(\beta) e^{im_k\gamma}$$
(4.32)

so we get :

$$U_{m_k,m_s}^{\dagger}(\vec{\Theta})U_{m_s,m_l}(\vec{\Theta}) = e^{i(m_k - m_l)\gamma} d_{m_s,m_l}(\beta) d_{m_s,m_k}(\beta)$$

$$(4.33)$$

And we can see that the first rotation around the Z axis with angle α is not relevant in the equation (4.31), so we can set $\alpha = 0$. Choosing the γ angles of the 2j + 1 rotations to be

$$\gamma_n = \frac{2\pi n}{2j+1}$$
 : $n = 0, 1, \cdots, 2j$ (4.34)

So the total rotation is $\vec{\theta}_n = (0, \beta, \gamma_n)$ and the idea is to optimize the inverse matrix as a function of β , the rotation angle around the *y*-axis.

This particular choice of angles (4.34), probably not the only choice, can simplify the system of equations (4.31). First, let us rewrite Eq (4.30) in the following form:

$$\langle P_{m_s}(\vec{\Theta_n}) \rangle = \sum_{m=-2j}^{2j} \sum_{m_k} e^{-i\gamma_n m} d_{m_s,m_k+m}(\beta) d_{m_s,m_k}(\beta) \langle C_{m_k,m_k+m} \rangle$$
(4.35)

Where the subscript n represents the rotation $\vec{\theta}_n$. Making use of the identity

$$\sum_{n=0}^{2j} e^{-i\gamma_n(k-l)} = (2j+1)\delta_{k,l}, \qquad (4.36)$$

we can separate the above system of equations to smaller sets as a function of $m = -2j, \dots, 2j$. More explicitly, multiplying both sides of the above equation by $e^{i\gamma_n m}$ and summing over n we get:

$$\frac{1}{2j+1}\sum_{n=0}^{2j}e^{i\gamma_n m}\langle P_{m_s}(\vec{\Theta_n})\rangle = \sum_{m_k}d_{m_s,m_k+m}(\beta)d_{m_s,m_k}(\beta)\langle C_{m_k,m_k+m}\rangle$$
(4.37)

Now, for fixed m, we see that it is a system of 2j + 1 equations (corresponding to different values of m_s with 2j + 1 - |m| variables $\langle C_{m_k,m_k+m} \rangle$. We want to choose an angle β such that the matrices

$$V(m)_{m_s,m_k} = d_{m_s,m_k}(\beta) d_{m_s,m_k+m}(\beta)$$
(4.38)

which are of dimension $(2j + 1) \times (2j + 1 - |m|)$ have left inverse and such that the experimental errors are not amplified (at least not to infinity). The above matrix has a left inverse; i.e. $V(m)^{-1}V(m) = I$ and of dimension $(2j + 1 - |m|) \times (2j + 1)$, of the following form:

$$V(m)_{m_k,m_s}^{-1} = (-1)^{m_k-m_s} \sum_J \frac{\langle j - m_s \, j \, m_s | J \, 0 \rangle \langle j - m_k \, j \, m_k + m | J \, m \rangle}{d_{0,m}^{(J)}(\beta)}, \qquad (4.39)$$

where one can easily verify that, see App C.2,

$$P = V(m)^{-1}V(m) = I.$$
(4.40)

The relevant quantity to minimise is

$$\left\| V(m)^{-1} \right\|_{\infty} = Max_i \sum_{j} \left| V(m)_{i,j}^{-1} \right|.$$
(4.41)

That is because the error in measuring a quantity of the form $x_m = \sum_n A_{m,n} b_n$ is proportional to

$$\Delta x_m = \sum_n |A_{m,n}| \, \Delta b_n \le ||A||_\infty \, \Delta b; \tag{4.42}$$

where Δb represents the error in population measurement.

Next, set out to minimize $\|V(m)^{-1}\|_\infty$ as a function of β and we choose a value such that

$$\mathcal{D}(\beta) = \sum_{m=1}^{2j} \left\| V(m)^{-1} \right\|_{\infty}$$
(4.43)

is at its minimum. From Eq. (4.39), it is clear that such a value exists and verifies the following condition:

$$d_{0,m}^{(J)}(\beta) \neq 0 \quad , \forall J \in \{0, \cdots, 2j\} \forall m \in \{-2j, \cdots, 2j\}$$
 (4.44)

This concludes the proof for the possibility to extract correlations by measuring populations in 2j + 1 directions! Please note that $\langle C_{m_k,m_k+m} \rangle = \langle C_{m_k+m,m_k} \rangle^*$, so we can get all correlations corresponding to -m once correlations corresponding to m are calculated. That is why we do not need to include $\|V(-m)^{-1}\|_{\infty}$ with m > 0 in our study.

We can calculate an upper bound of $\mathcal{D}(\beta)$ (4.43):

$$\mathcal{D}(\beta) = \sum_{m=1}^{2j} \left\| V(m)^{-1} \right\|_{\infty} \le \sqrt{2j+1} \sum_{m=1}^{2j} \left\| V(m)^{-1} \right\|_{F} = \mathcal{G}(\beta)$$

where $||A||_F = \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}(A^{\dagger}A)}$ is the Frobenius norm. From Eq. (4.39) and the identity:

$$\sum_{m} \langle j_1 m j_2 M - m | J_1 M \rangle \langle j_1 m j_2 M - m | J_2 M \rangle = \delta_{J_1, J_2}$$

we can calculate the upper bound $\mathcal{G}(\beta)$ to be:

$$\mathcal{G}(\beta) = \sqrt{2j+1} \sum_{m=1}^{2j} \sqrt{\sum_{J=|m|}^{2j} \frac{1}{\left(d_{0,m}^{(J)}(\beta)\right)^2}}$$
(4.45)

Finally we plot $\mathcal{D}(\beta)$ for spin j = 3 and we see that it reaches a minimum at $\beta \approx 1.4$ rad, see figure 4.1.

Measuring second moments of arbitrary observable

In this case we are looking to measure correlations of the form:

$$C_{m_p,m_q}C_{m_r,m_s} = \sum_i \delta_{m_q,m_r} |m_p^{(i)}\rangle \langle m_s^{(i)}| + \sum_{i \neq j} |m_p^{(i)}\rangle \langle m_q^{(i)}| \otimes |m_r^{(j)}\rangle \langle m_s^{(j)}|$$
(4.46)

from measuring second-order correlations of population in different directions; i.e. measuring operators of the form $P_{m_r}(\vec{\Theta})P_{m_s}(\vec{\Theta})$. Note that the correlations should be measured in the same direction $\vec{\Theta}$ and there are no correlations among different directions. This is because it is impossible to measure two directions simultaneously.

In a similar way to Eq. (4.30), we can write:

$$\langle P_{m_r}(\vec{\Theta}) P_{m_s}(\vec{\Theta}) \rangle = \sum_{m_k, m_l, m_p, m_q} U^{\dagger}_{m_k, m_r}(\vec{\Theta}) U_{m_r, m_l}(\vec{\Theta}) U^{\dagger}_{m_p, m_s}(\vec{\Theta}) U_{m_s, m_q}(\vec{\Theta}) \langle C_{m_k, m_l} C_{m_p, m_q} \rangle$$

$$(4.47)$$

Which can be rewritten in the equivalent form:



Figure 4.1: $\mathcal{D}(\beta)$ (4.43) in blue and its upper bound $\mathcal{G}(\beta)$ (4.45) in red as a function of β .

$$\langle P_{m_r}(\vec{\Theta}) P_{m_s}(\vec{\Theta}) \rangle = \sum_{m_k \le m_q, m_l, m_p} 2Re \left(U^{\dagger}_{m_k, m_r}(\vec{\Theta}) U_{m_r, m_l}(\vec{\Theta}) U_{m_r, m_l}(\vec{\Theta})$$

Now we see that equation (4.48) is a system of $(2j+1)^2$ equations with $(2j+1)^4$ variables $x_{m_k,m_l,m_p,m_q} = Re\left(\langle C_{m_k,m_l}C_{m_p,m_q}\rangle\right)$ and $y_{m_k,m_l,m_p,m_q} = Im\left(\langle C_{m_k,m_l}C_{m_p,m_q}\rangle\right)$ with $m_k \leq m_q$.

Hence, we need $(2j + 1)^2$ rotations $\vec{\Theta}_0, \dots, \vec{\Theta}_{(2j+1)^2-1}$, at least, to determine all correlations (4.46). Following the same steps as before, we choose the angle $\alpha = 0$. However, we choose γ angles of the $(2j + 1)^2$ rotations to be:

$$\gamma_n = \frac{2\pi n}{(2j+1)^2}$$
 : $n = 0, 1, \cdots, (2j+1)^2 - 1$ (4.49)

So the total rotation is $\vec{\theta}_n = (0, \beta, \gamma_n)$ and the idea is to optimize the inverse matrix as a function of β .

We proceed by writing:

$$\langle P_{m_r}(\vec{\Theta}_n) P_{m_s}(\vec{\Theta}_n) \rangle = \sum_{m_1, m_2 = -2j}^{2j} \sum_{m_k, m_l} e^{-i\gamma_n(m_1 + m_2)} d_{m_r, m_k + m_1}(\beta) d_{m_r, m_k}(\beta) d_{m_s, m_l + m_2}(\beta) d_{m_s, m_l}(\beta) \langle C_{m_k, m_k + m_1} C_{m_l, m_l + m_2} \rangle$$
(4.50)

Where the subscript *n* represents the rotation $\vec{\theta}_n$. Next, we separate the above system of equations to smaller sets as a function of $m = m_1 + m_2 = -4j, \cdots, 4j$:

$$\frac{1}{(2j+1)^2} \sum_{n=0}^{(2j+1)^2 - 1} e^{i\gamma_n m} \langle P_{m_r}(\vec{\Theta}_n) P_{m_s}(\vec{\Theta}_n) \rangle = \sum_{m_1} \sum_{m_k, m_l} d_{m_r, m_k + m_1}(\beta) d_{m_r, m_k}(\beta) d_{m_s, m_l + m - m_1}(\beta) \qquad (4.51)$$
$$d_{m_s, m_l}(\beta) \langle C_{m_k, m_k + m_1} C_{m_l, m_l + m - m_1} \rangle$$

Now, for fixed m, we see it is a system of $(2j+1)^2$ equations (corresponding to different values of m_r, m_s) with

$$\sum_{m_1=\min(-2j,-2j+m)}^{\max(2j,2j+m)} (2j+1-|m_1|) (2j+1-|m-m_1|)$$

variables $\langle C_{m_k,m_k+m_1}C_{m_l,m_l+m_2} \rangle$. A comparison with Eq. (4.38), we see that: the matrix we want to find its left inverse is of the form:

$$\mathcal{V}(m) = \bigoplus_{m_1 = \min(-2j, -2j+m)}^{\max(2j, 2j+m)} V(m_1) \otimes V(m-m_1)$$
(4.52)

Since each of the matrices $V(m_1)$ has left inverse $V^{-1}(m_1)$ according to last section (4.39), we can easily find the left inverse of $\mathcal{V}(m)$ to be:

$$\mathcal{V}^{-1}(m) = \bigoplus_{m_1 = \min(-2j, -2j + m)}^{\max(2j, 2j + m)} V^{-1}(m_1) \otimes V^{-1}(m - m_1)$$
(4.53)

which concludes the proof.

We have thus far shown the possibility to measure second-order correlations (4.46) by measuring second order moments of operators of the form (4.47) in $(2j + 1)^2$ directions. In fact, the above proof can be generalized to access *n*-order correlations from population *n*-order correlation measurements in $(2j + 1)^n$ directions. Which, in turn, will allow the measurement of moments up to the n^{th} moment of an arbitrary collective operator of the form:

$$X = \sum_{m_k, m_l} c_{m_k, m_l} C_{m_k, m_l}$$
(4.54)

where $c_{m_k,m_l} \in \mathbb{C}$ and C_{m_k,m_l} is defined in Eq. (4.28).

At this point, it is important to note that the provided scheme becomes more unrealistic the higher spin-j is. For spin j = 3, measuring the second moments would require $(2j+1)^2 = 49$ rotations and hence a resolution better than $\frac{2\pi}{2 \times 49} \approx 0.06$ rad $\approx 3^{\circ}$. However, the above presented strategy is not optimal but rather shows that it is indeed possible, at least in theory, to extract the correlations. Different choices for γ and β might prove more advantageous. Another interesting question to look into is whether it is possible to extract a subset of the correlations (4.46) with less measurements.

4.2.2 Criteria for entanglement depth detection

The criteria we generalized in chapter 3 were true for fully separable states. When they detect a state as entangled, they are blind to what kind of entanglement we are dealing with. The way we did this generalization was to take entanglement criteria for $N \operatorname{spin} \frac{1}{2}$ and replace the particle number N by the expectation of the particle number operator $\langle \hat{N} \rangle$, the expectation of the collective spin component along the k-axis, $\langle S_k \rangle$, by $\langle A_k \rangle$ and the modified second moments $\langle \tilde{S}_k^2 \rangle$ by $\langle \tilde{A}_k^2 \rangle$. In addition, we had to add an additional term δ in order to generalize the spin squeezing inequalities (3.6). However, when generalizing Sørensen-Mølmer's criterion for $N \operatorname{spin} \frac{1}{2}$ particles, we did not need the additional term δ and it was sufficient to do the above mentioned substitutions. Next, we generalize Sørensen-Mølmer's criterion for k-producible states.

Sørensen-Mølmer criterion

As it turns out, we are able to generalize Sørensen-Mølmer's criterion for k-producible states of N spin-j particles:

$$\left(\Delta J_x\right)^2 \ge N j F_{kj} \left(\frac{\langle J_z \rangle}{Nj}\right) \tag{4.55}$$

in the following way:

$$\beta^{2} \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle + \tilde{\Delta}^{2} A_{1} \ge 2\beta^{2} \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle F_{\frac{k}{2}} \left(\frac{\langle A_{2} \rangle}{\beta \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle} \right)$$

$$(4.56)$$

For the proof, see appendix C.3. Unlike the case k = 1, the normalization factor β is chosen to be $\sqrt{2\alpha}$ rather than α where $\alpha^2 = \sup_{\rho^{(i)}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^2 \left\langle A_k^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^2 \right]$. This is because of the way we mapped the original system into an *N*-qubits system, the main step of the proof presented in appendix.C.3. Our choice is in no way unique nor optimal and it is quite plausible to find a better mapping that sharpens the normalization factor β in (4.56).

Another interesting point to investigate is when one has single particle operators $A_k^{(i)}$ with more than two eigenvectors. In this case, one should consider mapping to higher spin than $\frac{1}{2}$ to obtain a sharper inequality. One can conjecture that in this case one should obtain the function F_{kj} rather than $F_{\frac{k}{2}}$ in the right hand side of eq.(4.56). A rigorous way to do a mapping properly in the sense of chapter 2 to help prove it is a goal to aim for.

An interesting workaround though can be found in the case where the single particle operators have 2m eigenvectors. In that case, one can consider each particle as a collection of m two-level systems so one can directly replace $F_{\frac{k}{2}}$ by F_{km} in (4.56).

Finally, there exists other criteria that detect entanglement depth in terms of first and second moments of collective spin operators. For example, Duan [267] showed that for k-producible states of N qubits the following inequality

$$\frac{\langle J_x^2 + J_y^2 \rangle}{N\left(\frac{1}{4} + \left(\Delta J_z\right)^2\right)} \le k + 1 \tag{4.57}$$

is verified. In [221], a generalization of Sørensen-Mølmer criterion [220] was presented in the following way:

$$(\Delta J_x)^2 \ge N j F_{kj} \left(\sqrt{\frac{\langle J_y^2 + J_z^2 \rangle - N j (kj+1)}{N(N-k)j^2}} \right)$$
(4.58)

that holds for k-producible states of N spin-j particles. Along side with the above criterion Vitagliano et al. provided a stronger version of Duan's criterion (4.57) via a

series expansion of the function $F(\sqrt{.})$. They also generalized (4.58) to the case where N presents a statistical fluctuations. However, in that case, higher moments are required.

An immediate follow up to our work will be to generalize these criteria in the sense of chapter 3. A heavier question to tackle would be finding the best operators to detect a specific kind of entanglement or finding a single criterion that detects as many entangled states as possible.

4.3 Conclusion

We conclude this chapter and the thesis by giving a brief summary of what has been presented in the previous chapters. The main objective of this thesis revolved around entanglement detection in high dimensional systems. This high dimensionality comes in two ways: bipartite systems with dimension higher than 2×3 or multipartite systems with high number of particles.

Chapter 2 was devoted to the problem of entanglement detection in bi-partite systems with high dimension. The main idea is to reduce the dimension by mapping each party to a 2-level system such that separability is conserved. Doing so, reduces the problem into studying entanglement of a 2×2 system for which PPT criterion is a necessary and sufficient condition that is easy to compute. We presented a general way of mapping any *d*-level system into a qubit states such that the Bloch vector of the resulting qubit is expressed in terms of the expectation value of three arbitrary operators A_k . We introduced a very simple way to normalize these operators to ensure complete positivity of the mapping. Hence, the convenience of our formalism.

Once mapping of a single particle into a qubit is defined, we introduced a very intuitive way of mapping a bipartite system into two qubits by applying a mapping to each subsystem. This way, separability is conserved and the resulting two qubit states can be written in terms of expectation values of the form $\langle A_k^{(d_1)} B_l^{(d_2)} \rangle$. Thus, applying the PPT criterion to this two qubit state give us an entanglement criterion in terms of $\langle A_k^{(d_1)} B_l^{(d_2)} \rangle$ calculated in the original state. Changing the two sets of operators $A_k^{(d_1)}$ and $B_l^{(d_2)}$ gives us different criteria. We studied a very simple case where we chose the sets of operators to be the spin operators and we showed that, in the multi-partite case, spin squeezing inequalities for N spin-j particles can be deduced from spin squeezing inequalities for N spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particles using this mapping for each particle.

The simplicity of the way we map into two-qubit system follows from the simplicity of

LOCC operations with no classical communication. However, the formalism developed in chapter 2 allowed us to get a very simple description of LOCC with one-way classicla communication as a function of expectation values of simple bipartite observables rather than Kraus operators. This simplification was possible because we are considering the case of mapping into two-qubits rather than the general case. We expect this relative simplicity to carry over to describe LOCC with multiple round of communication to map into two qubits. However, the Kraus representation of such operations is more complex and a lot more involved. Obtaining a simple description of mapping any bipartite state into two qubit state via LOCC operations is quite important and can prove very important to the study of distillability. A major handicap in the study of distillability of NPT states is the absence of a simple mathematical description of LOCC operations with multiple-rounds of classical communication. Our formalism might give a fresh perspective to these studies.

Our use of the mapping in the multipartite case, where one uses operators defined on a subspace of the Hilbert space of a single particle, has led us to consider a unique situation where one has quantum fluctuations of particle number. Unlike the common experimental case where one has classical fluctuations of particle number among different realizations of a given experiment, using our mapping can give rise to coherent superposition among states with different particle number.

Dealing with this problem was the main objective of chapter 3, where we have generalized spin squeezing inequalities for arbitrary operators with a fluctuating particle number. While, spin squeezing inequalities have been generalized for the case of classical fluctuations of particles, these generalized inequalities involve higher moments and are no longer in terms of spin operators only. Our generalization is both simple and is in terms of the first and second moments of collective operators.

We have applied these inequalities to the experimental case of a Chromium lattice which can be seen as a system of spin-3 particles. We have shown, with a simulation, that our inequalities succeed to infer entanglement at short times. We have also shown that, in principle, it is possible to measure the involved collective operators to show this entanglement. Our method can be used for similar systems since it does not require complex manipulation of the system, but rather uses simple collective measurements and rotations.

Finally, we have shown that our arsenal of techniques used in this work are capable of generalizing some criteria of entanglement depth detection. Such criteria are extremely useful to systems with large number of particles and with proper choice of operators, one In our work, we have provided tools and criteria that give a lot of freedom. This freedom does not provide a satisfying answer on how to choose properly when faced with some kind of entanglement. We also still have no optimal set of criteria, for which is guaranteed to witness as much as possible of entangled states, yet. Dealing with these kind of questions, whilst very hard, is quite important and interesting at the same time to characterize large systems' entanglement.

Appendix A

Appendices of Chapter 2

A.1 Kraus representation of mapping (2.3)

Let us define $\{|e_i\rangle : 1 \le i \le D\}$ to be an orthonormal basis of $\mathcal{H}^{(D)}$. In order to find the Kraus representation of the mapping (2.7), we will make use of the conditions (2.15) and write the operators B_i s as a function of the operators K_0 and K_1 :

$$B_{z} = K_{0}^{\dagger} K_{0} - K_{1}^{\dagger} K_{1}, \ \mathbb{1} = K_{0}^{\dagger} K_{0} + K_{1}^{\dagger} K_{1}, \ B_{+} = 2K_{0}^{\dagger} K_{1}$$
(A.1)

Where we have defined:

$$B_{+} = B_{x} + iB_{y}$$
, $B_{+} = B_{x} - iB_{y}$ (A.2)

Now let us rewrite the mapping of the state ρ in the following equivalent form:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{\langle \mathbb{1} + B_z \rangle_{\rho}}{2} |0\rangle \langle 0| + \frac{\langle \mathbb{1} - B_z \rangle_{\rho}}{2} |1\rangle \langle 1| + \frac{\langle B_+ \rangle_{\rho}}{2} |1\rangle \langle 0| + \frac{\langle B_- \rangle_{\rho}}{2} |0\rangle \langle 1| \qquad (A.3)$$

Now making use of the equations (A.1), we can write:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}\left[K_{0}\rho K_{0}^{\dagger}\right]|0\rangle\langle0| + \operatorname{Tr}\left[K_{1}\rho K_{1}^{\dagger}\right]|1\rangle\langle1| \\ + \operatorname{Tr}\left[K_{1}\rho K_{0}^{\dagger}\right]|1\rangle\langle0| + \operatorname{Tr}\left[K_{0}\rho K_{1}^{\dagger}\right]|0\rangle\langle1|$$
(A.4)

The above form, suggests the definition of the following Kraus operators:

$$K_i = |0\rangle \langle e_i | K_0 + |1\rangle \langle e_i | K_1 \quad : 1 \le i \le D$$
(A.5)

Now it is simple verification that $\sum_{i=1}^{D} K_i^{\dagger} K_i = \mathbb{1}^{(d)}$ and that:

$$\mathcal{M}\left(\rho\right) = \sum_{i=1}^{D} K_{i} \rho K_{i}^{\dagger} \tag{A.6}$$

which is the Kraus representation of the CP mapping (2.7).

A.2 Proof of theorem I 1

Let start proving that if the mapping $\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} + \langle \vec{B} \rangle_{\rho} \cdot \frac{\vec{\sigma}}{2}$ is CP, then the condition 2.29 is verified. Since \mathcal{M} is completely positive, we can write its Kraus representation [235, 230, 236]:

$$\mathcal{M}\left(\rho\right) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{K}_{i} \rho \mathcal{K}_{i}^{\dagger} \tag{A.7}$$

Where \mathcal{I} is a countable set and \mathcal{K}_i are linear operators from \mathcal{H} the Hilbert space of the system in question to $\mathcal{H}^{(2)}$. Let us write the matrix elements of $\mathcal{M}(\rho)$ explicitly:

$$\langle 0|\mathcal{M}(\rho)|0\rangle = \sum_{i} \langle 0|\mathcal{K}_{i}\rho\mathcal{K}_{i}^{\dagger}|0\rangle = \sum_{i} \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{i}^{\dagger}|0\rangle \langle 0|\mathcal{K}_{i}\right\rangle_{\rho} \langle 1|\mathcal{M}(\rho)|1\rangle = \sum_{i} \langle 1|\mathcal{K}_{i}\rho\mathcal{K}_{i}^{\dagger}|1\rangle = \sum_{i} \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{i}^{\dagger}|1\rangle \langle 1|\mathcal{K}_{i}\right\rangle_{\rho} \langle 0|\mathcal{M}(\rho)|1\rangle = \sum_{i} \langle 0|\mathcal{K}_{i}\rho\mathcal{K}_{i}^{\dagger}|1\rangle = \sum_{i} \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{i}^{\dagger}|1\rangle \langle 0|\mathcal{K}_{i}\right\rangle_{\rho} \langle 1|\mathcal{M}(\rho)|0\rangle = \sum_{i} \langle 1|\mathcal{K}_{i}\rho\mathcal{K}_{i}^{\dagger}|0\rangle = \sum_{i} \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{i}^{\dagger}|0\rangle \langle 1|\mathcal{K}_{i}\right\rangle_{\rho}$$
 (A.8)

comparing the above terms with the form of the mapping:

$$\mathcal{M}\left(\rho\right) = \frac{\mathbb{1}}{2} + \left\langle \vec{B} \right\rangle_{\rho} \cdot \frac{\vec{\sigma}}{2}$$

we can identify that:

$$\frac{\mathbb{1} + B_z}{2} = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{K}_i^{\dagger} |0\rangle \langle 0|\mathcal{K}_i \quad , \quad \frac{\mathbb{1} - B_z}{2} = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{K}_i^{\dagger} |1\rangle \langle 1|\mathcal{K}_i \\ \frac{B_x + iB_y}{2} = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{K}_i^{\dagger} |0\rangle \langle 1|\mathcal{K}_i \quad , \quad \frac{B_x - iB_y}{2} = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{K}_i^{\dagger} |1\rangle \langle 0|\mathcal{K}_i$$

Now proving that the matrix

$$\mathcal{D} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1} + B_z & B_+ \\ B_- & \mathbb{1} - B_z \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.9)

is positive semi-definite is straightforward. For any $|\psi\rangle = |\psi_0\rangle \oplus |\psi_1\rangle \in \mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{H}$, we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \psi | \mathcal{D} | \psi \rangle &= \langle \psi_0 | \mathbb{1} + B_z | \psi_0 \rangle + \langle \psi_1 | \mathbb{1} - B_z | \psi_1 \rangle + \langle \psi_0 | B_+ | \psi_1 \rangle + \langle \psi_1 | B_- | \psi_0 \rangle \\ &= \sum_i \left| \langle \psi_0 | \mathcal{K}_i^{\dagger} | 0 \rangle \right|^2 + \left| \langle \psi_1 | \mathcal{K}_i^{\dagger} | 1 \rangle \right|^2 + 2 \Re \left[\langle \psi_0 | \mathcal{K}_i^{\dagger} | 0 \rangle \langle 1 | \mathcal{K}_i | \psi_1 \rangle \right] \\ &= \sum_i \left| \langle \psi_0 | \mathcal{K}_i^{\dagger} | 0 \rangle + \langle \psi_1 | \mathcal{K}_i^{\dagger} | 1 \rangle \right|^2 \ge 0 \end{aligned}$$

Hence, we have proved the positivity semi-definiteness of (A.9).

Now let us assume that \mathcal{D} is positive semi-definite and let us prove that the mapping $\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} + \left\langle \vec{B} \right\rangle_{\rho} \cdot \frac{\vec{\sigma}}{2}$ is CP. Using the generalized Schur complements [268, 269], one can write the decomposition of the matrix \mathcal{D} as [237, 238]:

$$\mathcal{D} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1} & 0 \\ B^{\dagger} A^{-1} & \mathbb{1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & C - B^{\dagger} A^{-1} B \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1} & A^{-1} B \\ 0 & \mathbb{1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.10)

Where

$$A = \frac{\mathbb{1} + B_z}{2}, \ C = \frac{\mathbb{1} - B_z}{2}, \ B = B_+$$

and A^{-1} is the pseudo-inverse of A [239–242]. Since $\mathcal{D} \succeq 0$, theorem 2 implies that $A \succeq 0$ and $Q = C - B^{\dagger}A^{-1}B \succeq 0$ [237, 238]. Hence, we can \sqrt{A} and \sqrt{Q} exist and we can write:

$$\mathcal{D} = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{A} & 0\\ B^{\dagger}\sqrt{A^{-1}} & \sqrt{Q} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{A} & \sqrt{A^{-1}}B\\ 0 & \sqrt{Q} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} K_0^{\dagger}\\ K_1^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} K_0 & K_1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.11)

Where we have defined

$$K_0 = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{A} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad , \quad K_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{A}^{-1}B \\ \sqrt{Q} \end{pmatrix} \tag{A.12}$$

Thus, we have found operators K_0 and K_1 such that the conditions (2.15) are verified. Then, there exists an isometry U such that our mapping can be written as:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}^{(D)}} \left[U\rho \otimes |0\rangle \langle 0|U^{\dagger} \right]$$

which is CP, completing the proof.

A.3 Proof of Eq. (2.25)

After we have set $K_0 = \frac{a}{\sqrt{2j}}$ and $K_1 = \frac{b}{\sqrt{2j}}$, we need to find A_i s such that the following equations are verified:

$$\sqrt{j}(A_0 + A_3) = \frac{a}{\sqrt{2}}$$
, $\sqrt{j}(A_1 + iA_2) = \frac{b}{\sqrt{2}}$ (A.13)

$$\vec{A}^{\dagger}A_0 + A_0^{\dagger}\vec{A} + i\vec{A}^{\dagger}\wedge\vec{A} = 0 \tag{A.14}$$

We can already see that the conditions (A.13) are verified by the solution (2.25). One also could notice that conditions (A.13) and (A.14) actually imply the normalization condition (2.2). We can see that from the relation:

$$\mathbb{1} = \frac{a^{\dagger}a + b^{\dagger}b}{2j} = (A_0 + A_3)^{\dagger} (A_0 + A_3) + (A_1 + iA_2)^{\dagger} (A_1 + iA_2)$$
(A.15)

if (A.14) - especially $(\vec{A}^{\dagger}A_0 + A_0^{\dagger}\vec{A} + i\vec{A}^{\dagger} \wedge \vec{A})_3 = 0$ - is verified, then we find the normalization condition. Then All left is to verify the conditions (A.14).

Verifying the conditions (A.14) :

Verifying (2.11) We have :

$$A_1^{\dagger}A_0 + A_0^{\dagger}A_1 = \frac{b^{\dagger}a^{\dagger} - ba}{4\sqrt{4j(j+1)}} + \frac{b^{\dagger}a}{8j} - \frac{ba^{\dagger}}{8(j+1)} + H.C. = \frac{b^{\dagger}a + a^{\dagger}b}{8j(j+1)}$$
$$iA_2^{\dagger}A_3 - iA_3^{\dagger}A_2 = \frac{b^{\dagger}a^{\dagger} - ba}{4\sqrt{4j(j+1)}} - \frac{b^{\dagger}a}{8j} + \frac{ba^{\dagger}}{8(j+1)} + H.C. = -\frac{b^{\dagger}a + a^{\dagger}b}{8j(j+1)}$$

And thus we have:

$$\left(\vec{A}^{\dagger}A_{0} + A_{0}^{\dagger}\vec{A} + i\vec{A}^{\dagger}\wedge\vec{A}\right)_{1} = A_{1}^{\dagger}A_{0} + A_{0}^{\dagger}A_{1} + iA_{2}^{\dagger}A_{3} - iA_{3}^{\dagger}A_{2} = 0$$

Verifying (2.12) We have :

$$A_2^{\dagger}A_0 + A_0^{\dagger}A_2 = i\left(\frac{b^{\dagger}a^{\dagger} + ba}{4\sqrt{4j(j+1)}} + \frac{b^{\dagger}a}{8j} + \frac{ba^{\dagger}}{8(j+1)}\right) + H.C. = i\frac{b^{\dagger}a - a^{\dagger}b}{8j(j+1)}$$

A.4 Proof of: $\|\Lambda\|_2 = 1 \Rightarrow \operatorname{Tr} [\mathcal{M}(\rho)^2] \le 1$

$$-iA_{1}^{\dagger}A_{3} + iA_{3}^{\dagger}A_{1} = -i\left(-\frac{b^{\dagger}a^{\dagger} + ba}{4\sqrt{4j(j+1)}} + \frac{b^{\dagger}a}{8j} + \frac{ba^{\dagger}}{8(j+1)}\right) + H.C. = -i\frac{b^{\dagger}a - a^{\dagger}b}{8j(j+1)}$$

And thus we have:

$$\left(\vec{A}^{\dagger}A_{0} + A_{0}^{\dagger}\vec{A} + i\vec{A}^{\dagger}\wedge\vec{A}\right)_{2} = A_{2}^{\dagger}A_{0} + A_{0}^{\dagger}A_{2} - iA_{1}^{\dagger}A_{3} + iA_{3}^{\dagger}A_{1} = 0$$

Verifying (2.13) We have :

$$A_{3}^{\dagger}A_{0} + A_{0}^{\dagger}A_{3} = \frac{a^{\dagger}a^{\dagger} - aa}{4\sqrt{4j(j+1)}} + \frac{a^{\dagger}a}{8j} - \frac{aa^{\dagger}}{8(j+1)} + H.C. = \frac{a^{\dagger}a}{4j} - \frac{aa^{\dagger}}{4(j+1)} = \frac{a^{\dagger}a + 1}{4j} = \frac{a^{\dagger}a - j}{4j(j+1)} = \frac{$$

$$iA_1^{\dagger}A_2 - iA_2^{\dagger}A_1 = \frac{b^{\dagger}b^{\dagger} - bb}{4\sqrt{4j(j+1)}} + \frac{b^{\dagger}b}{8j} - \frac{bb^{\dagger}}{8(j+1)} + H.C. = \frac{b^{\dagger}b}{4j} - \frac{bb^{\dagger}}{4(j+1)} = \frac{b^{\dagger}b + 1}{4j} - \frac{b^{\dagger}b + 1}{4(j+1)} = \frac{b^{\dagger}b - j}{4j(j+1)} = \frac{b^{\dagger}b$$

Where we have used $\left[a, a^{\dagger}\right] = 1$, $\left[b, b^{\dagger}\right] = 1$, and so we have:

$$\left(\vec{A}^{\dagger}A_{0} + A_{0}^{\dagger}\vec{A} + i\vec{A}^{\dagger}\wedge\vec{A}\right)_{3} = A_{3}^{\dagger}A_{0} + A_{0}^{\dagger}A_{3} + iA_{1}^{\dagger}A_{2} - iA_{2}^{\dagger}A_{1} = \frac{a^{\dagger}a + b^{\dagger}b - 2j}{4j(j+1)}$$

Where we have used $a^{\dagger}a + b^{\dagger}b = 2j$.

A.4 Proof of: $\|\Lambda\|_2 = 1 \Rightarrow \operatorname{Tr} [\mathcal{M}(\rho)^2] \leq 1$

We start by proving $\langle S_x \rangle^2_{|\psi\rangle} + \langle S_y \rangle^2_{|\psi\rangle} + \langle S_z \rangle^2_{|\psi\rangle} \leq 1$ for any pure state $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \mathcal{H}_1$. We can write any normalized state as $|\psi\rangle = |\psi_0\rangle + |\psi_1\rangle$ with $|\psi\rangle_{0(1)} \in \mathcal{H}_{0(1)}$ such that $:\langle \psi_0 | \psi_0 \rangle + \langle \psi_1 | \psi_1 \rangle = 1$. Now calculating $\langle S_x \rangle_{|\psi\rangle}$ and $\langle S_y \rangle_{|\psi\rangle}$, we find:

$$\begin{aligned} \langle S_x \rangle_{|\psi\rangle} &= \langle \psi_0 | \Lambda | \psi_1 \rangle + \langle \psi_1 | \Lambda^{\dagger} | \psi_0 \rangle = 2Re \left[\langle \psi_0 | \Lambda | \psi_1 \rangle \right] \\ \langle S_y \rangle_{|\psi\rangle} &= -i \langle \psi_0 | \Lambda | \psi_1 \rangle + i \langle \psi_1 | \Lambda^{\dagger} | \psi_0 \rangle = 2Im \left[\langle \psi_0 | \Lambda | \psi_1 \rangle \right] \end{aligned}$$

As a result we get :

$$\langle S_x \rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^2 + \langle S_y \rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^2 = 4 \left| \langle \psi_0 | \Lambda | \psi_1 \rangle \right|^2 \le 4 \langle \psi_0 | \psi_0 \rangle \langle \psi_1 | \Lambda^{\dagger} \Lambda | \psi_1 \rangle \le 4 \langle \psi_0 | \psi_0 \rangle \langle \psi_1 | \psi_1 \rangle \quad (A.16)$$

Where we have used Cauchy-Schwartz inequality and the fact that the largest eigenvalue of $\Lambda^{\dagger}\Lambda$ is $\lambda_{max} = \|\Lambda\|_2^2 = 1$.
we also have:

$$\left\langle S_z \right\rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^2 = \left(\left\langle \psi_0 | P_0 | \psi_0 \right\rangle - \left\langle \psi_1 | P_1 | \psi_1 \right\rangle \right)^2 = \left\langle \psi_0 | \psi_0 \right\rangle^2 + \left\langle \psi_1 | \psi_1 \right\rangle^2 - 2 \left\langle \psi_0 | \psi_0 \right\rangle \left\langle \psi_1 | \psi_1 \right\rangle \quad (A.17)$$

Combining (A.16) and (A.17) we finally get:

$$\langle S_x \rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^2 + \langle S_y \rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^2 + \langle S_z \rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^2 \leq \langle \psi_0 | \psi_0 \rangle^2 + \langle \psi_1 | \psi_1 \rangle^2 + 2 \langle \psi_0 | \psi_0 \rangle \langle \psi_1 | \psi_1 \rangle \leq (\langle \psi_0 | \psi_0 \rangle + \langle \psi_1 | \psi_1 \rangle)^2 \leq 1$$
(A.18)

Taking the special case where $\langle \psi_0 | \psi_0 \rangle = 1$ and $\langle \psi_1 | \psi_1 \rangle = 0$ we get the equality $\langle S_x \rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^2 + \langle S_y \rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^2 + \langle S_z \rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^2 = 1$. Thus we conclude that :

$$\beta^{2} = \sup\left\{\left\langle S_{x}\right\rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^{2} + \left\langle S_{y}\right\rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^{2} + \left\langle S_{z}\right\rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^{2} : (|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}) \land (\langle\psi|\psi\rangle = 1)\right\} = 1$$
(A.19)

Now we have established that the minimum value of β , such that the mapping (2.44) is CP, is 1. Now let use Theorem I 1 to prove it. In other words, let us prove that the matrix 2.31 is positive semi-definite.

A.5 Proof of complete positivity of the mapping (2.44)

We start by writing the singular value decomposition of the linear operator $P_0\Lambda P_1$ [270, 271]:

$$P_0 \Lambda P_1 = \sum_n \sqrt{\lambda_n} |e_n\rangle \langle f_n| \tag{A.20}$$

where $\{\lambda_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of positive numbers such that

$$\max\{\lambda_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}=1$$

because of the condition $\|\Lambda\|_2 = 1$. $\{|e_n\rangle\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $\{|f_n\rangle\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ are orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_1 respectively. Then, we have:

$$\sum_{n} |e_n\rangle\langle e_n| = P_0 \quad , \quad \sum_{n} |f_n\rangle\langle f_n| = P_1 \tag{A.21}$$

Now let us prove that the matrix 2.31

$$\mathcal{D} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1} + S_z & 2P_0\Lambda P_1 \\ 2P_1\Lambda^{\dagger}P_0 & \mathbb{1} - S_z \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.22)

is positive semi-definite. For that we use again Theorem 2. Let us define

$$Q = \mathbb{1} - P_0 - P_1.$$

It is straightforward to show that

$$A = \mathbb{1} + S_z = Q + 2P_0 \succeq 0$$

and that:

$$\mathbb{1} - AA^{-1} = \mathbb{1} - (Q + 2P_0)\left(Q + \frac{1}{2}P_0\right) = P_1$$

Hence the second condition $(\mathbb{1} - AA^{-1})B_+ = 0$ is verified. Now let us check the final condition $C - B_+^{\dagger}A^{-1}B_+ \succeq 0$. To do so, let us calculate the quantity:

$$B_{+}^{\dagger}A^{-1}B_{+} = 4P_{1}\Lambda^{\dagger}P_{0}\left(Q + \frac{1}{2}P_{0}\right)P_{0}\Lambda P_{1} = 2P_{1}\Lambda^{\dagger}P_{0}\Lambda P_{1} = 2\sum_{n}\lambda_{n}|f_{n}\rangle\langle f_{n}\rangle$$

From which we find:

$$C - B_{+}^{\dagger} A^{-1} B_{+} = \mathbb{1} - S_{z} - 2\sum_{n} \lambda_{n} |f_{n}\rangle \langle f_{n}| = Q + 2\sum_{n} (1 - \lambda_{n}) |f_{n}\rangle \langle f_{n}| \succeq 0$$

since $0 \leq \lambda_n \leq 1$. With this, we conclude the proof for positivity semi-definiteness of (A.22) which implies that the mapping Eq. (2.44) is C.P.

A.6 3-parameter family of 2-qudit states

A.6.1 Preliminaries

First, we recall the family of d^2 maximally entangled 2-qudit states $|\Omega_{kl}\rangle(k, l = 0, 1, \dots d - 1)$ that generalizes the four 2-qubit Bell states as introduced in Ref. [46]:

$$|\Omega_{kl}\rangle = W_{kl} \otimes \mathbb{1}|\Omega_{00}\rangle \text{ with } |\Omega_{00}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{d}} \sum_{m=0}^{d-1} |m, m\rangle, \tag{A.23}$$

where the $d^2 W_{kl}$ operators acting on the first qudit are the Weyl operators defined as:

$$W_{kl}|m\rangle = w^{k(m-l)}|(m-l)_{\text{mod }d}\rangle, \text{ where } w = e^{2\pi i/d}.$$
(A.24)

These operators verify the following orthogonality relation in the Hilbert-Schmidt norm:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[W_{kl}^{\dagger}W_{mn}\right] = d \,\,\delta_{km}\delta_{ln}.\tag{A.25}$$

These 2-qudit Bell states $P_{kl} = |\Omega_{kl}\rangle\langle\Omega_{kl}|$ are locally maximally mixed state, that is,

their partial trace gives the maximally mixed state $\frac{1}{d}$. Using the following relation [46]:

$$|j\rangle\langle k| = \frac{1}{d} \sum_{l=0}^{d-1} w^{lj} W_{j(k-j)},$$
 (A.26)

each state P_{kl} can be written in the basis $W_{kl} \otimes W_{mn}$ as follows [272, 46]:

$$P_{kl} = \frac{1}{d^2} \sum_{m,n=0}^{d-1} w^{ml-kn} W^{\dagger}_{-m-n} \otimes W^{\dagger}_{m-n}.$$
 (A.27)

The operators J_3 , J_+ , J_- can also be written in the Weyl basis:

$$J_{3} = \sum_{l=0}^{2j} \eta_{z}^{l} W_{l0},$$

$$J_{+} = \sum_{l=0}^{2j} \eta_{p}^{l} w^{-l} W_{l,-1}, \quad J_{-} = \sum_{l=0}^{2j} \eta_{p}^{l} W_{l,1},$$
(A.28)

where we have defined

$$\begin{split} \eta_z^l &= \sum_{m=0}^{2j} \frac{m-j}{2j+1} w^{-ml}, \\ \eta_p^l &= \sum_{m=0}^{2j} \frac{\sqrt{j(j+1) - (m-j)(m-j+1)}}{2j+1} w^{-ml}. \end{split}$$

From Eqs. (A.27), (A.28), and (A.25), we get

$$\langle J_3 \otimes J_3 \rangle_{|\Omega_{kl}\rangle} = \operatorname{Tr} \left[P_{kl} J_3 \otimes J_3 \right] = \sum_{m=0}^{2j} \eta_z^m \eta_z^{-m} w^{ml},$$

$$\langle J_+ \otimes J_+ \rangle_{|\Omega_{kl}\rangle} = \operatorname{Tr} \left[P_{kl} J_+ \otimes J_+ \right] = w^{-k} \sum_{m=0}^{2j} \eta_p^m \eta_p^{-m} w^{ml},$$

$$\langle J_+ \otimes J_- \rangle_{|\Omega_{kl}\rangle} = \operatorname{Tr} \left[P_{kl} J_+ \otimes J_- \right] = 0.$$

Now, we have the tools that enable us to study the three-parameter family of 2-qudit states with d = 2j + 1 defined in Sec. 2.3.4:

$$\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma} = \frac{1 - \alpha - \beta - \gamma}{(2j+1)^2} \mathbb{1} + \alpha P_{00} + \frac{\beta}{2j} \sum_{i=1}^{2j} P_{i0} + \frac{\gamma}{2j+1} \sum_{i=0}^{2j} P_{i1}.$$
(A.29)

,

For these states we have

$$\langle J_3 \otimes J_3 \rangle_{\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}} = \frac{j(j+1)(\alpha+\beta)+j(j-2)\gamma}{3} \langle J_1 \otimes J_1 \rangle_{\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}} = \frac{j(j+1)(\alpha-\beta/2j)}{3}, \langle J_2 \otimes J_2 \rangle_{\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}} = -\frac{j(j+1)(\alpha-\beta/2j)}{3},$$

so that the criterion

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \langle J_1^{(d_1)} \otimes J_1^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho} \right| &+ \left| \langle J_2^{(d_1)} \otimes J_2^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho} \right| \\ &+ \left| \langle J_3^{(d_1)} \otimes J_3^{(d_2)} \rangle_{\rho} \right| \le j^{(d_1)} j^{(d_2)} \end{aligned}$$

introduced in the main text for separable states $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ can be brought to the following form:

$$\frac{|(j+1)(\alpha+\beta) + (j-2)\gamma| + (j+1)|2\alpha - \beta/j|}{3j} \le 1.$$
 (A.30)

A.6.2 Positivity and partial transpose of $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$

From the definition in Eq. (A.29), $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ is already in its diagonal form and we can easily identify its eigenvalues and eigenvectors. The eigenvalues are: $\frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} + \frac{\gamma}{2j+1}$ with degeneracy 2j + 1, $\frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} + \frac{\beta}{2j}$ with degeneracy 2j, $\frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} + \alpha$ with degeneracy 1, and $\frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2}$ with degeneracy (2j+1)(2j-1). To ensure the positivity of $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$, each of these eigenvalues must be positive, hence we obtain the positivity conditions stated in Sec. 2.3.4:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} &\geq 0, \qquad \alpha+\frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} \geq 0, \\ \frac{\beta}{2j}+\frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} \geq 0, \qquad \frac{1-\alpha-\beta+2j\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} \geq 0. \end{aligned}$$

As for the partial transpose (PT) of $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$, it was shown in Ref. [272] that for a state of the form $\rho = \sum_{k,l=0}^{2j} C_{kl} P_{kl}$, its partial transpose can be written as:

$$\rho^{T_B} = \bigoplus_{m=0}^{2j} B_m \quad : B_m^{\dagger} = B_m, \tag{A.31}$$

where, the matrix elements of B_m are defined as [272]:

$$\langle s|B_m|t\rangle = \frac{1}{2j+1} \sum_{k=0}^{2j} C_{s,s+t-m} w^{k(s-t)} : s, t = 0, \cdots, 2j.$$
 (A.32)

It was also shown [272] that for integer values of j, all matrices B_m are unitarily equivalent, while for j half-integer, there are two classes of unitarily equivalent matrices, the class of B_m for even m and the class for odd m.

In what follows, we will restrict ourselves to the case of j integer and we will calculate the elements of the matrix B_0 . The case of half-integer j can be easily obtained based on the calculation of the matrix B_0 .

From Eqs. (2.74) and (A.32), we find that the matrix B_0 has the following form:

$$B_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} b_{00} & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & b_{11} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \kappa \\ \vdots & 0 & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \ddots & & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \ddots & b_{2j-1,2j-1} & 0 \\ 0 & \kappa & 0 & \cdots & 0 & b_{2j,2j} \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.33)

with

$$b_{00} = \langle 0|B_0|0\rangle = \frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} + \frac{\alpha+\beta}{2j+1},$$

$$b_{j+1,j+1} = \langle j+1|B_0|j+1\rangle = \frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2} + \frac{\gamma}{2j+1},$$

$$b_{k,k} = \langle k|B_0|k\rangle = \frac{1-\alpha-\beta-\gamma}{(2j+1)^2}$$

$$: k \in \{0, \cdots, 2j\} \setminus \{0, j+1\},$$

$$\kappa = \langle s|B_0|t\rangle = \frac{\alpha-\beta/2j}{2j+1} \qquad : s+t=0 \text{ and } s \neq t,$$

$$\langle s|B_0|t\rangle = 0 \qquad \qquad : s \neq t \text{ and} s+t \neq 0.$$

The characteristic polynomial of B_0 can be easily computed which allows to calculate the eigenvalues of B_0 . As $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}^{T_B}$ is the direct sum of matrices B_m that are unitarily equivalent to B_0 , then the eigenvalues of B_0 are also those of $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}^{T_B}$. We distinguish 2 cases: for j = 1 and j > 1. For j = 1, the 3 eigenvalues $\lambda_i (i = 1, 2, 3)$ are:

$$\begin{split} \lambda_1 &= \frac{1+2j(\alpha+\beta)-\gamma}{(1+2j)^2},\\ \lambda_2 &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2j} - \frac{2(-1+\alpha+\beta+\gamma)}{(1+2j)^2} \right) \\ &- \sqrt{\frac{(-2j\alpha+\beta)^2 + j^2\gamma^2}{j^2(1+2j)^2}} \right),\\ \lambda_3 &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2j} - \frac{2(-1+\alpha+\beta+\gamma)}{(1+2j)^2} \right) \\ &\sqrt{\frac{(-2j\alpha+\beta)^2 + j^2\gamma^2}{j^2(1+2j)^2}} \right), \end{split}$$

with degeneracy 3 each. Whereas for j > 1, the 4 eigenvalues λ_i^+ $(i = 1, 2, \dots, 5)$ are:

$$\begin{split} \lambda_1^+ &= \frac{1+2j(\alpha+\beta)-\gamma}{(1+2j)^2},\\ \lambda_2^+ &= \frac{-\beta-2j(-1-2j\alpha+2\beta+\gamma)}{2j(1+2j)^2},\\ \lambda_3^+ &= \frac{\beta-2j(-1+2(1+j)\alpha+\gamma)}{2j(1+2j)^2},\\ \lambda_4^+ &= \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2j} - \frac{2(-1+\alpha+\beta+\gamma)}{(1+2j)^2} - \sqrt{\frac{(-2j\alpha+\beta)^2+j^2\gamma^2}{j^2(1+2j)^2}}\right)\\ \lambda_5^+ &= \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2j} - \frac{2(-1+\alpha+\beta+\gamma)}{(1+2j)^2} + \sqrt{\frac{(-2j\alpha+\beta)^2+j^2\gamma^2}{j^2(1+2j)^2}}\right) \end{split}$$

with degeneracy 2j+1, (2j+1)(j-1), (2j+1)(j-1), (2j+1), and (2j+1) correspondingly. Thus by imposing positivity on the above eigenvalues, we get the set of conditions for the state $\rho_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}$ to be PPT. This is how we compute the blue region on Fig. 2.1 (a) and (b).

,

Appendix B

Appendices of chapter 3

B.1 Proof of Eq. (3.6)

In this appendix, we present in detail the different steps to derive our main inequality (3.6). As mentioned in the main text, we proceed to the proof in two steps. Firstly, we start by proving the inequality (3.6) for product states. Next, we generalize the inequality for mixed state by convexity argument. Before proceeding to the two parts of the proof, let us rewrite the inequality (3.6) and its different ingredients:

$$\left(\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1\right) \sum_{k \notin \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k - \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \langle \tilde{A}_k^2 \rangle \ge -\langle \hat{N} \rangle \left(\langle \hat{N} \rangle - 1\right) \alpha^2 - \delta, \tag{B.1}$$

with $\alpha^2 = \sup_{\rho^{(i)}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^3 \left\langle A_k^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^2 \right]$ and $\hat{N} = \sum_{i=1}^N N^{(i)}$ represents the particle number operator as explained in the main text. We choose the operator $N^{(i)}$ to be positive and to verify the following inequality:

$$\frac{\sum_{k=1}^{3} \left\langle A_{k}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^{2}}{\alpha^{2}} \leq \left\langle N^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^{2} \leq 1 \tag{B.2}$$

for any state $\rho^{(i)}$ acting on the single particle Hilbert space. One can always find a positive operator $N^{(i)}$ such that Eq. (B.2) is verified, since one can always choose $N^{(i)}$ to be the identity in the single particle Hilbert space. Finally, we recall the expression for δ (3.16):

$$\delta = \alpha^2 \langle \hat{N} \rangle + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_1 + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_2 + \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_3 \tag{B.3}$$

B.1.1 Proof of Eq. (3.6) for product states

As we have outlined in the main text, our main improvement comes from deriving a new bound for $\langle A_i \rangle^2$ better than the standard one

$$\langle A_i \rangle^2 \le N \sum_{k=1}^N \left\langle A_i^{(k)} \right\rangle^2.$$
 (B.4)

The previous inequality can be obtained directly from Cauchy-Schwartz inequality. However, it can also be obtained in a different way using the Heisenberg uncertainty inequality as follows. First, for the sake of illustration, consider that $A_i = S_x = \sum_{i=1}^N \sigma_x^{(i)}$ and let $|\psi\rangle$, the product state $|\psi\rangle = \bigotimes_{i=1}^N |\psi^{(i)}\rangle$ of N spin-1/2. Starting from the Heisenberg uncertainty inequality:

$$\langle S_x \rangle^2 \le (\Delta S_y)^2 (\Delta S_z)^2,$$
 (B.5)

we can apply a rotation $U^{(i)} = e^{i \frac{\sigma_x^{(i)} \theta_i}{2}}$ to each spin such that

$$\left\langle \sigma_{y}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{U^{(i)}|\psi^{(i)}\rangle} = 0, \left\langle \sigma_{x}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{U^{(i)}|\psi^{(i)}\rangle} = \left\langle \sigma_{x}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{|\psi^{(i)}\rangle}$$

Since $|\psi\rangle$ is a pure product state, we have:

$$\left\langle \sigma_z^{(i)} \right\rangle_{U^{(i)}|\psi^{(i)}\rangle}^2 = 1 - \left\langle \sigma_x^{(i)} \right\rangle_{|\psi^{(i)}\rangle}^2.$$

Then, a straightforward calculation, in the rotated state, would yield $(\Delta S_y)^2 = N$ and $(\Delta S_z)^2 = \sum_{i=1}^N \left\langle \sigma_x^{(i)} \right\rangle_{|\psi^{(i)}\rangle}^2$, hence:

$$\langle S_x \rangle_{|\psi\rangle}^2 \le N \sum_{i=1}^N \left\langle \sigma_x^{(i)} \right\rangle_{|\psi^{(i)}\rangle}^2$$
(B.6)

which is the same inequality than Eq. (B.4).

It is the above reasoning that motivates the mapping of the original product state $\rho = \bigotimes \rho^{(i)}$ to the product state of N spin 1, $R = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{N} R^{(i)}$, where:

$$R^{(i)} = n_i |\Psi^{(i)}\rangle \langle \Psi^{(i)}| + (1 - n_i) |2^{(i)}\rangle \langle 2^{(i)}|, \qquad (B.7)$$

 $n_i = \left\langle N^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}$, and $|\Psi^{(i)}\rangle$ is a pure state defined, in the subspace spanned by $|0^{(i)}\rangle, |1^{(i)}\rangle$, as:

$$|\Psi^{(i)}\rangle\langle\Psi^{(i)}| = \frac{\sigma_0^{(i)}}{2} + \frac{\langle A_1^{(i)}\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i}\sigma_x^{(i)} + \frac{\langle A_2^{(i)}\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i}\sigma_y^{(i)} + \frac{\langle A_3^{(i)}\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i}\sigma_z \tag{B.8}$$

where $\sigma_0 = |0^{(i)}\rangle\langle 0^{(i)}| + |1^{(i)}\rangle\langle 1^{(i)}|$ and $\sigma_k^{(i)}(k = x, y, z)$ are the Pauli matrices in the same subspace. The constant η_i is chosen as $\eta_i = \sqrt{\langle A_1^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_2^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_3^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2}$, to ensure the purity of the state $|\Psi^{(i)}\rangle$.

Inequality for $\langle A_i \rangle^2$

Following the same reasoning as above, We first apply the following unitary $|2^{(i)}\rangle\langle 2^{(i)}| + e^{-i\theta_i\sigma_x^{(i)}/2}$ to the state $R^{(i)}$ Eq. (B.7). After applying the unitary, we get the following state:

$$r^{(i)} = n_i |\Phi^{(i)}\rangle \langle \Phi^{(i)}| + (1 - n_i) |2^{(i)}\rangle \langle 2^{(i)}|, \qquad (B.9)$$

where $|\Phi^{(i)}\rangle = e^{-i\theta_i \sigma_x^{(i)}/2} |\Psi^{(i)}\rangle$. We choose θ_i such that:

$$\langle \Phi^{(i)} | \sigma_y^{(i)} | \Phi^{(i)} \rangle \equiv \cos \theta_i \langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_y^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle - \sin \theta_i \langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_z^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle = 0$$
 (B.10)

which can be achieved with the choice

$$\cos \theta_i = \frac{\langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_z^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_z^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle^2 + \langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_y^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle^2}},$$
$$\sin \theta_i = \frac{\langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_y^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_z^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle^2 + \langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_y^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle^2}}$$

Since $\left[\sigma_x^{(i)}, e^{-i\theta_i \sigma_x^{(i)}/2}\right] = 0$, we have:

$$\langle \Phi^{(i)} | \sigma_x^{(i)} | \Phi^{(i)} \rangle = \langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_x^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle.$$
(B.11)

Now, because $\frac{\eta_i}{\alpha n_i} \leq 1$ (B.2), there exists an angle ξ_i such that:

$$\langle \Phi^{(i)} | e^{i\xi_i \sigma_y^{(i)}/2} \sigma_x^{(i)} e^{-i\xi_i \sigma_y^{(i)}/2} | \Phi^{(i)} \rangle = \frac{\eta_i}{\alpha n_i} \langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_x^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle.$$
(B.12)

Applying the unitary $|2^{(i)}\rangle\langle 2^{(i)}| + e^{-i\xi_i\sigma_y^{(i)}/2}$ to the state $r^{(i)}$, it becomes:

$$R^{\prime(i)} = n_i |\Psi^{\prime(i)}\rangle \langle \Psi^{\prime(i)}| + (1 - n_i) |2^{(i)}\rangle \langle 2^{(i)}|, \qquad (B.13)$$

where $|\Psi'^{(i)}\rangle = e^{-i\xi_i\sigma_y^{(i)}/2}|\Phi^{(i)}\rangle$. Since $\left[\sigma_y^{(i)}, e^{-i\xi_i\sigma_y^{(i)}/2}\right] = 0$, we have:

$$\langle \Psi^{\prime(i)} | \sigma_y^{(i)} | \Psi^{\prime(i)} \rangle = \langle \Phi^{(i)} | \sigma_y^{(i)} | \Phi^{(i)} \rangle = 0.$$
(B.14)

And because the state $|\Psi'^{(i)}\rangle$ is pure we have:

$$\langle \Psi'^{(i)} | \sigma_x^{(i)} | \Psi'^{(i)} \rangle^2 + \langle \Psi'^{(i)} | \sigma_y^{(i)} | \Psi'^{(i)} \rangle^2 + \langle \Psi'^{(i)} | \sigma_z^{(i)} | \Psi'^{(i)} \rangle^2 = 1$$

i.e.,

$$\langle \Psi'^{(i)} | \sigma_z^{(i)} | \Psi'^{(i)} \rangle^2 = 1 - \frac{\eta_i^2}{\alpha^2 n_i^2} \langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_x^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle^2$$
(B.15)

Finally we are in position to apply the Heisenberg uncertainty principle for the operators S_x, S_y, S_z in the state $R' = \bigotimes R'^{(i)}$:

$$\left|\left\langle S_x\right\rangle_{R'}\right|^2 \le \left(\Delta S_y\right)^2 \left(\Delta S_z\right)^2. \tag{B.16}$$

For product states $R' = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{N} R'^{(i)}$, we have:

$$(\Delta S_y)^2 = \sum_{i=1}^N \left(\Delta \sigma_y^{(i)} \right)^2 = \sum_{i=1}^N \left\langle \left(\sigma_y^{(i)} \right)^2 \right\rangle_{R'^{(i)}} - \left\langle \sigma_y^{(i)} \right\rangle_{R'^{(i)}}^2$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^N n_i - \sum_{i=1}^N n_i^2 \langle \Psi'^{(i)} | \sigma_y^{(i)} | \Psi'^{(i)} \rangle^2$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^N n_i.$$
(B.17)

The same calculation for S_z will give:

$$(\Delta S_z)^2 = \sum_{i=1}^N n_i - \sum_{i=1}^N n_i^2 \langle \Psi'^{(i)} | \sigma_z^{(i)} | \Psi'^{(i)} \rangle^2$$

=
$$\sum_{i=1}^N n_i - n_i^2 + \frac{\eta_i^2}{\alpha^2} \langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_x^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle^2.$$
(B.18)

We also have:

$$\langle S_x \rangle_{R'} = \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\eta_i}{\alpha} \langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_x^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle, \qquad (B.19)$$

but from Eq. (B.7), we have:

$$\langle \Psi^{(i)} | \sigma_x^{(i)} | \Psi^{(i)} \rangle = \frac{\left\langle A_x^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{\eta_i}.$$
 (B.20)

Using all the above the inequality (B.16), can be simplified to obtain the desired form:

$$\langle A_x \rangle_{\rho}^2 \le \sum_{i=1}^N n_i \left(\sum_{i=1}^N \left\langle A_x^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 \right) + \alpha^2 \sum_{i=1}^N n_i \left(\sum_{i=1}^N n_i - \sum_{i=1}^N n_i^2 \right),$$
 (B.21)

which is exactly the inequality Eq. (3.12), since $\langle \hat{N} \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{N} n_i$.

Inequality for $\langle A_i \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_j \rangle_{\rho}^2$

One might suggest adding the two inequalities (3.12) for the quantities $\langle A_i \rangle_{\rho}^2$ and $\langle A_j \rangle_{\rho}^2$. But we can derive a tigther inequality by considering the following mapping of the form (B.7):

$$R^{(i)} = n_i \left(\frac{\sigma_0^{(i)}}{2} + \frac{\left\langle A_x^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i} \sigma_x^{(i)} + \frac{\left\langle A_y^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i} \sigma_y^{(i)} + \frac{\left\langle A_z^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i} \sigma_z \right) + (1 - n_i) |2^{(i)} \rangle \langle 2^{(i)}|$$
(B.22)

where we have chosen: $\langle A_x^{\prime(i)} \rangle_{\rho} = \sqrt{\langle A_x^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_y^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2}$, $\langle A_y^{\prime(i)} \rangle_{\rho} = 0$ and $\langle A_z^{\prime(i)} \rangle_{\rho} = \langle A_z^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}$. Then we apply the inequality (3.12) for $\langle A_x^{\prime(i)} \rangle_{\rho}$ and we get:

$$\langle A'_{x} \rangle_{\rho}^{2} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sqrt{\left\langle A_{x}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^{2} + \left\langle A_{y}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^{2}} \right)^{2}$$

$$\leq \langle N \rangle_{\rho} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle A_{x}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^{2} + \left\langle A_{y}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^{2} \right)$$

$$+ \alpha^{2} \left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho} \left(\left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho} - \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle N^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^{2} \right).$$
(B.23)

Using Cauchy-Schwartz inequality

$$x_i x_j + y_i y_j \le \sqrt{x_i^2 + y_i^2} \sqrt{x_j^2 + y_j^2}$$

we obtain:

$$\left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle A_x^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}\right)^2 + \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle A_y^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}\right)^2 \le \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sqrt{\left\langle A_x^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 + \left\langle A_y^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2}\right)^2 \tag{B.24}$$

and we finally get:

$$\langle A_i \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_j \rangle_{\rho}^2 \leq \langle N \rangle_{\rho} \left(\sum_{i=1}^N \left\langle A_i^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 + \left\langle A_j^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 \right) + \alpha^2 \left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho} \left(\left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho} - \sum_{i=1}^N \left\langle N^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 \right).$$
 (B.25)

Following the same steps, we can prove in general that:

$$\sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \langle A_k \rangle_{\rho}^2 \leq \langle N \rangle_{\rho} \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \left\langle A_k^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 + \alpha^2 \left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho} \left(\left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho} - \sum_{i=1}^N \left\langle N^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^2 \right)$$
(B.26)

Where \mathcal{I} is any subset of $\{1, 2, \cdots, M\}$, and

$$\frac{\sum_{k=1}^{M} \left\langle A_{k}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^{2}}{\alpha^{2}} \leq \left\langle n^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^{2} \leq 1 \tag{B.27}$$

$$\alpha^2 = \sup_{\rho^{(i)}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^M \left\langle A_k^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^2 \right].$$
(B.28)

Notice that in the case of angular momentum operators M = 3, as in the main text. With inequality Eq.(B.26), we have all the ingredients needed to derive inequality Eq.(3.6).

Proof of Eq. (3.6) for product states

Let $\mathcal{I} \subseteq \{1, \dots, M\}$ including the empty set ϕ . We have the following equalities for product states:

$$\left\langle \tilde{A}_{k}^{2} \right\rangle \equiv \left\langle A_{k}^{2} \right\rangle - \sum_{i} \left\langle A_{k}^{(i)^{2}} \right\rangle = \sum_{i \neq j} \left\langle A_{k}^{(i)} A_{k}^{(j)} \right\rangle$$
$$= \sum_{i \neq j} \left\langle A_{k}^{(i)} \right\rangle \left\langle A_{k}^{(j)} \right\rangle = \left\langle A_{k} \right\rangle^{2} - \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle A_{k}^{(i)} \right\rangle^{2}$$
(B.29)

$$\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k \equiv \left\langle \tilde{A}_k^2 \right\rangle - \left\langle A_k \right\rangle^2 = -\sum_{i=1}^N \left\langle A_k^{(i)} \right\rangle^2.$$
(B.30)

From Eq. (B.29) and Eq. (B.26), we get:

$$\sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \left\langle \tilde{A}_{k}^{2} \right\rangle_{\rho} \leq \left(\langle N \rangle_{\rho} - 1 \right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \left\langle A_{k}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^{2} \right) \\
+ \alpha^{2} \left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho} \left(\left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho} - \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle N^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^{2} \right). \tag{B.31}$$

Now we have all the ingredients to derive the desired inequality. From (B.31) and (B.30) we get:

$$\left(\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle_{\rho} - 1 \right) \sum_{k \notin \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Delta}^{2} A_{k} - \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \left\langle \tilde{A}_{k}^{2} \right\rangle \geq -\alpha^{2} \left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho} \left(\left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho} - \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle N^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^{2} \right) - \left(\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle_{\rho} - 1 \right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\langle A_{x}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^{2} + \left\langle A_{y}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^{2} + \left\langle A_{z}^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}^{2} \right) B.32$$

The above inequality is hard to extend for mixed states, that's why we put it in a more convenient form and we simplify it further using $\langle A_x^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_y^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_z^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2 \leq \alpha^2 \langle N^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2$ to finally get:

$$\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle_{\rho} \sum_{k \notin \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k + \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k - \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \left\langle \tilde{A}_k^2 \right\rangle \ge -\alpha^2 \left\langle N \right\rangle_{\rho}^2.$$
 (B.33)

Proof of Eq. (3.6) for mixed separable states

Let us consider the most general separable state as a convex mixture of pure product states:

$$\rho = \sum_{l} \lambda_{l} \rho_{l} \quad : \lambda_{l} \ge 0, \ \sum_{l} \lambda_{l} = 1, \ \rho_{l}^{2} = \rho_{l} \tag{B.34}$$

Then we have the following inequality :

$$\sum_{k \notin \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Delta}^{2} A_{k} + \alpha^{2} \langle N \rangle_{\substack{\rho \\ \text{concavity of variance}}} \geq \sum_{l} \lambda_{l} \left(\sum_{k \notin \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Delta}_{l}^{2} A_{k} + \alpha^{2} \langle N \rangle_{\rho_{l}} \right)$$
$$\geq \sum_{Eq. (B.33)} \sum_{l} \lambda_{l} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \frac{\langle A_{k} \rangle_{\rho_{l}}^{2}}{\langle N \rangle_{\rho_{l}}}, \tag{B.35}$$

where we have used the definition of the modified moments $\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k = \left\langle \tilde{A}_k^2 \right\rangle - \left\langle A_k \right\rangle^2$ for the right hand side. Next, we use the convexity of the function $f(x,y) = \frac{x^2}{y}$ over $\mathbb{R} \times (0,\infty]$. The convexity of f(x,y) can be shown by considering its Hessian matrix

$$H_{i,j} = \frac{\partial^2 f(x_1, x_2)}{\partial x_i \partial x_j}:$$

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2}{y} & -\frac{2x}{y^2} \\ -\frac{2x}{y^2} & \frac{2x^2}{y^3} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B.36)

which eigenvalues are $\{0, \frac{2(x^2 + y^2)}{y^3}\}$. Both eigenvalues being positive for any $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R} \times (0, \infty]$, we can conclude $f(x, y) = \frac{x^2}{y}$ is convex. From the convexity of f(x, y), we obtain a lower bound of Eq. (B.35):

$$\sum_{l} \lambda_{l} \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \frac{\langle A_{k} \rangle_{\rho_{l}}^{2}}{\langle N \rangle_{\rho_{l}}} \geq \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \frac{\langle A_{k} \rangle_{\rho}^{2}}{\langle N \rangle_{\rho}} = \frac{\sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \left\langle \tilde{A}_{k}^{2} \right\rangle_{\rho} - \sum_{k \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Delta}^{2} A_{k}}{\langle N \rangle_{\rho}} \tag{B.37}$$

completing the proof of inequality Eq. (3.6) for any separable state.

B.2 Mapping to a qutrit Eq (3.9)

Here we will consider only a special case of mappings to a qutrit, where the image is a mixed state of a spin-1/2 like state, in the subspace $|0\rangle$, $|1\rangle$, and the state $|2\rangle$ as in Eq (3.9). The starting point is the mapping that maps every spin-*j* state to the following spin-1/2 state:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \frac{\mathbb{1}}{2} + \frac{\langle A_x \rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta} \sigma_x + \frac{\langle A_y \rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta} \sigma_y + \frac{\langle A_z \rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta} \sigma_z, \qquad (B.38)$$

where $\eta = \sqrt{\langle A_x \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_y \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_z \rangle_{\rho}^2}$. The above mapping is a completely positive mapping that can be written as [1]

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_D} \left[U\rho \otimes |0\rangle \langle 0|U^{\dagger} \right], \qquad (B.39)$$

where $|0\rangle$ is a reference state in the qubit subspace and U is an isometry that can always be written as:

$$U: \mathcal{H}_{2s+1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_2 \to \mathcal{H}_D \otimes \mathcal{H}_2: U = \sum_{i=0}^4 \mathcal{A}_i \otimes \sigma_i; \, \sigma_0 = \mathbb{1},$$
(B.40)

where the dimension of \mathcal{H}_D satisfies $D \geq 2s + 1$. Since the three Gell-Mann matrices $\Lambda_{1,2}^s$, $\Lambda_{1,2}^a$ and Λ_1 [273] are the Pauli operators in the subspace $\{|0\rangle, |1\rangle\}$ of the qutrit, we

can define the following mapping:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_D} \left[\mathcal{U}\rho \otimes (\beta|0\rangle\langle 0| + (1-\beta)|2\rangle\langle 2|) \mathcal{U}^{\dagger} \right], \qquad (B.41)$$

where

$$\mathcal{U}: \mathcal{H}_{2s+1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_3 \to \mathcal{H}_D \otimes \mathcal{H}_3: \mathcal{U} = \sum_{i=0}^4 \mathcal{A}_i \otimes \sigma_i + \mathcal{I} \otimes |2\rangle \langle 2|, \qquad (B.42)$$

$$\sigma_0 = |0\rangle \langle 0| + |1\rangle \langle 1|, \ \sigma_1 = \Lambda_{1,2}^s, \ \sigma_2 = \Lambda_{1,2}^a, \ \sigma_3 = \Lambda_1$$
$$\mathcal{I} : \mathcal{H}_{2s+1} \to \mathcal{H}_D : \ \mathcal{I}^{\dagger} \mathcal{I} = \mathbb{1}_{2s+1}$$
(B.43)

an arbitrary isometry from \mathcal{H}_{2s+1} to \mathcal{H}_D , and $0 < \beta < 1$ is some positive number which, in the mapping of interest (3.9), was set to be $\beta_i = n_i = \left\langle N^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho}$. One can easily verify that \mathcal{U} is an isometry, i.e., $\mathcal{U}^{\dagger}\mathcal{U} = \mathbb{1}_{2s+1} \otimes \mathbb{1}_3$ and that the resulting mapping can be written as:

$$\mathcal{M}(\rho) = \beta \left(\frac{\sigma_0}{2} + \frac{\langle A_x \rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta} \sigma_x + \frac{\langle A_y \rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta} \sigma_y + \frac{\langle A_z \rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta} \sigma_z \right) + (1 - \beta) |2\rangle \langle 2|.$$
(B.44)

Hence we have proven that the mapping (3.9) is completely positive.

B.3 Simplified squeezing criterion

Here we present a simple proof of the following inequality valid for all separable states:

$$\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_x + 4j^2 \left(\Delta J_z\right)^2 \ge 0 \tag{B.45}$$

Let us assume that the state is pure and separable; i.e. it can be written as: $|\psi\rangle = |\phi_1\rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes |\phi_N\rangle$. then we have the following:

$$\left\langle \tilde{J}_{k}^{2} \right\rangle \equiv \sum_{m \neq n} \left\langle J_{k}^{(m)} j_{k}^{(n)} \right\rangle \stackrel{=}{_{separability}} \sum_{m \neq n} \left\langle J_{k}^{(m)} \right\rangle \left\langle J_{k}^{(n)} \right\rangle = \left\langle J_{k} \right\rangle^{2} - \sum_{n} \left\langle J_{k}^{(n)} \right\rangle^{2} \qquad (B.46)$$

We also have:

$$(\Delta J_k)^2 = \sum_n (\Delta J_k^{(n)})^2 \tag{B.47}$$

Now, let us consider the quantity $\sum_{n} \langle J_x^{(n)} \rangle^2$. From Heisenberg uncertainty principle:

$$\frac{\left\langle J_x^{(n)} \right\rangle^2}{4} \le (\Delta j_y^{(n)})^2 (\Delta j_z^{(n)})^2 \le j^2 (\Delta j_z^{(n)})^2 \tag{B.48}$$

where I have used $(\Delta j_y^{(n)})^2 = \langle (J_y^{(n)})^2 \rangle - \langle J_y^{(n)} \rangle^2 \leq \langle (J_y^{(n)})^2 \rangle \leq j^2$. From (B.48) and (B.47), we get the upper bound:

$$\sum_{n} \left\langle J_{x}^{(n)} \right\rangle^{2} \le 4j^{2} \sum_{n} (\Delta J_{z}^{(n)})^{2} \le 4j^{2} (\Delta J_{z})^{2}$$
(B.49)

And for the lower bound, we minimize the function $\sum_n \left\langle J_x^{(n)} \right\rangle^2$ with the condition $\sum_n \left\langle J_x^{(n)} \right\rangle = \langle J_x \rangle$. Then, we find that $\sum_n \left\langle j_x^{(n)} \right\rangle^2$ reaches its minimal value when $\left\langle J_x^{(n)} \right\rangle = \frac{\langle J_x \rangle}{N}$ and thus we find that:

$$\sum_{n} \left\langle j_x^{(n)} \right\rangle^2 \ge \frac{\left\langle J_x \right\rangle^2}{N} \tag{B.50}$$

From (B.46), (B.49) and (B.50), we finally have:

$$\langle J_x \rangle^2 - 4j^2 (\Delta J_z)^2 \le \left\langle \tilde{J}_x^2 \right\rangle \le \frac{(N-1)}{N} \left\langle J_x \right\rangle^2$$
 (B.51)

where the left hand side inequality gives us the desired form

$$\tilde{\Delta}^2 J_x + 4j^2 \left(\Delta J_z\right)^2 \ge 0 \tag{B.52}$$

which can be generalized by concavity of variance to any separable state.

B.4 Generalized Sørensen-Mølmer criterion

We proceed in a similar fashion to proving the generalized spin squeezing inequalities. For product state of the form $\bigotimes_i \rho^{(i)}$, we map each state $\rho^{(i)}$ into the following qubit state:

$$|\Psi^{(i)}\rangle\langle\Psi^{(i)}| = \frac{\sigma_0^{(i)}}{2} + \frac{\langle A_1^{(i)}\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i}\sigma_1^{(i)} + \frac{\langle A_2^{(i)}\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i}\sigma_2^{(i)} + \frac{\langle A_3^{(i)}\rangle_{\rho}}{2\eta_i}\sigma_3$$
(B.53)

with $\eta_i = \sqrt{\langle A_1^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_2^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2 + \langle A_3^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}^2}$. Next, we perform rotations around the *y* axis and then around the *x* axis to obtain the state $r^{(i)} = |\Phi^{(i)}\rangle\langle\Phi^{(i)}|$ such that:

$$\left\langle \sigma_1^{(i)} \right\rangle_{r^{(i)}} = \frac{\left\langle A_1^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}}{\alpha \sqrt{n_i}}, \left\langle \sigma_2^{(i)} \right\rangle_{r^{(i)}} = \frac{\left\langle A_2^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}}{\alpha n_i}, \tag{B.54}$$

where, $n_i = \langle n^{(i)} \rangle_{\rho}$. Finally, we recall that for product states we have:

$$\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k = -\sum_i \left\langle A^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^2. \tag{B.55}$$

Now, we can proceed to prove the inequality (3.42):

$$\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle + \frac{\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k}{\alpha^2} = \sum_i n_i \Delta_{r^{(i)}}^2 \sigma_1^{(i)} \ge \sum_i 2n_i F_{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\left\langle \sigma_2^{(i)} \right\rangle_{r^{(i)}} \right) \tag{B.56}$$

where we have used the relation verified by spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ operators

$$\frac{\Delta_{r^{(i)}}^2 \sigma_1^{(i)}}{4} \ge \frac{1}{2} F_{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\left\langle \sigma_2^{(i)} \right\rangle_{r^{(i)}} \right).$$

Since the function $F_{\frac{1}{2}}(.)$ is convex, we find that:

$$\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle + \frac{\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_k}{\alpha^2} \ge 2 \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle \sum_i \frac{n_i}{\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle} F_{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{\left\langle A_2^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}}{n_i \alpha} \right) \ge 2 \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle F_{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{\left\langle A_2 \right\rangle}{\alpha \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle} \right) \tag{B.57}$$

completing the proof of (3.42) for product states. It is then straightforward to prove for mixed separable states using the concavity of the variance and convexity of the function $F_{\frac{1}{2}}(.)$.

Appendix C

Appendices of chapter 4

C.1 Proof of equation (4.14)

We start by calculating the quantities $\mathcal{A}_{m,m',0}(\rho)$ and $\mathcal{A}_{m,m',1}(\rho)$ defined as:

$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',0}(\rho) = \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger} \sum_{i} |g_{i}\rangle \langle g_{i}|\mathcal{K}_{m} \otimes B_{0}^{i} \right\rangle_{\rho}$$
$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',1}(\rho) = \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger} \sum_{i} |g_{i}\rangle \langle g_{i}|\mathcal{K}_{m} \otimes B_{1}^{\prime i} \right\rangle_{\rho}$$

where we have defined :

$$B_0^i = \frac{B_{n,n'}^i + B_{n,n'}^{i\dagger}}{2}, \ B_1^i = \frac{B_{n,n'}^i - B_{n,n'}^{i\dagger}}{2i}$$
(C.1)

such that we have

$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,n'}\left(\rho\right) = \mathcal{A}_{m,m',0}\left(\rho\right) + i\mathcal{A}_{m,m',1}\left(\rho\right).$$
(C.2)

Next, we define the operators X_n^i and Y_n^i , for n = 0, 1, such that:

$$B_{n}^{i} = X_{n}^{i\,\dagger} X_{n}^{i} - Y_{n}^{i\,\dagger} Y_{n}^{i}, \tag{C.3}$$

where $X_n^{i\dagger}X_n^i(-Y_n^{i\dagger}Y_n^i)$ represents the positive(negative) part of the hermitian operator B_n^i . This allows us to introduce the following:

$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,x}(\rho) = \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger} \sum_{i} |g_{i}\rangle \langle g_{i}|\mathcal{K}_{m} \otimes X_{n}^{i}^{\dagger}X_{n}^{i} \right\rangle_{\rho}$$
$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,y}(\rho) = \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger} \sum_{i} |g_{i}\rangle \langle g_{i}|\mathcal{K}_{m} \otimes Y_{n}^{i}^{\dagger}Y_{n}^{i} \right\rangle_{\rho}$$

so that :

$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n}\left(\rho\right) = \mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,x}\left(\rho\right) - \mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,y}\left(\rho\right).$$
(C.4)

Now, we focus on the quantity $\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,x}(\rho)$ which we rewrite in an equivalent way as:

$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,x}\left(\rho\right) = \sum_{i} \operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(\mathbb{1}^{(d_{1})} \otimes \mathcal{X}_{n}^{i}\right) \rho\left(\mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger}|g_{i}\rangle\langle g_{i}|\mathcal{K}_{m} \otimes \mathcal{X}_{n}^{i\dagger}\right)\right]$$
(C.5)

where we have introduced the operators

$$\mathcal{X}_n^i = \left(0, \cdots, X_n^i, \cdots, 0\right)^T \tag{C.6}$$

which are of dimension $d_2 \times D_1 d_2$. such that:

$$\mathcal{X}_{n}^{i\dagger}\mathcal{X}_{n}^{j} = \delta_{i,j}\mathcal{X}_{n}^{i\dagger}\mathcal{X}_{n}^{i} = X_{n}^{i\dagger}X_{n}^{i}$$
(C.7)

The above property allows us to write:

$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,x}\left(\rho\right) = \sum_{i,j} \operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(\mathbb{1}^{(d_1)} \otimes \mathcal{X}_n^i\right) \rho\left(\mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger} | g_i \rangle \langle g_j | \mathcal{K}_m \otimes \mathcal{X}_n^{j^{\dagger}}\right)\right]$$
(C.8)

Next, let us define the operators $\mathcal{X}_n^{\prime i}$ as:

$$\mathcal{X}_{n}^{\prime i} = \sum_{k=1}^{D_{1}} V_{i,k} \mathcal{X}_{n}^{k} \tag{C.9}$$

where V is the unitary such that:

$$|g_i\rangle = \sum_k V_{k,i}|g'_k\rangle \tag{C.10}$$

Consequently, we have the following equality:

$$\sum_{i} |g_{i}\rangle \otimes \mathcal{X}_{n}^{i} = \sum_{i} |g_{i}'\rangle \otimes \mathcal{X}_{n}'^{i}$$
(C.11)

which gives us:

$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,x}\left(\rho\right) = \sum_{i,j} \operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(\mathbb{1}^{(d_1)} \otimes \mathcal{X}_n^{\prime i}\right) \rho\left(\mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger} |g_i^{\prime}\rangle \langle g_j^{\prime} | \mathcal{K}_m \otimes \mathcal{X}_n^{\prime j^{\dagger}}\right)\right]$$
(C.12)

All left is to show that:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(\mathbb{1}^{(d_{1})}\otimes\mathcal{X}_{n}^{\prime i}\right)\rho\left(\mathcal{K}_{m^{\prime}}^{\dagger}|g_{i}^{\prime}\rangle\langle g_{j}^{\prime}|\mathcal{K}_{m}\otimes\mathcal{X}_{n}^{\prime j^{\dagger}}\right)\right] = \delta_{i,j}\operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(\mathbb{1}^{(d_{1})}\otimes\mathcal{X}_{n}^{\prime i}\right)\rho\left(\mathcal{K}_{m^{\prime}}^{\dagger}|g_{i}^{\prime}\rangle\langle g_{i}^{\prime}|\mathcal{K}_{m}\otimes\mathcal{X}_{n}^{\prime i^{\dagger}}\right)\right]$$
(C.13)

To do so, we calculate the trace explicitly:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(\mathbb{1}^{(d_{1})}\otimes\mathcal{X}_{n}^{\prime i}\right)\rho\left(\mathcal{K}_{m^{\prime}}^{\dagger}|g_{i}^{\prime}\rangle\langle g_{j}^{\prime}|\mathcal{K}_{m}\otimes\mathcal{X}_{n}^{\prime j^{\dagger}}\right)\right]=$$

$$\sum_{i_{1}=1}^{d_{1}}\sum_{i_{2}=1}^{D_{1}}\sum_{j_{1}=1}^{d_{2}}\langle e_{i_{1}},\chi_{i_{2},j_{1}}|\left(\mathbb{1}^{(d_{1})}\otimes\mathcal{X}_{n}^{\prime i}\right)\rho\left(\mathcal{K}_{m^{\prime}}^{\dagger}|g_{i}^{\prime}\rangle\langle g_{i}^{\prime}|\mathcal{K}_{m}\otimes\mathcal{X}_{n}^{\prime i^{\dagger}}\right)|e_{i_{1}},\chi_{i_{2},j_{1}}\rangle$$
(C.14)

where we have defined the basis $|\chi_{j,j_1}\rangle$ as:

$$|\chi_{j,j_1}\rangle = \frac{1}{\alpha_{j,j_1}} \sum_{k=1}^{D_1} V_{k,j} |e_k\rangle \otimes \left(X_n^k\right)^{-1^{\dagger}} |f_{j_1}\rangle \tag{C.15}$$

with the basis $|e_{i_2}, f_{j_1}\rangle$ chosen such that:

$$\mathcal{X}_{n}^{i\dagger}|e_{i_{2}},f_{j_{1}}\rangle = \delta_{i,i_{2}}X_{n}^{i\dagger}|f_{j_{1}}\rangle \tag{C.16}$$

and $(X_n^k)^{-1}$ being the pseudo inverse of X_n^k . If $|f_{j_1}\rangle$ is in the kernel of X_n^k , then we simply replace $(X_n^k)^{-1^{\dagger}}|f_{j_1}\rangle$ by $|f_{j_1}\rangle$ in (C.15). Now, from eqs. (C.15), (C.16) and (C.9), we find:

$$\mathcal{X}_{n}^{\prime i^{\dagger}} |\chi_{i_{2},j_{1}}\rangle = \frac{1}{\alpha_{i_{2},j_{1}}} \sum_{k=1}^{D_{1}} V_{k,i_{2}} V_{k,i}^{*} |f_{j_{1}}\rangle = \delta_{i,i_{2}} \mathcal{X}_{n}^{\prime i^{\dagger}} |\chi_{i_{2},j_{1}}\rangle \tag{C.17}$$

Plugging this relation into (C.14), we find the relation (C.13). and

$$\mathcal{X}_n^{\prime i^{\dagger}} \mathcal{X}_n^{\prime i} = \sum_k |V_{k,i}|^2 X_n^{k^{\dagger}} X_n^k \tag{C.18}$$

we finally reach the conclusion that

$$\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,x}\left(\rho\right) = \sum_{i} \left\langle \mathcal{K}_{m'}^{\dagger} | g_{i}' \rangle \langle g_{i}' | \mathcal{K}_{m} \otimes \sum_{k} |V_{k,i}|^{2} X_{n}^{k^{\dagger}} X_{n}^{k} \right\rangle_{\rho}.$$
 (C.19)

The same calculations can be made for $\mathcal{A}_{m,m',n,y}$ which in turn , along side with relations (C.2) and (C.4), gives us Eq. (4.14).

C.2 **Proof of equation** (4.40)

First, we use the property of Wigner *d*-mtrix $d_{p,q}^{(J)}(\beta) = (-1)^{p-q} d_{-p,-q}^{(J)}(\beta)$ and the following identity:

$$d_{m_r,m_k}^{(j_1)}(\beta)d_{m_s,m_l}^{(j_2)}(\beta) = \sum_{J=|j_1-j_2|}^{j_1+j_2} \langle j_1 \, m_r \, j_2 \, m_s | J \, m_r + m_s \rangle \langle j_1 \, m_k \, j_2 \, m_l | J \, m_k + m_l \rangle d_{m_r+m_s,m_k+m_l}^{(J)}(\beta),$$

to write (4.38) as:

$$V(m)_{m_s,m_k} = (-1)^{m_s - m_k} \sum_J \langle j - m_s \, j \, m_s | J \, 0 \rangle \langle j - m_k \, j \, m_k + m | J \, m \rangle d_{0,m}^J(\beta) \qquad (C.20)$$

Using Eqs.(C.20),(4.39), we see that

$$P_{m_k,m_l} = (-1)^{m_k - m_l} \sum_{m_s,J_1,J_2} \langle j - m_s j m_s | J_1 0 \rangle \langle j - m_s j m_s | J_2 0 \rangle$$
$$\langle j - m_k j m_k + m | J_1 m \rangle \langle j - m_l j m_l + m | J_2 m \rangle \frac{d_{0,m}^{(J_2)}(\beta)}{d_{0,m}^{(J_1)}(\beta)}$$

and using the identity:

$$\sum_{m_s} \langle j \, m_s \, j \, - m_s | J_1 \, 0 \rangle \langle j \, m_s \, j \, - m_s | J_2 \, 0 \rangle = \delta_{J_1, J_2},$$

the above equation simplifies into:

$$P_{m_k,m_l} = (-1)^{m_k - m_l} \sum_{J} \langle j - m_k \, j \, m_k + m | J \, m \rangle \langle j - m_l \, j \, m_l + m | J \, m \rangle = \delta_{m_k,m_l}$$

Where we have used the following Clebsch-Gordan identity:

$$\sum_{J} \langle j_1 \, m_1 \, j_2 \, n_1 | J \, m_1 + n_1 \rangle \langle j_1 \, m_2 \, j_2 \, n_2 | J \, m_2 + n_2 \rangle = \delta_{m_1, m_2} \delta_{n_1, n_2}$$

C.3 Proof of inequality (4.56)

We start the proof for product k-producible states; i.e. states of the form:

$$\rho = \rho^{(k_1)} \otimes \rho^{(k_2)} \otimes \dots \otimes \rho^{(k_m)} \quad : \frac{N}{k} \le m \le N$$
 (C.21)

with $\rho^{(k_i)}$ being a state of $k_i \leq k$ particles such that $\sum_{i=1}^m k_i = N$. Next, we map each state $\rho^{(k_i)}$ into the k_i qubits state $\zeta^{(k_i)}$ where the single particle mapping is defined:

$$\mathcal{M}(\eta) = \frac{\mathbb{1}}{2} + \frac{\left\langle A_1^{(i)} \right\rangle}{2\sqrt{2}\alpha} \sigma_1 + \frac{c}{2\sqrt{2}} \sigma_2.$$
(C.22)

where c is a real number such that $c \leq 1$ and $\alpha^2 = \sup_{\rho^{(i)}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^2 \left\langle A_k^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^2 \right]$. One can check easily that the above mapping is CPTP. As we have shown in Chapter 2, complete positivity of (C.22) is equivalent to the positivity of the following matrix:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}^{(i)} & \frac{A_1^{(i)}}{\sqrt{2\alpha}} + i\frac{c\mathbb{1}^{(i)}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{A_1^{(i)}}{\sqrt{2\alpha}} - i\frac{c\mathbb{1}^{(i)}}{\sqrt{2}} & \mathbb{1}^{(i)} \end{pmatrix}$$
(C.23)

which is equivalent to the positivity of

$$\mathbb{1}^{(i)} - \frac{\left(A_1^{(i)}\right)^2}{2\alpha^2} - \frac{c^2}{2}\mathbb{1}^{(i)}.$$
 (C.24)

From the min-max theorem, the maximum eigenvalue of $\left(A_1^{(i)}\right)^2$, λ_M , verifies

$$\lambda_M = \sup_{\rho^{(i)}} \left[\left\langle A_1^{(i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(i)}}^2 \right] \le \alpha^2 \tag{C.25}$$

And since $c \leq 1$ we conclude that the matrix (C.24) is positive semi-definite and that indeed the mapping (C.22) is CPTP. Now, we choose c to be the following convenient value:

$$c^{(k_i)} = \frac{\left\langle A_2^{(k_i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(k_i)}}}{\alpha n_i} \tag{C.26}$$

where we have introduced $n_i = \left\langle \hat{N}^{(k_i)} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(k_i)}}$ such that $\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle_{\rho} = \sum_{i=1}^m n_i$ and we have used the fact $\left\langle A^{(k_i)} \right\rangle$

$$\frac{\left\langle A_l^{(k_i)} \right\rangle}{\alpha} \le n_i \le k_i$$

to ensure that $c^{(k_i)} \leq 1$. The resulting N-qubits' state is a k-producible state of the form:

$$\zeta = \zeta^{(k_1)} \otimes \zeta^{(k_2)} \otimes \dots \otimes \zeta^{(k_m)} \tag{C.27}$$

Next, we consider the collective spin operators:

$$\frac{\hat{S}_k}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^N \sigma_k^{(i)}.$$
(C.28)

From the form of the mapping (C.22), one can easily verify the following relations:

$$\left\langle \hat{S}_{2}^{(k_{i})} \right\rangle_{\zeta^{(k_{i})}} = k_{i} \frac{c^{(k_{i})}}{\sqrt{2}} = \frac{k_{i} \left\langle A_{2}^{(k_{i})} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(k_{i})}}}{n_{i} \sqrt{2} \alpha}, \left\langle \tilde{\Delta}^{2} \hat{S}_{1}^{(k_{i})} \right\rangle_{\zeta^{(k_{i})}} = \frac{\left\langle \tilde{\Delta}^{2} A_{1}^{(k_{i})} \right\rangle_{\rho^{(k_{i})}}}{2\alpha^{2}} \tag{C.29}$$

Let us call $\beta = \sqrt{2\alpha}$, so that we have:

$$\frac{\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_1}{\beta^2} = \sum_i \frac{\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_l^{(k_i)}}{\beta^2} = \sum_i \tilde{\Delta}^2 \hat{S'}_1^{(k_i)} \ge \sum_i \frac{n_i}{k_i} \left(\Delta \hat{S'}_1^{(k_i)}\right)^2 - \sum_i n_i \tag{C.30}$$

where we have used $\sum_{l=1}^{k_i} \left\langle \left(\sigma_1^{(k_i)}\right)^2 \right\rangle_{\zeta^{(k_i)}} = k_i$. Thus we have,

$$\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle + \frac{\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_1}{\beta^2} \ge 2 \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle \sum_i \frac{n_i}{\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle} F_{\frac{k}{2}} \left(\frac{\left\langle \hat{S}'_2^{(k_i)} \right\rangle}{k_i} \right)$$
(C.31)

where we have introduced the relation:

$$\left(\Delta \hat{S}'_{1}^{(k_{i})}\right)^{2} \geq 2k_{i}F_{\frac{k_{i}}{2}}\left(\frac{\left\langle \hat{S}'_{2}^{(k_{i})}\right\rangle_{\zeta^{(k_{i})}}}{k_{i}}\right) \geq 2k_{i}F_{\frac{k}{2}}\left(\frac{\left\langle \hat{S}'_{2}^{(k_{i})}\right\rangle_{\zeta^{(k_{i})}}}{k_{i}}\right) \tag{C.32}$$

At last, from the convexity of the function $F_{\frac{k}{2}}(.)$, on gets:

$$\left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle + \frac{\tilde{\Delta}^2 A_1}{\beta^2} \ge 2 \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle F_{\frac{k}{2}} \left(\sum_i \frac{n_i}{k_i \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle} \left\langle \hat{S'}_2^{(k_i)} \right\rangle_{\zeta^{(k_i)}} \right) = 2 \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle F_{\frac{k}{2}} \left(\frac{\left\langle A_2 \right\rangle}{\beta \left\langle \hat{N} \right\rangle} \right) \quad (C.33)$$

completing the proof for product k-producible states. This can be easily extended to mixed k-producible states using the concavity of the variance and the convexity of $F_{\frac{k}{2}}(.)$.

Bibliography

- Ibrahim Saideh, A. D. Ribeiro, Giulia Ferrini, Thomas Coudreau, Pérola Milman, and Arne Keller. General dichotomization procedure to provide qudit entanglement criteria. *Phys. Rev. A*, 92:052334, Nov 2015.
- [2] I. Saideh, S. Felicetti, T. Coudreau, P. Milman, and Arne Keller. Generalized spin-squeezing inequalities for particle number with quantum fluctuations. *Physical Review A*, 94(3), 2016.
- [3] E. Schrödinger and M. Born. Discussion of Probability Relations between Separated Systems. Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, 31(04):555, oct 1935.
- [4] A. Einstein, B. Podolsky, and N. Rosen. Can quantum-mechanical description of physical reality be considered complete? *Phys. Rev.*, 47:777–780, May 1935.
- [5] E. Schrödinger. Die gegenwärtige situation in der quantenmechanik. Naturwissenschaften, 23(48):807–812, Nov 1935.
- [6] D. Bohm and Y. Aharonov. Discussion of experimental proof for the paradox of einstein, rosen, and podolsky. *Phys. Rev.*, 108:1070–1076, Nov 1957.
- [7] John S. Bell. On the einstein-podolsky-rosen paradox. *Physics*, 1:195–200, 1964.
- [8] John F. Clauser, Michael A. Horne, Abner Shimony, and Richard A. Holt. Proposed experiment to test local hidden-variable theories. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 23:880–884, Oct 1969.
- [9] Alain Aspect, Philippe Grangier, and Gérard Roger. Experimental realization of einstein-podolsky-rosen-bohm gedankenexperiment: A new violation of bell's inequalities. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 49:91–94, Jul 1982.
- [10] Alain Aspect, Jean Dalibard, and Gérard Roger. Experimental test of bell's inequalities using time-varying analyzers. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 49:1804–1807, Dec 1982.
- [11] Bas Hensen, Hannes Bernien, Anaïs E Dréau, Andreas Reiserer, Norbert Kalb, Machiel S Blok, Just Ruitenberg, Raymond FL Vermeulen, Raymond N Schouten, Carlos Abellán, et al. Loophole-free bell inequality violation using electron spins separated by 1.3 kilometres. *Nature*, 526(7575):682–686, 2015.

- [12] Marissa Giustina, Marijn A. M. Versteegh, Sören Wengerowsky, Johannes Handsteiner, Armin Hochrainer, Kevin Phelan, Fabian Steinlechner, Johannes Kofler, Jan-Åke Larsson, Carlos Abellán, Waldimar Amaya, Valerio Pruneri, Morgan W. Mitchell, Jörn Beyer, Thomas Gerrits, Adriana E. Lita, Lynden K. Shalm, Sae Woo Nam, Thomas Scheidl, Rupert Ursin, Bernhard Wittmann, and Anton Zeilinger. Significant-loophole-free test of bell's theorem with entangled photons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 115:250401, Dec 2015.
- [13] Lynden K. Shalm, Evan Meyer-Scott, Bradley G. Christensen, Peter Bierhorst, Michael A. Wayne, Martin J. Stevens, Thomas Gerrits, Scott Glancy, Deny R. Hamel, Michael S. Allman, Kevin J. Coakley, Shellee D. Dyer, Carson Hodge, Adriana E. Lita, Varun B. Verma, Camilla Lambrocco, Edward Tortorici, Alan L. Migdall, Yanbao Zhang, Daniel R. Kumor, William H. Farr, Francesco Marsili, Matthew D. Shaw, Jeffrey A. Stern, Carlos Abellán, Waldimar Amaya, Valerio Pruneri, Thomas Jennewein, Morgan W. Mitchell, Paul G. Kwiat, Joshua C. Bienfang, Richard P. Mirin, Emanuel Knill, and Sae Woo Nam. Strong loopholefree test of local realism. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 115:250402, Dec 2015.
- [14] Wenjamin Rosenfeld, Daniel Burchardt, Robert Garthoff, Kai Redeker, Norbert Ortegel, Markus Rau, and Harald Weinfurter. Event-ready bell test using entangled atoms simultaneously closing detection and locality loopholes. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 119:010402, Jul 2017.
- [15] Alain Aspect. Closing the door on einstein and bohr's quantum debate. Physics, 8:123, 2015.
- [16] Nicolas Brunner, Daniel Cavalcanti, Stefano Pironio, Valerio Scarani, and Stephanie Wehner. Bell nonlocality. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 86:419–478, Apr 2014.
- [17] Jan Åke Larsson. Loopholes in bell inequality tests of local realism. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 47(42):424003, 2014.
- [18] R. Feynman. Character of Physical Law. MIT Press, 1967.
- [19] F. Laloë. Do We Really Understand Quantum Mechanics? Cambridge University Press, 2019.
- [20] Jarosław Pykacz. Quantum Physics, Fuzzy Sets and Logic. 2015.
- [21] I. Bengtsson and K. Zyczkowski. Geometry of Quantum States: An Introduction to Quantum Entanglement. Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- [22] Ryszard Horodecki and Michal/ Horodecki. Information-theoretic aspects of inseparability of mixed states. *Phys. Rev. A*, 54:1838–1843, Sep 1996.
- [23] Karol Życzkowski, Paweł Horodecki, Anna Sanpera, and Maciej Lewenstein. Volume of the set of separable states. *Physical Review A*, 58(2):883–892, aug 1998.
- [24] Karol Życzkowski. Volume of the set of separable states. II. Physical Review A, 60(5):3496–3507, nov 1999.

- [25] Dorje C. Brody and Lane P. Hughston. Geometric quantum mechanics. Journal of Geometry and Physics, 38(1):19–53, 2001.
- [26] Marek Kuś and Karol Zyczkowski. Geometry of entangled states. Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics, 63(3):1–13, 2001.
- [27] Frank Verstraete, Jeroen Dehaene, and Bart De Moor. On the geometry of entangled states. *Journal of Modern Optics*, 49(8):1277–1287, 2002.
- [28] Y. Makhlin. Nonlocal properties of two-qubit gates and mixed states, and the optimization of quantum computations. *Quantum Information Processing*, 1:243– 252, Aug 2002.
- [29] Arthur O. Pittenger and Morton H. Rubin. Geometry of entanglement witnesses and local detection of entanglement. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 67(1):8, 2003.
- [30] Jon Magne Leinaas, Jan Myrheim, and Eirik Ovrum. Geometrical aspects of entanglement. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 74(1):1– 13, 2006.
- [31] J E Avron and O Kenneth. Entanglement and the geometry of two qubits. Annals of Physics, 324(2):470–496, 2009.
- [32] J E Avron, G Bisker, and O Kenneth. Visualizing two qubits. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 48(10):102107, 2007.
- [33] B Baumgartner, B C Hiesmayr, and H Narnhofer. The geometry of bipartite qutrits including bound entanglement. *Physics Letters A*, 372(13):2190–2195, 2008.
- [34] Bernhard Baumgartner, Beatrix C. Hiesmayr, and Heide Narnhofer. State space for two qutrits has a phase space structure in its core. *Phys. Rev. A*, 74:032327, Sep 2006.
- [35] Reinhold A Bertlmann and Philipp Krammer. Entanglement witnesses and geometry of entanglement of two-qutrit states. *Annals of Physics*, 324(7):1388–1407, 2009.
- [36] Reinhold A Bertlmann and Philipp Krammer. Entanglement witnesses and geometry of entanglement of two-qutrit states. Ann. Phys., 324(7):1388–1407, January 2009.
- [37] Michael A. Nielsen and Isaac L. Chuang. Quantum Computation and Quantum Information: 10th Anniversary Edition. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, USA, 10th edition, 2011.
- [38] Eric Chitambar, Debbie Leung, Laura Mančinska, Maris Ozols, and Andreas Winter. Everything you always wanted to know about locc (but were afraid to ask). *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 328(1):303–326, 2014.
- [39] Charles H. Bennett, Gilles Brassard, Sandu Popescu, Benjamin Schumacher, John A. Smolin, and William K. Wootters. Purification of Noisy Entanglement and Faithful Teleportation via Noisy Channels. *Physical Review Letters*, 76(5):722–725, jan 1996.

- [40] Matthew J. Donald, Michał Horodecki, and Oliver Rudolph. The uniqueness theorem for entanglement measures. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 43(9):4252– 4272, sep 2002.
- [41] Charles H Bennett, Sandu Popescu, Daniel Rohrlich, John A Smolin, and Ashish V Thapliyal. Exact and asymptotic measures of multipartite pure-state entanglement. *Physical Review A*, 63(1):012307, dec 2000.
- [42] M A Nielsen. Conditions for a class of entanglement transformations. *Physical Review Letters*, 83(2):436–439, 1999.
- [43] Patrick Hayden, Barbara M Terhal, and Armin Uhlmann. On the LOCC Classification of Bipartite Density Matrices. (3):1–11, 2000.
- [44] Hoi-Kwong Lo and Sandu Popescu. Concentrating entanglement by local actions: Beyond mean values. Phys. Rev. A, 63:022301, Jan 2001.
- [45] Charles H. Bennett, David P. DiVincenzo, Christopher A. Fuchs, Tal Mor, Eric Rains, Peter W. Shor, John A. Smolin, and William K. Wootters. Quantum nonlocality without entanglement. *Phys. Rev. A*, 59:1070–1091, Feb 1999.
- [46] Bernhard Baumgartner, Beatrix Hiesmayr, and Heide Narnhofer. A special simplex in the state space for entangled qudits. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical*, 40(28):7919, 2007.
- [47] Philipp Krammer. Characterizing entanglement with geometric entanglement witnesses. J. Phys. A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 42(6):065305, 2009.
- [48] Pawel Horodecki. Separability criterion and inseparable mixed states with positive partial transposition. *Physics Letters A*, 232(5):333–339, 1997.
- [49] Michał Horodecki, Paweł Horodecki, and Ryszard Horodecki. Mixed-State Entanglement and Distillation: Is there a "Bound" Entanglement in Nature? *Physical Review Letters*, 80(24):5239–5242, jun 1998.
- [50] Paweł Horodecki, Michał Horodecki, and Ryszard Horodecki. Bound entanglement can be activated. *Physical Review Letters*, 82(5):1056–1059, 1999.
- [51] E. M. Rains. Bound on distillable entanglement. Physical Review A, 60(1):179–184, jul 1999.
- [52] Ryszard Horodecki, Paweł Horodecki, Michał Horodecki, and Karol Horodecki. Quantum entanglement. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 81:865–942, Jun 2009.
- [53] Reinhold A Bertlmann and Philipp Krammer. Bound entanglement in the set of Bell-state mixtures of two qutrits. *Physical Review A*, 78(1):014303, 2008.
- [54] Agata Chęcińska and Krzysztof Wódkiewicz. Complete positivity conditions for quantum qutrit channels. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 80(3):1–12, 2009.
- [55] D. F. Walls. Squeezed states of light. *Nature*, 306:141–146, Nov 1983.

- [56] S. Mancini and P. Tombesi. Quantum noise reduction by radiation pressure. *Phys. Rev. A*, 49:4055–4065, May 1994.
- [57] V V Dodonov and I A Malkin. Even and odd coherent and excitations of a singular oscillator. *Physica*, 72(3):597–615, 1974.
- [58] C C Gerry and P L Knight. Quantum superpositions and Schrödinger cat states in quantum optics. American Journal of Physics, 65(10):964–974, 1997.
- [59] Marlan O. Scully and M. Suhail Zubairy. Quantum Optics. Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- [60] Roy J. Glauber. Coherent and incoherent states of the radiation field. Phys. Rev., 131:2766–2788, Sep 1963.
- [61] E. C. G. Sudarshan. Equivalence of semiclassical and quantum mechanical descriptions of statistical light beams. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 10:277–279, Apr 1963.
- [62] W. Vogel and J. Sperling. Unified quantification of nonclassicality and entanglement. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 89(5):1–6, 2014.
- [63] T. Baumgratz, M. Cramer, and M. B. Plenio. Quantifying coherence. Phys. Rev. Lett., 113:140401, Sep 2014.
- [64] Alexander Streltsov, Uttam Singh, Himadri Shekhar Dhar, Manabendra Nath Bera, and Gerardo Adesso. Measuring Quantum Coherence with Entanglement. *Physical Review Letters*, 115(2):6–11, 2015.
- [65] W. H. Zurek. Einselection and decoherence from an information theory perspective. Annalen der Physik (Leipzig), 9(11-12):855–864, 2000.
- [66] Harold Ollivier and Wojciech H. Zurek. Quantum Discord: A Measure of the Quantumness of Correlations. *Physical Review Letters*, 88(1):4, 2002.
- [67] Kavan Modi, Aharon Brodutch, Hugo Cable, Tomasz Paterek, and Vlatko Vedral. The classical-quantum boundary for correlations: Discord and related measures. *Reviews of Modern Physics*, 84(4), 2012.
- [68] Jonathan G. Richens, John H. Selby, and Sabri W. Al-Safi. Entanglement is Necessary for Emergent Classicality in All Physical Theories. *Physical Review Letters*, 119(8):1–5, 2017.
- [69] N. Killoran, F. E.S. Steinhoff, and M. B. Plenio. Converting Nonclassicality into Entanglement. *Physical Review Letters*, 116(8):1–6, 2016.
- [70] János K. Asbóth, John Calsamiglia, and Helmut Ritsch. Computable measure of nonclassicality for light. *Physical Review Letters*, 94(17):1–4, 2005.
- [71] Wenchao Ge, Mehmet Emre Tasgin, and M Suhail Zubairy. Conservation relation of nonclassicality and entanglement for Gaussian states in a beam splitter. *Physical Review A*, 92(5):052328, nov 2015.

- [72] John F. Clauser, Michael A. Horne, Abner Shimony, and Richard A. Holt. Proposed experiment to test local hidden-variable theories. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 23:880–884, Oct 1969.
- [73] Sandu Popescu and Daniel Rohrlich. Generic quantum nonlocality. *Physics Letters* A, 166(5-6):293–297, 1992.
- [74] V. Capasso, D. Fortunato, and F. Selleri. Sensitive observables of quantum mechanics. International Journal of Theoretical Physics, 7(5):319–326, 1973.
- [75] N. Gisin. Bell's inequality holds for all non-product states. *Physics Letters A*, 154(5-6):201–202, 1991.
- [76] Reinhard F. Werner. Quantum states with einstein-podolsky-rosen correlations admitting a hidden-variable model. *Phys. Rev. A*, 40:4277–4281, Oct 1989.
- [77] Jonathan Barrett. Nonsequential positive-operator-valued measurements on entangled mixed states do not always violate a Bell inequality. *Physical Review A* -*Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 65(4):4, 2002.
- [78] Antonio Acín, Nicolas Gisin, and Benjamin Toner. Grothendieck's constant and local models for noisy entangled quantum states. *Phys. Rev. A*, 73:062105, Jun 2006.
- [79] Mafalda L. Almeida, Stefano Pironio, Jonathan Barrett, Géza Tóth, and Antonio Acín. Noise robustness of the nonlocality of entangled quantum states. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 99:040403, Jul 2007.
- [80] H. M. Wiseman, S. J. Jones, and A. C. Doherty. Steering, entanglement, nonlocality, and the einstein-podolsky-rosen paradox. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 98:140402, Apr 2007.
- [81] Sandu Popescu. Bell's Inequalities and Density Matrices: Revealing "Hidden" Nonlocality. *Physical Review Letters*, 74(14):2619–2622, apr 1995.
- [82] N Gisin. Hidden quantum nonlocality revealed by local filters. *Physics Letters A*, 210(3):151–156, 1996.
- [83] Asher Peres. Collective tests for quantum nonlocality. Physical Review A Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics, 54(4):2685–2689, 1996.
- [84] Stefan Teufel, Karin Berndl, Detlef Dürr, Sheldon Goldstein, and Nino Zanghì. Locality and causality in hidden-variables models of quantum theory. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 56(2):1217–1227, 1997.
- [85] Flavien Hirsch, Marco Túlio Quintino, Joseph Bowles, and Nicolas Brunner. Genuine hidden quantum nonlocality. *Physical Review Letters*, 111(16):1–4, 2013.
- [86] Lluís Masanes, Yeong Cherng Liang, and Andrew C. Doherty. All bipartite entangled states display some hidden nonlocality. *Physical Review Letters*, 100(9):1–4, 2008.
- [87] Yeong-Cherng Liang, Lluís Masanes, and Denis Rosset. All entangled states display some hidden nonlocality. *Phys. Rev. A*, 86:052115, Nov 2012.

- [88] Yeong-Cherng Liang and Andrew C. Doherty. Better bell-inequality violation by collective measurements. *Phys. Rev. A*, 73:052116, May 2006.
- [89] Miguel Navascués and Tamás Vértesi. Activation of nonlocal quantum resources. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 106:060403, Feb 2011.
- [90] Carlos Palazuelos. Superactivation of quantum nonlocality. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 109:190401, Nov 2012.
- [91] Francesco Buscemi. All Entangled Quantum States Are Nonlocal: Supplemental Material. *Physical Review Letters*, 108(20):1–2, 2012.
- [92] Artur K. Ekert. Quantum cryptography based on bell's theorem. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 67:661–663, Aug 1991.
- [93] Nicolas Gisin, Grégoire Ribordy, Wolfgang Tittel, and Hugo Zbinden. Quantum cryptography. Rev. Mod. Phys., 74:145–195, Mar 2002.
- [94] Antonio Acín, Serge Massar, and Stefano Pironio. Efficient quantum key distribution secure against no-signalling eavesdroppers. New Journal of Physics, 8(8):126–126, aug 2006.
- [95] Simon Gröblacher, Thomas Jennewein, Alipasha Vaziri, Gregor Weihs, and Anton Zeilinger. Experimental quantum cryptography with qutrits. New Journal of Physics, 8(5):75–75, may 2006.
- [96] Jacob Mower, Zheshen Zhang, Pierre Desjardins, Catherine Lee, Jeffrey H. Shapiro, and Dirk Englund. High-dimensional quantum key distribution using dispersive optics. *Phys. Rev. A*, 87:062322, Jun 2013.
- [97] G. Cañas, N. Vera, J. Cariñe, P. González, J. Cardenas, P. W. R. Connolly, A. Przysiezna, E. S. Gómez, M. Figueroa, G. Vallone, P. Villoresi, T. Ferreira da Silva, G. B. Xavier, and G. Lima. High-dimensional decoy-state quantum key distribution over multicore telecommunication fibers. *Phys. Rev. A*, 96:022317, Aug 2017.
- [98] Nurul T. Islam, Charles Ci Wen Lim, Clinton Cahall, Jungsang Kim, and Daniel J. Gauthier. Provably secure and high-rate quantum key distribution with time-bin qudits. *Science Advances*, 3(11):e1701491, nov 2017.
- [99] Charles H. Bennett, Gilles Brassard, Claude Crépeau, Richard Jozsa, Asher Peres, and William K. Wootters. Teleporting an unknown quantum state via dual classical and einstein-podolsky-rosen channels. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 70:1895–1899, Mar 1993.
- [100] Dik Bouwmeester, Jian-Wei Pan, Klaus Mattle, Manfred Eibl, Harald Weinfurter, and Anton Zeilinger. Experimental quantum teleportation. *Nature*, 390(6660):575– 579, dec 1997.
- [101] A Furusawa, J L Sørensen, S L Braunstein, C A Fuchs, H J Kimble, and E S Polzik. Unconditional Quantum Teleportation. *Science*, 282(5389):706–709, 1998.

- [102] D. Boschi, S. Branca, F. De Martini, L. Hardy, and S. Popescu. Experimental realization of teleporting an unknown pure quantum state via dual classical and einstein-podolsky-rosen channels. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 80:1121–1125, Feb 1998.
- [103] Meiru Huo, Jiliang Qin, Jialin Cheng, Zhihui Yan, Zhongzhong Qin, Xiaolong Su, Xiaojun Jia, Changde Xie, and Kunchi Peng. Deterministic quantum teleportation through fiber channels. *Science Advances*, 4(10), 2018.
- [104] S. Pirandola, J. Eisert, C. Weedbrook, A. Furusawa, and S. L. Braunstein. Advances in quantum teleportation. *Nature Photonics*, 9(10):641–652, 2015.
- [105] M. Zukowski, A. Zeilinger, M. A. Horne, and A. K. Ekert. "event-ready-detectors" bell experiment via entanglement swapping. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 71:4287–4290, Dec 1993.
- [106] Thomas Jennewein, Gregor Weihs, Jian-Wei Pan, and Anton Zeilinger. Experimental nonlocality proof of quantum teleportation and entanglement swapping. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 88:017903, Dec 2001.
- [107] E. Megidish, A. Halevy, T. Shacham, T. Dvir, L. Dovrat, and H. S. Eisenberg. Entanglement swapping between photons that have never coexisted. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110:210403, May 2013.
- [108] Eric Chitambar and Gilad Gour. Quantum Resource Theories. pages 1–60, jun 2018.
- [109] V. Buzek, V. Vedral, M. B. Plenio, P. L. Knight, and M. Hillery. Broadcasting of entanglement via local copying. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 55(5):3327–3332, 1997.
- [110] Satyabrata Adhikari, A. S. Majumdar, and N. Nayak. Broadcasting of continuousvariable entanglement. *Phys. Rev. A*, 77:042301, Apr 2008.
- [111] Aikaterini Mandilara, Vladimir M. Akulin, Michal Kolar, and Gershon Kurizki. Control of multiatom entanglement in a cavity. *Physical Review A*, 75(2):022327, feb 2007.
- [112] D. Deutsch. Quantum Theory, the Church-Turing Principle and the Universal Quantum Computer. Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 400(1818):97–117, jul 1985.
- [113] D. Deutsch and R. Jozsa. Rapid Solution of Problems by Quantum Computation. Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 439(1907):553-558, 1992.
- [114] P.W. Shor. Algorithms for quantum computation: discrete logarithms and factoring. In Proceedings 35th Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science, pages 124–134. IEEE Comput. Soc. Press.
- [115] Vittorio Giovannetti, Seth Lloyd, and Lorenzo Maccone. Quantum-Enhanced Measurements: Beating the Standard Quantum Limit. Science, 306(5700):1330– 1336, 2004.

- [116] Vittorio Giovannetti, Seth Lloyd, and Lorenzo Maccone. Advances in quantum metrology. *Nature Photonics*, 5(4):222–229, apr 2011.
- [117] Géza Tóth and Iagoba Apellaniz. Quantum metrology from a quantum information science perspective. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 47(42):424006, oct 2014.
- [118] Luca Pezzè, Augusto Smerzi, Markus K. Oberthaler, Roman Schmied, and Philipp Treutlein. Quantum metrology with nonclassical states of atomic ensembles. *Reviews* of Modern Physics, 90(3):035005, sep 2018.
- [119] J. Von Neumann. Mathematical Foundations of Quantum Mechanics. Investigations in physics. Princeton University Press, 1955.
- [120] J.J. Sakurai and J. Napolitano. Modern Quantum Mechanics. Addison-Wesley, 2011.
- [121] Walther Gerlach and Otto Stern. Der experimentelle nachweis der richtungsquantelung im magnetfeld. Zeitschrift für Physik, 9(1):349–352, 1922.
- [122] Walther Gerlach and Otto Stern. Das magnetische moment des silberatoms. Zeitschrift für Physik, 9(1):353–355, 1922.
- [123] W. Gerlach and O. Stern. Der experimentelle nachweis des magnetischen moments des silberatoms. Zeitschrift für Physik, 8(1):110–111, 1922.
- [124] ANDREW M. GLEASON. Measures on the closed subspaces of a hilbert space. Journal of Mathematics and Mechanics, 6(6):885–893, 1957.
- [125] Otfried Gühne and Géza Tóth. Entanglement detection. Physics Reports, 474(1-6):1 – 75, 2009.
- [126] Gerardo Adesso and Fabrizio Illuminati. Entanglement in continuous-variable systems: recent advances and current perspectives. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 40(28):7821–7880, jul 2007.
- [127] R. Bhatia. Matrix Analysis. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer New York, 1996.
- [128] M. A. Nielsen and J. Kempe. Separable states are more disordered globally than locally. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 86:5184–5187, May 2001.
- [129] Albert W Marshall, Ingram Olkin, and Barry C Arnold. Inequalities: Theory of Majorization and Its Applications. Springer Series in Statistics. Springer New York, New York, NY, 2011.
- [130] Claude E. Shannon. A Mathematical Theory of Communication. Bell System Technical Journal, 27(3):379–423, jul 1948.
- [131] Thomas M. Cover and Joy A. Thomas. Elements of Information Theory (Wiley Series in Telecommunications and Signal Processing). Wiley-Interscience, New York, NY, USA, 2006.

- [132] Alfréd Rényi. On measures of entropy and information. In Proceedings of the Fourth Berkeley Symposium on Mathematical Statistics and Probability, Volume 1: Contributions to the Theory of Statistics, pages 547–561, Berkeley, Calif., 1961. University of California Press.
- [133] R. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, and M. Horodecki. Quantum α -entropy inequalities: independent condition for local realism? *Physics Letters A*, 210(6):377–381, jan 1996.
- [134] Barbara M Terhal. Detecting quantum entanglement. Theoretical Computer Science, 287(1):313–335, 2002.
- [135] Sumiyoshi Abe and A. K. Rajagopal. Nonadditive conditional entropy and its significance for local realism. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 289(1-2):157–164, 2001.
- [136] Constantino Tsallis, Seth Lloyd, and Michel Baranger. Peres criterion for separability through nonextensive entropy. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 63(4):1–6, 2001.
- [137] K. G H Vollbrecht and Michael M. Wolf. Conditional entropies and their relation to entanglement criteria. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 43(9):4299–4306, 2002.
- [138] Göran Lindblad. Completely positive maps and entropy inequalities. Communications in Mathematical Physics, 40(2):147–151, jun 1975.
- [139] M Horodecki, P Horodecki, and Ryszard Horodecki. Separability of mixed states: necessary and sufficient conditions. *Phys. Lett. A*, 223(96), 1996.
- [140] N. J. Cerf and C. Adami. Quantum extension of conditional probability. *Physical Review A*, 60(2):893–897, aug 1999.
- [141] Michał Horodecki and Paweł Horodecki. Reduction criterion of separability and limits for a class of distillation protocols. *Phys. Rev. A*, 59:4206–4216, Jun 1999.
- [142] Jaspal Singh Aujla and Fernando C. Silva. Weak majorization inequalities and convex functions. *Linear Algebra and Its Applications*, 369(SUPP.):217–233, 2003.
- [143] Tohya Hiroshima. Majorization Criterion for Distillability of a Bipartite Quantum State. *Physical Review Letters*, 91(5):1–4, 2003.
- [144] Charles H. Bennett, David P. DiVincenzo, John A. Smolin, and William K. Wootters. Mixed-state entanglement and quantum error correction. *Phys. Rev. A*, 54:3824– 3851, Nov 1996.
- [145] Pawel Horodecki. Distillation and bound entanglement. Quantum Information & Computation, 1(1):45–75, 2001.
- [146] Asher Peres. Separability criterion for density matrices. Phys. Rev. Lett., 77:1413– 1415, Aug 1996.
- [147] Erling Størmer. Positive linear maps of operator algebras. Acta Mathematica, 110(19022):233–278, 1963.

- [148] S.L. Woronowicz. Positive maps of low dimensional matrix algebras. Reports on Mathematical Physics, 10(2):165–183, oct 1976.
- [149] W. Dür, J. I. Cirac, M. Lewenstein, and D. Bruß. Distillability and partial transposition in bipartite systems. *Phys. Rev. A*, 61:062313, May 2000.
- [150] David P. DiVincenzo, Peter W. Shor, John A. Smolin, Barbara M. Terhal, and Ashish V. Thapliyal. Evidence for bound entangled states with negative partial transpose. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 61(6):13, 2000.
- [151] Lieven Clarisse. The distillability problem revisited. Quantum Information & Computation, 6(6):539–560, 2006.
- [152] Nathaniel Johnston. Non-positive-partial-transpose subspaces can be as large as any entangled subspace. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 87(6):1–4, 2013.
- [153] Distillability of non-positive-partial-transpose bipartite quantum states of rank four. *Physical Review A*, 94(5):1–5, 2016.
- [154] Oliver Rudolph. A separability criterion for density operators. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 33(21):3951–3955, jun 2000.
- [155] Oliver Rudolph. Further Results on the Cross Norm Criterion for Separability. *Quantum Information Processing*, 4(3):219–239, aug 2005.
- [156] K Chen, L A Wu, and L Yang. A Matrix Realignment Method for Recognizing Entanglement. Quantum Inf. Comput., 3(3):193–202. 4 p, May 2003.
- [157] Paolo Aniello and Cosmo Lupo. On the Relation Between Schmidt Coefficients and Entanglement. Open Systems & Information Dynamics, 16(02n03):127–143, sep 2009.
- [158] Paolo Aniello and Cosmo Lupo. A class of inequalities inducing new separability criteria for bipartite quantum systems. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 41(35):355303, sep 2008.
- [159] Michał Horodecki, Paweł Horodecki, and Ryszard Horodecki. Separability of Mixed Quantum States: Linear Contractions and Permutation Criteria. Open Systems & Information Dynamics, 13(01):103–111, mar 2006.
- [160] Oliver Rudolph. Some properties of the computable cross-norm criterion for separability. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 67(3):6, 2003.
- [161] Barbara M. Terhal. Bell inequalities and the separability criterion. Physics Letters A, 271(5-6):319–326, jul 2000.
- [162] Leonid Gurvits. Classical deterministic complexity of Edmonds' Problem and quantum entanglement. In Proceedings of the thirty-fifth ACM symposium on Theory of computing - STOC '03, page 10, New York, New York, USA, 2003. ACM Press.
- [163] Andrew C Doherty, Pablo A Parrilo, and Federico M Spedalieri. Complete family of separability criteria. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 69(2):20, 2004.
- [164] Fernando G.S.L. Brandão and Reinaldo O. Vianna. Robust semidefinite programming approach to the separability problem. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular,* and Optical Physics, 70(6):1–5, 2004.
- [165] M Lewenstein, B Kraus, P Horodecki, and J I Cirac. Characterization of separable states and entanglement witnesses. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 63(4):1–4, 2001.
- [166] A. Jamiołkowski. Linear transformations which preserve trace and positive semidefiniteness of operators. *Reports on Mathematical Physics*, 3(4):275–278, dec 1972.
- [167] Man-Duen Choi. Positive linear maps. Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, 38(2):583–590, 1982.
- [168] Michał Horodecki and Paweł Horodecki. Reduction criterion of separability and limits for a class of distillation protocols. *Phys. Rev. A*, 59:4206–4216, Jun 1999.
- [169] Paweł Horodecki and Artur Ekert. Method for direct detection of quantum entanglement. *Physical Review Letters*, 89(12):1279021–1279024, 2002.
- [170] Mohamed Bourennane, Manfred Eibl, Christian Kurtsiefer, Sascha Gaertner, Harald Weinfurter, Otfried Gühne, Philipp Hyllus, Dagmar Bruß, Maciej Lewenstein, and Anna Sanpera. Experimental detection of multipartite entanglement using witness operators. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 92:087902, Feb 2004.
- [171] Richard Jozsa. Fidelity for Mixed Quantum States. Journal of Modern Optics, 41(12):2315–2323, dec 1994.
- [172] Géza Tóth. Entanglement witnesses in spin models. *Physical Review A*, 71(1):010301, jan 2005.
- [173] B S Cirel'son. Quantum generalizations of Bell's inequality. Letters in Mathematical Physics, 4(2):93–100, mar 1980.
- [174] Sandu Popescu and Daniel Rohrlich. Quantum nonlocality as an axiom. Foundations of Physics, 24(3):379–385, mar 1994.
- [175] Charles H. Bennett, Gilles Brassard, Sandu Popescu, Benjamin Schumacher, John A. Smolin, and William K. Wootters. Purification of noisy entanglement and faithful teleportation via noisy channels. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 76:722–725, Jan 1996.
- [176] Shashank Plenio, Martin B. and Virmani. An introduction to entanglement measures. *Quant. Inf. Comput.*, 7(1):1–51, 2007.
- [177] V. Vedral, M. B. Plenio, M. A. Rippin, and P. L. Knight. Quantifying Entanglement. *Physical Review Letters*, 78(12):2275–2279, mar 1997.
- [178] M. B. Plenio. Logarithmic negativity: A full entanglement monotone that is not convex. *Physical Review Letters*, 95(9):5–8, 2005.

- [179] Peter W. Shor, John A. Smolin, and Ashish V. Thapliyal. Superactivation of Bound Entanglement. *Physical Review Letters*, 90(10):107901, mar 2003.
- [180] William K Wootters. Entanglement of Formation of an Arbitrary State of Two Qubits. *Physical Review Letters*, 80(10):2245–2248, mar 1998.
- [181] Scott Hill and William K Wootters. Entanglement of a Pair of Quantum Bits. Physical Review Letters, 78(26):5022–5025, jun 1997.
- [182] P. Rungta, V. Bužek, C. M. Caves, M. Hillery, and G. J. Milburn. Universal state inversion and concurrence in arbitrary dimensions. *Physical Review A. Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 64(4):423151–4231513, 2001.
- [183] Vineeth S. Bhaskara and Prasanta K. Panigrahi. Generalized concurrence measure for faithful quantification of multiparticle pure state entanglement using Lagrange's identity and wedge product. *Quantum Information Processing*, 16(5):118, may 2017.
- [184] G. Vidal and R. F. Werner. Computable measure of entanglement. Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics, 65(3):1–11, 2002.
- [185] Otfried Gühne, Géza Tóth, and Hans J. Briegel. Multipartite entanglement in spin chains. New Journal of Physics, 7:229–229, nov 2005.
- [186] Daniel M Greenberger, Michael A Horne, and Anton Zeilinger. Going Beyond Bell's Theorem, pages 69–72. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, 1989.
- [187] Jian-Wei Pan, Zeng-Bing Chen, Chao-Yang Lu, Harald Weinfurter, Anton Zeilinger, and Marek Żukowski. Multiphoton entanglement and interferometry. *Reviews of Modern Physics*, 84(2):777–838, may 2012.
- [188] Vittorio Giovannetti. Quantum-Enhanced Measurements: Beating the Standard Quantum Limit. *Science*, 306(5700):1330–1336, nov 2004.
- [189] Daniel Gottesman and Isaac L Chuang. Demonstrating the viability of universal quantum computation using teleportation and single-qubit operations. *Nature*, 402(6760):390–393, nov 1999.
- [190] Ashish V Thapliyal. Multipartite pure-state entanglement. *Physical Review A*, 59(5):3336–3342, may 1999.
- [191] Luigi Amico and Andreas Osterloh. Entanglement in many-body systems. 80(June), 2008.
- [192] Michał Horodecki, Paweł Horodecki, and Ryszard Horodecki. Separability of Mixed Quantum States: Linear Contractions and Permutation Criteria. Open Systems & Information Dynamics, 13(01):103–111, mar 2006.
- [193] N David Mermin. Extreme quantum entanglement in a superposition of macroscopically distinct states. *Physical Review Letters*, 65(15):1838–1840, oct 1990.

- [194] Michael Seevinck and George Svetlichny. Bell-Type Inequalities for Partial Separability in N -Particle Systems and Quantum Mechanical Violations. *Physical Review Letters*, 89(6):060401, jul 2002.
- [195] Masahiro Kitagawa and Masahito Ueda. Squeezed spin states. Phys. Rev. A, 47:5138–5143, Jun 1993.
- [196] D. J. Wineland, J. J. Bollinger, W. M. Itano, and D. J. Heinzen. Squeezed atomic states and projection noise in spectroscopy. *Phys. Rev. A*, 50:67–88, Jul 1994.
- [197] Vittorio Giovannetti, Seth Lloyd, and Lorenzo Maccone. Quantum metrology. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 96:010401, Jan 2006.
- [198] Anders Sørensen and Klaus Mølmer. Spin-spin interaction and spin squeezing in an optical lattice. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 83:2274–2277, Sep 1999.
- [199] A. Sørensen, L.-M. Duan, J. I. Cirac, and P. Zoller. Many-particle entanglement with bose-einstein condensates. *Nature*, 409:63 EP –, Jan 2001.
- [200] Géza Tóth. Entanglement detection in optical lattices of bosonic atoms with collective measurements. *Phys. Rev. A*, 69:052327, May 2004.
- [201] Géza Tóth, Christian Knapp, Otfried Gühne, and Hans J. Briegel. Optimal Spin squeezing inequalities detect bound entanglement in Spin models. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 99(25):250405, December 2007.
- [202] Lorenzo Maccone. Intuitive reason for the usefulness of entanglement in quantum metrology. *Phys. Rev. A*, 88:042109, Oct 2013.
- [203] Ł. Czekaj, A. Przysiężna, M. Horodecki, and P. Horodecki. Quantum metrology: Heisenberg limit with bound entanglement. *Phys. Rev. A*, 92:062303, Dec 2015.
- [204] R. Augusiak, J. Kołodyński, A. Streltsov, M. N. Bera, A. Acín, and M. Lewenstein. Asymptotic role of entanglement in quantum metrology. *Phys. Rev. A*, 94:012339, Jul 2016.
- [205] E. Schrödinger. Der stetige übergang von der mikro- zur makromechanik. Naturwissenschaften, 14(28):664–666, Jul 1926.
- [206] Luiz Davidovich. Sub-poissonian processes in quantum optics. Rev. Mod. Phys., 68:127–173, Jan 1996.
- [207] Victor Dodonov. 'nonclassical' states in quantum optics: A 'squeezed' review of the first 75 years. 4:R1, 01 2002.
- [208] V. Fock. Verallgemeinerung und lösung der diracschen statistischen gleichung. Zeitschrift für Physik, 49(5):339–357, May 1928.
- [209] H. P. Robertson. The uncertainty principle. Phys. Rev., 34:163–164, Jul 1929.
- [210] W. Heisenberg. Über den anschaulichen inhalt der quantentheoretischen kinematik und mechanik. Zeitschrift für Physik, 43(3):172–198, Mar 1927.

- [211] E. H. Kennard. Zur quantenmechanik einfacher bewegungstypen. Zeitschrift für Physik, 44(4):326–352, Apr 1927.
- [212] A.M. Perelomov and A.M. Perelomov. *Generalized Coherent States and Their Applications*. Modern Methods of Plant Analysis. Springer-Verlag, 1986.
- [213] David Stoler. Equivalence classes of minimum uncertainty packets. *Phys. Rev. D*, 1:3217–3219, Jun 1970.
- [214] David Stoler. Equivalence classes of minimum-uncertainty packets. ii. Phys. Rev. D, 4:1925–1926, Sep 1971.
- [215] J.R. Johansson. Lecture 9: Squeezed states of a quantum harmonic oscillator.
- [216] Jian Ma, Xiaoguang Wang, C.P. Sun, and Franco Nori. Quantum spin squeezing. *Physics Reports*, 509(2):89 – 165, 2011.
- [217] Wei-Min Zhang, Da Hsuan Feng, and Robert Gilmore. Coherent states: Theory and some applications. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 62:867–927, Oct 1990.
- [218] K. Wódkiewicz. Reduced quantum fluctuations in the josephson junction. Phys. Rev. B, 32:4750–4752, Oct 1985.
- [219] R. H. Dicke. Coherence in spontaneous radiation processes. Phys. Rev., 93:99–110, Jan 1954.
- [220] Anders S. Sørensen and Klaus Mølmer. Entanglement and extreme spin squeezing. *Physical Review Letters*, 86(20):4431–4434, 2001.
- [221] Giuseppe Vitagliano, Iagoba Apellaniz, Matthias Kleinmann, Bernd Lücke, Carsten Klempt, and Géza Tóth. Entanglement and extreme spin squeezing of unpolarized states. New Journal of Physics, 19(1):1–7, 2017.
- [222] Philipp Hyllus, Luca Pezzé, Augusto Smerzi, and Géza Tóth. Entanglement and extreme spin squeezing for a fluctuating number of indistinguishable particles. *Phys. Rev. A*, 86:012337, Jul 2012.
- [223] Giuseppe Vitagliano. Spin Squeezing, Macrorealism and the Heisenberg uncertainty principle. (October), nov 2015.
- [224] S. Raghavan, H. Pu, P. Meystre, and N.P. Bigelow. Generation of arbitrary Dicke states in spinor Bose–Einstein condensates. *Optics Communications*, 188(1-4):149– 154, feb 2001.
- [225] Q. Y. He, Shi Guo Peng, P. D. Drummond, and M. D. Reid. Planar quantum squeezing and atom interferometry. 2011 Int. Quantum Electron. Conf., IQEC 2011 and Conf. Lasers and Electro-Optics, CLEO Pacific Rim 2011 Incorporating the Australasian Conf. Optics, Lasers and Spectroscopy and the Australian Conf., 022107:119–121, 2011.
- [226] Géza Tóth, Christian Knapp, Otfried Gühne, and Hans J. Briegel. Spin squeezing and entanglement. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics*, 79(4):1–13, 2009.

- [227] Giuseppe Vitagliano, Philipp Hyllus, Iñigo L. Egusquiza, and Géza Tóth. Spin squeezing inequalities for arbitrary spin. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 107:240502, Dec 2011.
- [228] Giuseppe Vitagliano, Iagoba Apellaniz, Iñigo L. Egusquiza, and Géza Tóth. Spin squeezing and entanglement for an arbitrary spin. *Phys. Rev. A*, 89:032307, Mar 2014.
- [229] P. Hyllus, L. Pezzé, and A. Smerzi. Entanglement and sensitivity in precision measurements with states of a fluctuating number of particles. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 105:120501, Sep 2010.
- [230] J.B. Conway. A Course in Operator Theory. Graduate studies in mathematics. American Mathematical Society, 2000.
- [231] J. Schwinger. On Angular Momentum. Dover Books on Physics. Dover Publications, 2015.
- [232] W Forrest Stinespring. Positive functions on c*-algebras. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 6(2):211–216, 1955.
- [233] Michael Keyl. Fundamentals of quantum information theory. *Physics Reports*, 369(5):431 548, 2002.
- [234] Michael M Wolf. Quantum channels & operations: Guided tour. Lecture notes available at http://www-m5. ma. tum. de/foswiki/pub M, 5, 2012.
- [235] Man-Duen Choi. Completely positive linear maps on complex matrices. *Linear Algebra and its Applications*, 10(3):285 290, 1975.
- [236] Stéphane ATTAL. Quantum channels.
- [237] S.P. Boyd and L. Vandenberghe. *Convex Optimization*. Berichte über verteilte messysteme. Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- [238] Jean Gallier. The schur complement and symmetric positive semidefinite (and definite) matrices. *Penn Engineering*, 2010.
- [239] Arnold Dresden. The fourteenth western meeting of the american mathematical society. *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 26(9):385–396, 06 1920.
- [240] A. Bjerhammar. Application of Calculus of Matrices to Method of Least Squares with Special Reference to Geodetic Calculations. Kungl. tekniska högskolans handlingar. Lindståhl, 1951.
- [241] R. Penrose. A generalized inverse for matrices. Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, 51:406–413, 7 1955.
- [242] R.A. Horn and C.R. Johnson. *Matrix Analysis*. Cambridge University Press, 1990.
- [243] Samuel L Braunstein, Ady Mann, and Michael Revzen. Maximal violation of bell inequalities for mixed states. *Physical Review Letters*, 68(22):3259, 1992.

- [244] Zeng-Bing Chen, Jian-Wei Pan, Guang Hou, and Yong-De Zhang. Maximal violation of bell's inequalities for continuous variable systems. *Physical review letters*, 88(4):040406, 2002.
- [245] Charles H. Bennett, Herbert J. Bernstein, Sandu Popescu, and Benjamin Schumacher. Concentrating partial entanglement by local operations. *Physical Review* A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics, 53(4):2046–2052, apr 1996.
- [246] M Horodecki, P Horodecki, and Ryszard Horodecki. Separability of mixed states: necessary and sufficient conditions. *Phys. Lett. A*, 9601(96), 1996.
- [247] Reinhold A. Bertlmann and Philipp Krammer. Bound entanglement in the set of bell-state mixtures of two qutrits. *Phys. Rev. A*, 78:014303, Jul 2008.
- [248] Giuseppe Vitagliano, Iagoba Apellaniz, Iñigo L. Egusquiza, and Géza Tóth. Spin squeezing and entanglement for an arbitrary spin. *Phys. Rev. A*, 89(3):032307, October 2014.
- [249] Janet Anders and Dan E. Browne. Computational power of correlations. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 102:050502, Feb 2009.
- [250] Moran Chen, Nicolas C. Menicucci, and Olivier Pfister. Experimental realization of multipartite entanglement of 60 modes of a quantum optical frequency comb. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 112:120505, Mar 2014.
- [251] Bernd Lücke, Jan Peise, Giuseppe Vitagliano, Jan Arlt, Luis Santos, Géza Tóth, and Carsten Klempt. Detecting multiparticle entanglement of dicke states. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 112:155304, Apr 2014.
- [252] P. Milman, W. Maineult, S. Guibal, L. Guidoni, B. Douçot, L. Ioffe, and T. Coudreau. Topologically decoherence-protected qubits with trapped ions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 99:020503, Jul 2007.
- [253] L. Aolita, R. Chaves, D. Cavalcanti, A. Acín, and L. Davidovich. Scaling laws for the decay of multiqubit entanglement. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 100:080501, Feb 2008.
- [254] Jakob Meineke, Jean-Philippe Brantut, David Stadler, Torben Müller, Henning Moritz, and Tilman Esslinger. Interferometric measurement of local spin fluctuations in a quantum gas. *Nature Physics*, 8(6):454–458, 2012.
- [255] H Häffner, W Hänsel, CF Roos, J Benhelm, M Chwalla, T Körber, UD Rapol, M Riebe, PO Schmidt, C Becher, et al. Scalable multiparticle entanglement of trapped ions. *Nature*, 438(7068):643–646, 2005.
- [256] Thomas Monz, Philipp Schindler, Julio T. Barreiro, Michael Chwalla, Daniel Nigg, William A. Coish, Maximilian Harlander, Wolfgang Hänsel, Markus Hennrich, and Rainer Blatt. 14-qubit entanglement: Creation and coherence. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 106:130506, Mar 2011.
- [257] Justin G Bohnet, Brian C Sawyer, Joseph W Britton, Michael L Wall, Ana Maria Rey, Michael Foss-Feig, and John J Bollinger. Quantum spin dynamics and entanglement generation with hundreds of trapped ions. *Science*, 352(6291):1297– 1301, 2016.

- [258] R. Prevedel, G. Cronenberg, M. S. Tame, M. Paternostro, P. Walther, M. S. Kim, and A. Zeilinger. Experimental realization of dicke states of up to six qubits for multiparty quantum networking. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 103:020503, Jul 2009.
- [259] Timur Sh. Iskhakov, Ivan N. Agafonov, Maria V. Chekhova, and Gerd Leuchs. Polarization-entangled light pulses of 10⁵ photons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 109:150502, Oct 2012.
- [260] Anthony J. Leggett. Bose-einstein condensation in the alkali gases: Some fundamental concepts. Rev. Mod. Phys., 73:307–356, Apr 2001.
- [261] Stephen D. Bartlett, Terry Rudolph, and Robert W. Spekkens. Reference frames, superselection rules, and quantum information. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 79:555–609, Apr 2007.
- [262] Mark R. Dowling, Stephen D. Bartlett, Terry Rudolph, and Robert W. Spekkens. Observing a coherent superposition of an atom and a molecule. *Phys. Rev. A*, 74:052113, Nov 2006.
- [263] A. de Paz, A. Sharma, A. Chotia, E. Maréchal, J. H. Huckans, P. Pedri, L. Santos, O. Gorceix, L. Vernac, and B. Laburthe-Tolra. Nonequilibrium quantum magnetism in a dipolar lattice gas. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 111:185305, Oct 2013.
- [264] Q. Beaufils, R. Chicireanu, T. Zanon, B. Laburthe-Tolra, E. Maréchal, L. Vernac, J.-C. Keller, and O. Gorceix. All-optical production of chromium bose-einstein condensates. *Phys. Rev. A*, 77:061601, Jun 2008.
- [265] A. de Paz, A. Chotia, E. Maréchal, P. Pedri, L. Vernac, O. Gorceix, and B. Laburthe-Tolra. Resonant demagnetization of a dipolar bose-einstein condensate in a threedimensional optical lattice. *Phys. Rev. A*, 87:051609, May 2013.
- [266] É. Maréchal, S. Guibal, J.-L. Bossennec, M.-P. Gorza, R. Barbé, J.-C. Keller, and O. Gorceix. Longitudinal stern-gerlach effect for slow cesium atoms. *The European Physical Journal D - Atomic, Molecular, Optical and Plasma Physics*, 2(3):195–198, 1998.
- [267] L. M. Duan. Entanglement detection in the vicinity of arbitrary Dicke states. *Physical Review Letters*, 107(18):1–4, 2011.
- [268] M Redivo-Zaglia. Pseudo-schur complements and their properties. Applied Numerical Mathematics, 50(3):511 – 519, 2004.
- [269] T. Ando. Generalized schur complements. Linear Algebra and its Applications, 27:173 – 186, 1979.
- [270] Stéphane ATTAL. Tensor products and partial traces.
- [271] M. Reed and B. Simon. I: Functional Analysis. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. Elsevier Science, 1981.
- [272] Reinhold A Bertlmann and Philipp Krammer. Bloch vectors for qudits. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 41(23):235303, 2008.

[273] Reinhold A Bertlmann and Philipp Krammer. Bloch vectors for qudits. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 41(23):235303, 2008.



école doctorale Ondes et Matière (EDOM)

Titre : Intrication dans des systèmes quantiques de grandes dimensions

Mots clés : Intrication, information quantique, témoin d'intrication, états comprimés

Résumé : La détection de l'intrication est une étape indispensable dans le contexte de l'information et du calcul quantique. Cette tâche importante s'est avérée difficile pour les systèmes quantiques de grandes dimensions supérieures à 2×3 , auquel cas il existe des conditions nécessaires et suffisantes bien établies.

Notre approche consiste à réduire la dimensionnalité du problème. Pour ce faire, on transforme, localement, chaque sous-système en un qubit sans créer de l'intrication. Le mapping est exprimé en fonction des valeurs moyennes de trois opérateurs arbitraires dans l'état original. Nous donnons des conditions nécessaires et suffisantes pour que cette transformation soit valide du point de vue physique.Nous exploitons ce formalisme pour dériver des critères d'intrication pour des systèmes bipartites ou multipartites sur la base des critères existants pour les qubits. En transformant localement chaque sous-système, tel que la séparabilité est conservée, l'application de critères d'intrication connus pour les qubits à l'état résultant induit automatiquement des critères d'intrication en fonction d'opérateurs utilisés pour réaliser la transformation.

Pour le cas multipartite, on s'intéresse aux critères d'intrication basés sur des mesures d'observables collectives. Après avoir transformé l'état du système en un état multipartite de qubits, on applique les inégalités de compression de spin. Cependant, lorsqu'on applique notre formalisme à ce cas, il est possible d'obtenir une superposition cohérente d'états avec des nombres de particules différentes. Par conséquent, nous avons dû prendre en compte les fluctuations quantiques et/ou classiques que l'opérateur du nombre de particules peut présenter. Nous avons obtenu une forme généralisée des inégalités de compression de spin pour un nombre de particules fluctuant et pour des observables collectifs arbitraires. Nous avons appliqué nos résultats à un système d'atomes de chrome ultrafroids piégés dans un réseau optique, en collaboration avec l'équipe Gazes Dipolaires Quantiques du laboratoire LPL de l'université Paris 13. Nous avons montré, à l'aide d'une simulation numérique, que nos inégalités sont capables de détecter l'intrication à l'aide d'opérateurs collectifs mesurables en utilisant des techniques accessibles dans ce type de dispositif.

Title : Entanglement in high dimensional quantum systems

Keywords : Entanglement, entanglement witness, spin squeezing, quantum information

Abstract : Entanglement detection is crucial and a necessity in the context of quantum information and quantum computation. This important task has proven to be quite hard for quantum systems of dimensions higher than 2×3 , in which case, there exists well established necessary and sufficient conditions like Peres-Horodecki criterion.

To tackle this challenge, we introduce a mathematical framework to reduce the problem to entanglement in a two qubit system. This is done by mapping each subsystem locally into a qubit without increasing entanglement. The mapping is expressed in terms of expectation values of three arbitrary operators in the original state. We give necessary and sufficient conditions for such mapping to be valid from a physical point of view, providing thence a versatile tool for dimension reduction in various applications.

Our main use of this formalism is as a gateway to derive entanglement criteria for bipartite or multi-partite systemas based on existing ones derived for qubit systems. By mapping each subsystem locally into a qubit, such that seprability is preserved, applying entanglement criteria known for qubits on the resulting state automatically gives us entanglement criteria in

terms of the chosen operators used to implement the mapping.

For the multi-partite case, we focus on spin squeezing inequalities for qubits to derive entanglement criteria for general systems based on collective observables. However, when applying our formalism to this case, an interesting situation arises where one is able to obtain coherent superposition of multi-partite qubit states with different particle number. Hence, to derive better entanglement criteria, we had to consider guantum and/or classical fluctuations that may be exhibited by the particle number operator. We derive a generalized form of spin squeezing inequalities for fluctuating particle number in terms of arbitrary collective operators. We applied our results to study entanglement in a system of ultra-cold Chromium atoms trapped in a bi-dimensional optical lattice in collaboration with the Quantum Dipolar Gazes team in LPL at Paris 13 university. We showed, in a numerical simulation, that our generalized inequalities are able to detect entanglement in their system using collective operators. Moreover, we show that such observables can be measured using available techniques.